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There are four
compelling

reasons to imvest
in British Land

1

' The scale, balance
and guality of our

‘l portfolio underpinned
| by our resilient

| balance sheet and

) Sinancial strength



2

Our ability to generate
robust and predictable
income to support
sustainable shareholder
returns and fund
investment

3

Our operational expertise
and customer insight
helping us understand
evolving needs and
driving enduring
demand for our space

4

A development pipeline
which positions us to
capitalise on market
opportunities and
generate future income



At British Land we create Places People Prefer.

By understanding the evolving needs of the
businesses, people and communities who use

our places, we help them to thrive. Sustainability
and long term thinking are central to our purpose
— to deliver outstanding places and positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders, through

our placemaking expertise.

¢18.2bn

assets owned or under
management (our share
of which is £13.7bn) with
exposure to a broad

mix of uses

80%

of our assets, including our
three London campuses and
our multi-let retail portfolio,
are in environntents where
we can put our placemaking
skills to work

10m sq ft

development pipeline, focused
on London including S5m sq ft
at Canada Water



Highlights for the year
Financial

Underlying Profit m

£380m

2017 £390m

Underlying EPS m

374p

Z017:37.8p

Dividend per share

3008,

2017:29.2p

EPRANAY per share m

9267,

2017: 915p

Senior unsecured
credit rating

A

upgraded by Fitch during the year

Non-financial

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

54%

2017 44%

Bright Lights skilis and
employment programme

228

people supported into work
2017, 275

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under
!FRS where the Group s interests injoint ventures and
funds are shown as a single line ttem on the income
statement and balance sheet and all subsidiaries are
consohidated at 100%,

Management considers the business principally

on a proporuonally consolidated basis when setting
the strategy. determining annual priorities, making
investment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance This includes the Group's share of

IFRS prafit before tax

501 m

2017 £195m

IFRS EPS

48.4p

2017:18.8p

Total accounting return m

89

2017: 2.7%

IFRS net assets

£9,506m

2017: £9,476m

Customer
satisfaction

81/10

017:81/10

jontventures and funds on a Line-by-Une basis and
excludes non-controlling interests in the Group's
subsidiaries The financiat key performance mdicators
are also presented on this basis Refer to the Finanaial
review for a discussien of the IFRS resutts

We supplement our IFRS figures with non-GAAP
measures, which management uses internally.

See our Supplementary Disclosures which starton
page 15% for reconcibiations and the glossary found
at www.britishland.com/glossary These measures
are highlighted by the following symbol: m
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Integrated reporting

We integrate saclat and environmental information
throughout this Report in Line with the International
Integrated Reporting Framework This reflects

how sustainability 1s integrated into our placemaking
strategy, governance and business gperatians.
Qurindustry-leadmg sustainability strategy

15 a powerful tool to deliver lasting value for all

our stakeholders
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Overview

BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

We are focused on creating
Places People Prefer, curating
the environment inside and out

Total portfolio in 2018

80% of our assets are within our campuses or
multi-let environments, where we can curate Mana@‘—‘-‘ enironment
the buildings and the spaces between them.

¢18.2bn

assets under management

24 8m sq ft

of floor space

Q7 4%

occupancy rate British Land owned

riy years

welghted average unexpired lease term

= - Singla-se gssets 200
L S Percentages exclude
Canada Water and Residential.

We have proactively repositioned our portiolio

Retail: more multi-let assets Office: more West End exposure

08 81% £6.6bn 2018 £6.7bn
oo N oo oo R 27
H Multi-let M West End

B Other retail W City

B Non London

o
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London Offices

All of our offices are in London, of which
78% are located on cur three central London
campuses. These provide a diverse mix of
space, with a broadening range of uses. This
makes them attractive and engaging places
towork and spend t'me, designed to help
our customers attract the best talent.

£9.0bn

assets under management

54000

people work across our Offices portfolie

Regent’s Place

Our 310,000 sq ft pre-let
to Dentsu Aegis Network
at 1Triton Square is the
largest West End pre-let
in over 20 years.

Toread more informalion about our
Office partfolio, go to page 35.

1,200 different customers
occupy our space, generating
£588m of rental income

i Retail

Multi-let retail centres account for 81%

of our Retail portfolio. Our space reflects
consumers’ demands for experience

and convenience-led shopping as well

as the changing way retailers use physical
stores to engage with customers.

£8. 4bn

assets under management

i
60%

| of the poputatien falis within
i the catchment of our portfotio

|

Ealing

A convenient, local retail
destination benefitting
from access to Crossrail
in 2019.

To read mare information about our
Ratail portfolio, go to page 38

Canada Water

A umque 53 acre mixed Use opportunity
in central London, one stop on the Jubilee
tine from Canary Wharf. Our masterplan
envisages a genuine mix of uses including
offices, retail, leisure, residential and
community space.

53 acre

regeneration opportunity

3.500

new homes, including affordable housing

Canada Water

In May 2018 we signed
a Master Development
Agreement with
Scouthwark Council and
submitted an outline
planning application
for our masterplan.

[ACanadaWaterMasterplan

www.canadawatermasterpltan.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Another year of progress

for British Land

We are increasingly
seetng our Ccampus
strategy confirmed as a

clear and differentiated
attraction.”
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This has been another year of progress for British Land, despite
the ongomng political and economic volatility we have seen since the
EU referendum. Business and consumer uncertainty was further
compounded by the snap General Election in June 2017, which
delivered a hung Parliament. Aiso of note was the decision by the
Bank of England to increase interest rates for the first ime in over
a decade, with the prospect of more rises to ceme. Encouragingly,
UK economic growth has remained relatively resilient, albeit at
levels lawer than other major economies, and one thing that remains
unchanged is London's status as a glabat city in which the world's
leading organisaticns want to do business.

in this context British Land has performed well. The value of our
portfoliowas up 2.2% with EPRA NAV up 5.7% to 967 pence as
occuprer and investor dermand continued through the year,
particutarly in the London office market. Underlying earnings per
share was however down 1.1% to 37.4 pence, driven primarily by
reductions due to the significant asset disposals we have undertaken
over the last couple of years and lease expiries on properties that we
have freed up for development. The Board has recornmended a
fourth interim dividend of 7.52 pence per share, making a total of
30.08 pence for the year which, together with the movement in NAY,
brings total accounting return to 8.9% for 2018.

In London Offices, we are increasingly seeing our campus strategy
confirmed as a clear and differentiated attraction to potential
accupters. Sophisticated businesses today understand that the way
their people want to live their iives is changing and that the worlds

of work and leisure are blurring. They alse understand thatin order
to attract the best taient they need to provide high quality, well
connected offices in places people want to spend time before, during
and after the working day. This is exactly what cur mixed use London
campuses deliver.

Fvidence of the success of this strategy this year included the largest
pre-let in the traditional West End for aver 20 years at 1 Triton Square
in Regent's Place, to the media company Dentsu Aegis. Elsewhere,
Sumitomo Mitsu Banking Corporation, Eurepe [SMBCE] signed a
pre-let for the lower three floors of 100 Liverpool Street, where we
are developing what we believe to be ane of the test cannected and
smartest new huildings in London, right next door to a new Crossrail
station. This development s part of our broader transformation at
Broadgate where progress this year has been sigmficant - you can
read more about this on page 18. Overall, this has been an excelient
year for leasing, our London Office portfolic 1s 97% occupled and
valuations improved 4.5% - evidence that we continue to provide

| our customers with the space they need.



Dividends
Full year dwidends [pence per share]

Globat Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark
5 Star for the second consecutive year

There 15 no doubt the retail sector cantinues te go through a period
of challenge and rapid change. The structural reasons for this are
complex and well documented, not least the rapid growth of online
shopping. This year though, these challenges have come into sharper
focus as a number of operators have entered mto company voluntary
arrangements. In many cases, retailers have seen the challenges
caused by long term structural changes compounded by shorter
term aperationalissues such as cost inflation, business rates
increases and more fragile consumer confidence. As an owner

of physical retail space, British Land has been focused on
understanding these long term changes for several years. We help
our customers to respond to changes and seek to provide the space
that helps them succeed, and this year we continued to be proactive.
Forexample, we completed the substantial refurbishment of
Meadowhall, enhancing its status as a regional retail gestination
centre whichis fit for the future, and disposed of £419 million of retail
properties that we did not feel could play a role in the future shape

of our portfolio. The everall shape and size of the Retail portfolia

Is something we remain focused on going forward as this market
continues to evalve.

Despite these chatlenges, leasing activity in our Retail business this
year has been good, with 1.2 million sq ft of space let or renewed,

at rates well ahead of estimated rental value {ERV]. In addition, our
Retail portfolio remains virtually full with 98% occupancy. These
impressive rental and occupancy levels are testament to the quality
of our offer and our belief that the best physical retail space continues
to play enimportant role in enabling retailers to succeed. We are not
complacent however, and remain focused on howwe continue ta
respond to the ongoing evolution of the retail market.

We continually assess how best to deploy our capital based on
the conditions prevailing at the ime. We do this In the cantext of
shareholder value and the need to fund our development pipeline,
manage leverage and undertake appropriate acquisition and
disposal activity,

The NAV discount that emerged in our share price in the pericd after
the EU referendum has persisted. This was a key factor influencing
our decision to yndertake a £300 million share buyback following
the sale of The Leadenhall Building. The buyback was completed in
February. This disciplined apgroach to shareholder returns and the
use of capstal will remain a focus for the Board going forward.

In these mare volatile imes, this level of thaughtful activity, the
resilience of our strategy and our diverse, high quality perifolio set
British Land apart. We are mindful of our short tarm aperating
environment, but our strategy 1s aligned to long term trends. Our
experienced management team, the expertise of our pecple and the
increasingly complex insights we collect about how pecple use our
places ailow us to continually evolve our approach to meet customer
needs and work to position British Land to thrive in the future.

As a result of our confidence n our strategic direction and outlook
we have proposed a first quarter dividend of 7.75 pence per share
and 31.00 pence for the year ending 31 March 2019, representing a
further 3% increase on our 2018 dividend.

We continue to be recognised for our leading stance on sustainability,
awarded five stars in the Global Real Estate Sustamnability Benchmark
for the second year and ranked in the MSCI ESG Leaders Index for
the 11th year. We have a 2020 sustainability strategy which 1s aligned
to our corporate strategy, outlined both in this Report [on page 24)
and in our separately publisheg Sustainability Accounts. As part

of our core purpose, we proactively design and enhance buildings
and spaces for the health, wellbeing and productivity of everyone
who uses them, including our employees, customers and

local communities.

We support the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures and rmanage cur portfolio for climate
resiience. Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54%
versus our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid's decarbonisation
and our own efficiency improvernents. With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RET00.

Throughout the year Board members visited a number of key assets
and held a strategy offsite with key members of the executive team
focused on opportunities which will drive ocur business in the future.
We welcomed three new Non-Executive Directors who bring a
wealth of varied experience to cur Board; they are profited on pages
58 to 91 along with more detall about the structure and activity of our
Board and Committees. During the year, Lucinda Bell stepped down
from the Board and from her role as Chief Financial Officer. Lucinda
had beenwith British Land for over 25 years, and her achieverments
and contribution te our business over that time are significant. She
will be missed and | and the Board wish herwetl in the future. We are
delighted to welcorne Simon Carter back to British Land as our Chief
Financial Officer. Simon has a weatth of experience in property and
witl make a real contribution to our business.

Finally. lwould Uke to extend my thanks to the people at British Land,
our partners and everyone who contributes to the success of our
business. They have all played arcle in our progress this year, much
' of which 1s covered in this Report — | hope you find it useful.

i John Gildersleeve

!
{
I
i
i
i
i Non-Executive Chairman

;
|
f For the Chairman’s governance review, see page 62
|
|
|
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Strategic Report

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Our good results demonstrate the
consistent strategic progress we
have made across the business

This has been another good year across our business. We let four
times as much London office space as last year - a clear demonstration
of the attractiveness of aur unique campuses. In Retail, we let or
renewed over 1 million sq ft of space, well ahead of ERV and at 98%
occupancy our portiotio 1s effectively full. All of this helped drve

NAV up 9.7% with vatues up 2.2%.

Dur financial performance was robust with profits down 2 6% l
following £1.5 billion net sales of income producing assets over the ]
last two years, of which £0.8 billion completed this year. We have I
maintained our capital discipline, completing a £300 million share i
buyback and increasing our dividend again by 3% while reducing ’
LTV to 28%, further strengtheming our financial position. At the
same time, we have completed our super-prime Clarges Mayfair '
residential development and the £60 million refurbishment of |
Meadowhall, while doubling our committed development pipeline. \
All of this was done on a carefully risk managed basis, with 55% |
of commitied developments already pre-let or under offer. This s l
a great achievernent at an early stage and gives us confidence in
both cur strategy and 1n the quality of the space we are delivering. i
|

Future British Land: continuing to evolve our business
The current strength of British Land 1s underpinned by the consistent
strategic actions we have pursued over several years. We 1dentify
and invest behind the attractive long terrm trends which are driving
our core business. In recent years this has inctuded the development l
of our campus strategy, investrents into locations which benefit \
from Crossrall, and most recently the launch of Storey, our flexible 1
\
t
[

workspace offering.

Going forward, we are focused on building an increasingly mixed use
business and continuing to evolve our medel and respond to changing
customer needs. indicatively, future British Land will comprise:

- Acampus-focused London Office business: with a blend of core
and flexible space, including the further buid out of Storey,
integrated alongside a strong retail and leisure offering at
our campuses;

- Afurther refined Retail business: including high quality, well
located Regional and Local assets but focused on a smaller
number of larger, multi-let places with mixed use potential

- Residential, primarily Build to Rent: will play an increasingly
nportant role 1n our mixed use business. Itis a structural
growth market which is complementary to our core model.
We will progress existing opportunities within our portfolio
such as Canada Water and explore ways to build further
meamingful exposure.

As we do this, we will remain disciplined regarding our use of capital,
investing in our business and progressing development, while
remaining mindful of the importance of shareholder refurns.

8 BritishLand Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Outlook

Businesses remain cautious but continue to commit to London and
the supply of high guality new office space is relatively constrained,
so we expect demand for our space to remam firm. In Retail, the
market 1s more challenging with many eccupiers facing short term
headwinds. Polarisation is accelerating but we are confident that the
guality and range of our space meets retailers’ evolving needs in the
omni-channel retall worid.

We are mindful of the current market environment, but the strengths
of our business, including the scale, balance and quality of our
porifolio, the opportunities we have created and our strong balance
sheet mean we lock to the future with confidence.

London Offices

Qur Offices business had a strong year with values up 4.5%. Leasing
achvity covered more than 1.2 milhon sq ft, delivering £40 million of
future rent - a strong endorsement of our campus strategy.



Our priorities in building the future
of British Land

Further refine the shape aof gur portfolio and relative mix
of exposures inctuding: expansion of Storey and our flex
office offering; further refining our Retail assets and
explore options in attractive market segments which are
complementary te our existing medel, such as restdential,
principally build to rent

Continue to invest in technolegy mnovations and msights
and build our operational expertise to understand and
respond to changing customer needs and identify the key
trends in our industry

Further enhance the resilience of cur Retail business,
ensuring the future shape of cur portfolio is optimised and
focused on assets which we believe will be successfut in
an omni-channel retail world and meet the changing
needs of our custorners

Continue to progress our development projects, focusing
on our London campuses, and further increase the mix

of uses and occupiers across our assets, reflecting the
evolving dernands of customers to drive enduring demand
for our space

Continue to enhance the diversity within our business,
promating inclusion across our cperations and our assets;
and embed our new corporate values

We secured several major lettings at Broadgate, including SMBCE
at 100 Liverpool Street, demanstrating the continued appeal of
Landon to global financial institutions. Mimecast, the tachnology
business, tock space at 1 Finsbury Avenue (1FA), and Eataly, the
ltalian marketplace, will open their first UK site at 135 Bishopsgate.
This broad range of activity demonstrates cur focus onenhancing
the mix of uses and occuplers on the campus to create a seven-day-
a-week destination for London. Elsewhere, we signed the largest
West End pre-letin 22 years at Regent's Place and our development
at Paddington, 4 Kingdom Street was nearly 90% let ahead of launch
in June 2017, significantly ahead of ERV.

We are also pleased with the progress of Storey, our flexible
waorkspace offer launched in June 2617 It now covers 114,000 sq ft,
with space at each of our three campuses and 1s now 77% let. We
have allocated additional space at 1FA, 4 Kingdom Street and Wells
Street, so total space will reach more than 230,000 sq ft in the short
term with further long term plans for expansion.

Retail

In Retall, values were up 0.3%, with positive ERV growth offselling
yield expansion. Our leasing activity covered 1.2 million sq ft
generating £7 million in additional rent, with incentives unchanged.
Al 98% occupancy, our portfclio is effectively full and 1s
outperforming benchmarks on bath footfall and sales.

We delivered this strong operating performance in the context of
ongoaing, long term structural changes in the market. As online
retail grows, many operators are evolving their models to focus on
the optimal size, shape and nature of their physical stare natwork.
This year, these challenges were compounded by short term trading
headwinds, and several highly leveraged operators with chaltenged
models applied for company voluntary arrangements {CVAs].

We recognise these trends, and s for a number of years we have
been actively repostioning our portfolio to focus on well located,
high quality space that reflects pegple’s changing ifestyles and
drives enduring demand for ocur assets. We have sold £2.3 billion of
retail assets over the last four years, including £419 midlion this year,
prirmarily single use assets but also multi-let space that does not fit

This year, we updated cur values to reflect the way our
business i1s changing:

Bring vour Listen and
whole self understand

Be smarter Build for
together the future

Read more at www.britishland.com/values

our strategy. However, Retail remains a core part of cur business.
This year we made acquisitions in Weoolwich, south east Lendon

and in Fating, adjacent te our existing Eating Broadway shopping
centre; both are well-connected mixed use assets with development
potential. In addition, we completed the £60 million refurbishment
of Meadowhall to ensure 1t 1s well positioned to meet the changing
demands of consumers into the future.

Development activity

Development is an tmportant part of how we deliver value. This year we
made strong progress on our pipetine of opportunities, with cormmitted
developments more than doubling to 1.6 million sq ft, and risks carefully
managed. 55% of the future rent from these developments, estmatad
at £63 million, is pre-tet or under offer and our speculative exposure
remains low at 4.5% of the portfolio value. Committed construction
costs of £427 million are substantially covered by £373 million of
Clarges Mayfair residential receipts to come post year end.

Looking further ahead, we have created a range of opportunities in
our near and medium term pipelines, which we have the flexibility
to progress when the time is right. This includes Canada Water,
where our masterplan will create a new urban centre for London,
We signed the Master Development Agreement with Scuthwark
Council and submitted our cutline planning application for the
masterplan in May 2018.

Sustainability

This was our second year holding the Queen’'s Award for Enterprise,
the UK's highest business accolade recognising our economic,
social and environmental achievements. Our activity this year has
supported 228 people into work, thraugh Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme. 35 of cur retail and leisure occupiers
participated in Starting out in Retail, helping 100 young people find
employment, and building on this, we will be introducing Starting Gut
in Construction in 2019. In support of the Living Wage Foundation,
we pay all Group employees at least the voluntary living wage rate
and encourage our suppliers to dothe same. This year, our three
London campuses became Living Wage Accredited Emptoyers,
with everyone we employ to manage and maintain the campuses,
inctuding contractors, paid at least the London Living Wage.

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

To read more visit www.britishland.com/CECblog
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We apply our placemaking expertise
to create Places People Prefer

Inputs: what makes our model work

Our relationships

Our operational expertise Our finances

- Our custemers and partners - Our expert people - Leverage managed for our current
- The tocal communities in and around - Our broad range of insights and needs and future plans

our places information - Diverse and flexible finances with a nux
- The suppliers and contractors who build, - The people, systems and insights to of matur ities

manage and maintain our assets

Iinterpret information and inform actions

- Partnerships to mitigate risks, bring
expertise and help finance prosects

Invest and
develop

- Sourcing new gpportunities

- Creating opportunities
within our portfolio

- Aliocating cur capital to
deliver growth and returns

Places

Applving onr
placemalking
CNPCFLine

~y Managing our
 CHVITOIITIONES

e

N

Outputs:

Shareholders Comnmunities Customers Partners

Sustanable long term Inclusive places which foster

High quality environments

income and value creation

opportumties and contribute
positively to their neighbourhood

To read more about how we engage with stakeholders, go to page 68
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which help our customers
succeed today and in the future

Access to high quality prajects
and British Land expertise,
while managing risk



Applying our placemaking expertise

- Relationships across the business we
can leverage to support cur mixed use
plans, which this year helped us sign
global retail brand Eataly at our
Broadgate offices campus

— Enlivenment activities which drive footfall,
including Villa Walala at Broadgate, and the
Craig David concert at Meadowhall

- Forging links with local communities,
working with suppliers and other partners
through Bright Lights, to support 95
apprenticeships at cur places and in our
local communities

Qur placemaking framework

Qur practicat approach to creating
Places Peopte Prefer

= We — = We =
Connect Enhance

— We — = We —
Design Enliven

What sets
us apart

Invest and develop

- Our unigue office-led campuses,
each benefitting from excellent
transport connections

- Our 10 million sq ft development pipeline,
focused on London, including & mitlion
sq ft at Canada Water

— The options we have created within our
partfolio for future development,
focusing on mixed use space

- Our strong and flexible balance sheet,
enabling us to fund developments when
the time is right on a risk managed basis

Managing our environments

- Abroader mix of uses at our campuses
with 15% of the space being developed
at Broadgate to be retaitand lersure

- Storey, our flexible workspace business
taunched last year, providing addtional
flexibibity to our customers

- Abroader mix of uses at our Retail assets

with 778,000 sq ft leisure extensions in our

development pipeline

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

MARKET TRENDS AND HOW WE ARE RESPONDING

1

We recognise the short term
backdrop while our strategy
is focused on long term trends

UK market backdrop

Continned political uncertainty

The June 2017 general election delivered a hung Partiament.
As a result, an already volatile political backdrop was further
destabilised, heightening uncertainty particularly with respect
to Brexit.

Resilience of London

The most recent estimates for Brexit-related job losses in the
financial sector are lower than initially feared. Technology and
media sectors have been particularly resiient, with Google and
Facebook committing to Londan, while overseas investment
has remained strong.

Jonsumer and business confidence
Consumer confidence remains fragile with real wages squeezed
by inflation, although there are tentative signs that the cutlock is
improving. GDP forecasts reduced over the year, and are below
leading global economies reflecting Brexit-related uncertainty.

Retailer and restaurant operator challenges

This year has seen a number of operators apply for company
voluntary arrangement (CVAs) as a resuit of challenges in their
markets. These include the impact of online and cost pressure

as a result of higher input prices as well as lower consumer
confidence. Casual dining operations have been similarly affected.

Interest rate expectations

The Bank of England increased base rates for the first time

in 10 years in Novermber 2017, from atl-time record low levels, i
and has indicated that the pace of interest rate increases could !
accelerate f high rates of inflation persist.

‘ Long term treuds driving our strategy

London's changing role in global markets
The ease of doing business and access to a diverse mix of talent and

! culture have established London as a leading global city. its proven

abulity to adapt and prosper means 1t 1s well-placed to withstand
today's Brexit-related headwinds, and continue to attract inward
business investment.

Population change and urbanisation

Londen’s population continues to change; for example more than
20% of Londoners are expected to ke over 60 by 2040, changing the
type of space required. There 1s more demand for igher density
development with excellent connections as well as a focus on
promoting wellbeing with green and open spaces and a mix of usas.

Accelerating technology-driven change

Technology is disrupting conventional ways of doing business,
changing how people and organisations interact with physical
space, but providing opportunities for those quick to leverage new
capabilities. In certain sectors such as retail change 1s fundamental
and businesses are having to respond to remain successful.

Evolving worker and consumer expectations
People expect more from the places where they spend time.
They want to move seamlessty between work and leisure, they
want more flexibility and value added services and they want
space to be well connected.

Wellbeing and sustainability

There s a broad consensus that growth and development should
be sustainable, with the benefits shared more equally across
society, prometing a more inclusive culture with the surrounding

| cornmunities. There is a growing recognition of the role that places

2 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

can play in promoting mental and physical wellbeing.



We have four
strategic priorities

Right Places

Creating great environments

Invest in well-connected places, where there

1s potential for growth and regeneration
Broaden the mix of uses to appeal to a wider
range of cccupters and local communities
Enhance and enliven our spaces through
placemaking

Understand and respond to the changing needs
of the people who use our spaces

Community

Make a positive contribution locally and behave
so our places are considered part of their

local community

Promote social inclusion, interaction and
accessibility, embedding our places in their
neighbourhoeds and local community networks

Expert People

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Enhance key skill sets, including in more
operational areas

Share expertise through collaborative working
Promote a diverse and inclusive culture

Skills and opportunity

Help local people and businesses to grow
Further develop training and development

schemes for people at all levels of cur organisation

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

- Customer insight based on a range of
information helps us to deliver Places
People Prefer

- Expand the use of technology to reflect
its role in the way people work and shop

Wellbeing

- Create places that promote health,
productivity and enjoyment, enabling
our customers to be more successtul

Capital Efficiency

Disciplined use of capital
- Actively recycle capital to maximise
risk-adjusted returns

- Maintain an appropriate balance of risk in both
development exposure and financial leverage

Futureproofing )
- Protect and enhance asset value through

environmental stewardship, including energy
generation and efficiency, materials innovation

and flood risk reduction

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Customer Orientation —
responding to changing lifestyles

Qur customers are the organisations

located at our assets. To make our places
successful and sustainable however, we
also facus on the needs of a broader range
of people, including the peopie who shop or
work in them and the communities who

live in and around them. We are focused

on understanding and responding to their
changing needs. To do this we have developed
a deep understanding of how people use our
space, based on what our customers tell us.
This informs our approach to managing our
assets and guides our investrnent activity, to
ensure we are always focused on the customer.

How we work

Technotogy is changing the way businesses
and their people use office space, enabling
people to work mare flexibly or remately and
providing the infrastructure for smaller
companies to compete with larger, well
established businesses.

There is a growing focus on places that
foster collaboration and networking and
reflect the overlap between wark and lersure
time, with a diverse retail, leisure and food
and beverage offering close by, and regular
social events and activilies.

14

Delivering space which reflects the way
people want ta work also helps employers
attract and retain talent and promote
productivity. The types of businesses
demanding space are alse changing.

We are meeting the need for greater
flexibiity, parucularly from the growing
small and medium sized business segment,
by providing space on more fiexible terms,
through Storay, our flexible workspace
offer. Launched this year, Storey 1s an
important and growing part of our campus
proposition. [t 1s compiementary to our core
offering, prowiding our customers with
flexible space for short term requirements.
After a positive start, we have plans to grow
this business further.

Wellbeing

How we shop

The retail sector continues to see significant
structural change, with the impact of online
fundamentally changing the way people
shop. Despite this, cur insights demonstrate
that physical retail remains core to the retail
proposition, with physical stores playing a
rale in 87% of retail sales. This may be at the
‘discovery’ phase of the consumer journey,
where stores act as a showroom, the
‘transaction’ phase, when the goods are
actually purchased, or the “fulfilment’
phase, when they change hands.

The role of the physical store 15 changing,

to support and enhance these phases of the
customer experience. We are responding by
evolving the nature of our spaces to perform
the showroaming role as effectively as
possibie. By improving the food, beverage
and leisure offer at our centres, shoppers
are encouraged to stay longer and spend
more. Qur surveys show that when customers
engage with our catering offer, retail spend
increases by an average of 27%. Our Retail
centres also play an important role in the
fulfilment of online purchases, with 27%

of shoppers having used click and collect,
up from 19% three years ago.

To make our places more dementia
friendly we are rolling cut tramming,
improving signage and exploring new
opportunities. This year, 130 local
people affected by dementa also
recarded memories for loved ones
through cur Down Memory Lane
project at exght assets, supporting

their wellbeing and fostering

community links

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

52%

average increase n traffic at
retatler’s website ahead of new
store openings

46,000

customer surveys canducted by
British Land throughout the year



Right Places — creating great
environments inside and out

Regional

12 Retail cenlres attracting visitors from
awide catchment for a planned trip

Local

32 Retail centres fitting into the daily
life of commututies

Right Places is about identifying places with
the potential to evolve in Line with changing
Ufestyles. Increasingly we are focused on
places with a broad mix of uses, sllowing
people to integrate their work and leisure
time within attractive and engaging
environments, We use our placemaking
framework to achieve this, and 1t supports
growth and returns acrass our business.

Focusing on London

Our entire Office portfolio and nearly 90%
of our development pipeline is focused on
Londen, Including our three office-led
campuses and Canada Water, our 53 acre
mixed use regeneration project. London
consistently ranks amongst the world's
leading citieg as a place to Live, work and
do business, reflecting its diverse pool
ofinternatianzl talent, culture and
entertainment as well as its legal and
financial Infrastructure. Despite the

4 Gbn

assels located close te
Crossrall stations

60%

of the portfelio in London
including all Offices

Brexit-related uncertainties, London’s
proven ability to adapt and prosper has
ensured its continued attraction to
international business and capital.

Our London campuses each benefit from
excellent transport infrastructure;
Broadgate and Paddington Central will
have Crossrail stations immediately
adjacent to the campuses and Regent's
Place has convenient access to $ix London
underground lines as well as King's Crass
and Euston mamnline stations.

Places which are curated to respond to
changing lfestyles have the potential to
deliver growth and returns long term.
This underpins our growing focus on
mixed use development which prioritises
placemaking from the start.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Community

As part of our Local Charter activity

to promote a sense of commumty at
our places and make a positive local
difference, we run several successtul
arts programmes for young people.
Through Creative Curniculum, 199 local
schooichildren visited our campuses
this year and created criginal artworks,
inspired by what they had seen and
supported by professional artists.

Canada Water is the strongest example of
this, but our plans at Eden Walk, Ealing and
The Woolwich Estate will alsc regenerate
significant areas of London.

Focusing on omni-channel retail
Our Retail portfolio is focused on centras
which suppoert retailers’ omni-channet
approach. Our Regicnat assets are
destinations, which attract visitors from
a wide catchment who come to shop,
relax and be entertained, and our Local
assels provide convenience shopping

for local communities.

Our placemaking framewark provides

a structure to deliver these different
experiences. Dur investrnent in our Regional
assels has focused on attractive, well-
designed leisure extensions, enabling us

to expand our lersure and catering offer,
providing people with more reasens to visit
and to stay longer. We are enhancing this

i space with events and activities and

improved customer service.

At our Local assets, our activity has focused
on connecting more with local communities,
forging strong Links which encourage repeat
visits, for example through our work with
the National Literacy Programme, helping
young children to read, and our Bright
Lights Starting Out in Retall course,
supporting local skills and employment.

15



Streategic Repore

OUR STRATEGY

. »

Capital Efficiency - Futoreprooting

Through our energy efficiency and
[ [ . » emissions programme, we have

disciplined use of capital
savings for us and our customers
(€6 million net] since 2012, whilst
optimising lighting, temperature and
air quality fo enhance the weilbeing
of the paople who use our bulldings
This atso helps us protect asset
value for investars.

£8.5bn

capital actvity in the last
five years, including
acquisitions. disposals
and capital expenditure

Capital allocation

We have a disciplined approach to capital
allocation. Our activity covers a range of
options inciuding funding acquisitions,
investing in our development pipeline to
drive future growth and shareholder returns.
We rigorously evaluate the relative merits of
each based on their risk-adjusted returns
and prevailing market conditions.

The starting point is our annual IRR process,
which forecasts the prospective returns of
sach of our assets. We sell assets with the
lowest prospective returns, reallocating
capital to higher growth opportunities. In
recent years, disposal activity has focused
on mature and off strategy assets, including
supermarkets and solus retail, or offices
which are fully let with lower prospective

returns. Acquisitions have focused on

properties with significant growth or

placemaking potential which, in many

cases, are adjacent to existing assets,

generating washover benefits across the

combined space. a £300 million share buyback whilst doubling | mix of funding, phased matunty, adequate
the size of our development pipeline and flexibility and liquidity and strong balance

Developments have delivered some of further reducing leverage. sheet metrics.

our strongest returns, but are inherently

higher risk. particularly when pursued an Debt and equity Strategic partnerships

a speculative basis. We seek to Limit our We rmanage our debt and equity financing We have a strong track record of working

development exposure to 15% of the total to balance the benefits of leverage, with partners to achieve benefits of scale

investrment portfolio by value, with a including higher returns to shareholders, while managing risk. 36% of our owned

maxirnum of 8% to be developed against the risks of a more highiy geared assets are held In joint ventures and funds,

speculatively (L.e. without a pre-let ar partfolio. Qur primary measure of including Broadgate and Meadowhall. Within

agreed salel at any time. The current leverage is loan to value (LTVi ona these structures we typically earn fees by

levelis 4.5%, well within this limit. proportionally consolidated basis which providing asset management, developrment,
we anm ta manage through the property corporate and finance services. These

Through this approach we have created cycle such that our financial position would experiences, and the relationships we have

attractive development opportunities within remain rabust in the event of a significant developed, position us well to progress

our portfolio, and our balance sheet provides | fallin property values. The scale of our sorne of our larger opportunities, including

the flexibility to progress these, with costs on | business, quality of our assets and i Canada Water.

our commutted pipeline substantially covered | security of our rental streams enable 1

by residential receipts. This is an important us to access a broad range of debt finance ] For more information on debt and leverage

advantage, which we balance aganst the an attractive terms. At a Group level, our go 10 our Financial review on page 41and

benefits ta shareholders of a more immediate © approach s ta raise funds predenunantly Financial policies and principles on page 45.

capital return. This year we have completed on an unsecured basis, with a diversified
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Expert People — the
knowledge and skills to deliver

Investing in our people

Qur pecple strategy focuses on creating a
team which can deliver Places People Prefer.
To do this we will continue to enhance the
diversity of our business, further benefitting
from a broad range of skills, backgrounds
and experience.

We support all employees with career
progression through personal development
plans and by providing opportunities for
everyone to develpp and excel. This year,

we invested more than £550,000 i staff
development and professional qualifications,
including a range of ontine resources available
to all employees; customer focused sales
training which has been rolled out across
British Land; and bur residential Leadershipin
Real Estate programme which has benefitted
57 of our team since launch in 2014,

In view of our increasing focus on mixed
use property and development, we encourage
cross-team collaboration so that expertise
in one part of the business benefits ather
areas. We are also building our marketing
capabilities to help ensure customer
orientation |s at the core of what we do and
investing in technetogy, upgrading our core
operational systems and processes, whilst
enhancing our cyber and data

SEecurity processes,

Supporting wellbeing and inclusion
Ta support the wellbeing of our team and

as part of our compmitment to building an
inctusive culture, this year we established

- our Ethruc Diversity Network and our

i
i
!

Parents and Carers Network, alongside
our successful Women's Network, BL Pride,
our LGBT &and Allies Network and our

“ Wellbeing Committee. To help people

i

balance their working lives with the interests

i and responsibilities they have ocutside waork,

we provide everyone with the technology
they need to work flexibly, with circa 20%
doing so on a fermal basis.

We encourage all of our people to support
local communities through volunteering and
are pleased that 16% of the British Land team
was involved In skills-based volunteering this
year, including roles as charity trustees and
school governcrs. Since autumn 2017,

20 employees have signed up to the Step

on Board programme, an external service
that supports employees to velunteer as
non-executive directors and trustees of
charities and voluntary organisations.

This year British Land was awarded our first
Two Star accreditation in the ‘Best Companies’
survey published by The Sunday Times, with
particular progress in flexible working and
personal growth. Broadgate Estates [our
property management subsidiaryl also
achieved its second One Star accreditation.
Management engages regulariy with
employees, including through twice monthly
staff meetings and specific results and
strategy updates. Colleagues at all levels
can participate in our all-employee share
schemes, aligning their interests with those
of sharehotders with 5% of employees
participating in our Share Incentive Plan

Tomorrow’s team

We recognise the importance of investing
In tomorrow’s workforce, both for British
Land and our customers and partners.
Alongside our long-standing internship
scheme, our graduate scheme is now In its
second year with six graduates recruited.
Three are joining this year, of whom one
came thraugh Pathways to Property, an
initiative led by the University of Reading
to promote property in UK state schools,
which we have supported for five years.
Ancther three are joining next year.
Across our portfolio, 20,114 people
benefitted from our skilts, employment
and educational initiatives in the year.

11t

Chrnis Grigg ranked
11th of Ally Executives
by QUTstanding and
the Financial Times

Skills and opportunity

Through our Bright Lights Starting
Outin Retall traning programme
we engaged 35 retall and leisure
occupiers this year and supported
100 unemployed young people into
jobs, growing local skills and
employrnent. This is helping aur
customers secure ther skilled
workforce of the future and
promoting social mobitity

British Land
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¢ Report

CASE STUDY - BROADGATE

Broadgate —
where innovation
and finance play

Broadgate is the largest asset by value
within the British Land portfolio. Itisa
mixed use campus comprising offices,
restaurants, retail and leisure set across
four landscaped squares.

Covering 32 acres, itis central London's
largest pedestrianised area. Broadgate
1s adjacent to Liverpool Street Station, a
Crossrail station fram 2019, and connects
the creative, tech-focused commurities
of Spitalfields, Shoreditch and Old Street

with the City.
people visit Broadgate increase n footfall to
each year Liverpoot Street with

the launch of Crossrail

Investing in our places

75% 64% We have more than 1 million sq ft of space

of campus workers of campus workers have | under development at Broadgate, across
engage with food and attended a campus event 100 Liverpool Street, 1 Finsbury Avenue

beverage offer weekly based on our surveys and 135 Bishopsagate, of which 32%is
based on our surveys®

tet or under offer, significantly reducing
our development risk.

Qur plans enhance cur bulldings and

the shared spaces between them to appeal
to a broader range of customers and better
connect Broadgate to its surrsunding
neighbourhoods.

www.broadgate.co.uk

Sustainability
in action

£3. 4m

social value added by getting
286 East Landoners into jobs
and apprenticeships with our
suppliers and customers at
Broadgate, growing local skills
and employment See page 25.
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A lifestyle neighbourhood

15% '

of space currently under development will be retail or food
and beverage with 42,000 sq ft let to global retail brand Eataly.

A place for innovation

230,000 sq ft

Space taken by TMT and creative businesses including Starting Bank
and Innovate Finance at ZFA and 79,000 sq ft let to Mimecast at 1FA.

Enhanced connectivity

Crossrail launches in 2019, transforming London’s
connectivity, and bringing our customers to within
10 minutes of the West End and 30 minutes of Heathrow.

Our partners

Our joint venture partners GIC
are fully committed to our vision
for Broadgate, enabling us to

progress our development pipeline.

in addition to the buildings we are
already delivering, our medium
term pipeline covers a further

1 million sq ft.

Sharing experience

Construction workers who
helped bu:ld some of the first
Broadgate buildings worked
atongside new recruits to the
mndustry on the construction
of 100 Liverpoot Street.

Introducing Storey

During the year we introduced our flex:ble
workspace brand, Storey, to Broadgate
at Appold Studios and 2 Finshury Avenue.

Storey has attracted a new, different type

of occupler to the campus, including smaller,
innovative businesses and divisions of larger,
established occugiers. This s additive to the overall
campus offer and environment, benefits larger
occupiers and further diversifies our customer mix

Storey provides over

60,000 sq ft

of flexible workspace at Broadgate,
of which nearly $5% s let or under offer

www.storey.co.uk

British Land have delivered a
forward thinking, creative and
flexible product with digital
connectivity that aligns well
with our business needs.”

William Newton
President & EMEA MD WiredScore

British Land | Annuat Report and Accounis 2018
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CASE STUDY - MEACGCWHALL

Meadowhall -

a vitbrant destination
for today and tomorrow

Meadowhall, located on the outskirts of
Sheftfield, is Yorkshire's premier shopping
destination and one of anly six out-of-town
super-regional shopping centres inthe UK.

It provides 1.5 mullion sq ft of high quality
retail and leisure space to around 280
occupiers. Qur planned leisure extension will
transform the leisure offer, which currently
comprises an }1-screen Vue cinema and
more than 50 restaurants and cafes.

l
|
J
}
s
|

This year our surveys showed:

4% 12%

increase in dwell tme INncrease In
frequency of visit

4% 5%

increase In how the increase in overall
quality of the architecture  centrerating
15 perceived

www.meadowhall.co.uk

Attracting new occupiers

82.000 sq ft

of lettings to new retallers since we started our refurbishment

Improving the experience

£60m

refurbishment campleted with a further £44 mullion
invested In store upgrades by nearly 80 brands.
strengthening appeal to new customers, with 28 new
retallers signed, driving improved performance across
the centre

The work was carried out overnight without any loss
tr trading hours Our custarmers were incredibly
cooperative and traded as normal. ensuring shoppers
conlinued to enjoy their visits.
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Supporting fulfilment as retail evolves

Our maost recent survey found that 7% of visitors had used
click and coliect facilities on the day of their visit, more than
double the proportion from the same period in 2014

Broadening our target market

Following the successful comptetion of the redevelopment,
and having attracted a broader range of aspirational brands,
the shopper profile has become more affluent, with 15.3%
now from the three most weaithy consumer groups (as per
the Acorn classification), campared to 13.3% a year ago.

Strengthening community links

7% increase in routine top up shopping missions demonstrating
Meadowhall's role as a town and community centre.

Sustainability
in action

£30m

boost for the regional economy
through the Meadowhall
refurbishment, with 69% of
construction spend awarded to
firms within 23 miles of the centre,
including small businesses

See page 25

The area is lighter, brighter and
more aspirational. Sales at Yo! Sushi
have jumped, we're up 20% since

the refurbishment and it’s growing.”

Richard Hodgson
CEO Yol Sushi

Supporting local
employment

24

apprenticeships supported and
more than 1,200 jobs created to
delver the refurbishment

Experiential shopping

60%

of people visit Meadowhall on a destination shopping
trip, with our planned leisure extensron expected to

strengthen its roie in attracting wisitors for a hig day out.

Enlivening our space

£15.000

raised for charity by Christmas concert featuring
Craig David.

BritishLand Annual Reportand Accounts 2018
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DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our significant development pipeline
positions us well to capitalise on
Sfuture market opportunities in a risk

managed way

Committed W \
Five developments cavering 1.6 rmillion sq ft
with a current value of £572 million and an
ERV of £63 million. 55% of this space s et
ar under offer, significantly reducing our
speculative risk which stands at 4.5% of the '
portfolio value. Costs assaciated with our
commutted developments total £427 million,
which are substantially covered by residential
receipts 1o come at our recently completed
Clarges development of £373 muilion.

Near term B

Four developments which we expect to start
in the coming year covering 578,000 sq ft of
space with an ERV of £30 million.

Calendar year*

| 2019

Medium term H
10 developments, totalling nearly 3 million

sq ft inaddition to our plans at Canada Water,
a b rmillien sq ft London regeneration preject.

135 Bishopsgate

Office-led development on our
Broadgate campus, at Bishopsgate,
where footfall is amongst the highest
in London. ltalian marketplace Eataly
are taking 42,000 sg ft for their first
ever UK store, and we are under
offer or in negotiations on a further
269,000 sqg ft.

328,000 sq 1t

l

[ a1 Taz

1 Finsbury Avenue

Office-led refurbishment, at our
Broadgate campus, with significant
retail and lersure element on lower
floors and flexible workspace on
upper floors. 32% tet to technology
company Mimecast.

291.000 sq ft

" Timeline based on practical cormpletion

Far more information on developments, see
www.britishiand.com/development
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Q4

Plymouth Leisure

Leisure extension at Drake Circus
including a 12-screen Cinewaorl(d,
15 restaurants and a 412-space
car park.

107000 sq ft



Meadowhall Leisure

Leisure extension which will add
3 new cinema, café court, gym,
open-air terrace and space for
leisure, event and commurity
use at our Meadowhall centra.
We have received a resolution

to grant planning.

330,000 sq ft

2020

5 Kingdom Street

Office led development, at the
western end of Paddington Central,
with potential for a broader mix of

uses, Including retail and restaurants.

332000 sq 1t

1 Triton Square

Office-led development at Regent's
Place which 1s fully pre-let to
Dentsu Aegis Netwerk, an existing
occupier on the campus, on a 20
year lease. At 310,000 sq ft, this1s
the largest pre-tetin the West End
for 20 years and 1s a strong
endorsement of the campus.

366,000 sq it

Q2

100 Liverpool Street

Office-led development, with

90,000 sq ft of retail and lesure space.
Adjacent to Liverpoot Strest Station,

at the gateway to our Broadgate
carnpus. 37% of office space let to
SMBCE, who are taking the lower
three floors of the buillding on a
20 year lease.

522,000 sq it

Q3 Q4

2021 & beyond...

Canada Water

Phase 1 of our mixed use regeneration scheme
at Canada Water covers 1.8 million sq ft, of a
total of 5 mition sq ft. This phase envisages

1 mithion sq ft of commercial space, 256,000

sq ft of letsure and retail space and 650 new
homes, with 35% affordable housing provision.
Our outline planning appticaticn for the overall
masterptan was submitted in May 2018.

5 million sq ft

[ACanadaWaterMasterptan

www.canadawatermasterplan.com
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HOW SUSTAINABILITY CREATES VALUE

We continue to deliver strong economig,
social and environmental performance

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our 2020 sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and enviranmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business,

We provide clear guidance on the high social, environmental and
ethical standards we expect of employees and suppliers through
patictes such as our Supplier Code of Conduct, Local Charter and
Sustainability Brief for Developments. The effectiveness of our strategy
and policies can be seen in our strong social and envirenmentat
performance, which reduces risks and creates positive outcomes.

Customer Orientation

‘Wellbeing

Create places that promote
health, improve productivity
and increase enjoyment

R T

o
Customers

Occupiers and pecple
atour places

Right Places

Community

— -
e e

e
Make a positive contribution
locally and behave so our places

are considerad part of the
local comnmunity

Communities

Local people and organisations

Capital Efficiency

Futureprooting

— g
- o
\-\\\//

Protect and enhance asset value
through environmential stewardship,
inctuding energy generation arnd
efficiency, materials innovation and
Hood risk reduction

— -

e e
T
\\;/

Shareholders

Investors and co-investors

2018 highlights include

We design for wellbeing in
everything we do. This includes
collaborating with suppliers to
promote 5 culture of wellbeing
at our places. New facilities
launched at Broadgate support
the wellbeing of construction
workers, designed by local
students at the University of
East London.

L1

There's real enthusiasm
fram the team for their new
SJacilities. which have the feel
of a high strect restaurant.”

Jeff Tidmarsh

Broadgate Framework Design
Manager at Sir Robert McAipine

24

7.580 children participated in our
Young Readers Programme with
the National Literacy Trust and
customers, across 25 retall cenires
and three London campuses.

114

We know that when children
enjoy recdding and have books
of thetr oxen at home, they do
betrer at school, at work and in
tife; yet a third of children left
primary school last year uncble
to read well. Our partnership
with British Land takes us to
the very heart of this issue”

Jonathan Douglas
Diractor of the National
Literacy Trust
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Expert People

Skills and opportunity

\‘\\ ///

e

— —

Develop skills and opporiunities
to help local people and
businesses grow

\\\‘//

Partners

Local authonties, suppliers
and ermployees

17% increase in renewable
energy generated by solar
panels at our places this year
to 800,000 kWh, with more
installations planned. We also
pracured 97% of all electricity
from certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner.

(19

It is encouraging to see large
commercial reai estate
investors like British Land
seeking to reduce their carbon
Jootprints and futureproof
their assets.”

John Macdonald-Brown
CEQ of Syzygy Renewables

742 local people progressed
Into jobs and 159 employers
recruited through Fort Kinnaird
Recruitment & Skills Centre,
including our customers. We
support this as part of Bright
Lights, our skilis and -
employment programme.

(11

Excellent service. We are able
to turn recruttment around
very quickly due to filling our
interview slots immediately
Jollowing advertising our
vacancies,”

HR Manager
Marks & Spencer, Fort Kinnaird



Case studies: sustainability in action

Input

£325.000

invested in Broadgate Connect since 2012, along
with support from British Land management

T

Output

264

East London jobseekers recaived employability
tratning, building their skills

Outcomes

k.37m

social value added
through upskilling and
getting jobseekersntg
ernployment

262

East London jobseekers
supported into jobs and

24 1nto apprenticeships,
creating positive futures
for themselves

22

Broadgate suppliers
and occuplers
recruited talent

Helping secure the

skills our bustness, supply
chain and customers
need for the future

Far more on Principal risks, see

pages22to 55

Meadowhall

How our integrated
approach to sustainability
enhanced our
refurbishment of
Meadowhall this year.

For more on Sustainability performance
measures, see pages 175to 176

British Land

Input
£60m
refurbishment investment including £51 million

construction spend, applying placemaking expertise
to transform the look and feel of the centre

— /
—

Qutput

69% 1ind

of construction spend construction jobs were
awarded o firms within  filled by people living

25 miles, including small i Sheffield
local businesses

Outcomes
boost for the regional
economy, ncluding

£26 million for small
businesses

400

Jobs for Sheffield
residents

Contributing to unanimous
ptanning support for the
leisure extension

24

apprenticeships supported
or created through the
Meadowhallrefurbishment

Broadgate

How Broadgate Connect,
part of our Bright Lights
skills and employment
programme, has created
tangible outcomes in

the local community
since 2012

For more on Sustainability, including
slrategy, performance and policies, see
www. britishland.com/sustainability
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OUR KEY FERFORMANCE INBICATORS

How we performed over
the past yvear against

our strategy

| Links to remuneration

Long-Term Annual
Incentive award

incentive Plan

Customer Orientation

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value
Total aceounting return s our overatl
measure of performance, It s the
dividend paid plus the growth in EPRA
NAV per share.

Responding to changing lifestyles

We recognise and respond to our
customers’ changing needs, based

on our insights about how peaple use

our spaces and our cperational expertise

Our operaticnal priarities in the year

- Further develep customer insights
- Deliver technology driven innovations

KPI1

Insights

43,000 surveys were conducted across
our Retai! portfolio including 12,000 online
surveys completed at 14 of our Retail
centres; 3,000 surveys were complated
On Our campuses

Qur data shows that cansumers who
engage with our catering offer spend 27%
more on retail than those using retail
slone and the addition of leisure, food
and beverage offerings increases dwell
time to 90 minutes versus 54 minutes

for a retail-only usaer

Our campus surveys showed that ‘more
retail” was the most requested area of
improvernent with ‘more green spaces’
also an imporiant priority

Our response

15% of space under development at
Broadgate will be retail, teisure or food
and beverage including & cinema at

1 Finsbury Avenue and Italian
marketplace Eataly at 135 Bishopsgate
Public realm improvements inctuding a
woodland walk completed at Paddington
Central and six independent cafes signed
Successful year at Pergola. an 850 cover
pop up dining concept at Paddington with
179,000 visitors in 2017

130,000 sq ft of food, beverage and leisure
lettings at our Retall centres

- Qur 160 Liverpool Street development wilt

benefit from smart technolagies, including
biornetric screening, environmental
optimisation of ighting, temperature and
air quality and people flow analysis
Technical solutions implemented at Starey
include super-fast and resilient internet
connectivity, tailored to occupier
requirements and a Storey custamer
portalto assist in day-to-day management
of the space

Wellbeing

- Progress towards our WELL Gold
target at 100 Liverpool Street,
designing for wellbeing and
productivity

- 83% shopper score for perception
of wellbeing at our Retail assets
{2017, 84%]

- Embedding wellbeing improvements,
including greenery, sccial spaces,
games areas, improved walkways
and training

@ Customer satisfaction
We extensively survey our customers
and other users of our places to assess
our performance and ident/fy
apportunities for improvernent.

Risk indicators we monitor

- Consumer confidence

- Employment forecasts for relevant
sectars

- Market letting risk [vacancies, expiries,
speculative development)
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Total accounting return {TAR)

27%

2616 14.2%

017

Right Places

2018 performance

This year we generated a TAR of 8.9%
comprising a dividend increase of 3.0% to
30.08 pence per share and a EPRA NAV
growth of 5.7% to 967 pence per share.

Risk indicators we monhitor

- Forecast GOP

- The margin between property yields
and long term borrowing costs

- Property capital growth and ERV
growth forecasts

Creating great environments
inside and out

We invest in places with potential and use
our ptacemaking framework to deliver
growth and returns

Our operational priorities in the year

- Deliver next steps of the Broadgate
masterplan

- Submit Canrada Water planning

- Deliver flexible workspace offer

KPI

Investing in potential

- Committed development pipeline more
than doubled to 1.6 million sq ft;
development risk well managed with
55% of the ERV pre-let or under offer

- Onsite gn more than 1 million sq ft of
developments at Broadgate, with 32%
pre-let or under offer

- Onsite at 1 Triton Square; fully pre-tet
on the office space covering 310,000 sq ft

- Planning achieved at the Gateway
Building, for a hotel at Paddington Central,
covering 105,000 sq ft

- E40 mitlion refurbishment of Meadowhall
completed, with a further £46 million
invested by nearly 80 customers

- Resolution to grant planning achieved on
330,000 sq ft leisure hall at Meadowhall;
in total planning approvals on nearly
800,000 sq ft across the Retail portfolio

- Master development agreement with
Southwark Council at Canada Water;
outline planning application submitted
on the overall masterplan in May 2018

- 180,000 people have attended events
at the Printworks, our events space at
Canada Water, which was named the
Best New Venue 2017 in the London
Venue Award

- Storey, our branded fiexible workspace
offer, launched and now active across
114,000 sq ft, with space at each of our
campuses, now 77% let

Community

- £2.1 milbon community programme
benefitting 39,798 people through
our Local Charter activity (2017
£1.7 million and 35,600i

- British Land employee volunteering
79% and skills-based velunteering
14%, with a new programme
taunched to Increase more impactful
skiils-based volunteering from 2019
(2017: $0% and 16%,; 2020 targets:
90% and 20%]

Total property returns
We have underperformed the IPD
benchmark this year by -310bps,
reflecting our lack of exposure
to Industrial, the strongest
performing category.

2097 3.1%

Speculative development commitment
Development supperts value and future
incorme growth, but adds risk. We keep our
committed development exposure at less
than 15% of our investment portfolio, with a
maximum of 8% developed speculatively.

% of standing investments

2018 £0.6bn 4.5%
2017 £0.5bn 3.9%
2036 £0.56n | 3.8%

Risk indicators we monitor

- Property capital return and ERV
growth forecasts

- Total development exposure

- Progress of developments against plan

- Speculative development expasure

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

b ]

Links to remuneration {

Long-Term o Annual

Incentive Plan Incentive award

OBt Bt |

Capital Efficiency

Disciplined use of capital

We make risk-adjusted decisions to invest
in acquisitions and development whilst
preserving our balance sheet strength

Our operational priorities in the year

- Beat budget and achieve leasing targets
- Recycle capital to '/mprove returns

KPI

Loan to value (LTV)

— proportionally consolidated

We manage our LTV through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust it the event of a significant
fall in property values.

2017 29.%%

Sustainability performance

We use industry-recognised indices to

track our sustainability performance

and Unk this to remuneration:

- Dow Jones Sustatnability Index
World and Europe 2017: 915t
percentile

- FTSE4Good 2016: 96th percentile

- Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2017 Five Star rating

Robust financial performance

- Marginaldecline in profits, down 2.6% to
£380 mullien, despite net sales of income
producing assets of £1.5 bitlion over the
past two years and propertias moving
into development

- Dwidend increase of 3% proposed for
2018/19, supported by our actions to
increase cover, daspite asset sales

- 2.4 million sq ft of leasing across Retail
and Offices, 8.2% ahead of ERV

- 55% let or under offer on committed
development pipetine with commutted
costs substantially covered by
residential receipts

- Further diversifying sources of finance
with £300 million Sterling bond 1ssued

- LTV reduced to 28.4% despite £206 million
af acquisttions and a £300 mdllion share
buyback

- Senior unsecured credit rating upgraded
to ‘A by Fitch

- Weighted average interest rate reduced
to an all time low of 2.8%

Capital recycling

- £419 million of retail sales, making good
progress agamnst target of £500 mullion
by November 2018 and bringing total
disposals to £2.3 bilion aver four years

- £103 mullion acquisition af The Woolwich

Estate, a £.9 acre retail-anchored
scheme in south east Landon benefitting
from Crossrail

Commitment to develop T Finsbury
Avenue and 135 Bishopsgate triggering
£117 million investment intg our
Broadgate campus

£300 million returned to shareholders via
8 buyback, completed ahead of schedule

Futureproofing

- 92% of developments on track
to achieve BREEAM Excelient
for offices and Exceilent or
Very Good far retail (2017; 100%;
2020 target: 100%)

- B54% reduction in carbon intensity
and 40% reduction in landlord
energy intensity versus 2009,
index scored (2017; 44% and 35%
respectively; 2020 target: 55%!

Weighted average interest rate
- proportionally consolidated
We have reduced aur cost of finance to
an all time {ow supporting our financiat
performance.

2017 3.1%:

Risk indicators we monitor

Financial covenant headroom
Period untit refinancing 1s required
Percentage of debt with interest
rate hedging

Execution of debt financings

2016 - : . 321%
28 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Expert People

20

18 performance

We continued to perform strongly on

sustainability indices: have almost achieved

ou

r 2020 carben reduction target; and

launched a Supplier Code of Conduct for
ethical, social and environmental issues.

Risk indicators we monitor

Health and safety

Energy Performance Certificates
Flood risk

Public trustin business

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Our team has the expertise to deliver
Places People Prefer

Our operational priorities in the year

- Promote an inclusive, perfermance
driven culture

- Create a more customer focused
organisation

KPI

An

Enl

open culture

Ranked in the top 10 of FTSE 100
companies In the 2017 Hampton-
Alexander Review with 40% female
representation across the Executive
Comeittee and direct reperis

Circa 20% of employees now formally
work flexibly with technology available
to everyone to do so

Successful years for BL Pride, our LGBT
and Allies network, cur Women's
Committee and Wellbeing Commuttee,
with a Parents and Carers network
and Ethnic Diversity network formed
in the year

Policy on enhanced shared parental
leave well received

hancing customer focus
Customer-focused sales traning rolied
out ta everyone in client-facing roles
Further cross-team collaboratian
between British Land and Broadgate
Estates with commen platforms
established for messaging, calendar,
document management, customer
relations and HR systems

Significant investmentn technical
security measures and Group wide
employee traing and awareness

on cyber security and GOPR

WarldHost customer service training
rolled out te 21 of 25 of our major centres,
with 18 centres receiving training in
dementia awareness and & range of site
appropriate training across the portfolio
including Autism Awareness, Mental
Health First Aid Training and Supported
Guide training, helping people with

sight lass

Further investment in our data and
analytics capabilities including improved
technology at our centres, a data and
anatytics platform and a central Insights
team operating across Retail and Offices
ensures that data and insights are an
important factor in our decision making

Skills and opportunity

- 228 people supperted into jobs
through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme,
warking with suppliers, customers
and local partners

- 100% of emplayees and 70% of
supplier workforce at managed
properties paid the Living Wage
Foundation rate [2017: 100% and
72% respectively

Best Companies survey
The Best Companies survey published
by The Sunday Times provides
an extensive and cbjective measure
of employee engagement.

2017

Two star
One towatch

One star

Risk indicators we monitor
- Unplanned executive departures

For our Remuneration Report,
see page 764

For how we manage risk in delivering
our strategy, see page 48
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Stratedic Report

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING

Building a supportive and

inclusive culture for our people
and our key stakeholders

Diversity and equality

We are focused on creating diverse and inclusive places and
recognse that to detiver this strategy successfully, we need a
business and culture which promote these values. By creating an
environment where our pecple feel fully supported, we empower
the whole arganisation to be more productive.

Our Inclusive Culture Steering Commiuttee, headed by 2 member
of our Executive Committee, promotas diversity and inclusion
at all leveis of the business.

Initiatives include:

- Diversity and unconscious bias training completed and 1s now
implemented for ali new starters

- Internship and graduate schemes targeting young pecple
from diverse backgrounds [see page 25)

- Ensuring that potential employee shorilists reflect the Group's
diversity criteria

- Dwersity networks empowering peaple to drive change
[see page 17

- Shared parantal pay providing equal enhanced benefits
to all parents

- Diversity and inclusion farum for key suppliers to discuss
challenges and share best practice

- Diversity and inclusion survey, which we have also shared
with key suppliers to support their activities

- Updating our values to reflect the changing way we work
together as a business [see page 9}

We are signatories to:

- People in Property’s guidelines an diversity and inclusion
N recruitment

~ The 30% Club, which targets a minimum 30% female
representation on FTSE 100 Boards

~ EW Group's Inclusive Culture Pledge to develop diversity
across leadership, people, brand, data and future

~ Real Estate Balance's CEQO Commitments for Diversity

Qur performance:

- 49% of Group employees are female, including three Directors
on the Board and three of our Executive Committee (as at
March 2018]

- Ranked sixth in the Harmptan-Alexander Review Report, with 40%
fernale representation scross the Executive Comnittee and their
direct reports {as at November 2017]

- Chris Grigg ranked in the top 2G Ally Executives by OUTstanding
and the Financial Times for the third year running [rank 11]

- First listed property company to achieve National Equality
Standard accreditation

Diversity and inclusion: www.britishland.com/inclusive-culture
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Gender pay gap and balance

As at § Aprit 2017 British Land had 237 employees and 322 employees
n Broadgate Estates. Currently the mean difference in gender pay at
Briish Land is 39.4% which 1s in line with the average for cur peer
group, reflecting the legacy structure of the real estate industry. The
average gap for bonuses s £6.8%. Our werkforce 1s made up almost
equalty of men and women and men and women doing the same job
are paid the same, so we look at this as a difference in opportunity,
rather than pay. The British Land Board 1s committed lo achieving
better gender balance across ali positions in the Company and has

in place recruitment and development practices that it believes will
lead to a material change to this position over time.

Gender balance: www.britishland.com/gender-pay-gap

2018 2017
M F M F
British Land 115.20 124.70 11920 10853
Of which are Board 9.00 3.00 10.60 3.00
Of which are Senjor Managers 64,20 32,90 64.20  28.20
Broadgate Estates 24350 213.41 22729 20418
| Group total 358.70 338.11 346,49 31271

Figures expressed as full time equivalent

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work ina way we believe 1s best practice to achieve
our soctal, environmental and ethical standards. The effectiveness of
our policies In this area can be seen in our sustainability performance
measures on pages 175 to 176. This year, we launched our Supplier
Code of Conduct, where we set out supplier obhigations in areas

such as health and safety, human rights, fair working conditions,
anti-bribery and corruption, community engagement,
apprenticeships and environmental management.

Supply chain: www.britishland.com/suppliers

| Human rights

Our respect for human rights 1s embedded in how we do business.

We are a signatary ta the UN Global Compact which supgorts a care

i setof values, including human rights, and have made appropriate
disclosures in respect of the Modern Slavery Act. We are also a member

] of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing

| across the construction industry. For our performance on aspects

including fair wages and diversity, see pages 175t0 176,

Modern Slavery Act disclosure www.britishland.com/MSA

Anti-bribery and corruption

| We are committed to the highest legal and ethical standards in every
aspect of our business. It s our policy te conduct business in a fair,
honest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices
ta obtain an unfar advantage. We provide clear guidance for suppliers
and employees, including policies on anti-bribery and corruption,
anti-fraud and code of conduct. All employees recewe traming on

| these 1ssues appropriate to their roles and responsibilities.

‘ Anui-bribery and corruption www.britishland.com/antibribery



Carbon reporting

Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54% versus
cur 200% baseline, through the National Grid's decarbenisation

and our own efficiency improvements. With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have alsc gone further, committing tc source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100,
supporting further decarbonisation of the Natianal Grid.

Absolute emissions Scope 1 and 2

3,847
2017 AN
2047 14,239

201% 50,022

2015 ) 50,022

B Location based methodology B Market based methodology

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity (tonnes COze)

Year ended 31 March 2018 2017 2009
Per m? - Offices [net lettable area) 0.055 0.069 0118
Per m? - Retail: enclosed 0.056 0.067 0174
Per parking space - Retail: open air 0.062 0.064 0.106
Per £m - Gross rental and related

income from managed portfolio? 58.03 67.39 -

We have reported on all emission sources required under the Companies Act
2006 [Strategic Report and Direclors’ Reports] Regulations 2013. These sources
fall within our consolidated financial statements and relate to head office
activities and controlled emissions from our managed pertfolio Scope 1and 2
emissions cover 96% of cur multi-let managed portfelio by value. We have used
purchased energy consumption data, the GHG Protocot Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standard [revised edition) and ermission factars from the UK
Government's GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2017.

Gross Rental Incorne [GRI from the managed portfolio comprises Group GR!
of £441 mullion [2017: €442 million], plus 100% of the GRI generated by joint
ventures and funds of £358 mullion (2017: £437 million], less GRI generated
assets outside the managed portfolio of £235 rutlion (2017 £259 mullion]

“

Our enviranmental impacts include carbon enissions across our
portfolio. This year, combustion of fuel emissions reduced by 6%,
largely due to changes in our portfotio. Operation of facilities
emissions reduced by 75%, largely due to fluctuations inarr
conditioning plant issues. Location based emissions from purchased
energy decreased by 20%, {argely due to Grid decarbonisation and
changes in our portfolic. Market based emissions decreased by 72%,
largely due to more electricity purchased from renewable sources
and changes in our portfolio.

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions {tonnes CO:e)

Year ended 31 March 2018 2017 2009
Combustion of fuel: Managed portfolio
gas use and fuel use in British Land
owned vehicles 6,901 7,348 5156
Dperation of facilities: Managed portfolio
refrigerant loss from air conditioning 1] 267 -
Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling: Managed portfolio
electricity use
L ocation based 27,301 34149 41186
Market based 1,875 6,630 -

Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)

We support the recommendations of the Task Force
and continue to actively manage climate issues.

Governance

Our Risk Committee, which reports to the Board, monitors and
oversees climate 1ssues. Climate risks are identified through a
process involving trend analysis and stakeholder engagement.
They are then incorporated inte our rizk framework and
managed by the appropriate business areas.

Strategy
We actively manage climate Issues across cur business.
This inciudes:

- Upgrading assets with EPC ratings of F and G

- improving flood risk assessment and protection

~ Procuring electricity from REGO certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner (2018: 97%)

- installng low carbon energy generation socurces, where viable

Risks
We reviewed climate risks in 2018 as part of our wider
materiatity review. They include:

- Rising energy costs

- Energy and carbon taxation, such as the CRC Energy
Efficiency Scheme

- Climate and energy regulation, such as Minimum Energy
Efficiency Standards [2018: 5% of portfolio at risk]

- Flood rnisks, impacting on asset value and insurance
costs (2078 of the 3% of portfolio at high risk, 100%
has flood management plans]

- Costincreases linked with carbon-intensive
construction materials '

Opportunities
— Anticipating occupier demand for climate resilient properties
- Delivering energy and carbon cost savings for us and our
customers [2018; £14 million gross and £6 million net
since 2012) .
- Generating on site energy {2018: 1,664 MWh]
- Outperforming Building Regulations (2018: 26% better
on averagel

More information
Principal risks: pages 52tc 55

Sustamability performance measures pages 175 to 176,

Sustainability Accounts for additional metrics, full methodology,
explanation of changes and PwC's independent assurance:
www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport

Climate strategy: COP Report www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport
Materiality review: www.britishland.com/materiality

Polictes and Code of Conduct: www.britishland.com/policies
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Steatedgic Report

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Against an uncertain backdrop
we remain focused on our strategy

£13.7bn

portiolio valuauon

70%

total property returp

1.8%

ERV growth

riy years

weighted average Llease length
to first break

Q44

occupancy rate

2.2%

valuation movement

Market backdrop

The economic environment remained uncertain across the year,
with consumer spending more subdued, as inflation (measured by
CPi] reached a high of 3.1% in November. The impact of politicat and
economic uncertainty relating to the ongoing Brexit negotiations
weighed on Investrment decisions for UK businesses and in
Novernber 2017, we saw the first interest rate rise in 10 years.
However, at 4.2%, unemployment is at its lowest in more than

40 years and inflation is slowing, as the impact of Sterling weakness
moderates. 50 while UK GDP growth forecasts remain below other
major economies, the relative strength of the glebal economy 1s
supportive for UK businesses,

The investment market

The London investment market proved resilient, with real estate
continuing to offer good relative returns, and the unique attractions
of London remawnung persuasive, particularly for overseas investors.
However, buyers have becorme more selective, with well-let,
pest-in-class assets still generating good interest while pricing on
other assets has softened, driving further polarisation. The picture

is similarin retail, where higher quality assets, both large and small,

continue to see demand, although the market remains cautious with
investars generally demanding 8 higher yield to compensate for a
percewved Increase in risk.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

The Office occupational market

Demand for the best quality space has remained firm, with
businesses continuing to make lang term commutments to London
despite wider uncertanty. Initial estimates for Brexit-related job
losses in the financial sector have been substantially lowered and
financial services companies have conuinued to take space, although
media and technology companies are now a more significant source
of demand. Flexible workspace was another important driver, with
its share of take up increased from an average of 7% in 2012-16 to
21% 1n 2017 This represents a shift towards mare collaborative
workplaces on more flexible terms. This s largely driven by the
growth of small and medium sized businesses, but alsa many larger
corparates, who increasingly require flexible workspace in addition
to their core office space.

The supply pipeline has moderated substanually since the
referendum, and nearly 50% of all space under construction is
currently pre-let, including nearly 60% of space due for completion in
2018. As a result, occupiers with relatively large space reguirements
have Lirmnited aptions in the coming years, which should support rents
on the best quality space.

The Retail occupationat market

in Retail, the occupational market became more challenging as the
year progressed. The long term structuralimpact of online continues
to affect operators, and these 1ssues have been exacerbated by short
term factors, notably rising costs and subdued consurner confidence.
Retajlers continue to raticnalise their store networks, and several
highly leveraged operators with challenged models have applied for
CVAs [company voluntary arrangements). However, this negative
sentiment obscures healthy performances from operators with
strong and differentiated offerings, who are evolving the rote of

their stores to reflect the changimg way people shop.

In the casual dining sector, operators who over-expanded in recent
years have been simitarly impacted by short term cost pressures,
although the overall leisure market remains strong. Spending on
leisure has continued to grow and this year I1s expected to reach
nearly £130 bitlion, a 17% increase compared to five years ago

As a result, polarisation 1 accelerating rapidly. The best quality retail
schemes, which meet a much broader mix of uses, including leisure
and entertainment, and which suppart the impartant role physical
retail can play in an ammi-channel strategy are still generating good
rental tension and delivering income growth.



QOur strategy

Cur strategy 1s to create outstanding places, which reflect the
changing Ufestyles of the people who wark, live or spend time in

our space - we call this creating Places People Prefer. We do this by
understanding and responding to the evolving needs and expectations
of our customers. increasingly people want to cornbine working,
shopping, socialising and entertainment in a single place. Across our
business we are responding ty this trend by curating the environment
inside and outside our buildings to create more of these opportunities,
which include a mix of activities. As our markets evolve, we will
continue to position aur business to benefit from the long term
trends to drive enduring demand for our space.

London Offices

Our campus approach enables us to successtully differentiate our
space by creating neighbourhoods we can enhance and enliven
through placemaking. 78% of our offices are located on our three
central London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Centrat and
Regent's Place. At each, we are delivering a growing mix of uses
alongside our offices, including dining, shopping, leisure and
entertainment as well as events and activities people can enjoy seven
days a week. Qur newest buildings reflect the changing ways people
are working, with more collaborative space, distinctive features such
as roof terraces and smart technelegy, and sustainable characteristics.
all of which ts driving good demand from a wide range of occuplers,

Storey, our flexible workspace business, is an integral part of that
approach, helping to attract new occupiers to our campuses and
allowing us to meet the evolving needs of existing customers.
Importantly, our campuses benefit from excellent connectivity and
transportinfrastructure, which will be further enhanced by Crossrail
at Broadgate and Paddington Central. This makes them accessible
and convenient, and will drive footfall, providing a strong rationale
for extending the retail and leisure offer.

Retail

We believe that physical stores have a key role as a part of

a successful omni-channel retail strategy, but that the market 1s
polarising towards the best locations. Size should be appropriate
to the catchment and quality of space and services are key.
Placemaking 1s an important part of how we can add value as
owners and managers of preperty: by curating our space to meet
the needs of our customers, we can support the way the role of
the store 1s changing. This is where our investment 1s focused.

There are typically three phases to a modern consumer journey:
‘discovery’, transaction’ and ‘fulfilment’. Qur Regional centres
typically support the "discovery’ phase; they attract visitors from
awide catchment so we are enhancing the nature of this space to
encourage people to stay longer and spend maore by enlivening our
space with more leisure and entertainment. Our data shows that
when custorners engage with gur catering offer, their retail spend
is typically 27% higher.

The second stage s the actual ‘transaction’, which may take
place in store or online. For retailers, transactions which are
rmade [or fulfilled] in store are preferred, as they do net incur the
cost of last mile delivery, reducing pressure on margins.

The third stage 1s ‘fulfilment’. Retailers are focused on rightsizing
their store netweorks, but are committed to maintaining good
coverage, with steres increasingly playing a role in logistics and
distribution. Across our portfolio 27% of shoppers now use click and
collect, up fram 19% three years ago, and here, our Local centres,
which provide convenient shopping for local cemmunities, have a
particular role to play.

Broadgate Estates

In May 2018, we announced the sale of the third-party portfolio

of Broadgate Estates, our preperty management business, to
international real estate adviser Savilts. This transaction enables
us to focus exclusively on our own assets and enhance the service
we provide to our customers as our business becomes increasingly
mixed use.

Portfolio performance

Total

Valuation ERV Yield property

Year ended Valuation movement growth shift return
31 March 2018 £m % Y% bps %
Offices 6,705 45 2.1 (71 90
Retail 6,596 03 1.6 b 5.7
Residential 132 1.6 n/fa nfa 4.6
Canada Water 283 (7.0 n/a n/a [(39]
Total 13,716 2.2 1.8 1 7.0

The portfolic value was up 2.2%, driven primarily by our leasing
activity, in particular the pre-letting of our developments which saw
avaluation gatn of 9.6%. ERV growth was positive In Retail and Offices,
but was stronger in the first half, particularly in Retail. Office yields
contracted 7 bps mostly in the first hatf reflecting our leasing
success, whilst Retail saw yield expansion of 6 bps, which was more
pronounced in our Local centres. Gverall, the portfolio equivatent
yield was broadly flat at 4.8%.

The portfolio underperformed the IPD atl property total return index
by 310 bps over the year, largely reflecting the continued strength of
the industrial sector within the index, where we have no exposure.
Offices outperformed the sector benchmark by 70 bps on a total
returns basis while Retal! underperformed by 50 bps.

We have completed the first phase of our valuer appointment policy,
which restricts the engagement of valuers on individual assets to

10 years. As a resutt, this year, 45% of the portfolio was subject to a
change invaluer. Despite some variations on individual assets, there
was ne material impact at a subsector level, and therefore overall.
Ail of these changes were reported at half year and full details on
our policy can be found in the Governance section of our website.

Investment and development

Canada

Retail Offices Residential Water Total
From 1 April 2017 £m Em Em £m Em
Purchases 199 - - 7 206
Sales'? (419} (577) {312) - (1308
Developrment spend 31 82 54 23 190
Capital spend 57 5 - - 62
Netinvestment 1321 (4901 (258) 30 1850)
Gross investment 706 664 366 30 1766

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joint

ventures and funds

" Inctudes £575 million Leadenhall Building disposat exchanged during the year
ended 31 March 2017 and cornpleted this year. Includes sale of Richmond which
exchanged during the year and completed post year end

* Includes €193 million of Clarges completions which exchanged prior to FY18,
of which £168 million completed after the year end
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Stratedgic Report

PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

£1.8bn

gross investment acimty

¢1.3bn

disposals

£(0.5bn

acquisitions and capital expenditure

24m sq ft

letlings and renewals

+8.2%

lettings and renewals ahead of ERY

The gross value of our investment activity since 1 April 2017, as
measured by our share of acquisitions, disposals, capital spend
on developments and other capital projects, was £1.8 bitlion. This
includes our share from the sale of The Leadenhall Building of
£575 mitlion {100%: £1.15 bittion] which completed in the year,
€419 million retail sales in line with book value and more than
£200 million of asset purchases.

We exchanged or completed residential sates of £119 million in the
year, on average 16% ahead of most recent valuations. In addition,
we have completed on £193 million of Clarges sales which exchanged
prior to 1 April 2017, of which £168 million compieted post year end.
This brings total completed and exchanged sales at Clarges to

£344 miltion to date.

This year, development spend has tatalled £190 mutlion, with the
majority relating to Broadgate developrents and Clarges. Capital
expenditure of £62 mullion relates to income enhancing investment
and more general asset enhancement inttiatives including at
Meadowhall, Glasgow Fort, Peterborough and Teesside.

Development activity
British Land share

ERV letf
Current Costto under
q ft value complete ERY offer Residental

At 31 March 2018 ODO £m fm  £m £m  exchanged
Completed inygar 170 488 17 2 1 3442
Committed 1.614 572 427 63 35
Nearterm 578 55 436 30 -
Medium term 2,992
Canada Water
Phase 1 1.848

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joini ventures
and funds except area which is shown at 100%],

' Total site area1s 5 mitlion sq ft,

2 of which £193 million completed to date including £168 million post year end
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J Across our portfolio, we have created attractive development

\ opportunities in line with our strategy, giving us the optionality
to progress when the time 1s night. This 1s a unique advantage In
the current environment, where we see limited opportunity to

‘ make accretive acquisitions, given the continuing strength of

i investment markets.

f We believe that space which meets a broader range of needs

1 will be most successful long term, so our development pipeline
focuses an our London campuses where we see the potential to
further enhance the mix of uses, with retail and residentialin

I addition to our core office space.

! in line with our discrplined approach to caprtal altacation, we
carefully manage our development risk, and pre-letting cur space

| 'S an impartant part of that approach. 55% of the £463 million ERV in

! our comrnitted pipeline 1s already pre-let or under offer and our total

l speculative exposure is just 4.5% of portfolio gross asset value (GAVI,

] well below our internal risk threshold for speculative development

i of 8%. In addition, costs to come on our committed pipeline of

£427 million are substantiaily covered by residential receipts to

come of £373 miltion from our Clarges Mayfair developnrent.

Looking forward, our medium term pipeline comprises a broad mix
of opportunities including mixed use schemes at Eden Walk, Kingston
and Ealing where we see potential to deliver sizeable residential
schemes alongside an improved retail offer. At Canada Water, we are
creating a new urban centre for London, which will comprise offices,
retail and leisure as well as residential. We signed a Master
Development Agreement with Southwark Council and submitted our
outline planning application for the masterplan in May 2018. In total,
our medium term pipeline covers 4.8 million sq ft, with the majerity
of projects currently incomne producing or held at low cost.

( Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the level in recent years. However,

! pressure on labour costs and lmited capacity in the industry indicate

| the rate of cost inflation will increase in 2019/20 back to closer to

] 3-4% per annum. To manage this, 89% of the costs an our

] committed development programme have been fixed.

Mere detalls on the portfolio, property performance, individual
developments and assets sold and acquired during the year can
be found in the detalled supplementary tables on pages 166 tc 174

|
|
.
5
|
]




LONDON QFFICES

Strong leasing activity driven
by our campus strategy and
good market demand

H

ighlights

Portfolio value up 4 5%, with the West End up 5.8% and the
Cityup 2.8%

Yield contraction of 7 bps overall, with 13 bps contraction

in the West End, weighted towards the first half, and 2 bps
expansion in the City

ERV growth of 2.1%, with the West End up 2.5% and the City
up 1.5%

70 bps ahead of IPD on a total return basis, 100 bps ahead
on a capital basis, with ERV growth 100 bps ahead

Leasing activity covered 1.2 million sq ft, four times the area
achieved last year, adding £40 million to future rents; under
offer or in negotiations on a further 548,000 sq ft

Rent reviews covered 226,000 sq ft, 10% ahead of passing rent
Activity generating Like-for-like income growth of 2.4%

£664 million (excluding residential sales at Clarges) of gross
capital activity, including our share of The Leadenhall
Building [£575 rutlion)]

Tim Roberts
Head of Offices

Campus review

78% of our offices are located on our three central London
campuses, Broadgate, Regent's Place and Paddington Central.
Each benefit from excellent transport links, as well as vibrant local
neighbourhoods, which supports our placemaking nitiztives and
makes therm more dynamic and interesting places to work and visit.

Broadgate

At Broadgate, our leasing activity covered nearly 520,000 sq ft,
including 160,000 sq ft at 100 Liverpool Street, to SMBCE, the
European subsidiary of SMBC {Sumitormnoe Mitsul Banking
Corporation). Having committed to this building on 3 speculative
basis at the end of 2018, we are now 37% let on the office space by
area, and are seeing good levels of interest on the remaining space.
A key focus remains increasing the mix of uses at our campuses, and
this year we signed & major deal with Eataly. the italian marketplace
at 135 Bishopsgate, where they will open their first UK location
covering 42,000 sq ft. This is animportant letung for the campus,

in Line with our objective to make Broadgate an internationally
recognised centre for new food, retail and culture. We are under
offer or in negotiations on a further 269,000 sq ft of office space at
this development, together accounting for around 80% of the space.
At 1and 2 Finsbury Avenue (1FA and 2FA], we are building
Broadgate's reputation as a centre for innovation and finance.

We have let 79,000 sq ft to Mimecast at 17A and are under offer on

a cinema (11,000 sq ft), together representing more than one third
of the building. At 2FA, we have let 14,500 sq ft on a short term basis
to Starling Bank, as well as a host of iettings in the technology and
creative sectors through Storey, ocur flexible workspace business
which covers 60,000 sq ft at Broadgate at 2FA and Appold Street.

This year, we were pleased that Broadgate was the winner of two
Revo Opal Awards. The first recognised how our commercialisation
strategy had helped transform and positively enhance the
environment at Broadgate, and the second recognising cur Winter
Forest as a best in ¢class build, execution and visitor experience.

Regent's Place

At Regent's Place, our leasing activity covered 411,000 sq ft, with

our pre-let to Dentsu Aegis of all the office space at 1 Triton Square
accounting for 310,000 sq ft, the largest pre-let in the West End for
22 years. As part of this letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return
ther existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021, which if exercised,
would have a compensating adjustment covering the rent free

period of the letting at 1 Triton Square.
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[LONDON OFFICES CONTINUED

Our Offices portfolio in London

£0. 71(3n

portfolio valuation (Brinsh Land sharef

73 years

weighted average lease length
to first break

96.7%

accupancy rate

Facebook reaffirmed their commitment to the campus, taking

a further 39,400 sg ft at 10 Brock Street, bringing their total
occupation to 213,000 sq ft across twa buildings, doubling their
nitial requirement. This s a good example of how we have been
able to accommodate the needs of our occuplers as their business
expands or needs change, so we are pleased that Storey is now
operational across 23,000 sg ft at 338 Euston Road. We alsc signed
Flykick, a new kick-hoxing gym at 350 Euston Road, which openad
in March 2018, in tine with our focus on enlivening our spaces and
dwersifying the mix.

The Regent’'s Place Community Fund is also entering its second year,
bringing together occupiers to support local charities and make a
posttive local difference. Inits first year, over 2,400 people benefitted
from projects addressing employability, social cohesion and health
and wellbeing. '

Paddington Central

Paddington was our best perforrming campus, up i value

more than 7% in the year as we benefitted from the placemaking
activities we have undertaken across our five years of ownership.
This has delivered a total unlevered return of 12% per annum.

4 Kingdom Street [147.000 sq ft), reached practical completion in
April 2017 and was nearly 90% let ahead of launch in June 2017,
to cccuplers including Vertex, Sasol and Mars, whose activities
span pharrmaceuticals, energy and food products. Storey is now
operaticnal across 15,000 sq ft and a further 25,000 sq ft has
been allocated.

Pergola, an outdoor drinking and dining experience which welcormed
179,000 peaple in 2017, reopened for the summer seascn at the end
of April. We are continuing to improve the food, beverage and leisure
offering at Paddington with six aperators, including a gym, barbers
and a number of mdependent cafés, together cavering 12,500 sq ft,
signed in the period. We completed stage ong of our public reatm
improvement programme and are now underway with stage two,
which will enhance and enliven the canal-side space,
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Storey

Since its launchn June 2817, Storey, our flexible workspace brand,
has made good progress. We introduced the concept in response to
changing customer heeds, and to broaden the range of services we
ofter campus occupiers. It is now operaticnal at all three of our
campuses, as well as International House, Ealing, covering a total of
114,000 sg ft, of which 77% is now let. We are differentiating our offer
to appeal to innovative businesses that have outgrown conventional
co-working space, as well as larger organisations seeking additional
space on more flexible terms in addiion to their core requirement.
Marketing and {it out are tailored accordingly, 50 our occupiers are
abie to create their own brand within our space, but benefit from
shared facilities in the building as well as the advantages that our
campuses provide

The average size of occupier 1s 52 employees and the average lease
length s 27 months (21 months term certainl, with existing occupiers
from our campuses accaunting far more than hatf of the space taken.
AIM-listed robotic software campany Blue Pristm have taken space
at 338 Euston Road and at Broadgate our activity is supporting the
campus’s emergence as a centre of technology and innovation,

with tettings to Wipro's strategic and digitat arm, Digrtal +Be=signit,
Tantalum, an automotive technology innovator, and Rotageek,

which offers data-driven employee scheduling services.

The premium to ERV we are achieving 1s at or above target, and
we have allocated a further 119,000 sg ft to Storey from within the
portfalio, of which 73,000 sq ft will be at 1FA. 10,000 sq ftwill be
‘club’ space at 4 Kingdom Street, where customers will be able

to host events and meetings and benefit from collaboration with
fellow Storey and other campus occupters, This brings total space
committed to Storey to more than 230,000 sg fi.

Residential

Clarges Mayfair, aur super prime residential development, reached
practical completion in December 2017, To date we have completed
or exchanged on 24 residentiat units totalling €344 millien and will
commence marketing of the remaining 10 valued at £147 muliion,
this summear. This scheme, which has delivered pratfits of mara



Paddington Central

In March 2013, we raised nearly £500 million to fund attractive
investment opportunities through a share placing Four
manths later, we acquired Paddington Central for £470 million,
andg n 2015, One Sheldon Square for £210 million, at the
entrance to the campus.

In February 2015 we commutted to the speculative
development of 4 Kingdom Street. When completed, it was
nearly 0% et ahead of the launchin June 2017, at rents 5%
ahead of pre-referendum ERVs. Today, top rents across
Pagdington are more than 30% higher.

Overtha last five years we have invested over £10 million
upgrading the campus environment, making 1t rnore attractive
and engaging, and last year added Pergola, a pop-up dining
concept which has welcorned nearly 180.000 wisitors The
evplution of Paddington continued this year. We now have four
canhal boats of which three are restaurants and recent lettings
fo 51 independent food and restaurant operators have nearly
doubled the foed and beverage allocation We also have
cohsent for a 332,000 sq ft office-led development at

5 Kingdom Street and a 105,000 sq ft hotel.

than £200 mullion to date, [of which residential accounts for over
£150 rmilion] demonstrates our experbise in residential. The offices
element of this scheme reached practical completion in June 2014
and I1s nearly 90% let.

Offices development )

Over the year, we have committed to nearlty 1 million sq ft of
development opportunities on our Landon campuses, more than
doubling our development cormmitments, but without a2 material
increase N our speculative exposure. 56% of the ERV in our
committed office developments is pre-let or under offer.

We achieved planning consents covering more than ¥ million sg ft
across our three campuses, and are already on site on more than
20% of this space.

Committed pipeline
Cur committed pipeline covers 1.5 million sq ft. This includes 364,000
sqftatt Triton Square, Regent’s Place, but the majority 1s at Broadgate.

We are making good progress at 100 Liverpool Street, our 522,000 sq ft
developrnent adjacent to the Crossrail station at Liverpool Street
Station. The butlding targets the Ptatinum WiredScore certification
for connectivity, 2 BREEAM Excellent rating for sustainability and the
WELL Gold certification for wellbeing: our plans include 20,000 sq ft
of outdoor terraces on five levels providing outside spaces for office
workers to come together. We have pre-let 37% of the office space to
SMBCE and are seeing good interest on the 90,000 sq ft of retail space
here. Also at Broadgate, we are on site at 1FA (291,000 sq ft], which
willinclude a cinemna and roof terrace, and 135 Bishopsgate (328,000
sq ft], with 42,000 sq ft of retait pre-let to ltalian marketplace Eataly.
In total we are detivering more than 1 roullion sq ft at Broadgate, of
which 15% of the space will be retail or leisure, with 32% of the total
ERV pre-let or under offer.

Near term pipeline

Looking ahead, oyr near term pipeline covers 445,000 sq ft of
opportunities we would look to progress in the next 12 months.
Itincludes the Gateway Building at Paddington Central. and our
option at Blossom Street in Shoreditch,

In line with our strategic focus on expanding the mix of uses at our
campuses, we Were pleased to achieve planning consent for the
Gateway. a 105,000 sq ft premium hotel at Paddington Central.

Rooftop of 4 Kingdom Street

At Blossom Street, Shareditch, we have an option over two acres

of land which expires in February 2019. We have consent for a
340,000 sq ft mixed use development, integrating 258,000 sq ft of
character-office space, with retail and residential, ta create a mixed
use development that builds on the historic fabric of the area. OQur
plans envisage a mix of floorplates, to appeal to small and growing
businesses, particularty in the technology and creative sectors, with
the potential for some space to be allocated to Storey. We will make
a decision an this development before the end of this calendar year.

Medium term pipeline

Looking further ahead, we have created options across our portfolio,
which provide opportunities to grow and develop our business well
into the future. Our medium term office pipeline covers 1.4 million sq ft,
of which three-guarters is at Broadgate.

At 2-3 Finsbury Avenue [2FA and 3FA], we have consent for

a 563,000 sq ft development, adding 374,000 sq ft to the existing
space, but would seek a significant pre-let before making any
commitment. In the meantime, the space is generating a good income
through shert term more flexible lets and 1s proving particularly
successful amongst technology and creative occupiers. 20,000 sg ft
has been let to TMT and creative cccupters through our core business
at 2FA, and a further 60,000 sq ft by Storey at 2FA and Appold Street.
We recently achieved vacant possession at 3FA, and the space Is
enjoying similar success, with 44,000 sq ft of short term lets agreed
aswelt as 1,700 sq ft of events space which we expect to launch in
the coming months. This short term activity provides us with options
over when we commence developrhent. We are progressing our
plans at 1-2 Broadgate, in total covering 507,060 sq ft, including 2
significant retall, teisure and dining element. Vacant possession is
not expected untit the end of 2019 but we expect ta make a planning
application towards the end of this year.

At 5 Kingdom Street, at Paddington Central, we have existing
consent fora 240,000 sq ft office-led scheme; our plans will increase
this to more than 332,000 sg ft and we expect to submit a revised
application later this year. The site sits above the Box, 2 70,000 sq ft
site which will become redundant on the completion of Crossrail,
when cwnership reverts to British Land. This represents an
interesting oppartunity to create an alternative use, potentially retai,
leisure, conference or events space, which will further differentiate
our campus offering.
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Stratesic Report

RETAIL

Quality space driving

operational outperformance

tn polarising markets

Highlights

- Porttolic value up 0.3%, with the multi-let portfolio down 8.5%
offset by positive movements on our solus and leisure assets

- Inthe multi-let portfolio, Regionals were marginally up in
value whilst Locals were down 1.5%

- Yieid expansion of 6 bps overall, with % bps expansion in the
multi-let partfolia, more pronounced in the Local portiolio

- ERVgrowth of 1.6%, with 1.9% growth in the multi-let
portfolio reflecting our successful teasing activity

- Underperformed IPD by 50 bps on a total return basis and
70 bps below on a capital basis; ERV growth was 70 bps
ahead of the index

- Leasing activity covered 1.2 mitlion sg ft, adding £7 mitlion
to future rents

- Virtually fuli with occcupancy at 96%

- Completed more than 100 rent reviews, 4.2% ahead of
passing rent

- Nearly 90% of leases reaching expiry were either retained or
replaced on terms ahead of ERV, with a further 5% re-ietin
the short term

- Activity generating like-for-like income growth of 1.2%

~ Footfatt up 0.3%, 340bps ahead of berichmiark; retaler sales
down 1.6%, 130bps ahead of benchmark

~ Gross investment activity of £706 million, with sales of
£417 miilion, overallin (ine with book value; £199 million
of acquisinons, including £152 million of regeneration
opportunities in London, benefitting from Crossrail
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Charles Maudsley
Head of Retall, Lersure & Residential

[ Operational review

| We have a focused leasing strategy, informed by our insights,

i which keeps our cffer relevant in today’s market; this means we

! are targeting growth subsectors and meeting customer needs.
Compared with 2015, we have undertaken 8.8% more leasing to
‘health and beauty’ operators, and 5.6% more in ‘outdoor and sports

i clothing’. At the same time, we have reduced leasing to sectors

i where sales have declined, notably general fashion 1s down more

| than 10%.

We are also leveraging our insights to demonstrate the attractions
of our assets to potential occupiers. This year for example, we
signed Decathlen st Ealing after prowiding cormnpelling research

on the strategic hit between its demographic profile and the local
catchment, and at Braughton, Chester, Footasylum opened its

first out of town store, having demonstrated to the occupier that a
physical store was an opportunity to enhance their previously low
brand awareness to over one milion residents in the catchment.
Early indications are that it is trading well. This approach is intagrat
te our leasing strategy across the portfolio and instrurmental in
encouraging operators to open out of town storas, with recent
examples including Lush, Ann Summers, Disney and Joules ail
opening at Glasgow Fort, and Hetel Chocolat at Teesside, Stockton,
in addition, our rent to sales ratio remains attractive at 11%.

At Meadowhall, we have seen a strong response to our £60 million
refurbishrent, with nearly 80 occupiers investing £46 mitlion
upgrading their stores. We have signed 28 new occupiers, including
online retailer Joe Browns' first physical store, and Austratian -
homewares brand House, who opened one of their first UK stores
here. We have strengthened the prerniurn offering to reflect the
improving catchment, with Godiva, Michael Kors, Flannels,

Tag Heuer, Neal's Yard, Joules and Nespresso all signing. We have
relocated or upsized a further 21 occupiers and renewed or re-geared
leases on ancther 14. This year, deals were signed 13% ahead of ERV,
gnd gur actwity has generated ERV growth of 2.8%. We are also
pleased that our investment has benefitted the local community,
with §9% of construction spend going te local businesses and

24 people supported into apprenticeships.



Our Retail portfolio

£6.6bn

portfolio valuation {British L and share}

79 years

wetghted average lease length to
first break

98 .0%:

occupancy rate

315m

annua! footfall

Our porticlio has the potential to reach

60%

of the popuiation

Un a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's

share of joint ventures and funds.

! Occupancy reduces to 97.5% treating space as vacant where
occuplers have gone into liguidation post 31 March 2018

Source: CACI Retail Footprint 2016
Note Catchmentincludes Broadgate

Across the market, sales and foctfall are down but our assets have
continued ta outperform. Footfall was up 0.3% across the mutti-let
portfolio, cutperforming the market by 340 bps with the scale of

cur cutperformance continuing to grow. A number of our centres
performed particutarly well, including Stockton, Teesside, where we
are an site with a £30 miltien refurbishment, and SouthGate, Bath,
where the dining offer has been revitalised, introducing new brands
like Comptoir Libanais, Thaikhun, Franco Manca ang Absurd Bird.
Retailer sales [which only capture in store sales) were down 1.6%
atour centres, but were ahead of market by 130 bps.

inwhat has been a more challenging occupier market, we are
confident In the relative strength of our portfolio. The combined
impact of adrministrations and CVAs during the year was 0.6% of total
gross income or £3.7 million and the portfolio 1s virtually full with
occupancy of 98%.

Capital activity

We are committed to reshaping our Retait portfolio te focus on
assets which best align with our strategy. This has been ongoing
for some time: in the last four years, we have made £2.3 billion of
retail asset disposals. This year, we sold £419 million of assets
[£662 million on a gross basis), In Line with beok value, of which
£122 million were made 1n the second half, 7.6% ahead of bock
value, and we are now under offer on a further £72 million.

Acquisitions of £19% million tn the period included a Tesco JV swap,
which resulted in a net £73 mitlion of superstore disposals. We also
acquired The Woolwich Estate and 10-40 The Broadway i Ealing for
a total of £152 mullion. These acquisitions are in line with our focus on
well-connected assets with mixed use potental, strong or Improving
local demographics and where we can put our placemaking expertise
to work. Both areas benefit from Crossrail, and have already seen
significant regeneration ahead of that. This brings total gross activity,
including development and capital spend, ta more than £700 million.

We have invested £88 million into the portfolio, of which 70% s income
producing capex, and the remainder focusing on iImprovements to
the public realm. We have a strong track record of delivering value
with assets benefitting from material investment [more than 5% of
value] delivering a total return outperformance of €.80 bps, over the
last three years, driven by ERV growth.

Retail development
Across the Retail portfolio, we achieved 44 planning consents
covering nearly 800,000 sq ft.

We completed our 66,000 sq ft lessure extension at New Mersey,
Speke, which added an 11-screen cinema, pre-let to Cineworld, and
six restaurant urits. Overall, the scheme 1s B0% let or under offer,
andwill open in summer 2018.

Committed pipeline

We are on site with a 107,000 sq ft teisure extension at Drake Circus,
Plyrmouth, which will add a 12-screen cinema and 156 restaurants.
We expect to reach practical completion towards the end of 2019
and are already 38% let or under offer.

Near term pipeline

Our near term pipeline includes leisure extensions at Stocktan,
Teesside [84,000 sq ft) and Forster Square, Bradford 49,000 sq #1).
At Teesside, we received a resolution to grant planning for our
masterplan, which includes a redevelopment of the existing
terrace, the introduction of smaller retaill and restaurant units
and improvements to the public realm, overall adding 31,000 sq ft,
but we will seek a significant pre-tet before committing to this
development. We expect to submit a planning application for our
plans at Bradford this year.
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Strategic Report

RETAIL CONTINUED

Fort Kinnaird. Edinburgh

British Land has managed Fort Kinnaird, a 560,000
sq ft shopping scheme in Edinburgh, since 2005. In
the (ast five years, we have invested over £12 mitiion,
including a 57.000 sq ft leisure extension in 2015,
adding 3 seven-screen Ddeon cinema, a new play
area for chitdren, and a range of restaurants
including Pizza Express, Nando's and Five Guys The
environment has been improved through shopfront
works, additional new planting and refurbishment of
dated units. Occupiers wha have benefitted from this
include JO Sports, Primark, Waterstones and Currys.

Fort Kinnaird provides employment for 2,000 local
people, and accounts for one retail job in every 20 1n
Edinburgh. in 2017 we empioyed 28 apprentices and
all iZ partrcipants in our Bright Lights Starting Qut
in Retail and Hospitality programme secured
employment.

Medium term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline \ncludes our 330,000 sq ft leisure
extension at Meadowhall, where we secured a resolution to grant
planning consent. Our plans will transform the centre's laisure offer
with new dining and entertainment options, 3 new cinema, café
court, gym, open-air terrace and space for leisure, event and
community use. We also submitied planning for a 208,000 sq ft
lelsure extension at Serpentine Green, Peterborough, which will add
139,000 sq ft. Qur mixed use opportunities include a €400 mitlion
redevelopment of Eden Walk, Kingston, where we have consent for
380 new homes, 28 new retail units, 12 restaurants and cafés and
35,000 sq ft of flexible office space. At Ealing, we are working up
plans for a wider mixed use development.

Canada Water [
At Canada Water, we are working with the London Berough of f
Southwark on one of Londan's mast significant development prajects. [
CQur tong term vision for the area. spanning 53 acres, will deliver f
a maior new mixed use urban centre for this part of London, i
just one stop on the Jubiiee Line from Canary Wharf, in Zone 2. ;

In March 2018, we were delighted to receive Southwark Cabinet
approval to enter into 4 Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council, which was signed in May 2018. Under the terms
of the agreement, we have negotiated a new head(ease, which
consolidates our holdings lincluding the Printworks, the Surrey
Quays Shopping Centre and the Mast Leisure Centre) into a single
500 year headlease, with Southwark Council as the lessor. This
structure effectively aligns the cwnership of these assets, with
British Land owning 80% and Southwark Councrl owning the
remaining 20%. Southwark Councii will have the opportunity to
participate in the development of the indwvidual plots, uptoa
maximum aof 20%, and returns will be pro-rated accordingly.
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This agreerment enabled us to submit our planning application 1n
May 2018, which included a detailed application for the project’s
first three buildings, comprising workspace, retail, homes [of which
35% will be affordatlel and a new leisure centre. These buildings
are part of a major first phase of the development covering a total
of 1.8 million sq ft of mixed use space. This includes one million sg ft
of workspace, 250,000 sq ft of retaill and leisure space and 650
homes. The overall masterplan, of which phase 1 forms part,is
expected to deliver up to 3,000 new homes, two million sg ft of
workspace and one million sq ft of retail, leisure, entertainment
and comrunity space.

Subject to planming approvals, construction of the first detailed plots
could beginin spring 2019. Potential structyres will be explored
when we have greater visibility an timing, but we are already seeing
interest in the space from a range of sectors and discussions are
underway on several buildings.

In the meantime, the success of the Printworks, our award-winning
entertainment space in the old Daily Mail Printworks, 15 buitding
awareness of the area. With capacity for 5,060, 1t has weicomed
more than 250,000 visitors since launch, and has hosted bands
including So Solid Crew and Ujango Django as well as the
Beavertown Brewery Extravaganza, bringing over 70 of the

world's best breweries together. The space has proved to be such

a commercial success, as well as an effective driver of footfall,

that it has now been incorporated into our development plans.

While the gross valuation of Canada Water was marginally up to
£283 mullian, the net valuation was down 7%, reflecting feasibility
costs incurred over the year which were not recoverable through
the valuation, pending achievernent of planning.



FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial performance
for the year was robust

£380m

Underlying Profit'

374y

Underlying earnirigs per sharg!

£501m

IFRS profit hefore tax

3008,

Dmdend per share

+899,

Total accounting return'

967,

EPRA net asset value per share'”

£9,506m

IFRS net assets

284%

LTy

2.8%

Weighted average interest rate®

See glossary for defintions www.britishtand.com/glossary
© See Table B within supplementary disctosure for reconciliations
to IFRS metrics
+ Seenote 2 within financial statements for calculation
See note 17 within financial statements for calculation and
reconciliation ta IFRS metrics.
" Onaproportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share
of joint ventures and funds

-

Overview

Financial performance for the year was robust with underlying
earnings per share down 1.1% at 37.4 pence and Underlying Profit
down 2.6% at £380 muluon, despite significant sales. EPRA net asset
value per share [NAV) increased by 5.7% reflecting a portfolio
valuation gain of 2.2% on a proporticnally consolidated basis and
the impact of the £300 million share buyback programme.

We have continued to reposition the portfolio with £1.8 bilbon of gross
capital activity [E0.8 billion of net capital activity] since 1 April 2017,
This comprises £1.0 million of disposals of income producing assets
representing 7% of the total portfolio, primarity single-let Retadt
assets and our 50% interest in The Leadenhall Building which
exchanged in the previous financial year. Sales were made at an
average yreld of 4% We completed or exchanged on residential sales
of £0.7 billion during the year and completed £0.2 billion of further
residential sales at Clarges post year end.

The net proceeds from this activity provide capacity for reinvestment
into our portfolio, particularly through the development opportunities
we are now progressing with a farecast yield on cost of around 6%.
We have maintained a disciplined approach to capital and completed
our £300 million share buyback programme in February 2018,
purchasing 47.6 million erdinary shares at an average price of

630 pence. This has increased NAV by 15 pence and added

0.4 pence to EPS this year. During the period we have alsc reinvested
£0.3 bilion in our developments and capital expenditure across
the portfolio, and made £0.2 billion of acquisitions.

Underlying Profit was down 2.6% reflecting the impact of net sales
over the past two years and lease expiries at properties going into
development. This has been largely offset by leasing success at our
developments, like-for-like rental growth and financing activity, as
well as one-off surrender premia recewed. IFRS profit before tax
was £501 mitlion, up from €195 million in the prior year, primarily
due to the positive property valuation movement in the period.

Our financial matrics remain strong. LTV has decreased 150 bps

t0 28.4% from 29.9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net sales,
cffset by the share buyback. Our weighted average interest rate i1s
atits lowest tevel 2t 2.8%. This financial strength provides us with
the capacity to progress opportunities, including our development
pipeline, whilst retaining significant headrcom to cur covenants. We
have been active in debt markets, mcluding issuing our £300 miltion
Sterling unsecured bond. Our senior unsecured credit rating has
been upgraded to ‘A’ by Fitch.

Shareholder returns remain a priority. We increased the dividend
3% to 30.08 pence for the year ended 31 March 2018, resulting in a
dmvidend payout ratio of 80%. The Board propose a further increase
of 3% nextyear to 31.00 pence, a quarterly dwidend of 7.75 pence.

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under [FRS where the
Group's interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a single
line item on the income statement and balance sheet and all
subsidiaries are consclidated at 100%.

Management considers the business principally on a proportionally
consolidated basis when setting the strategy, determining annual
prierities, making investrment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance. This includes the Group's share of joint ventures and
funds on a line-by-line basis and excludes non-controlling interests
inthe Group's subsidianes. The financial key performance indicators
are atso presented on this basis.

A sumrnary income statement and summary balance sheat which
reconcile the Group income statements to British Land’s interests on
a proportionally consolidated basis are included in Table A within the
supplementary disclosures.

Management manttors Underlying Profit as thhs more accurately
reflects the Group’s financial performance and the underlying
recurring perfermance of our core property rental activity, as
oppoesed to IFRS metrics which include the non-cash valuation
movement on the property portfolic. It 15 based on the Best
Practices Recommendations of the European Public Real Estate
Association {EPRA] which are widely used alternate metrics to their
IFRS equivalents.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Management also monitors EPRA NAY as this provides a transparent
and consistent basis to enable comparison between Furopean
property companies. Linked to this, the use of Totat Accounting
Return allows management to monitor return to shareholders based
on movements in a consistently applied metric, being EPRA NAV, and
dividends paid.

Loan to value [propartionally consolidated) 1s also monttored by
management as a key measure of the level of debt employed by the
Group to meet its strategic objectives, along with 2 measurement of
risk. It also allows comparison to other property companies who
simiarty montorand report this measure.

Income statement

1. Underlying Profit

Underlying Profitis the measure that is used internally to assess
income performance. No company adjustments have been made in
the current or prior year and therefore thig 1s the same as the pre-tax
EPRA earmings measure which includes a number of adjustments

to the IFRS reported profit before tax. This is presented below on

a proportionally consolidated basis:

2017 2018
Secton &m Em
Gross rental income 443 813
Property operating expenses (33i (373
Net rental income 1.1 410 576
Net fees and other incorne 17 15
Administrative expenses 1.2 [86) (831
Net financing costs 1.3 i) {128}
Underlying Profit 390 as0
Non-controlling interests
in Underlying Profit 14 14
EPRA adjustrments’ [209) 107
IFRS profit hefore tax 2 195 501
Underlying EPS 14 378p 374p
IFRS basic EPS 2 188p  48.7p

Dividend per share 3 2920p 30.08p
EPRA adjustments consist of investment and development property
revaluations, gains/losses on investment and trading property disposals,
changes in the fair value of financialinstruments and associated close oul costs.
These items are presented in the capital and other’ column of the consolidated
ncome statement

1.1 Net rental income

&
144)
207 Net Expineson  Surrender  Develop- Like-for-bike 2018
divestrnent  develop- premia rnent rental
ments lettings growth
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The £34 million decrease in net rental income during the year was
the result of divestment activity and development expiries partially
offset by surrender premia, leasing of developments and like-for-like
remtal growth.

Net sales of income producing assets of £1.5 billion over the last two
years have reduced rents by £44 million n the year.

Lease expiries relating to properties in our development pipeline
reduced net rents by £22 million, including £6 million at 100
Liverpeol Street whare we are on site and progressing well with
development, £5 million at the substantially pre-let 1 Triton Square
scherne, £S5 million at TFA where we started on site in August 2017,
and £6 million at 135 Bishopsgate where we are now committed
having let 42,000 sq ft to Eataly. These are partially offset by one
off surrender premia recetved, the majority being & £15 million
surrender premium received frorm Royal Bank of Scotland in

June 2617,

Development lettings. notably at 4 Kingdom Street and Clarges.
have contributed £6 million to rents in addition to tike-for-lke rental
growth of 1.8%, excluding the impact of surrender premia. Retail
growth was 1.2% driven by asset management activities, such as
splitting units, as well as leasing of vacant space. In Gffices,
tike-for-like growth was 2.4% driven by fixed uplifts at rent reviews
aswell as leasing of completed develcpments that are now in

the Uke-for-like porifolio.

1.2 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by a further £3 million this year
as a result of tower variable pay. Due ta the impact of sales an rents,
the Group's operating cost ratio increased by 130 bps to 16.9%
{2016/17: 15.6%).

1.3 Net financing costs

19

15

N e
e 12)

1128)

2017

Net

Financing
diestrnent

actmty

Share
buyback

Developments 2018

Financing costs have come down by £23 mitlion this year.

Debt transactions undertaken over the last two years reduced
financing costs by £19 millien in the year. This includes repayment of
BLT debt following the net sales of five praperties and exit from the
jont venture in Aprit 2017, and early redemption of our 6.75% and
9.125% 2020 debentures. in Qecember 2017 we also successfully
tendered and repard £84 millicn of our 5.357% 2028 and 5.0055%
2035 Debentures. Prior year achwity includes early repayment of the
£295 million TBL Properties Lirmnitaed secured loan and close-out

of related swaps.



In Septernber 2017, the 1.5% convertible bond was cash settled using
existing bank facilities. This has proven to be highly efficient financing
since Its 1ssue In September 2012: we estimate that 1t has saved

£40 million in financing casts compared to a fixed rate Sterling bond
at the ime.

Alsa in September we 1ssued a £300 mullion unsecured Sterling bond
for 12 years at a coupon of 2.375%, the lowest for a UK real estate
company In this market. As weil as diversifying both our sources of
funding and our maturity profile, it also established a benchmark for
us In the unsecured Sterling market.

During the year we agreed a new £100 million bilateral bank revolving
unsecured credit facility 'RCF') and extended £225 million of existing
facilities. In May, following the year end, we completed an amendment
and extension of our largest syndicated RCF at £735 million, with

12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and new maturity of five years,
which may be extended by a further two years at our request and on
each bank’s approval. This facility, together with the bilaterals,

adds further liguidity and flexibility to cur debt portfolio.

Net divestment activity reduced costs by a further £13 million,
the impact of which is partially offset by development spend.

At31 March 2018 we had interest rate hedging cn 80% of cur debt
[spot], and on 60% of our projected debt on average over the next
five years.

1.4 Underlying Earnings Per Share

Underlying EPS 15 37.4 pence based on Underlying Profit after tax of
£380 million. EPS decline of 1.1% against the Underiying Profit decline
of 2.6% was driven by the 0.4 pence benefit of the share buyback
programme, which would be 1.4 pence on an annualised basis.

2. IFRS profit before tax

The main difference between IFRS profit before tax and Underlying
Profit is that it includes the valuation moverment on investment and
development properties and the fair value movernents on financial
instruments. In addition, the Group’s investments in joint ventures
and funds are equity accounted in the IFRS income staternent but
are included on a proporticnally consolidated basis within
Underlying Profit.

The IFRS profit befare tax for the year was £501 million, compared
with a profit before tax for the prior year of £195 million. This reflects
the positive valuation movernent on the Group’s properties which
was £346 million more than the prior year and the valuation
movement an the properties held in joint ventures and funds which
was £145 million more than the prior year, resulting from ERV
growth of 1.8% in the current year. This was partially offset by higher
capital financing costs of £176 millon more than the prior year
primarily due to recycling of cumulative losses within the hedging
and translation reserve in relation to a hedging mstrument which

1s no longer hedge accounted. The recognition of these amounts in
capital financing charges in the income statement has a limited
irmpact on EPRA NAV, with financing and debt management actvity
undertaken in the year leading to a 5 pence reduction in EPRA NAY
per share.

IFRS basic EPS was 48.7 pence per share, compared to 18.8 pence
per share in the prior year, driven principaily by positive property
valuation movernents. The hasic weighted average number of sharas
Inissue during the year was 1,013 mithon (2016/17: 1,029 miltion].

3. Dividends

The fourth interim dividend payment for the quarter ended 31 March
2018 will be 7.52 pence to give a full year dividend of 30.08 pence,

an increase of 3.0%. Payment will be made on 3 August 2018 ta
shareholders on the register at close of busingss on 29 June 2018.
The final dividend will be a Property Income Distribution and no
SCRIP alternative will be offered.

This results in an increase in the dividend pay-out ratio to 80% for
the year {2016/17: 77%].

The Board proposes to increase the dividend by 3.0% in 2018/19 to
31.0 pence per share, with a quarterly dividend of 7.75 pence per
share. The Board has taken into account future profit shape,

our preferred payout range and the external envirenment.

Balance sheet

2017 2018

Section £m £m

Properties at vatuation’ 13,940 13,714
Other non-current assets 156 185
14,096 13,901

Other net current labilities [364]  (368]
Adjusted net debt 6 [(4,223] (3,973)
Other non-current labilities 11) -
EPRA net assets 3,498 9,560
EPRA NAV per share 4 F15p 967p
Nen-controlling interests 255 254
Other EPRA adjustments! [277]  (308)
IFRS net assets 5 %476 9,506

Proportionally consolidated basis

' EPRA net assets exclude the mark-to-market on derwvatives and related debt
adjustrnents, the rmark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred
taxation on property ang derivative revaluations, They include the trading
properties at valuation [rather than lower of cost and net realbisable value] and
are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share options. No dilution adjustment 1s
made for the £350 million zero coupon converuble bond maturing in 2020,
Details of the EPRA adjustments are included in Table B within the
supplementary disclosures.

4. EPRA net asset value per share

37
15 2
32 -_.._..._——““‘_
(29) ts)
2017 Valustion Under- Dwdends Financing  Share Other 2018

perfor- lying anddebt  buyback
mance Profit manage-

ment costs

EPRA NAV per share has increased 5.7%, reftecting a valuaticn
increase of 2.2% for the year (H1: +1.4%, H2: +0.9%)]. This is the result
of stable yields and ERV growth of 1.8% resulting from healthy
leasing activity and investor appetite for long term, secure income
streams. In addition, property performance inciudes the benefit of
completing the sale of The Leadenhall Building ahead of book value,
which contributed £32 million to capital profit, and an uplift of

! £59 million fotlowing campletion of Clarges.
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Retail valuations are up 0.3% with marginal outward yield movernent
of 4 bps and ERV growth of 1.6%: the mult-let portfalio, which
accounts for 81% of our Retall assets, was down 0.5% but saw ERY
growth of 1.9% driven by leasing success.

Office valuatiens were up 4.5% driven by inward yield movement

of 7 bps and ERV growth of 2 1%. Valuation increases are driven

by successful (gasing, developments (up 10.6%] and strong sales
activity. The campuses account for 78% of the Offices portfolio and
all delivered strong performance, reflecting the attractiveness of
our campus approach.

The & pence impact of financing and debt management costs
primarily relates to early repayment of debentures, term debt and
termination of interast rate swaps. Qur share buyback pregramme
has contributed 15 pence to EPRA NAV.

5. IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2018 were £9,506 million, an increase
of £30 million frem 31 March 2017 This was primanity due to IFRS
profit befare tax of £501 mitlion and other comprehensive incame
of £141 million, partially offset by £302 million of dividends paid

as weill as £300 million of share purchases under the share
buyback scheme.

Cash flow, net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt’

1,015

as3 -
(101)
e N (500
{3021

14,223] 13.973)

Share
buyback

2017 Disposals Acqui- Other 2018

sSions

Develop-  Net Divi-
ment cashfrom dends
and opera-
capex bons

* Adjusted net debtis @ proportionally conschidated measure. it represents
the Group net debt as disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements and
the Group’s share of joint venture and funds' net debt excluding the mark-to-
market on dervatives, related debt adjustments and non-controlling \nterests
Areconcitiation between the Group net debt and adjusted net debt 15 inctuded
in Table Awithin the supplementary disciosures.

Net sales reduced debt by £0.8 billion in the year. Completed
disposals during the year included the sale of The Leadenhall
Building for £575 millien (BL share] and, in line with our strategy of
focusing on multi-let assets, 20 superstores totalling £302 mitlion
(BL share]. We completed purchases of £206 million during the year,
including The Woolwich Estate.

We've alsc spent £122 million on developments and a further
£87 rillion on capital expenditure related to asset management
on the standing portfolio. The value of committed developments
15 £572 million, with £427 million costs to come. Speculative
development exposure 1s 4.5% of the portfolio after taking into
account residential pre-sales. There are 578,000 sq ft of
developments in our near term pipeline with anticipated

costs of £436 million.
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7. Financing
Group Proportionally consobidated

2017 2018 2017 2018
Net debt/
adjusted net debt’ £3,09m  £3,046m £4,223m  £3,973m
Principal amount
of gross debt £3,069m  £3,007m £4,520m  £4,265m
Loan tovalue 22.6% 22.1% 29.9% 28.4%
Weighted average
mterest rate 2.5% 2.0% 31% 2.8%
Interest cover 4.5 53 3.6 4.0
Weighted average
maturity of
drawn debt 69years 8.1years 7.7years 8.byears

Group data as presented in note 17 of the financial statements,

The proportionally consolidated figures inciude the Group's share of joint
venture and funds” net debt and exclude the mark-to-market on derivatives
and related debl adjustrentis and non-controling interests

Qur balance sheet remains strong. LTV and weighted average
interest on drawn debt have been reduced since 31 March 2017,

At 31 March 2078, our propartionally consolidated LTV was 28.4%,
down 150 bps frem 29.9% at 31 March 2017 due to net disposals,
offset by the share buyback. This is positioned to support investment
into our development pipetine as well as maintain significant
headroom. Note 17 of the financial staternents sets out the
calculation of the Group and proportionaily consolidated [TV,

The strength of our business is reflected in Briush Land’s sentor
unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitch to ‘A’ in
February 2018. The long term issuer default rating was also
upgraded to 'A-"

We maintained focus on ensuring cur debt s cost effective. Qur
weighted average interest rate is at an all time low of 2.8% driven
by proactive financing and debt management actions, together
with rarket rates, Our interest cover has also improved to 4.0x at
31 March 2018 from 3.6x at 31 March 2017.

Ourweighted average debt maturity 1s almost mine years following
issuance of the £300 million unsecured Sterling bond, and maturity
of the canvertible.

At 31 March 2018, British Land has £1.8 bitlion of commutted
unsecured revolving bank facilities, £1.2 bilion undrawn, These
facilities have maturities of more than two years. Based on cur
current commitments, these facitities and debt maturities, we have
no reguirement to refinance untit early 2021

Further information on our approach to financing I1s provided in the
Financial policies and principles section of the audited Annuat Report
for the year ended 31 March 2018,

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding
which enables us to deliver our

property strategy

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equity finance to balance the benefits
of leverage against the risks, including magnification of property
valuation movements. A loan to value ratio [LTV') measures our
leverage, pnmartily on a propertionatly consolidated basis including
our share of joint ventures and funds and excluding non-controlling
interests. At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consclidated LTV
was 28.4% and the Group measure was 22.1%. We manage our LTV
through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values.
This means we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes in praperty market yields. Consequently, our LTV may be
hugher in the low point in the cycle and will trend downwards as
market yields tighten.

Debt finance

The scate of cur business combined with the quality of our assets
and rental iIncome means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers to arrange finance an attractive terms

Good access to the capital and debt markets 1s a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities when they
arise. The Group's approach to debt financing for British Land 1s to
raise funds predominantly on an unsecured basts with cur standard
financial covenants [set out on page 47). This provides flexibility

and low operational cost. Our joint ventures and funds which choose
to have external debt are each financed In Ting-fenced’ structures
without recourse to Brittish Land for repayment and are secured

on their relevant assets. Presented on the foliowing page are the
five guiding principles that govern the way we structure and

manage debt.

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monitor our debt requirement by focusing principally on current
and projected borrowing levels, available facilities, debt maturity and
interest rate exposure. We undertake sensitivity analysis to assess
the impacts of proposed transactions, movements in interest rates
and changes in property values on key balance sheet, iquidity and
profitability ratios. We also consider the risks of a reduction in the
avallability of finance, including a tempaorary disruption of the debt
markets. Based on our current commutments and available facilities,
the Group has no requirement to refinance until early 2021. British
Land’s committed bank facilities total £1.8 billion, of which

£1.2 billbion was undrawn at 31 March 20718,

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt,
considering the sensitivity of underiying earnings to movements
in market rates of interest over a five-year period. The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt cver that period and the longer
term. Our debt finance is raised at both fixed and variabte rates.
Derivatives [primarily interest rate swaps and caps| are used to
achieve the desired interest rate profite across proporticnally
consolidated net debt. At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 80% of our debt {spot), and on 60% of our projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing profile over
that period. The use of derivatives is managed by a Derivatives
Committee. The interest rate management of jaint ventures and
funds is considered separately by each entity’s Board, taking into
account appropriate factors forits business.

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of our counterparties to minmise
risk exposure in placing cash deposits and arranging derivatives.
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties.

Foreign currency

Our policy Is to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies. When attractive tarms are
available, the Group may choose to borrow in currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the fareign currency exposure.
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

Diversify
OUr sources
of finance

Phase
maturity
of debt
portfolio

Maintain
liquidity

Maintain
flexibility

Maintain
strong
balance
sheet
metrics

We rmonitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, those of our joint ventures and funds. The scale and
quality of our business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and non-recourse debt.
We develop and maintain long term relationships with banks and debt invastors. We aim to avoid reliance on particular
sources of funds and borrow from a [arge number of lenders from different sectors in the market across a range of
geographical areas, with a total of 30 debt providers in bank facilities and private placements alone. We work to ensure
that debt providers understand our business, adopting a transparent approach to provide sutficient disclosures to enable
them to evaluate their exposure within the averali context of the Group. These factors increase our attractiveness to debt
providers, and in the last five years we have arranged £4.1 bilion (British Land share £3.4 billian} of new finance in
unsecured and secured bank loan facilities, Sterling bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds. In addition we
have existing long dated debentures and secuntisation bonds. A European Medium Term Note programme has also been
maintained to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bond markets when it 1s appropriate for cur business; this was
used for our £300 million Sterling unsecured bond 1ssuance in September 2017,

4 3bn

total drawn deht [proportionally conselidated!

The maturity profile of our debt is managed with a spread of repayment dates, reducing our refinancing risk in respect of
timing and market conditions. As a result of our financing activity, we are ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizon
of not less than two years. The current range of debt maturities is within one to 20 years. In accordance with cur usual
practice, we expect to refinance facilites ahead of their maturities.

8.6 years

average drawn debt maturity (praportionally consolidated)

In addition to our drawn debt, we always aim to have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revalving bank
facilities. These facilities provide financial tiguidity, reduce the need teo hold resources in cash and deposits, and minimise
costs arising from the difference between borrowing and deposit rates, white reducing credit exposure. We arrange these
revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirements to ensure we have adequate financing
avallaiility to support business requirements and new apportunities. An example of this 1s gur recent amepdment and
extension of the £735m revolving credit facility, in advance of its maturity, for a new five-year term.

$1.2bn

undrawn revolving credit facilities

Qur facilities are structured to provide valuable flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management Initiatives. Qur unsecured revelving credit faciliies provide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment (and cancellation if we require] at short notice without additional cost. These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have maturities of five years. Alongside this unsecured revolving
debt aur secured term debt i debentures has good asset secunty substitution rights, where we have the ability to move
assets in and out of the secunity pool.

£1.8bn

total revolving credit facilities

We use both debt and equity financing. We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do not adjust our approach to leverage based
on changes in property market yields. We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate
ranges of hedged debt over a five-year period and the longer term.

Cur semor unsecured credit rating (‘A7 and long term (DR credit rating ['A-'] were upgraded by Fitch dunng the year.

28.4% A 4.0x

LTV [proportionally consolidated] senlor unsecured credit rating interest cover {proparticnally consolidated!
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Group borrowings

Unsecurad financing for the Group includes bilateral and syndicated
revolving bank facilities {with initial terms usually of five years, often
extendable); US Private Placements with maturities up to 2027; the
Sterling unsecured bond maturing in 2029; and the convertible bond
maturing in 2020.

Secured debt for the Graup lexcluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which is covered under ‘Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds’)
is provided by debentures with longer maturihes up to 2035.

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

The same financial covenants apply across each of the Group's
unsecured facilities. These covenants, which have been consistently
agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are:

- Net Borrowings noet to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

No incorne or interest cover ratios apply to these facilities, and there
are no other unsecured debt financial covenants in the Group.

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any security,
steod at £7.7 billion as at 31 March 2018.

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calculations, unsecured lenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from them. During the year ended 31 March 2018, these
assets generated £53 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest. In addition, while investments in joint ventures do not form
part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures is regularly passed up to the Group.

Unsecured financial covenants

014 2015 2016 2017 2ma
At 31 March Y % % % %
Net borrowings to adjusted
capital and reserves 40 38 34 29 29
Net unsecured berrowings
to unencumbered assets 31 28 29 26 23

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land is providad by debentures
at fixed interest rates with lang maturibies and bmited amortisation.
These are secured against a combined pool of assets with commen
covenants; the value of those assets is required to cover the ameount
of these debentures by a mimimurm of 1.5 imes and net rental incame
must cover the interast at least ence. We use our nights under the
debentures te actively manage the assets in the security pool, in line
with thase cover ratios. We have reduced our debenture debt by

£284 million over the last threeyears as we continue to focus on
unsecured finance at a Group level, and have reduced the assets
held in the security pool accardingty.

| Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements cf the business of each venture.

Hercules Unit Trust and its joint ventures hava term ioan facilites
maturing N 2019 and 2020 arranged for their business and secured
on property portfolios, without recourse to British Land. These loans
include LTV ratic fwith maximum levels ranging from 40% to 65%)
and income based covenants.

The securitisations of Broadgate [£1,565 million), Meadowhall

[£643 million] and the Sainsbury's Superstores portfolio

(£251 million, have weighted average maturities of 10.8 years,
?.1years and 4.1 years respectively. The key financial covenant
applicable 1s to meet interest and scheduled amortisation leguivalent
to T imes cover); there are no LTV covenants. These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the balance outstanding reducing
to approximately 15% to 30% of the original amount raised by
expected final maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk.

There s no obligation on British Land to remedy any breach of these
covenants In the debt arrangement of jaint ventures and funds.
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING QUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management is integral
to our objective of delivering
sustainable long term value

British Land core strengths

High quality commercial portfolio focused on London
campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK
Long term strategy positioning the business to benefit
from long term trends

Customer focused approach to respond ta

chanaing Ufestyles

Diverse and high quality occupier base

High occupancy and secure cash flows

Well balanced and risk managed development pipeline
Execution of asset management and

development activity

Ability to source and execute attractive

investment deals

Efficient capital structure with good access

to capital and debt markets

Strong sustainabiity performance

For British Land, effective risk management is a cornerstone

of delivering our strategy and integral to the achievernent of cur
objective of delivering sustainable long term value. We maintain a
comprehensive nsk management process which serves to identify,
assess and respond to the full range of financial and non-financial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
solvency and liquidity, as well as identifying emerging risks.

Cur approach is not intended to eliminate risk entirely, but instead
to manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same time making the most of our opportunities.

Our risk management framework

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a camplementary bottam up operatianal pracess outlined n the
chagram on the nght.

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management with a
particular focus on determining the nature and extent of exposure to
principal nisks 1tis willing to take in achieving its strategic ohiectives.
The amount of risk we are willing 1o take is assessedn the context of
the core strengths of aur business las summartsed above] and the
external environment in which we operate - this Js our risk appetite.

The Audit Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of nsk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board, and aiso advises the Board on the principal
risks facing the business including those that would threaten its
sotvency or liguidity.
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] The Executive Directors are responsible far delivering the Company’s

strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk. Qur risk managemant
framework categorises our risks into external, strategic and
operational nsks. The Risk Committee [comprising the Executive
Directors and senior management across the business| is respensible
for managing the principal risks in each category in order to achieve
our performance goals.

Whilst ultimate responsibility for oversight of risk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
is ernbedded within our operational business units and forms an
integral part of how we work. This bottern up appreach ensures
potential risks are identified at an early stage and escalated as
appropriate, with mitigations put in place to manage such risks.
Each business unit maintains a comprehensive risk register.
Changes to the register are reviewed guarterly by the Risk
Committee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

to the Audit Committee.

To read more about the Board and Audit Committee’s risk oversight,
see pages 67, 7Zand 73.

Top down Bottom up
Strategic risk managemnent Operationatl risk management
“Review extarnal T T

environment

Robust assessmert
of principal risks

BOARD/

Assess effectiveness
of risk management

_ ‘ Py systems
Set risk appetite COMMITTEE -
and parameters Repart on principal risks
B and uncertainties
Determine strategic
action points L
T T T
Identify principal risks Consider completenass
- of identified risks
Direct delvery of RISK and adeguacy of

strategic actions in

COMMITTEE/

mitigating actions

EXEDUTIVE
une with sk appetite flo=C o -
- Consider aggregation
Monitor key of rsk exposures
risk indicators across tha business
Li"'\r_._‘_i‘/,/)A/"{ //_A-»/""‘ —
Execute strategic Report current and
Actions emerging nsks
~ HUSINESS ‘ -
uNns Identify, evaluate and

Report an key
risk indicators

—_ -
e

—— I

mitigate operational rsks
recorded n risk register



Our risk appetite

Change inrisk
Principat Key risk indicators appetiteinthe
internal risks lincluding current optimal thresholds) year
Investment - Execution of targeted acquisitions and
strategy disposals in lne with capital altocatron plan @

[overseen by Investment Commuttee]

- Annual IRR precess which forecasts
prospective returns of each asset

- Percentage of portfolio \n non-core sectors

Total development exposure <15%
ef investment portfolio by value

- Speculative davelopment exposure <8%
of investment portfotio by value

- Progress on exacution of key devetopment
projecls aganst ptan

Devetlopment -
strategy

i
K

Manage our leverage such that LTV should =
not exceed a maximum threshold if market { 2
ylelds were lorise Lo previous peaks

- Financial covenant headreom

Capital -
structure

Finance -
strategy

Period until refinancing is required
of not less than two yeats

- Percentage of debt with interest rate
hedging over next five years

People -

- Employee engagement { Best
Companies survey)

Unplanned executive departures

Income -
sustaimability

Market letting risk mcluding vacancies,
upcoming exprries, and breaks and
speculative development

- Weighted average unexpired {ease term

- Concentration of exposyre to individual
customers or sectors

\
| Key

l
!
Change from last year ]

o
@ Unchanged
L. -

Ourrisk appetite 1s reviewed annually as part of the annual strategy
review process and approved by the Board. This evaluation guides
the actions we take In executing our strategy. We have identified

a suite of Key Risk Indicators [KRIs] to manitor the risk profile

las summarised above), which are reviewed quarterly by the Risk
Committee, to ensure that the activities of the business remain
within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure 1s well matched
to changes in our business and our markets. These include the
most significant judgements affecting our risk exposure, including
our investment and development strateqgy, the tevel of occupational
and development exposure; and our financial leverage

The Board considers the risk appetite annually and has concluded it
1s broadly unchanged from last year and is appropriate to achieve cur
strategic objectives. Our strategy, which 1s based on long term trends,
endures, and our financial capacity, flexibility and optionality enable

us to adjust to the evolving political and economic uncertainties.

During the year we have maintained a balanced approach to risk.
We've had a strong focus on capital discigline, demonstrated by
selling £1.3 billion of mature and off-strategy assets, reinvesting
partly n our share buyback programme, selective acquisitionsand
profitable development, whilst reducing our LTV further to 28.4%.
We have substantial headroom and operational optronality to continue
to progress our unique development pipeline, Including at Canada
Water, whilst at the same time carefully managing our risk profile. :

Ouwr risk focus

The externat environment remains difficult, and the Board 1s
continuing to monitor the potential risks associated with the UK
leaving the European Union [Brexit']). As exit negotiations are
ongotng, the final outcerne remains unclear and it1s too early to
understand fully the impact Brexit will have on our business and
our markets. The mam impact of Brexit s the potential negative
impact an the macro-economic environment, but it could also
impact our investment and occupier markets, our ability to execute
our investment strategy and our Income sustainability.

During the year, the Risk Committee has focused on some key
operational risk areas across the business and has undertaken
deep dive reviews into specific areas of rnisk including:

- Data protection [GDPR] and implementing a project toc manage
personal data appropriately

- Retailer tenant risk and managing our exposure to individual
customers or sectors n ight of a more challenging market
backdrop

- Enhancing our ¢risis management strategy for both physical
and cyber risks including a simulation exercise for senior
management

- Management of health and safety and environmental risks across
the portfolio. In particular, fabric investigations were carried
out on our entire portfolio fotlowing the Grenfell Tower fire.
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

- Identifying and managing key supplier relationships and the
launch of our Supplier Cede of Conduct
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our principal risks and assessment

Our risk management framework 1s structured around the
principal risks facing British Land. The Audit Committee on behalf
of the Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the principal
risks and uncertainties that the business Is exposed to in light of
the long term trends we are facing [see page 12), together with the
challenging backdrop of political and economic uncertainty. Whilst
the nature and type of the principal risks are considered to be
unchanged from the previous year, several of our principal risks are
elevated [as shown by the risk heat map below), being the political

|
‘

and regulatory outlook, commercial property investor demand,
occupler demand including tenant default and the risk to our Income
sustainability. Gne risk, capital structure, is cansidered to have
reduced reflecting our lower {everage.

The principal risks are summarised below (and detalled on pages 52
to 55}, including an assessment of the potential impact and likelihood
and how the risks have changed in the year, together with how they

relate to our strategic priorities.

Qur risk assessment

Lhange

Key strategic inrisk
priorities assessment
affected in year

Principal
risks

External risks

@ Economic outlook

@ Political and
regulatory outlook

®LE
®L®
$XG)

@ Commerciat
property investar
demand

Occuprer demand
and tenant default

D&
@
®L

Internal risks — strategic

() mvesimentsteateay G § (&)
2®
®
®

Internal risks — operational
@ People

@ Income
sustainability

® Avaablty and cost
of finance

®® 0 @
Likelihood

@ Catasirophlc
business event

Development
stralegy

@ Capital structure

Finance strategy

GINCANCAN

00
[=am ]

£®

Key

&
2
®
28

@ @

Other group risks

In addition to our principal risks, there are also a number of other
risks that are largely operational in nature and are managed
centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation plans in place.
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Strategic priorities

Nete: The above illustrates principal risks which by their nature are those winch have the potential
to significantly impact the Group's strategic objectives, financial posilion or reputation. The heat map
tughlights net risk, after taking account of pnincipal mitigatians

Change year on year

Customer Orientation @ Unchanged
Right Places @ Increased
Capital Efficiency @ Reduced

Expert People

These risks comprise:

Effective control
environment

Fraud and corruption
Cormpliance and legal
framework

- Supply chain management

- Operating model including -
reliance on third parties

- Culture -

- Information systems and -
cyber secunty



Viability statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annual corporate ptanning process includes the
completien of a strategic review, reassessing the Group’s risk
appetite and updating the Group's forecasts.

The Group's strategy provides the focus for our annual priorities
and is formally reviewed annually. This process is led by the Chief
Executive through the Executive Committee and includes the active
engagement of the Board. Part of the Board's role is to consider
whether the strategy takes appropriate account of the Group’s
principal nisks. The latest updates to the strategic plan and
Group's risk appetite were approved by the Board in March 2018

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts. These
cover a five-year period and consist of a base case forecast which
includes commutted transactions only, and a forecast which also
includes non-commutted transactions the Board expects the
Group to make in line with the Group's strategy. A five-year
forecast is considered to be the optimal balance between the
Group's long term business model to create Places People Prefer
and the fact that property ihvestment is a long term business
[with weighted average lease lengths and debt maturities in
excess of five years), offset by the progressively unreliable nature
of forecasting in later years, particularly given the historically
cyclical nature of the UK property mdustry.

Assessment of viability

For the reasons cutlined above, the period aver which the
Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on
the Group's viability is the five-year period to 31 March 2023.

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitrsed to explore the
resilience of the Group 1o the potential impact of the Group's
significant risks, or @ combination of those risks.

The principal risks table which follows on pages 52 to 55
sumrnarises those matters that could prevent the Group from
delivering on its strategy. A number of these principal risks,
because of their nature or potential impact, could also threaten
the Group's ability to continue in business in its current form if
they were to occur.

The Directors paid particular attention to the risk of a downturn

in economic outlook which could impact property fundamentals,
including investor and occupier demand which would have a
negative impact on valuations, and give rise to a reduction in the
availability of finance. The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impacton the Group's business model, are not considered by
the Directors to have a reasonable Lkelhood of impacting the
Group's viability over the five-year period to 31 March 2023

The sensitivities performed were designed to be severe but
plausible; and to take full account of the availability of mitigating
actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce the iImpact or
oceurrence of the underlying risks relating to a "downturn scenario’:

- Downturn in economic outlook: key assumptions including
occupancy, voird periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the ‘downturn scenario’ to reflect reasonably
likely levels associated with an economic downturn, including:
- areduction in accupier demand, with a fall in occupancy rate
of 5% and ERV declines of 6%

- areduction in nvestment property demand to the level seen
in the last severe downturn in 2008/2009, with outward yield
shift to 8% net initial yield

- Restricted availability of finance: based on the Group's current
commitrments and available facilities there 1s no requirement
to refinance until early 2021. In the normal course of business,
financing s arranged in advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facilities will be put in place. in the
‘downturn scenario’, the following sensitivity of this
assumpticn was conducted:

- areduction 1 the avalability of finance, for the final two
years of the five-year assessment period from early 2021
alongside the Group’s refinancing date

The outcome of the "downturn scenario’ was that the Group's
covenant headroom based on existing debt [1.e. the level by which
investment property values would have to fall before a financial
covenant breach occurs] decreases from the current 60% to, at 1ts
lowest lavel, 22%, indicating covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached.

In the 'downturn scenario’, mitigating actiens would be required
to enable the Group to meet its future liabitiies, ncluding through
asset sates, which would allow the Groug to continue to meet its
liabilities over the assessment period.

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities In combination

in the 'downturn scenario’, the Directors confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period
to 31 March 2023.

Going concern

The Directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the
financial staternents on the going concern basis, as explained
In the Governance review.

I
\’\Ef/l To read more Information on going concern, go to page 67
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Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

The UK economic climate -
and fulure movementsin
interest rates present
risks and opportunities in
property and financing
markets and the
businesses of our
customers which can
impact both the delivery
of our strategy and

our financial
perfermance.

Economic
outlook

Responsible
executive:
Chns Grigg

Significant political events -
and regulatory changes,
including the decision to
teave the EU, bring risks
principaily in two areas:
- Reluctance of investors -
and businesses to
rmake Investment and
occunational decisions
whilst the outcome
remains unceriain and

- Ondetermination of the
outcome, the impact on
the case for investment
inthe UK, and on
speciic policies and
regulation introduced,
parucularly those
which directly impact
real estate or our
customers

Political

and regulatory
outlook
Responsible
executive:

Chris Grigg

Reductionin investor -

dernand for UK real estate

may resultin falls in asset

valuations and could arise

from variations in:

- Thehealth of the UK
economy

Commercial
property
investor dermand

Responsible
executives:
Charles Moudsley,

Tim Roberts
' ~ Theattractveness of

investrment in the UK
~ Avallability of finance

- Relative attractiveness -
of other asset classes

— e ————
Key

Change from last year

2
@ No significant change in nsk exposure

(@ Risk exposure has reduced

(,@ Risk exposure has increased ]

The Risk Commiliee reviews the economic

envirenment in which we operate quarterly fo 3ssess
whether any changes to the economic outlook justify
3 re-assessment of the risk appetite of the business.

Key indicators including farecast GDP growth,
ermployment rates, business and consumer
conhdence, interest rates and inflation/deflation
are considered, as well as central bank guidance
and gevernment policy updates.

We stress test our business plan against a downturn

1 econernic outlook to ensure eur inancial posihion
15 sufficiently flexible and resilient.

Our resilient business model focuses on a high
quality portfolio, with securs income streams and
robust finances.

Whilst we are not able lo influence the outcomne
of signiicant polihical events, we do take the
uncertainty related to such events and the range
of possible outcomes into account when making
strategic investment and financing decisions,

Internally we review and monitor proposals and
emerging policy and legislation io ensure that we
take the necessary steps to ensure comphiance if
applicable. Additionally we engage public affairs
consultants to ensure that we are properly briefed
on the potential policy and regulatory implications
of political events We also monitor public trustn
businass. Where appropriate, we act with other
industry participants and representative bodies
to contribute to policy and regulatory debate,

We monitor and respond to social and polihical
reputational challenges relevant to the industry.

The Risk Commitlee reviews the property market
quarterly lo assess whether any changes to the
market outlock present risks and opportunities
which should be reflected in the execution of our
sirategy and our ¢apital allocation plan. The
Commuittee considers indicators such as margin
between property yields and borrowing costs
and property capildl growth forecasts, which are
considered alongside the Committee members’
knowledge and expenience of market activty

and trends.

We focus on prirne assets and sectors which we
beligve will be less susceptible aver the medium
termto a reduction in occupier and nvestor demand

Strong relationships with agents and direct investors

actrve m the market

We stress test our business plan for the effect of
a change n property yields
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(@\) The decision to leave the EU continues to iImpact
2 &7 the economic outlock. Nonetheless, UK economic
growth has remained relatively resilient and has fared
better than many expected, aibeit growing at levels
lower than other major economles.

Censumer spending has softened as inflation has
squeezed household spending, although there are some
early signs that inftation 1s moderating. There has,
however, been some offset from a stronger global
econamy Equrty and foreign exchange markets have
been less volatile in the year, although remain sensiuive
to external shocks.

The Bank of England increased interest rates for the first
timen a decade, with the prospect of more risesto
come. Increases are expected to be imited and gradual
and to remain low by historical standards

We are mindful of the angoing politcal and economic
uncertainties; however we are confident that the
resilrence of our business with our sustanable long term
income streams and balance sheet strength, together
with the actions we have taken, leaves our business

well positioned

(Z]}\) Whilst a Brexit transition period has been agreed
1.7 10 2020, uncertainty remains over the outcome of
negotiations on our future relationship with the EU,
including crucial issues of market access, labour
movernent and trade Furthermore, the global
geopolitical and trade envirenments remain uncertain
The present hung Parliarnent also creates domeshic
policy uncertainty,

in terms of significant regulatory changes, the General
Data Pratection Regulation IGDPR] comies into force

on 25 May 2018 and will control and govern the use of
personal data, affecting operations across the business

In these more votatile trmes, we will benefit from our
long term, secure rental inceme, with 7% of our
portfolio occupied and our financial capacity and
flexsbility to adjust 1o evolving conditions

(@‘I Overall property transaction volumes held up
L7 relatively well in 2017, however, inveslors are
becoming increasingly selective and market pricing
polarised, with continued softening in demand for more
secondary assets.

The historically wide gap between property yields and
Interest rates has continued to underpin demand for UK
real estate, albent interast rates are expected to rise
stightly in the medium term

In terms of our sectors:

- Gffice nvestment volurnes continue ta benefit from
demand from overseas ivestors, bul investors are
increasingly selective in terms of thew requirements,
often seeking well-let, best-in-class stock o
opportunities with an achievable growth story Supply
of high quality new space across both the West End
and City markets 15 relatively constrained in the short
terrn. Londan office prime yields have been stable
throughout 217,

- Retail nvestment volumes remain subdued, albeit
activity increased towards the end of 2017, particularly
for retail parks. Investor demand for retaif
increasingly focused on smaller ot sizes wilth secure
income streams Retall prime yields remain stable,
but secondary asset prices are expected to weaken
further as polarisation in retail continues.

We have continued to be active and successfully sold
€1 3 billion of assels, overall above valuation



Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Occeupier
demand
and tenant
default
Responsible
executives:

Charles Maudsley,
Tin Roberts

Availability
and cost

of finance
Responsible
executives:
Lucinda Bell

luntil January 2018],
Chris Grigg

lafter January 2018]

Catastrophic
business
event

Responsible
executive:
Chris Grigg

Underlying income,
rental growth and capital
performance could be
adversely affected by
weakening occupier
demand and occupier
failures resulting from
variations in the health
of the UK economy and
corresponding weakening
of consumer confidence,
business activity and
investment.

Changing consumer and
business practices
including the growth of
internet retailing, flexible
working practices and
demand for energy
efficient buildings, new
technologies, new
legislation and alternative
loecations may result in
earlier than anticipated
obselescence of our
buildings if evolving
occupler and regulatory
requirements are not met,

Reduced availability of
finance may adversely
impact ability te refinance
debt and/or drive up cost.
These factors may also
resultin weaker investor
demand for real estate.

Reguiation and capital
costs of lenders rnay
increase cost of finance.

An external event such
as acivil emergency,
including a large-scale
terrarist attack, cyber
crime, extreme weather
occurrence, .
envirenmental disaster
or power shortage could
severely disrupt global
markets lincluding
property and finance) and
cause significant damage
and disruption to British
Land's portfolic and
operations.

- The Risk Committee reviews indicators of
occupier demand quarterly including consumer
confidence surveys and employment and ERV
growth forecasts, alongside the Committee
members’ knowledge and experience of occupier
plans, trading performance and teasing activity
in guiding execution of our strategy.

- We have a high quality. diversified occupier base
and monmitor concentration of exposure to individual
occupiers or sectors. We perform rigorous occupier
covenant checks ahead of approving deals and onan
ongming basis so that we can be proactive inmanaging
exposure to weaker occuplers

- Ongoing engagement with our customers Through
our Key Qccupler Account programime we work
together with our occupiers to find ways to best meet
their evolving requirements

- Our suslainability strategy links action on occupler
health and wellbeing, energy efficiency, community
and sustainable design to our business strategy.

Our social and enviranmental targets help us comply
with new tegislation and respond to customer
dermands; for example, we expect all our office
developments to be BREEAM Excellent

- Market borrowing rates and real estate credit
avallability are monitored by the Risk Committee
guarterly and reviewed regularly in order to guide
our financing actions in executing our strategy

- We monitor our prejected LTV and our debt
requirements using several internally generated
reports focused on borrowing levels, debt maturity,
available faclities and interest rate exposure

-~ We maintain good long term retationships with our
key financing partners.

- Thescale and quality of our business enables usto
access a diverse range of sources of finance with a
spread of repayment dates We aim always 1o have
a goad level of undrawn, committed, unsecured
revolving facilties to ensure we have adequate
financing availability to support business
requirements and opportunities

- Weworkwith industry bodies and other relevant
organisations to participate In debate on emerging
finance regulations where our interests and those
of our industry are affected

- We maintain a comprebensive crisis response plan
across all business units as well 35 a head office
business continuity plan.

- The Risk Commiitee monitors the Home Office
terrorism threat levels and we have access to
security threat infermation services.

- Assetemergency procedures are regularty reviewed
and scenano tested, Physical security measures are
in place at preperties and development sites

- QurSustainability Committee menitors
environmental and clirnate change risks. Asset risk
assessments are carried out to assess arange of
rigks including security, flood, envirenmental,
health and safety.

- We have implemented corporate cyber security
systems which are supplemented by incident
management, disaster recovery and business
continuity plans, all of which are regularly reviewed
to be abte to respond to changes in the threat
landscape and srganisational requirements

- We also have appropriate insurance in place
across the portfolio
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P
(41}) fn the more uncertain environment, we are seeing
L7 polansation of occuprer demand accelerating with
anincreasing focus on the best quality space_In this
context, our leasing activity has been good, with
2.4 rrutlion sq ft of space let or renewed across the
portfolio, al rates well ahead of ERV, and our portiolio
remains virtually full with 97% eccupancy

In terms of our sectors:

In the London office market, occupiers are more
thoughtful about their reguirements as a result of
political and economic uncertainty. However, we
continue to see both international and British
companies making commitments in London,
confident of its enduring status as a global city in
which the world's leading organisations want to de
business. Take-up has remained resilient partly
underpinned by strong demand for flexible
waorkspace, demonstrahing the changing occupier
market, as well as good demand for Grade A space.

- With retailers facing econormic and structural
challenges, the wider occupatronal market has been
mare cautious with polarisation of occupier demand
continuing. Whilst more recently, we have seena
number of operators apply for company voluntary
arrangements, as some retallers struggle to compete
with the rise of online shopping and increased costs,
there are many retailers which continue to trade well
and groew sales The growth inimportance of online -
means the way in which occupiers and their
customers are using physical space 1s changing
However the store and its value is stitl integral te
support retailers’ omni-channel approach, and there
remains demand lor the best space, where retailers
can grow sales with lower occupancy costs.

@ Although there has continued te be market

> 7 yolatility reacting to macro-econemic and polibical
uncertainties, debt markets have rerained open. There
continues to be good avaiability of finance in debt and
capital markets [unsecured and secured] from a range
of lenders for UK REITs and other good quality real
estate iInvestors. Development finance 1s more difficult
to obtain with fewer lenders participating. Projects
without pre-lels require strong sponsors.

Interest margins/spreads have been relatively stable,
but market/gilt rates have increased, pushing overall
debt pricing up laithough still low by historical
standards}

We have continued to access the debt markels and
during the year raised £400 million of new finance
including a £200 millton unsecured Sterling bond,
as well as extending £225 millien of revalving
credit facilities.

(’ & The evalustion of the Likely impact of this risk
Y&’ has not changed notably since the prior year.
The Home Office threat level from international
terrorism remains Severe’ During the year, we have
carried out a crisis simulation exercise and enhanced
our procedures where appropriate

We are rmundful of cyber security risks, particularly
following a number of recent high-profile hacks,

and have continued to enhance our security position
and provide employee traiming and awareness on
cyber security

[
%]
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PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Investment
strategy
Responsible
executives:

Chris Grigg,
Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

Development
strategy
Responsible
axecutives:

Chris Grigg.
Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberts

In order to meet our
strategic objectives we
aim to invest in and exit
from the right properties
at the right time.
Underperformance could
result from changesin
market sentiment as
well as inappropriate
determination
and execution of sur
property investment
strategy, including:
- Sector selection and
welighting
- Timing of investment
and divestment
decisions

- Exposureto
developrrents

— Asset, tenant, regron
concentration

— Co-investment
arrangements

Development provides
an opportunity for
outperformance but
usually brings with it
elevated risk.

Thisis refiected inour
decision-making process

around which schemes to

develop, the timing of the
development, aswell as
the execution of these
projects,
Development strategy
addresses several
development risks that
could adversely impact
underlying income and
capnal performance
including:
- Development letting
exposure
- Construction timing
and costs including
canstruction cost
inflation}

~ Major contractor tailure

~ Adverse planming
judgements

|
|

Risk exposure has increased
No significant change in risk exposure

Risk exposure has reduced

|
|
|
l
J
|
(
J
|

I

Qur investrment strategy 15 determined to be
consistent with our target risk appelite and 1s based
on the evaluation of the external environment.

Progress against the strategy and continuing
ahignment wilh our rigk appetite 1s discussed at
each Risk Cornmittee with reference to the property
markets and the external economic environment

The Board carries out an annual review of the
overall corporate strategy including the current
and prospective asset partfolio allecation.

frndwiduat investment decisions are subject to
robust risk evaluation averseen by our Investment
Comemuttee including consideration of relurns
relative to sk adjusted hurdle rates.

Review of praspective perfarmance of individual
assets and their business plans.

We foster collaborative relationstups with our
co-investors and enter Into ownership agreements
which balance the interests of the parties.

We manage our levels of total and speculative
developrment expesure as a proportion of the
investment portfolio value within & target range
taking into account associated risks and the impact
on key financial metrics. This is monitored quarterly
by the Fusk Commuttee along with progress of
developments against plan.

Prior ta committing (o a development a detatled
appraisal 1s undertaken. This includes consideration
of returns relative to risk adjusted hurdle rates and
15 overseen by our Investment Committee

Pre-lets are used to reduce development letting risk
where considered appropriate.

Competitive tendering of construction contracts
and. where appropnate, fixed price contracts
entered into

Detailed selection and close monitoring of
contractors including covenant reviews.

Experienced develepment managernent team
closely monitors design, construction and overall
delivery process

Early engagement and strong relaticnships with
planning authorities.

We also actively engage with the communities in
whichwe operate, as detaled in our Local Charter,
to ensure thal our development activities consider
the interests of alt stakeholders.

We manage environmentat and social risks across
our development supply chamn by engaging with our
suppliers, incluging through our Supplier Cede of
Conduct, Sustainability Brief for Developments and
Health and Safety Policy
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—
@ Our strategy 15 aligned to long term trends, and
= %7 our high quality portfoliois pasitioned ta benefit
from increasing polarisation and to attract a broader
range of occupiers.

We have continued to be active In executing our capital
allocation plans and have sold £1.3 billion of assets in
the year overall ahead of valuation, primarily mature
and off-straleqy assets, The retail market faces
structural challenges and we have continued to
reshape our Retail portfolic with £419 million of sales
n the year, in total £2.3 billion over the last four years.

We have maintained strong capital discipline, and
have focused resources on progressing our unigue
development programme, selective acguisitions and
3 £300 million share buyback. Overall we were a net
divestor of £0 8 billion of properties over the course
of the year

( Development is an important part of our business
2 and has delivered some of aur strongest returns,
but 1sinherently higher risk, particutarly when pursued
on a speculalive basis. We bt our development
exposure to 15% of the total investment portfolio by
value, with 8 maximum of 8% to be developed
speculatively.

Curing the year, we have doubled our commutted
development pipeline, representing a total
devetoprent exposure of 8.9%, whilst carelully
managing the risk by securing substantial pre-lets;
as such there has been only 3 mimnor increase in
speculative expasure, which now stands at 4 5% of
the portfoule GAV, Comnmutted construction costs are
substantially covered by residential receipts to come



Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the year

Capital structure

- leverage

Responsible
execulives:
Lucinda Bell

[until January 2018],
Chris Grigg

[after January 2018)

Finance
strategy
Responsible
executives:

Lucinda Bell

{until January 2018],
Chris Grigg

(after January 2018)

People
Responsible
executive:
Chris Grigg

Income
sustainability
Responsible
executives:

Luecinda Bell

[unti January 20181,
Chris Grigg

lafter January 20181,
Charles Maudsley,
Tim Roberls

QOur capital structure
receghises the balance
between performance,
risk and flexibility.

- Leverage magnifies
capital returns, both
positive and negative

- Anincreasen leverage
increases the risk of
a breach of covenants
on borrowing facilities
and may Increase
tinance costs

Finance strategy
addresses risks bothto
continying solvency and
profits generated.

Faiture to manage
refinancing requirements
may result in & shortage
of funds to sustain the
operations of the business
or repay facilities as they
fall due.

A number of critical
business processes and
decisions lie in the hands
of a few people.

Faillure to recruit, develop
and retain staff and
Directors with the nght
skills and experience may
result in significant
underperformance or
impact the effectiveness
of operations and decision
making, In turn impacting
business performance

We are mindful of
maintaining sustainable
income streams which
underpin a stable and
growing dividend and
provide the platform
framwhich to grow

the business.

We consider sustainability
of cur income streams in:

- Execution of
investment strategy
and capital recycling,
notably timing
of reinvestrment of
sale proceeds

- MNature and structure
of leasing activity

- . Nature and timing of
asset management and
developrment activity

—  We manage our use of debt and equity finance to
balance the benefits of leverage against the nsks

- We aim tomanage our loan to value [LTV] through
the property cycle such that our financ:al position
woutd remam robust in the event of a significant fall
in property values. This means we do not adjust our
approach to leverage based on changes in property
market yields.

- We manage our investrment activity, the size and
tirming of which can be uneven, as wetl as our
development commitments to ensure that our LTV
level rermams appropriate

- We leverage our equity and achieve benefils of scale
while spreading risk through jeint ventures and
funds which are typically partly financed by debt
without recourse to British Land.

- Five key principles guide our financing, employed
together to manage the nsks inthis area- diversify
aur sources of finance, phase maturity of debt
portfolio, maintain liquidity, maintain flexibility,
and maintam strong balance sheet metrics

- We monitor the period until inancing ts required,
which 15 a key determinant of financing actvity. Debt
and capital market conditions are reviewed regularly
to identity financing opportunities that meet our
business requirements

- Financial covenant headroom is evaluated regularly
and in conpunction with transactions.

- Weare committed to maintaining and enhancing
relationships with our key financing partners.

- We are mindfut of relevant emerging regulation
which has the potential to impact the way that we
finance the business.

- QurHR strategy s designed o minimnise risk
through:

- informed and skilled recruitment processes

~ talent performance management and succession
planning for key rotes

- highly competitive compensation and benefits
- people development and training.

- Therisk s measurad through employee
engagement surveys including the ‘Best
Companies survey], employee turnover and
retention metrics. We monitor this through the
aumber of unplanned executive departuresin
addition to conducting exitinterviews

- We engage with our employees and suppliers to
make clear our requirements in managing key risks
including health and safety, fraud and bribery and
other sccial and environmental risks, as detaited in
our policies and codes of conduct,

- We undertake comprehensive profit and cash flow
forecasting incorporating scenaric analysis to model
the impact of proposed transactions

- Proactive asset management approach to maintain
strong occupier ine-up, We monitor our market
letting exposure including vacancies, upcoming
expiries and breaks and speculative development as
well as our weighted average unexpired lease term.

- - We have a high quality and diversilied occupier base
and monitor concentration of exposure to individual
occuplers or seclors

- Woe are proactive In addressing key lease breaks
and expiries to minimise periods of vacancy.

- We actively engage with the communities in which
we operate, as detaled in our Local Charter, to
ensure we provide buildings that meet the needs
of all relevant stakeholders.
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@‘5 Our balance sheet metrics remain strong; both
X/ the proportionally consolidated loan to value
LTVl and weighted average interest rate have been
reduced alongside impreved interest cover We have
decreased LTV by a further 150 bps to 28.4% from
29.9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net
disposals. This financial strength provides us with
the capacity to progress opportunities including our
development pipeline whilst retaining sigruficant
headroom to our covenants

2, The scale of our business, quality of our assets
W and security of our rental streams enable us to
access a broad range of debt finance on attractive
terms Following issuance of the £300 mullion
unsecured Sterling bond, our weighted average debt
maturity 1s almost nine years, and based on current
commitments and available debt facilities, we have no
requirement to refinance until early 2021. Our
committed bank facilities total £1.8 billion of which
£1.2 billion were undrawn at 31 March 2018. The
strength of our business is reflected in our senior
unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitch to
‘A [from ‘A~ during the year.

,@ Expert Peaple is one of the four core focus

S @ areas of our strategy and a key factor in our
performance. We continue to empower our people
to make the most of thewr potentiat though traiming
and development.

We are focused on building a supportive and inclusive
culture for our people and we were the first listed
property company to achieve the National Equality
Standard accreditationin the year. '

During the year, staff turnover has remamed relatively
low at 15% and our hugh level of staff engagement was
recognised by achieving a Two Star rating in tha Sunday
Times Best Companies to Work For survey.

(%}\J We are mindful of the challenges facimg the retail
L Y7 market which has seen a number of operators
apply for company voluntary arrangements. We
continue to actively monitor our exposure Lo occupiers
at risk of default and administration and are selective
about the sectors and operators we target

We also recognise that in delivering our investment
stralegy and selling some of our mature assets, we
have had to be conscious of the impact on our income
inthe shartterm

However, our income streams are underpinned by
a high quality, diverse occuplar base with fugh
occupancy, and locking forward our development
pipeline offars significant potential to generate
future income.
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We have created a woodland walkway outside 2 Kingdom
Streetand enlivened the space inside with independent
coffee shops and flexible warkspace.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy
and leads British Land to
achieve long term success

Non-Executive Chainman and Executive Directors

John Gildersleeve ®

Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as
Chairman in january 2013.

Skills and experience: John 15 deputy chairman of TalkTalk Telecom
Group PLC. John also serves as chairman of Noble Foods Ltd. He
was formerly deputy chairman and senior independent director of
Spire Healthcare Group ple, chairman of EM| Group and Gallaner
Group and chairman of Carphone Warehouse Group [now Dixons
Carphone plc). He was also a non-executive directer of Lloyds TSB
Bank PLC, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stares [South Africal
and an executive director of Tesco plc.

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Appointed to the Board in February 2010.

Skills and experience: Charles joined Bnitish Land in 2010 from
LaSalle Investment Management where he was Co-Head of Europe,
Managing Director of the UK business, a member of the Management
Board and an International Director. Prior to joiring LaSalle, he was
with AXA Real Estate Investment Management for seven years where
he was Head of Real Estate Fund Management in the UK.
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Chris Grigg

i Chief Executive

Appointed to the Board in January 2009.

Skills and experience: Chris has more than 30 years' experience
in the real estate and financial industries in a range of leadership
roles. Untit November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Commercial Bank, having joined Barclays in 2005. Prior to that,
Chris spent over 20 years at Goldman Sachs, tatterly as a partner.
Chris 1s a non-executive director of BAE Systems plc, & board
rmember af both the British Property Federation and the European
Public Real Estate Association and member of the 30% Club

Tim Roberts

Head of Offices

Appointed to the Beard in July 2006.

Skills and experience: Before joining British Land in 1997 Tim was

a partner at Drivers Jonas, in the Investment Agency team. He was
formerly a non-executive director of Songbird Estates. Timis also

a Trustee of LandAud, the property industry charity, and chair of their
Grants Committee and is a board member of the Westrminster

} Property Association.



Non-Executive Directors

William Jackson ® N

Senior Independent Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directorin April 2011 and Senior
independent Director in Juty 2017.

Skills and experience: William 1s managing partner of Bridgepoint,
one of Europe’s leading private equity groups, which he has led since
2001. He also serves as chairman of the board of Pret A Manger and
president of Darna Sports SL [the rights holder to the Moto GP world
motarcycling championships). He has served ona range of boards
during his career, including Hamptons Group Limited and Alliance
Medical Holdings Limited, and has extensive operational and
transaction experience.

Alastair Hughes 2

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018,

Skills and experience: Alastairis a fellow of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors. He 1s a non-executive director of Schroders
Real Estate Investment Trust Limited and has aver 25 years of
experience in global real estate markets. He is a former director of
Jones Lang LaSalle inc. [JLL] having served as managing director
of JLL in the UK, as chief executive for Europe, Middle East and
Asia and then as regional CED for Asia Pacific.

Lynn Gladden R

Non-Executive Director

Appainted as a Non-Executive Director in March 2015.

Skills and experience: Lynn is Shell Professor of Chemical
Engineering at the University of Cambridge and will take up the
role of Executive Chair of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Councit in October 2018. Lynn is also 2 commissioner
of the Royal Commission for the Exhibition of 1851, a fellow of
both the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering,
and a non-executive director of IP Group plc. Lynn was pro-vice-
chancellor for research at Cambridge until the end of 2015.

Nicholas Macpherson A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in Decermber 2016.

Skills and experience: Nicholas s chairman of C. Hoare & Co and

a director of The Scottish American investment Company PLC.

He also serves as a crosshencher in the House of Lords, a visiting
Professor at King's College London and a Trustee of the Royal Mint
Museum. Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for
over 10years from 2005 tc March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subseqguent penod of banking reform,

He joined the Treasury :n 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary. Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors

|
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Preben Prebensen R Tim Score &) N

Non-Executive Director | Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017, Appomted as a Non-Executive Director in March 2014,

Skills and experience: Preben is group chief executive of Close Skills and experience: Tim is a non-executve director of Pearson plc

Brothers Group ple. He spent over 23 years in a number of senior
positions at 4P Morgan. Preben was previously chief executive

of Wellington Underwriting plc from 2004 to 2006, and then

chief investment officer and a member of the group executive
committee at Catlin Group Limited.

and HM Treasury, sits on the board of trustees of the Royat National
Theatre, and is chairman of the Football Association’'s audit
committee. He was formerly chief financial officer of ARM Haldings
PLC and held senior financial positions at Rebus Group Lirnited,
William Baird ple, LucasVarity plc and BTR plc. From 2005 1o 2014,
he was a non-executive directar of National Express Group PLC,
including time as interim chairman and six years as senior
independent direclor.

Laura Wade-Gery R

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015,

Skills and experience: | aura s a non-executive directar of John Lew|s
Partnership plc, a non-executive director and chair of the rermnuneration
commitiee of Immunccore Limited, a trustee of the Royal Opera and Development PLC, first as finance director and latterly as deputy
House, a director of Snape Maltings Trading Limited ang a member chief executive Rebecca was a non-executive director and chair of

of the Government Digital Strategy Advisory Board. Between July ¢ the audit committee at Hansteen Holdings ple until 20 March 2018,
2011 and September 2018, Laura was executive director Mults and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc to
Channel at Marks and Spencer Groug pic. Previously, Laura September 2015, Rebecca qualified as a chartered accountant
served in a number of senior posttions at Tesco PLC and was with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

a non-executive director of Trinity Mirror plc.

Rebecca Worthington A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directorin January 2018,

Skills and experience: Rebecca i1s group chief financial officer of
Countryside Properties PLC. She spent 15 years at Quintain Estates

,,
|
’
|
|
|
|
|
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Incoming Executive Director

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer

Appointment data: 21 May 2018,

Skills and experience: Simon joins British Land from Logicor, the
owner and operator of European logistics real estate, where he has
served as chief financial officer since January 2017. Prior to jeining
l_ogicor, from 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance director at Quintain
Estates & Development Ple. Sirmon previously spent over 10 years with
British Land, working in & variety of financial and strategic roles, and was
a member of our Executive Commuttee from 2012 until hus departure
inJanuary 2015. Simaon also previously worked for UBS in fixed income
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen. Simon
holds a degree :n economics from the University of Cambridge.

Company Secretary

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary in
January 2018.

Skills and experience: Before joining British Land, Brona was
General Counsel and Cornpany Secretary of The Co-operative
Bank plc for four years as part of the restructuring executive team.
Immediately prior tc that she was Interim General Counsel and
Secretary at the Coventry Building Society. Until Octoher 2011,
Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division of
Barclays Bank ple, having joined Barclays in 1998. Brona trained
and spenta number of years at a large City law firm.

Changes to the Board

Lucinda Bell Stood down as Executive Director and
Chief Financial Officer on 19 January 2018

Aubrey Adams Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 31 December 2017

Simon Borrows Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 18 July 2017

tord Turnbull Retired as Non-Executive Director

on 18 July 2017

Board Committee membership key
* Audit Committee member “ Rermuneration Committee member

N Nomination Cormmittee member € Chairman of a Board Commuttes

Dirgctors’ core areas of expertise!

Property
Fnance

Retail and consurner
Academic
Pubiic sector

! Some Directors are represented in more than cne category,
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CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration
sections of our Annual Report

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group continues to be supparted by a robust
structure which altews for constructive debate and challenge by its
members. This approach enables the Directors to make affective
decisions, at the right time and based on the right information.

As | mention in my statement on pages 4 and 5, our leve! of
thoughtful activity and the resilience of our strategy set British Land
apart. We take this thoughtfulness and consideration into our
governance structure and | recently asked that a review of cur
governance policies be undertaken 16 ensure that they remain
appropriate for our business and 1n line with best market practice.

Governance underpins the way inwhich the business of the Group
1s managed, our behaviour and our corporate culture. This year,
we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Gavernance Code
{the Code) avallable at www.frc,org.uk. | am pleased to report that
the Board has continued to apply good governance and considers
that the Campany has complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year

The following Corporate Governance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Normmnation and Remuneration Committees, cutlines
how the Company has applied the Code’s principles and provisions.

Board changes
As mentiened on page 5. the Board has continued to evolve during
the year with a number of changes to its membership. Lucinda Bell

stepped down as an Executive Director and as Chuef Fipancial Ofhicer

on 19 January 2018, and left British Land en 4 Aprit 2018,
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! would Like to thank Lucinda for her commitment to British Land
far aver 25 years, six years of which were as an Executive Directar,
¢ and wish her all the very best for the future. We look forward to
welcaming Simen Carter as an Executive Directer and Chief
Financiat Cfficer when he joins the Group on 21 May 2018

| should also like to take this cpportunity to thank our Non-Executive
Directors who retired during this year. The diligence and commitment
shown by Autrey Adams, Simen Borrows and Lord Turnbull during
their long tenure have been exemplary and have contributed to the
good governance of the Group.

During the year we also welcomed three new Nan-Exacutive
Directors: Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca
Worthington and | look forward to working closely with them
over the coming years. All Directors in role at 31 March 2018 will
stand for election or re-election at the 2018 AGM.

This year, we appointed Independent Board Evatuation {IBE) ta
undertake the triennial externally facilitated Board evaluation.
Details of the process undertaken and a summary of the cutcomes
are set out on page é6. However, | am pleased to report here that the
review concluded that your Board, its Commitees and its individual
members continue to operate effectively and with due diligence.

We fully intend to implement the recommendations made by IBE
and we will report on progress in the 2019 Annual Report.

The Board also reviewed and approved a new Diversity and Inclusion
[ Policy this year. Further detail on this s given in the Nemination

Committee Report on pages 74 to 75 and in the Social and
t environmental reporting secticn on page 30.

I All Directors will attend this year's AGM which will again provide
an opportumty for all shareholders to hear more about our
performance durning the year and to ask guestions of the Board.
I look forward to welcoming you an 17 July 2018.

AT

|
|

John Gildersleeve
Neon-Executive Chairman,




GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Our governance structure is
an integral part of the way we
design and deliver our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2018 the Board comprised the Chairman, eight
independent Non-Exacutive Directors and three Executive Directors.
Biographies of the Directors are set cut on pages 58 to 41 and include
details of the skitls and experience each brings to the Board.

Our rigorous and transparent procedures for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nominatien Committee. Non-Executive
Directors are appointed for specified terms and all centinuing
Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by shareholders
at the AGM each year provided the Board, on the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee, deerms it appropriate that they do so.

The campasition of the Board is fundamental to its success in
providing strang and effective leadership. The Nomination Comimittee
1s responsible for reviewing the composition of the Board and its
Committees and assessing whether the balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity 1S appropriate to enable

them to operate effectively.

Board of Directors (as at 31 March 2018)

W Non-Executive Chairman
W independent Non-Executive Directors
M Executive Cirectors

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals on the
Board. The majority are independent Non-Executive Directors who
are not only able to offer an external perspective on the business, but
also constructively challenge the Executive Directors, particularly
when developing the Company's strategy. The Non-Executive
Directors scrutinise the performance of management In meeting
their agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

that perfoarmance.

The hugh calibre of debate and the participation of all Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, in its meetings allows the Board to
utilise the experience and skills of the individual Directors to their
maximum potential and make decistons that are in the best
interests of the Company. ’

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, including its core responsibilities of setting the Group's
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed strategy,
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards

of the Group as a whole. Matters below the financial Limit set by the
Board are delegated to a committee of any two Executive Directors
with all decisions taken reported to the next following Board meeting.

The Board culture is one of openness and constructive debate; the
Directors are able to voice their opiniens in a relaxed and respectful
environment, allowing coherent discussion. When running Board
meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative atmosphere and
ensures that all Directors contribute to the debate. The Chairman
alse arranges informal meetings and events throughout the year ta
help build constructive relationships between the Board members
and the sentor management team.

The Chairman meets with individual Directors outside formal
Board meetings to atlow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, its Committees and 1ts members.
The Chairman i1s therefore able to remain mindful of the views
of the individuai Directors.

Division of responsibilities

There 15 a clear written division of responsibilities between the
Chairman twha s respensible for the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board) and the Chief Executive {who 1s responsible for managing
the Company’s business).

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive, with specific areas of the
husiness being managed by the other Executive Directors. The
Executive Directors are involved in, or aware of, all major activities
and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that any decisions
align with the Group's agreed strategy.

The Executive Directors make decisions within predefined

parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposal rmay still
be taken to the full Board for consideration and approval where this
1s considered appropriate, even if they falt within those parameters.

Three standing Committees have beaen established: the Audit,
Nomination and Rermuneration Committees, to which certain powers
have been delegated. Membership of each of these Cammittees is
comprised solely of ndependent Non-Executive Directors. The reports
of these three standing Committees are set out on pages 6% to 91.

Management Committees have also been established to make
recormmendations on matters delegated to them by the Board,
its standing Commuttees or the Executive Oirectors.

This governance structure [set out an the following page) ensures
that the Board 1s able to focus on strategic proposals, major
transactions and governance matters which affect the long term
success of the business.
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Governanee

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance structure

Board of Directors
Develops strategy and leads British Land to achieve (ong term success, determines the risks British Land faces, the level of risk 1t
Is prepared to take to achieve its strategy and ensures that systems of risk management and control are in place. It also provides
leadership and governance for the Company as a whole, having regard to the views of shareholders
and other stakeholders.

The Board has reserved certain matters to its own approval [see www.britishland.com/governance] with others being delegated
to Board or Management Committees as appropriate.

Audit Committee
Oversees financial and narrative
reporting, provides assurance on the
effectiveness of internal control, risk
management systems and audit

Nomination Committee
Leads process for Board
appointments and succession
- planning, ensures that Board and

Remuneration Commiitee
Sets the Executive Oirectors’
Remuneration Policy and the

remuneration of the Chairman and

processes, reviews the effectiveness
and objectvity of external and
internal auditors.

senior management have appropriate
skills, knowledge and experience to
operate effectively and deliver

Executive Directors, approves annusl
and long term performance
abjectives and awards.

strateqy, reports on diversity.
See repori on pages 74 to 72

Seereport on pages 76 to 91.
See report on pages 6% to 73

Chief Executive and Executive Directors
Overall responsibility for day-te-cay management of the business and implementation of approved strategy
lies with the Chief Executive with specific areas of the business managed by the other Executive Birectors.

Executive Committee
An advisory committee that operates under the direction and leadership of the Chief Executive. Membership comprises
all Executive Directors and senior management from across the business. Considers day-to-day operational and
financial performance, performance of the Group's assets and overall development programme.

Investment Committee
Reviews, approves or recommends
significant transactions including
acquisitions, disposals and
developments of assets up to
an agreed financial timit,

Risk Committee
Oversees management and reporting
of strategic and operational risks,
recommends appropriate risk
appetite levels and manitors risk
exposure, reviews operation of risk
management processes.

Health, Safety and
Environment Committee
Drives actions in pursuit of the
Company’s health and safety and
environmental stewardship goals and
reviews performance against actions.

Sustainability Committee
Monitors perfarmance and progress
against sustainability targets and key

imtiatives, assessing emerging
social, ethical and environmental
Issues, associated risks and
mitigating actions.

Community Investment Committee
Oversees the strategic management
of the Community Investment Fund
and approves and monitors all
related spend.
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Strategy days

The Board held 1t5 annusl offsite strategy event during March 2618.
The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors, and the
Non-Executive Directors in particutar, with an oppertunity to focus on
the develapment of, and challenge to, the Group’s corporate strategy.

The format of the 2018 event was different from prior years with one
entire sessian given over to the consideration of key questions on
future direction. To stimulate this conversation, a number of external
speakers were invited to the session held earlier in the day and to the
following dinner in order to give a wider social and econemic context
to discussions.

Board meetings

Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sufficient time to
discharge thetr duties effectively. Occasionally, Board meetings may
be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of 8 ime-critical
nature nged to be made.

The table below sets out the changes that have taken place to the
Board, together with details of each Director’s attendance at Board
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2018

Date of Date of
appeiniment leaving the

Director (since 1 April 2017) Board Attendance
John Gildersleeve 7/8
Chris Grigg 8/8
Charles Maudsley 8/8
Tim Roberts 8/8
Lynn Gladden 8/8
Alastair Hughes 01 Jan 2018 3/3
William Jackson 8/8
Nicholas Macpherson 7/8
Preben Prebensen 0t Sep 2017 5/5
Tim Score 8/8
Laura Wade-GCery 8/g
Rebecca Worthington 01 Jan 2018 2/3
Former Directars

Lucinda Bell 19 Jan 2018 5/6
Aubrey Adams 31 Dec 2017 5/5
Simon Borrows 18 Jut 2017 2/3
Lord Turnbull 18 Jul 2017 2/3

Absences at Board meetings were due te commitments predating
Joining the Board, illness or unavailakility for meetings held at
short notice.

The Board agenda 1s set by the Chairman, in conjunction with the
Chief Executive and Company Secretary. Each scheduled meeting
includes a Management Report delivered by the Chief Executive and
regular updates on the activities of vartous standing and management
Comrmittees. Discussions also take place on strategic propasals,
majer acquisitions, disposals and developments and legal and
governance matters,

During the year ended 31 March 2018 particular areas considered
by the Board, either directly or following receipt of reports from its
standing Committees, include:

- Outcomes of the annual strategy days and progress towards
agreed outcomes

- Consideration and approval of risk appetite and the principal
risks faced by the Company

- Use of capital and the implementation of a £300 mullion share
buyback programme

- {aunch of the Flexible Workspace brand [Storey]

- Review of the outcome of a multi-agency crisis management
exercise at one of British Land's assets

- Results of the externally facilitated Board performance evaluation

- Approval of full year and half year financial results, the Annual
Report and the Notice of AGM

- Declaration of quarterly interim dividends

- Diversity and gender pay

- Cyber security and information technology

- Preparations for the General Data Protection Reguiation
{which comes into ferce in May 2018}

- Health and safety compliance

- Gavernance review

- Sustainability

Care 1s taken 1¢ ensure that information is circulated i good time
before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate level of detail to enable
the Board to discharge its duties. All papers are circulated one week
prior to meetings and clearly marked as being "For Decision’ or
‘For Information’. To enhance the delivery of Board and Cormnmittee
papers the Board uses a Board portal and tablets which pravide 2
secure and efficient process for meeting pack distribution. Under
the directicn of the Chairman, the Company Secretary facilitates
effective information flows between the Board and its Committees,
and between senior management and Non-Executive Directors.

In March 2018 the Board undertook a site wisit to Meadowhall in
Sheffield, a joint venture asset with Norges Bank Investment
Management. Since the Board last visited in 2015, a £60 million
refurbishment had been undertaken, creating a ‘go-to’ space
providing outstanding customer experiences, As well as reviewing
the results of the refurbishment, the Board considered the next
phase of the Meadowhall development programme including the
delivery of the Leisure Hall where we have secured a resclution to
grant planning consent from Sheffield Crty Council.

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appointment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
receive a comprehensive induction. Each new Director is invited to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss their induction in detail, following which the
programme is tailored specifically to their requirements and adapted
to reflect their existing knowledge and experience.

Each induction programme would ordinarily include:

- Meetings with the Chairman, Executive Directors, Committee
Charmen, external auditor or remuneration consultants
(as appropriate)

- Information on the corporate strategy, the investment strategy,
the financial position and tax matters bnctuding details of the
Company’s REIT status]

- Anoverview of both Retail and Offices portfolios provided
by members of the senior management team

- Visits ta key assets. Buring 2017 and 2018 these included visits
to Broadgate, Canada Water, Meadowhall and Paddington

- Details of Board and Committee procedures and Directors’
responsibilities

- Details on the investor relations programme

- Information an the Company's approach to sustainability

Allinduction documents are made avallable on our secure electronic

Board portal and are therefore availabte to Directors both during and
after their induction.
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Training and development

The Chairman and Company Secretary agree what Board wide
training or development may be appropriate. During the year ended
31 March 2018, the Board cansidered papers and gresentations on
tegal and regulatory developments, technology opportunities or
challenges and sustainability-related developments as well as
receving regutar briefings on the views of stakehalders and the
external epvironment.

Directors are alse entitlad to seek independent advice in relation ta
the performance of their duties at the Company’s expense, subject
to having first notified the Chairman or the Company Secretary.

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment set cut the time
commitments expected from thern. Following consideration, the
Nominaticn Committee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Oirectors continue to devote sufficient time to discharging their
duties to the required high standard.

British Land’s policy is to ailow Executive Directors to take one
non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to
Board approval. External appointments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed in their biographies. Any fees earned by the Executive
Directors are disclosed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report.

Confticts of interest

The Directors are required te aveid a situation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conflict with the interests of
the Company. The Board has established a procedure whereby

the Directors are required to notify the Chairman and the Company
Secretary of all new outside interests and actual or perceived
conflicts of interest that may affect them in their rotes as Directors
of British Land. All potential conflicts of interest are authorised by
the Board at the earliest opportunity and the register of Directors’
interests s reviewed by the full Board at least annually.

The Board alsa reviews the Directors’ Interests Policy on an annual
basis. Following the last review in Novemnber 2017, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively.

Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Committee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are tikely to affect, ar could appear to affect,
that judgerment. As a result, the Board as a whale considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent, 1s of the stature
and has the required experience to perform his or her role as an
independent Director. The results of the externally facilitated Board
evaluation also confirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive
Director standing for election or re-election at the 2018 AGM
remains committed to their role within British Land and continues
to perform effectively.
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Board evaluation
During the year, the effectiveness of the Board and its Commuttees
was conducted by Independent Board Evaluatien {IBE].

Stage 1
October 2017
1BE met with the Chairman to discuss and agree
the focus of the evaluation

\/’

Stage 2
Navember 2017
IBE attended Board and Commuittee meetings

\/

Stage 3
February 2018
lndividual interviews held with each Board Director,
the Company Secretary and the Head of Secretariat

'\/

Stage 4
March 2018
IBE attended further Board and Commuttee meetings

\/

Stage 5
March 2018
Draft report discussed with Chairman prior to finalisation
and presentation to the whole Board

\/

Stage 6
March/April 2018 - pest Board presentation
IBE provided feedback to the Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Cornmittees on the performance of each
Comrmttee. The performance of the Chairman was also
discussed with the Senior Independent Director who
subseguently met with the other Non-Executive Directors to
further consider the Chairman’s performance. taking into
account the views of the Executive Directors.

In addition to the formal Board evaluation, the Board Chairman
met each Non-Executive Director individually during the year to
discuss their contribution to the Board,

Outcormes

Overall, the evaluation report from IBE reflected well on the
Board. Its memnbers are seen as engaged and committed while
the Board's culture remains ocpen, respectiul and constructive.

IBE made a number of recommendatians to the Board, based
on the Board's own suggestions, including:

- Increasing the Board's interaction with the wider
managernent tearn

- Worlung to define Board values in conjunction with the
Company values and take forward the Board's work on
culture and employee engagament

- Usinginformal Beard sessions to enable alignment around
complex or evolving issues

The Board intends to implement the recommendations made
by IBE and will report on progress in the 2019 Annual Report.

IBE has no other connechion with Briish Land.



Aceountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms in the Directors’ responsibility statermnent set out on page 95
that they believe that the Annual Report, taken as a whele, is fair,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary to assess British Land’s position, performance, business
model and strategy. The basis on which the Campany creates

and preserves value over the long term is described in the

Strategic Report.

The Audit Committee reviewed the procedure undertaken to enable the
Beard to provide the fair, balanced and understandable confirmation
to shareholders. Meetings were held between the Group Financial
Controlier, Head of Investor Relations and other senigr employees to
review and document the key considerations undertaken and a
detalled report was then presented to the Audit Committee,

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks It 1s prepared
to take In order to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives. The
Board has responsibility for the Company’s overall approach to risk
management and internal cantrol which includes ensuring the
design and implementation of appropriate risk management and
internal control systems. Oversight of the effectiveness of these
systems is delegated to the Audit Cemmittee which undertakes
regular reviews to ensure that the Group 1s identifying, considering
and mitigating as far as praclicable, the most appropnate risks for
the business.

The Board confirms that, through the Audit Committee, a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including
those that would threaten its business medel, future performance,
solvency or liquidity, was carried out during the year.

British Land's approach to risk, including the roles of the Board,
and the Audit Committee in setting risk appetite and monitoring risk
exposure, is detailed in the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy’
section on pages 48to 51,

As well as complying with the Cade, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC "Guidance on risk
management, internal control and related fimancial and business
reporting’ and the Company’s internal control framework operates
inline with the recommendations set out in the internationaliy
recognised COS0 Internal Control integrated Framework.

The Company s committed to conducting its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and 1n line with all relevant laws
and regulations. The Group has adopted a number of policies and
procedures including policies and training on anti-bribery and
corruption and fraud awareness, information secunity and GDPR.
All employees are made aware of the Group’s policies through the
employee handbook, regular bulletins and receive training
appropriate to their roles and responsibilities.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
systern of intarnal control annually, including the systems of control
for material joint ventures and funds. The Group's internal control
systernis built on the following fundamental principles, and 1s
subject to review by internal audit:

- Adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- Adetalled authorisation process: no material commitments are
entered into witheut thorough review and approval by more than
ane autherised person

"~ Format decumentation of atl significant transachons

- Arobust system of business and financial planming: including
cash flows and profitability forecasting, with scenario analysis
perfarmed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- Arcbust process for property investment appraisals

- Monitoring of key cutcomes, particularly expenditure and
performance of significant investments, against budget
and forecast

- Clearly defined policies and review of actual performance
against policies

- Benchmarking of property performance agaimnst external
sources such as Investment Property Databank

- Key controls testing

- Acomprehensive property and corporate insurance programme
and a formal whstle-blowing policy

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2018,
and to the date of this Report, the Audit Committee has not identfied,
nor been advised of, a falling or weakness which it has determined

to be sigruficant.

Going concern and viability statements

During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using
the ‘going concern’ basis of accounting in the financial staternents.
The assessment considered future cash flows and debt facilities

{to assess the liquidity risk of the Company] and the availability of
finance [to assess the solvency riskl. The assessment covered the
12-month period required by the ‘going concern’ basis of accounting.

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospecis of the Group over a five-year pericd which is deemed
appropriate for the viability statement. In preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on pages
52 to 55 and the sensitiviies cf cash Hiow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable likelihood
cf impacting the viability of the Company. Full details of this
assessment are set out on page 51.

Following these assessments the Directers believe that the Group
i1s well ptaced to manage its financing and other business risks
satisfactorily and have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider 1t appropriate to adept the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial staterments.

The Board &lso considers that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due
over the periad ending 31 March 2023.

Taxation

Our principies of good governance extend to our responsible
approach to tax. Our tax strategy (Our Approach to Tax'], available
on our website www.britishland.com/governance. 15 approved by
the Board and is in Line with the Group's long term values, culture
and strategy.

Remuneration
The Directors Remuneration Report 1s set out on pages 76 to 91.

The Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2014
AGM and s summarised on page 78. We are not making any changes
to the Remuneration Policy this year
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Relations with stakeholders
The Board 1s commutted to maintaining open channels of

communication with all of the Company's stakeholders. An important ;

part of this s providing a clear explanation of the Company's strategy
and cbjectives, and ensuring that feedback 1s acknow!edged,
considered and, where appropriate, acted upon. Stakeholder
feedback 1s essential to the success of our business, so we ensure
the Chairman, Senior Independent Birector, Chief Executive and
other Executive Directors are available to address any concerns

our stakeholders may wish to raisa.

British Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders. Annocuncements relating to the Group's financial
results and key events are provided in a timely manner and are ea5|ly
accessible via our website and social media. The Group website also
provides detailed information on our assets, as well as case studies
IWustrating our strategy, including our sustainability activities.

British |_and has a dedicated Investor Relations team which 1s
available to respond to any questions or concerns iNvestors may
have on an ad hoc basis.

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via
the contacts page on our website: www.britishland.com/contacts.

Annual General Meeting

All Directors attend the AGM, which prowvides retail shareholders

in particular with an opportunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company’s performance over the past year, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead. The AGM also provides shareholders
with the opportunity to ask questions and a number of the Directors,
including the Chairman, make themselves available for informal
discusston after the meeting has concluded.

The 2017 AGM was attended by approximately 125 shareholders.
All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by

the required majority. The results of the AGM voting are announced
to the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable following the
AGM and also made available on the Company’s website.

Retail shareholders

Our ‘Shareholders Centre’ on our website: www.britishland.com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, hew to contact our registrar, Equiniti,
and other useful resaurces for sharehalders.

Institutional investors

Institutional investors and analysts recewe regular communications
from the Company, including details of Investor Relations events
{see the chart to the right], one-to-one and group meetings with
Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets. This year, our
investor relations activity included a presentation and asset tour at
Paddington Central, following the completion of our 4 Kingdom Street
development. In total, the Chief Executive, former Chief Financial
Offhicer and Investor Relations team met with representatives fram over
205 institutions during the year ended 31 March 2018. We periodically
commission an independent investor perception study, which provides
feedback an our strategy and highlights material concerns from key
investors and 1s presented to the Board.

The Executive tearn 1s committed to ensuring that shareholder views,
both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board. The Chief
Executive provides a written report at each scheduled meeting which
includes direct market feedback on activity during the period.
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Key investor relations activities
during the year included

May 2017

- Fuil year results presentation

- fg:gssr resylts roadshow, lunc 2017
_ ‘nvestor roadshow, Investor property conference,
US/Canada Netherlands
= Investor property conference.
London
- Private Client round table
presentatian, Londan
- Analyst & Investor presentation,
Paddington Central
July 2017 g
- AGM
St,ptember 2017
Invesior properly
conference, London
- Investor property tour,
November 2017 pronery

Paddmgten Central

Industry dinner - Thought Leadership event,

- Haifyearresults Broadgate
- Halfyearresults
roadshow. London
- Twoinvestor property
conferences, London January 2018

- Investor property

conference, Landon
- investor property tour, Broadgate
- Investor property tour, Storey

Fcbruary 2018
- Private Client round table
presentation, London

March 2018

- Investor property tour, Storey

- Retall round table
presentation & lunch

Lenders and bondholders

The Board recagnises the contribution made by our lenders and
bondholders. Through our Treasury team, the Group maintains
an open dialogue with our debt providers which helps the Board
understand their investmant appetite and criteria.

Community
British Land recognises that the pecple who live in and around our
assets are essential to creating Places Peaple Prefer, and therefore

| to the success of our business. Inveshng in these communities is

an important part of our approach, and our 'Local Charter’ details
how we build trust by making positive contributions locally. Qur
‘Community Funding Guidelines’ set out how we allocate funding,
with a particular focus on initiatives close to our assets that provide
opportunities to tocat people through education, employment and
training. Both documents can be found on our website at
www.britishland.com/policies.



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and

integrity of the financial

reporting and valuation process

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

In line with the focus onimproved governance and clear, relevant
and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
highlights the main issues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed.

Key areas of focus

Ultimately, the Committee continues tc play a key role in overseeing
the integrity of the Groups financial statements, including assessing
whether the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable,

as well as ensuning that a sound system of risk management and
internal control s in place.

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the process for
identification and mrtigation of key business risks, challenging
management actions where appropriate. The Committee has also
reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposals.
Together with the ongoing scrutiny of the process for valuing
investrment'and development assets, the Committee also reviewed
the outcomes and effectiveness of the tender of valuation services
undertaken during the first half of the financial year.

This year saw the implementation of the first phase of the new valuer
appointment policy {see page 73 for further details) with ¢.45% of the
portiolio subject 1o new valuers at 30 September 2017. Further
transitions will take place over the next two years with the initial
implementation of the valuer appointment policy due to be completed
in 2019. The Committee has appreciated the continued professionatism
of all sts valuers during the tender process.

| Commtittee composition and governance

| The year to 31 March 2018 has seen significant change to the

| membership of the Committee. As meantioned in the 2017 Annual

! Report, Simon Borrows retired fram the Committee at the conclusion

of the 2017 AGM. In addition, having served on the Board and this
Committee for nine years, including a pertod as Committee
Chairman, Aubrey Adams retired at the end of the 2017 calendar
year. | would like to thank thern both for the diligence and msight
they provided during their tenure and Aubrey, in particular, for his
knowledge and experience of the UK property market.

We alsc welcomed three new members to the Commuttee during
the financial year: Nicholas Macpherson, wha has served for a full
year, Rebecca Worthingten and Alastair Hughes. Details of the
knowledge, experience and skitls each brings to the Committee are
set out below.

The Caommittee continues to be composed solely of independent
Non-£xecutive Directors with sufficient financial experience,
commercial acumen and sector knowledge to fulhil their
responsibiiities. The changes in membership, together with
attendance at Committee meetings during the year, are set out
in the following table:

Date ol
Committee Date of

Director Pasition appointment resignation Attendance
Tim Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3
Alastair Hughes  Member 1.Jan 2018 1/1
Nicholas

Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca

Worthington Member 1Jan 2018 1/1
Aubrey Adams Member  15ep2008 31 Dec?2C17 2/2
Simon Borrows  Member 12 Apr 2011 18 Jul 2017 1M1

Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for over

10 years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent period of banking referm.
He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles pricor to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary. Nicholas tramned as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018 69



Governaney

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Rebecca has worked in the real estate industry since 1998 and brings
valuable insight into residential real estate as well as financial,
operational and governance experience as a result of her role as
group chief financial officer of Countryside Properties PLC, and
former roles as finance director of Quintain and chair of the audit
committee at Hansteen Holdings and Aga Rangernaster Group.

Alastair has over 25 years of expertence in real estate markets.
His experience as former Chief Executive of JLL for Europe,
Middle East and Africa and then regional CEQ for Asia Pacific,
and his non-executive directorship of Schroders REIT, brings an
in-depth knowtedge of global commercial real estate markets.

The Board is satisfied that the Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the real estate sector. For the purpases
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed
to meet the speaific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience.

Members of the senior management team, including the former
Chief Financial Oftficer, General Counsel and Company Secreltary.,
Group Financial Controtter, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of bath external and internal auditors are invited to
attend each Committee meeting. In addition, the Chairman of the
RBoard, Chief Executive Qfficer, Head of Investor Relations, Head of
Planning and Analysis and other key ermnployees are invited 1o attend
part, or all, of specific Committee meetings.

The Commuttes meets privately with both external and internal
auditors after each scheduled meeting and continues to he satisfied
that neither s being unduly influenced by managerment. As Committee
Chairman, | additionally hold regular meetings with the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other members of
management to obtain a good understanding of key 1ssues affecting
the Group and am thereby able to identify those matters which
require meanmngful discussion at Committee meetings. | also meet
the external audit partner, internal audit partner and representatives
from each of the valuers privately to discuss any matters they wish
to raise or concerns they may have.

Committee effectiveness

The Commuittee’s effectiveness during the year to 31 March 2018
was assessed as part of the trienmial independently facilitated
Board evaluation process. This review considered the structure,
membership and role of the Committes as well as the Board's
perception of the quality and thoroughness of its work. The review
concluded that the breadth of experience brought to the Committee
by its new members provided the Board with confidence that it
would continue to operate thoroughly and effectively and that the
financial governance of the Company was conducted with
diligence and due process.

The Committee also reviews 1ts terms of reference onan
annual basis. The current terms of reference were approved
by the Board in March 2018 and are available on our website
www.britishland.com/committees.

The information below sets qut 1n detail the activity undertaken
by the Committee during the year ended 31 March 2018. | hope
that you find it useful in understanding our work.

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Role and responsibilities

The principal responsibilities of the Committee are:

Financial reporting ~ Monitoring the integrity of the Company’s
financizl statements and any formal announcements relating
te financial performance, and considering significant financiat

‘ reporting issues, judgements and estimates
External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external

| auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of and the policy for non-audit
services provided by the external auditor

internal Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internal auditer and reviewng effectiveness,
including its plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls - Reviewing the
system of internal contral and risk management

Inves{ment and development property valuations -
Considering the valuation process and outcome and the
effectiveness of the Company’s valuers

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preliminary results press release, Annual Report and hatf year
results at the request of the Board. Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Committee Chairman and the Committee
as a whote prior to formal consideration by the Board, with
sufficient time provided for feedback.

The Committee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and half year results, paying particular attention to those
matters considered to be important to the Group by virtue of their
size, complexity, tevel of jJudgement required and potential impact
on the financial staterments and wider business model. Any 1ssues
which were deemed to be significant were debated cpenly by the
Committee members and other attendees, including ranagement,
external and internal auditors.

The Cormmittee has satisfied itself that the controls aver the
accuracy and consistency of the infermation presented in the
Annuat Report are robust. The Committee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group's position, performance, business model and strategy.

During the year, the Group received a letter from the Financiat
Reporting Council confirrming that the 2017 Annual Report had been
subject to a review by its Conduct Cormmittee, which is responsible
for overseeing the FRC's work i promoting high quality corporate
repoerting and ensuring compliance with relevant accounting and
reporting requirements and rules. No queshions or queries were
raised as a result of this review, no response from the Cormpany
was requested and nao further action was undertaken.

A nurnber of minor matters were noted for improvement which, in
the view of the Conduct Commuttee, would be of benefit to the users
| of the Annuat Report. Consequently, we have made changes to the
Annual Report this year i Line with these recommendations.
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The significant 1ssues considered by the Committee in relation to the financial staternents during the year ended 31 March 2018, and the
actions taken to address these 1ssues, are set out in the following table:

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Going concern
statement

Viahility
staternent

Accounting for
significant
transacdons

REIT status

Valuation of
property
portfolio

Revenue
recognition

The appropriateness of
preparing the Group financial
statements on a goning
concern basis.

Whether the assegsment
undertaken by managarent
regarding the Group’s long
term viability appropriately
reflects the prospects of
the Group and covers an
appropriate period of time.

The accounting treatment

of significant property
acquisitions, dispasals and
financing transactions 15 a
recurring risk for the Group
with non-standard accounting
entrigs required, and in some
cases management
judgement applied.

Maintenance of the Group's
REIT status through
compliance with certain
conditions has a significant
impact on the Group’s results.

The valuation of investment
and development properties
conducted by exterpal valuers
is inherently subjective as it1s
undertaken on the hasis of
assumptions made by the
valuers which may not prove
to be accurate

The outcomne of the valuation
1s significant to the Group in
terms of investment decisions,
results and remuneration,

For certain transactions,
judgement 1s applied by
management as to whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year.

The Committee reviewed management’s analysis supporting the going concern basis
of preparation. This included consideration of forecast cash flows, availability of
committed debt facilities and expected covenant headroom. The Committee also
received a repart from the external auditor on the results of the testing undertaken
on management's analysis.

As a result of the assessment undertaken, the Committee satisfied itself that the
gomg concern basis of preparation remained appropriate.

The going concern statement 1s set out an page 47,

The Committee considered whether management's assessment adequately reflected
the Group's risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 52 to 55; whether
the period covered by the statement was reascnabte given the strategy of the Group
and the environment in which it operates; and whether the assumptions and
sensitivities identified, and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios
in the context of solvency or Liquidity. The Committee also considered a report from
the external auditor.

The Committee cencurred with management’s assessment and recommended the
viability statement to the Board.

The viability statement, together with further details on the assessment undertaken,
1s set out on page 51.

The Committee reviewed management papers on key judgernents, including those for
significant transactions, as well as the external auditor’s findings on these matters.

In particular, the Committee considered the accounting treatment of The Leadenhall
Building transaction, the share buyback programme, Storey [British Land's flexible
workspace offering launched in the year] and the acquisition of The Woolwich Estate.

The external auditor confirmed that management’s judgements in relation to these
transactions were appropriate and reasonabte and the Committee agread with this
conclusion.

The Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the REIT tests.
Management presented detalls of the methodology and results of their process
for REIT testing, with any change in long term trends, and the level of headroom,
hughlighted. The Committee alsc considered the external auditor’s review of the
REIT tests performed by management.

The Commuttee concluded that the Company's REIT status had been maintained
in the year.

The external valuers presented their reports to the Committee prior to the hatf year
and fuil year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and
summarising the performance of the Group's assets. Significant judgements are
also highlighted.

The Commitiee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation outcomes,
challenging assumptions made where thought fit. In particular, with the
implermentation of the first stages of the new valuer appointment policy,
the Committee paid specific attention to those assets which were subject to
a new valuation instructicn during the year.

The Carnmuittee was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers. The Committee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures
to be included in the Annual Report.

The Committee and the external auditor considered the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment applied by management in relation to revenue recognition.
In particular, the Committee considered the treatment of Clarges Residential urit
sales, taking into account the timing of legal completions following practical
completion of the property in the year.

The Committee considered the scape of the accounting standard and agreed with
the reasonableness of the judgement made.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP [PwC] was appointed as the Group's
external auditor for the 2015 Annual Report foliowing a formal
competitive tender. The Committee will consider the need for a
competitive tender for the role of external auditor every five years
and, in accordance with legislation and its own terms of reference,
will ensure that 8 competitive tender takes place at least every 10
years. There are no contractugl obligations in place which would
restrict the Committee's selection of a different auditor. The Group’s
audit engagement partneris John Waters, who has been in role since
PwC's appointment. The Committee will ensure that the rotation of
audit partner is undertaken as required by legislation to the extent
that this is not undertaken earlier by PwC.

The Committee s respaonsible for averseeing the relationship with
the external auditor and for considering their terms of engagement,
remuneration, effectiveness, independence and continued
objectivity. The Committee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group, for the business and in the context of the externat
envirenment, placing great importance on ensuring a high quality,
effective External Audit process.

Fees and non-audit services

The Committee discussed the audit fee for the 2018 Annual Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behalf
of the Board.

In addition, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditor. The policy helps to
safeguard the external auditor's independence and objectivity. The
policy allows the externa! auditor to provide the following non-audit
services to British Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider;

- Audit related services: including formal reporting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acquisitions and dispoesals. In some circumstances, the
external auditor is required to carry out the work because of their
office. In other circumstances, selection would depend on which
firm was best suited to provide the services required

- Sustamability assurance: PwC currently provides an assurance
opinion to the Company over selected sustainabiuty data. This
appointment 1s reviewed annually

in addition, the following protocols apply to non-audt fees:

- Total non-audit fees are imited to 70% of the audit fees in any
one year. Addihionally, the ratio of audit to pon-audit fees is
calculated in line with the methodology set out in the 2014
EU Regulations

-~ Committee approval s required where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor had a conilict of interest

~ The Audit Commuttee Chairman s required to approve in agvance
each additional project or incremental fee between £25,000 and
£106,000 and Committee approavat s required for any additionat
projects over £100,000

During the year two engagements relating to sustamability
assurance and financial model assurance required approval.
These engagemants were approved by the Audit Cammittee
Chajrman on the basis that PwC were best placed to provide these
services and that they created no conflict of interest with their role
as external auditor.

Total fees for non-audit services amounted to £0.2 million, which
represents 20% of the totat Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2018. Oetails of ail fees charged by the external
auditor during the year are set out on page 113
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[ The Cormnmuttee s satistied that the Company has complied with

f the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market investigation [IMandatory Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities! Order 2014, published by the
Competition & Markets Authority on 26 Septernber 2014,

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external auditor’'s
perfarmance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including semor members
of the Finance team. The review took nto account the quality of
planning, delivery and execution of the audit lincluding the audit

of subsidiary companies], the technical competence and strategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting

and communication between the audit team and management.

PwC also provide the Commuttee with an annual report onits
independence, objectivity and campliance with statutory, regulatory
and ethical standards. For the year ended 31 March 2018, as for

the prior year, the external auditor confirmned that it cantinued to
maintain appropriate internal safeguards to ensure its independence
and objectivity.

The Committee concluded that the quality of the external auditar’s
work, and the knowledge and competence of the audit team, had
been maintained at an appropriate standard during the year.

The Committee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resclution to reappoint PwC as external auditor to the Group be
put to shareholders at the 2018 AGM.

Internal Audit

The role of internal Audit is to act as an independent and objective
assurance function, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, risk management and internal controls framewaork
in mitigating the key risks of British Land. Ernst & Young LLP [EY)
continue to provide internal audit services to British Land and,
attended all Committee meetings ta present their audit findings
and the status of management actions

During the year, the Committee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan, including consideration of the plan’'s alignment to
the principal risks of the Group and its joint ventures. Internal audits
completed during the year included those in relation to IT, third party
management, fraud resilience, 1nsurance, company secretariat,
procurement, human resources, accounts payable and payroll
{phase 2}. Overall, no significant control issues were identified
although several process and control improvements were propesed,
with follow up audits scheduled where necessary.

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the Internal auditar included
consideration of the Internal Audit charter which defines EY's role
and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work undertaken
and the skills and competence of the audit teams. The Committee
concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties as internal
auditor effectively and should continue in the role for the year
commencing 1 April 2018.

Risk management and irternal controls

The Board has delegated responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk managerment and nternal cantrol
systems to the Comrmittee. Tha Cammittee has oversight of the
activities of the executive Risk Commuttee, receiving minutes of
ail Risk Committee meehings and discussing any significant
matters raised.



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

At the full and halfyear, the Committee reviewed the Group’s
principal risks including consideration of how risk exposures have
changed during the period and any emerging rnisks in the Company's
risk register. Both external and internal nisks are reviewed and their
effect an the Company’s strategic aims considered. The Committee
considered the Group’s risk appetite, concluding that it remains

set at an appropriate level to achieve the Group's strategic goals
without taking undue risk. The Board accepted the Cornmittee’s
recommendation that no changes were required to the Group's risk
appetite for the forthcoming year. The Commuttee also reviewed the
status of key risk indicators throughout the year against the risk
appetite set, focusing on any which were outside optimal ranges.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Commuttee gave particular
attention to the risk retating to catastrophic cperational events
including ensuring that satety investigations were undertaken on the
British Land portfolio following the Grenfell Tower fire and that crisis
respanse plans were in place for both physical and cyber risks. The
Committee also undertakes annual reviews of the Group's Treasury
Policy lwhich includes policies on Liquidity, interest rate and foreign
currency management)] and the Group’s insurance programme.

Half yearly, the internal auditor reports to the Committee on the
effectiveness of internal controls, including an analysts of control
issues identified by management through the exceptions reporting
process. Care 1s taken to ensure that identified risk areas are
considerad for incorporation in the Internal Audit plan and that the
findings of internal audits are taken into account when identifying and
evaluating risks within the business. Key observations are reported
to, and debated by, the Committee. During the year, it was agreed
that exceptions reporting should include operaticnal matters as well
as financial. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the internal auditor
confirmed that the system of risk management and internat control
had been effective,

At the request of the Remuneration Committee, the Committee
cansiders annually the level of risk taken by management and
whether this affects the performance of the Company and thereby
incentive awards granted to the Executive Directors and senior
management. Taking into acceunt the reports received on internat
key controls and risk management, and the results of the internal
audit reviews, the Commuittee concluded that for the year endad

31 March 2018 they were not aware of excessive risk taking by
management which ought to be taken into account when
determiring incerntive awards.

The Group's whistleblowing arrangements, which enable all staff,
including temporary and agency staff, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing, remained unchanged during the
year. These arrangements, which are maonitored by the General
Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the Commitiee
annually, include an independent and confidential whistleblowing
service provided by a third party. The Committee received a
surmnmary of all whistleblowing reports recewed during the year
and concluded that each had been dealt with appropriately.

The Committee atso reviewed the Group's tax strategy which sets
out the Group’s approach to risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxation, its attitude towards tax planning, the level
of sk the Group 1s prepared to accept in relation to tax and its
relationship with HM Revenue & Customs. The resulting document
['Our Approach to Tax') was approved by the Board in March 2018
and s available on the Company’s website (www.britishtand.com/
governance).

Additional information on the Company's internal controls systems
is setoutin the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy” section
on pages 48 to 49.

Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land’s property portfolio 15 a key
determinant of the Group’s batance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management.
The Commuittee 1s committed ta the rigorous monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
orocess itself.

As set outin the 2017 Annual Report, & new policy has been adopted
regarding the appointment of external valuers. The key elements of
this policy are:

- The duration of any valuer's appointment to a specific asset s
Umnited to 10 years [except where that asset has been markat
tested in the period)

- Anagreed panel of valuers with the required level of market
knowledge and service provision will be maintaimned

- Incumbents cannot be re-appointed to an asset

- There will be a minimum of two valuers on each of our main
sectors, with each valuer covering a meaningful proportion
of beth the overall portfolio and relevant sector

To ensure a manageable transition of assets to new valuers, the
Comrmittes agreed that the imitial implementation process would

be spread over three years, running 2017-2019, The first phase of
tendering (c.45% of the portfolio) was completed during the first
half of the current financial year with a further ¢.20% scheduled te
transibion in both 2018 and 2012. The Group's valuers are now CERE,
Knight Frank. Jones Lang LaSalle (JLLI and Cushman & Wakefield.

The Commmittee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
bi-annuatlly, focusing on a quantitative analysis of capital values,
yield benchmarking, availability of comparable market evidence
and major cutbiers to subsector movements, with an annual
qualitative review of the level of service received from each valuer.

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which include
details of the valuation process, market conditions and any significant
judgernents made. The external auditor reviews the valuations and
vzluation precess, having had full access 1o the valuers to determine
that due process had been followed and appropriate information
used, before separately reporting its findings to the Committee. The
valuation process 1s also subject to regular review by Internal Audit.

British Land has tixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
in relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, in line with
the recommendations of the Carsberg Committee Report.
Copies of the valuation certificates of CBRE, Kmght Frank, JLL
and Cushman & Wakefield can be found on our website

at www.britishland.com/reports.

Focus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2019 the Commuttee will continue
to focus on the processes by which the Board identifies, assesses,
menitars, manages and mitigates risk particularly in light of the
continued uncertainty arising from the UK's decision to leave the EU.
The Cormmuttee will alsc continue to monitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled for review by internal audit
including, but not imited to General Data Privacy Regulation
compliance, cyber security and crisis management.
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Conunittee leads
the process for Board
appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Role and responsibilities
The Committee’s principal respansibilities remain:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity] of the Board
and its Commitiees and recommending changes to the Board

~ Considering succession planming for Directars and other
senior exacutives

- Reviewing the independence and time commitment requirements
of Non-Executive Oirectors and

- Making recommendations as 1o the Diractors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Futl details of the Commuttee’s rote and responsibilities are set
out inits terms of reference avallable on our website at
www.britishtand.com/committees.

Committee composition and governance

Following Lord Turnbull's retirement, the Committee has three
members: William Jackson and Tim Score, both independent
Non-Executive Birectors, while f continue to Chair the Commuttee.

I would like to thank Lord Turnbull for the support and adwice he has
provided to the Committee during his tenure.

Details of the Commuttee’s membership and attendance at meetings
are set out 1n the following table:

Date of
Committee Date of
Director Position ppoint t resignati At
John Gildersleeve Charman 1 Jan 2013 3/4*
Wiliam Jackson Member 11 Apr 2011 414
Tim Score Member 1 Apr 2017 4l
Lord Turnbull Mermber 1 Apr2006 18 Jul 2017 1M1

' John Gildersleeve was unable to attend one meeting due to dlness
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Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, was invited to attend all Committee
rneetings during the year.

Luke Meynell of Russell Reynolds (and formerly of The Zygos
Partnership} was invited ta attend one Cammittee meeting during
the year.

Diversity

The Commitiee, the Board of Directors and British LLand as a whole
continue to pay full regard to the benehts of diversity, including
gender diversity, both when searching for candidates for Board
appointrments and when the Company is searching for candidates

I for ather appointments.

| The Commuttee recornmended an updated Board Diversity and
| Inclusion Policy to the Board during the year. The revised Policy
[ aspires for womean to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020,
as well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
i recruitment decisions at bath Board and senior management level,

Brinsh Land currently has three female Board members: Lynn
Z Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Warthington, atl of whom
i are Non-Executive Directors. This represents 25% female Board
| membership as at 31 March 2018 (2017: 23%}.
% The Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy also sets out British Land's
cammitment to strengthen the gender balance on British Land's
J leadershp and semar management teams. The Board recagnises
‘ that successful delivery of cur strategy 1s underpinned by creating
[ an environment where all our people feel fuily supported. We have
| established an Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a
! member of our Executive Comrmuttee, Lo promote diversity and
[ inclusion at alt levels of the business. The Steering Committee has
| implemented a number of initiatives such as diversity traning for
all new joiners and the establishment of support networks. Further
information on diverssty within British Land 1s set out on page 30.

[ We aiso recently published our gender pay gap report. The report
[ s available on our website [www.britishland.com/governance) and
surnmarised on page 30.

| Board membership

f The Commuttee regularly reviews the structure, stze and composthion
of the Board in order to ensure it 1s made up of the right people with

i the requisite skills and experience, including diversity of thought and

! approach, who can provide strong and effective leadership to the
business and support delivery of the Company's strategy.

|



As was anticipated in last year's Annual Report, Simon Barrows
and Lord Turnbull retired from the Beard at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM. In addition, Aubrey Adams retired from the Board at the
end of the 2017 calendar year and Lucinda Bell stood down as an
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 19 January 2018,

The process undertaken by the Commuttee to identify, select and
make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointrment
cf three Non-Executive Directors and a new Chief Financial Officer
is set out betow.

Appointment process for Board Directors

Role requirements
The Committae prepared detailed role specifications
setting out the skills, knowledge, expertence and
attributes required for the role(s).
The Chief Executive was also involved in preparing
the role specification for the Chief Financial Officer.

\/

Search process
Under the direction of the Committee, Russell Reynolds
[previgusly The Zygos Partnershipl, an external search
consultancy, was engaged to facilitate the search process.

\/

Review
Details of preferred candidates were presented to, and
censidered by, the Committee and, in the case of the
Chief Financial Officer, the other Executive Directors.
Shortlisted candidates were invited to interview by the
Committee, Chief Executive and other Directors as appropriate.

\/

Recruitment
The Committee cansidered the feedback from interviews and
made recommendaticns to the Board as tc the appointments of
Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca Worthington
as Non-Executive Directors and Simon Carter as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer.

The appointments were formally announced following
approval by the Board.

Other than the provision of recruitment consultancy services neither
Russell Reynolds nor, previously, The Zygos Partnership has any
connectionwith British Land.

Succession planning

The Commuttee is responsible for reviewing the succession plans
for the Board, including the Chief Executive. The succession ptans
for the Executive Directors are prepared on immediate, medium and
long term basis while those for Non-Executive Directors reflect the
need to regularly refresh the Board. Such plans take account of the
tenure of Individua! members. The Comrmittee’s review of Executive
Diractor succession ptans include consideration of the process for
talent developrnent within the organisation te create a pipeline to
the Board.

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Directar, 15
responsible for developing succession plans for executives and
senior managernent which are presented to and considered by
the Committee.

Independence and re-election

Prior to recommending the re-appointment of any Nen-Exscutive
Director to the Board, the Committee assesses their continued
independence, the time commitment required and whether the
re-appointment would be in the best interests of the Company.
Detailed consideration 1s given to each Non-Executive Director’s
contribution to the Board and its Committees, together with the
averall balance of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity.

Non-Executive Directors’ tenures (as at 31 March 2018)

s
O

Having served for more than six years, the Commuttee undertosk

a particularly rigorous review of William Jackson's contributions

to the Board and the Commuittees on which he serves, together with
his continued independence. The Committee unanimously concluded
that Witllam remained independent in character and judgernent and
continued to discharge his responsibilities as a Nan-Executive
Director effectivety. Wilbam did not participate in the discussion
relating to his re-appointment.

B Under 1year
M 1to3years
B 3tobyears
MW Over & years

Following their review, the Committee 1s of the opimon that each
Non-Executive Director continues to demonstrate commitrment to
his or her role as a member cf the Board and its Committees,
discharges his or her duties effectively and that each makes a
valuable contribution te the leadership of the Cempany for the benefit
of all stakeholders. Accordingly, the Committee recommended to

the Board that resolutions to elect or re-elect each Non-Executive
Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM alongside the
resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors.

Therefore, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors in role
atyear end and the date of this Annual Report will offer themselves
for election (in the case of Alastair Hughes, Preben Prebensen and
Rebecca Worthington] or re-election lin the case of all other
Directors). Inaddition, Simon Carter will take up his appointrent on
21 May 2018 and offer himself for election at the AGM. Biographies
for each Director can be found on pages 58 to 41.

Committee effectiveness

This year the review into the Committee’s effectiveness was
undertaken as part of the triennial externally faciitated Board
evaluation. | am pleased to report that the evaluation concluded that
the Committee had handled the varicus succession 1ssues well over
the past year and continued to operate effectively.

Focus for the coming vear

Having overseen major changes to membership of the Board over
the last 12 months, the Committee intends to focus its attention for
the coming year on improving the gender balance of the leadership
team and undertaking a formal structured review of the succession
plans for senior management.

John Gildersleeve
Chairman af the Normination Committee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives

with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, which
includes an ‘At A Glance’ summary and the Company’'s Annual
Report on Rermuneration.

The Annual Report on Remuneration, which describes both how the
Committeg has implemented the Remuneraiion Pelicy during the
year and our intentions for the corning year, is set out on pages 79
to 91. As usual, the Report on Remuneration will be subject to an
advisory vote at this year’'s AGM and | hope to cantinue ta have

your support.

QOur Rermuneration Policy was approved by shareholders in July 2014
with over 97% support and a summary 1s set out on page 78. The fulil
Palicy is avadable in the 2016 Annuatl Report and on our website at
www.britishland.com/commitiees.

Our current Remuneration Policy will remain in force untit the 2019
AGM. During the tatter part of 2018, the Committee will therefore
consider what, if any, changes are required to the Remuneration
Policy to support the Company's strategy. We will futly engage with
shareholders, employees and other stakeholders to ensure that their
views are taken into consideration. In recommending any changes to
our Remuneration Policy, we will also take account of the autcome of
the current review of the UK Corporate Governance Code,

Committee membership

As disclosed in last year's Annual Report, Lord Turnbull retired
from the Board, and this Committee, at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM. [would like to thank Lord Turnbull for s commitment
ta the Cammittee during tws term of office and wish him well

In his retirement.

76 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were members throughout
the year and we were pieased to welcome Preben Prebensen to
the Comrmuittes an 1 September 2017.

Board changes

As previously mentioned by the Company’s Chairman, there

have been a number of Board changes this year. Lucinda Bell stoad
down from the Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land ot

4 Aprit 2018, During this period, Lucinda continued ta receive her
salary and emplayrment benefits in full.

Lucinda 1s eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year,
subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and personal
objectives. After over 25 years of service to British Land, Lucinda is
considered to be a ‘good leaver  and, as such, her outstanding
executive share plan awards will be treated in line with the good
leaver provisions in the respective plan rules. Full details are
provided on page 86.

As announcedin January 2018, Simon Carter will join Britush Land
as an Executive Director and Chief Financiat Officer on 21 May 2018,
On appointrnent, Simen Carter's basic salary will be set at £485,000.
in ine with the approved Remuneration Policy, Simon’s pension
contribution witl be set at 19% of salary and his maximum annual
bonus plan and LTIP opportunities for the year will be set at

150% and 250% of salary respectively, consistent with the other
Executive Directors. To replace a deferred payment forfeited on
Jjeining British Land, Simon will be awarded shares worth £675,000,
which have to be held for at least ane year.

Remuneration in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018
As noted by the Company Chairman, in the context of the economic
and pelitical uncertainty that we have seen since the EU referendum,
and over the {ast year in particular, British Land has performed wetl.
Over the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company delivered good
financial results and took important steps for long term value creation.

The total returns frorm our property investments are expected to
outperform the market modestly. As a result, payouts from our
annual incéentive plan are expected to be between 55% and 57.5%
of maximurm for the Executive Directors. This shows that the
Company’s remuneraten policies have worked as originally
intended when the annual incentive policy was set and approved
by shareholders.

For our long term incentives, with our three-year performance

i relative to the original benchmarks underperforming the median of

these benchmarks, we expect the LTIP maturing this June 2018 to
lapse in full along with half of the MSP awards vesting this year.



Remuneration in respect of the year commencing

1 Aprii 2018

Salary and fees

The Committee has discussed and reviewed the Company's annual
salary review framework for all employees. It has also reviewed the
salaries of the Executive Directors and concluded that these should
be increased by 2% in Line with the average increase for the wider
emptoyee population. This is the first increase since 2015.

The Committee reviewed the annual fee payable to the Chairman,
which has also not Increased since 2015, and concluded that this
should be increased to £385,000 [representing a 4.2% increase,
equating to an average increase of 1.4% over the three-year period]
for the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018.

The Board also reviewed the feas payable to the Non-Executive
Directars and concluded that the base fee should be increased to
£62,500 from £61,000, which represents a 2.5% increase.

Annual incentives

In respect of the annual incentive awards for Executive Directors,
the Committee has set strict weightings and targets for each
performance measure. For the coming year, we witl continue with
70% of any potential award being dependent on successfully
achieving financial targets, with 20% based on achieving qualitative
critena and 10% cnindividual targets. Further information 1s
provided on page 79.

Long term incentives

The Committee proposes to grant long term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary, the same level as last year.
Details on the proposed grants, including performance conditions,
are set out on page 80.

We will be using the same three performance measures as
previausly, but have refined the way we will be assessing the Total
Property Return companent to make it more relevant to the assets
the Company owns.

Below Board-levelincentives

The Committee’s remit also includes oversight of the Group's
remuneration policy for the wider employee population. In this
respect the Committee has approved a change to the tong term
share incentive arrangements for the senior management population
by approving the use of Restricted Share Awards.

Previously the senior management population had participated in the
Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP] on a similar basis as the Execuative
Directors, Howaver, for 2018 for certain employees ather than
Executive Directors, the Committee has approved the use of
Restricted Shares instead of, or [for the non-Board members of the
Executive Commuttee} in combination with, a lower level of LTIP. The
lower level of LTIF award takes mto account the increased certainty
of value of Restricted Shares

Theintroguction of Restricted Shares creates a stronger alignment
with the interests of other sharehalders from the date of grant,
together with being a more valued and retentive remuneration
package for senior management,

The Restricted Shares wilt vest after three years subject to
cantinued service,

Gender pay gap .

We have recently published our first gender pay gap report
[www.britishland.com/gender-pay-gapl. As required by legislation,
this information 1s based on data at a snapshot date of 5 Apnil 2017
when British Land bad 237 employees and Broadgate Estates
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, had 322 employees.

Qur pay gap reflects an industry-wide picture where we have more
men than wormen in senor tugher paid roles rather than unequal pay
for similar work. The British Land Board 1s committed to achieving
better gender balance acrass all positians in the Company and has

in place recruitment and development practices that it believes will
lead to a material change in this position over time.

Our workforce is made up almast equally of men and women
We pay men and women who do the same jobs equally, with each
role benchmarked annually agamst external data.

We have made significant progress over recent years whilst
recognising that there is more work to be done to reduce the extent
of the imbalance in the future. In 2013 we were a founding supporter
of ‘Pathways to Property’, a programme set up to encourage young
people from a wide range of diverse backgrounds into the real estate
sector and in 2017 we welcomed a graduate trainee to British Land
from the first cohort to cemplete this programme.

British Land was the first FTSE 100 property company to achieve

the National Equality Standard {August 2017). We are alsc one of a
handful of FTSE 100 companies who have introduced company-
enhanced shared parental pay as well as introducing flexible werking
practices in many areas of the business, female mentoring
pregrammes and maternity coaching.

We will continue to measure our gender pay very regularly tc come
to understand if what we are daing 1s working and to identify areas
where there is further need for change.

Committee effectiveness

As with the other Board Committees, this year's evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee was undertaken

as part of the triennial iIndependently facilitated Board evaluation
process. | am pleased to report that the review concluded that the
Committee continued to operate diligently and effectively, that its
members had an appropriate batance of skills and experience and
carried out their duties in a sensible and pragmatic way.

Recommendation .

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice inits
remuneration policies and to listen carefuily to shareholder
feedback. We therefore hope that you show your support for our
approach te remuneration by voting ‘for” the Directors’
Rermuneration Report at the 2018 AGM.

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: AT A GLANCE

Executive Directors’ remuneration
The tables below show the 2018 actual rermuneration against potential oppertunity for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 actual
remuneration for each Executive Director. Full disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Directors is set out in the

table on page 81.

Chris Grigs

Chief Executive _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 000

2018 actual — £2,244

2018 potential! — £4,878

2017 actual - £1,938
0 1000 2,000 3,000 4000 5000 6,000

Tim Roberts

HeadofOffices €m0

2018 actual ] £1,125

2018 potentiat’ || £2,535

2017 actual | ] £953

B Salary M Benefits

' 2018 potential

¢ 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

M Pension M Anpual Incentive Long term incentives

assumes that both annual and long term incentives pay out in futl

Summary of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy summarised below was approved by sharehotders an 19 July 2016. The Policy will apply until the AGM in July 2019.
The Remuneration Policy is set out in full in the 2016 Annual Report and 1s avartable on our website www.britishland.com/committees.

Element of

remueration Link to strategy

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retall, Leisure & Residential €000
2018 actual [ ] £1,081
2018 potenviat | R £2477
2017 actual £943

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Lucinda Bell {to 19 January 2018)

ChiefFinancialGfficer €000
2018 actual | £941
2018 potentiat’ | R £2,860
2017 actual s £1,002

50¢ 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Framework

Fixed Basic salary  Attracts and retains Expert People with Maximum level cannot be greater than the upper quarule of the comparator
the appraprate degree of expertise and group. Reviewed annually and increases typically in tine with inflation and
experience to deliver agreed strategy qgeneral salary increases throughout the Group

Maximum fee of £1,500 p a. 1n aggregate for all quauifying appointments to
subsichary boards

Benefits Benefits are resiricted to a maximum of £20,000 p.a for car allowance and
the amount required (o continue providing agreed benefits at a simitar (evel
year-on-year.

Pension Defined benefit scheme - target benefit is the pension that can be provided

contribution by the 31 March 2012 hfetime allowance (£1.8 million} uplifted by RPI.
Defined contnbution arrangements — cash allowances in lieu of pension
are made at between 15-35% of salary

Variable Annual Performance measures related to Briush Land's  Maximum opportunity 15 150% of basic salary. 2/3rd s paid in cash when

incentive strategic focus and the Executive Director’s granted with the remaining 1/3rd [net of tax) used to purchase shares on behali
indindual area of responsibility are set by the of the Executive Director [Annual tncentive Shares) which must be held for a
Commitlee at the beginming of the financiat year.  further three years from the date of grant whather or not the Executive Director
remains an employee of Briush Land.
Longterm - Total Property Return (TPR] Links reward Maxirmum value of an LTIP award 15 300% of basic salary which may be in the
incentive to gross property perforrmance. form of performance shares or market value options or a combination of both,
- Total Accounting Return{TAR] tinks reward
to net property performance and shareholder
distributions.
- Total Shareholder Return (TSR directly
correlates reward with shareholder returns.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2018

—_—

The foltowing pages set out how the Commuttee intends to apply the Remuneration Policy during the corning year.

Executive Directors’ remuneration

Eél Basic salaries

Basic salaries for cur current Directors have been set at the following levels for the year commencing 1 Aprd 2018.

Basic salary
Director £
Chris Grigy 854,800
Charles Maudsley 455,175
Tim Roberts ’ 455.175
Simon Carter [from 21 May 2018) ] 485,000

@ Annual Incentive awards

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary. The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reflect a range of quantitative and quatitative goals that support the Company’'s key strategic objectives.
The performance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will be as follows:

Proportion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximurm opportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to IPD [sector reweighted] 42%
Profit growth relative to budget 28%
Qualitative measures 20%
Right Places - Progress on key projects including developments 5%
Customer Orientation - Company reputation with all stakeholders 5%
Caprtal Efficiency - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals 5%
- Progress on strengthening the dividend
Expert Pegple - Promoting an inclusive, performance driven culture 5%
Individual objectives Perforrmance against Individual success factors 10%

The Committee has set targets for the guantitative measures for the coming year and will disclose these in the 2019 Remuneration Report
as they are felt to be commercially sensitive. In assessing how the Executive Directors performed during the year commencing 1 April 2018,
the Committee will take into account their performance against all of the measures and make an assessment in the round to ensure that
performarice warrants the level of award determined by the table above.

As disclosed in 2017, the Committee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the secter weighted PO March Annual Universe benchmark
fwhich includes sales, acquisitions and developrnents and so takes into account active asset management as well as a more representative
peer group) would be most suitable. However, due to timing of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company’s actual
performance against IPD metrics 1s unlikely to be known when the 2019 Annual Report s approved by the Board. The 2019 Remuneration
Reportwill therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year, with the actual awards,
based on the final IPD March Annual Universe Data, set out in the following Annual Report [for the year ending 31 March 2020).
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REFORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

@\% Long term incentive awards

An LTIP award will be made to Executive Directors during the year commancing 1 April 2818 it 1s anticipated that the grant size of LTIP
awards will be 250% of salary tor each Executive Director This cantinues to be below the maximurm available under the policy of 300%
of salary approved by shareholders in July 2016,

The perforrance measures that apply to this LTIP award will be as follows:

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Tatal Property Return {TPR) The TPR measure is destgned TPR performance will be assessed against the 40%
The change in capital value, less  to link reward to strong performance of an IPD benchmark.

any capntal expenditure incurred,  performance at the gross

plus petincome. TPR is property level,

expressed as a percentage of

capital employed over the LTIP

perfermance period and is

calculated by 'PD.

Total Accounting Return {TAR) The TAR measure isdesigned o TAR will be measured relative to a comparator group 40%
The growth in British Land's link reward to parformance at consisting of the 17 largest FTSE property companies

EPRA NAV per share plus the net property level that takes  that Use EPRA accounting hincluding Brihsh Land).

dividends per share paid over the  account of gearing and our

LTIP performance period. distributions to shareholders.

Total Shareholder Return TSRl The TSR measure 15 designed Half of the TSR measure will be measured relative to 20%

The growth invalue of a British
iLand shareholding over the LTIP
performance period, assuming
dividends are rernvested to
purchase additional shares.

to directly correlate reward
with the return detivered
to shareholders

the perforrnance of the FTSE 100 and the other half
will be measured relative to the performance of a
comparator group consisting of the 17 targest FTSE
property cormpanies that use EPRA accounting
lincluding British Land).

Performance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a period of three years. 100% of the proportion of the TAR and TSR awards
attached to each measure will vest if British Land's performance 1s at an upper quartile level. If performance against a measure is equal
to the median, 20% of the proportion attached to that measure will vest and if performance is below median the proportion attached to
that measure will lapse. There will be straight-line vesting between median and upper quartile performance for each measure.

Forthe TPR award, 20% of the award will vest for matching a sector weighted IPO index refiecting the Company’s property assets.
There will be straight-line vesting between this index parformance and the higher of 1.ix the index performance and 100 basss points
per annum outperformance. The Commuttee retains the discretion to reduce the formulaic vesting amount if it feels that there isa
matenial inconsistency between the tevel of reward and relative performance delivered

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are positioned around the mid-market of our comparator group of companies
[FTSE 100 companies with broadly similar market capitalisations to Briish Land] with the aim of attracting indmduals with the appropriate
degree of expertise and experience. The fee structure set out below was adepted at the 2016 AGM and incorporates a 2.5% increase to the
annua! fee for the Non-Executwe Directors and a 4.2% increase to the Chairman’s fee for the year commencing 1 April 2018,

Chairman’s annual fee

£385,000
Nan-Executive Directors’ annual fee £62,300
Senior Independent Birector’'s annual fee £10,000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Committee Chairman’s annual fee £20,000
Audit Committee or Remuneration Committee member's annual fee £8.000
Nomination Committee member’'s annual fee £4.000
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How we applied our
Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2018

—

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’ Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
remuneration recewved by each of the Directors.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The fallowing tables detail all elements of remuneration receivable by British Land’s Executive Directers in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and show corparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Other
itemsinthe  Pensionor
Taxable nature of pension Annuat Long term

Salary/fees benefits remuneration allowance incentives?  incentives Total

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

Executive Directors £000 £000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £000
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 724 349 2,244
Charles Maudsley 446 22 12 87 ar7o 164 1,081
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 82 380 173 1,125
Lucinda Bell [to 19 January 2018)! age 18 12 24 337 152 241

' The propartion of Lucinda Bell's salary, benefits and annualincentives which relate to the period from 19 January to 31 March 2018 are set out in the ‘Payments to
past Directors” disclosure on page 86
© 2018 Apnuat Incentive outcomes are subject to the publication of final IPD results.

2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
£000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £000 €000
Chris Grigg 840 23 14 294 418 349 1938
Charles Maudsley 446 23 13 67 231 163 943
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 85 222 163 953
Lucinda Belt 493 23 13 78 245 150 1,002

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

gl‘i'l Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefits include car allowance [between £14,170 and £16,800], private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership. The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed
up values,

Other items in the nature of remuneration include lfe assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the atl-employee Share incentive Plan and any notional gain en exercise of Sharesave
options that matured during the year.

Pensions: Neither Chris Grigg nor Charles Maudsley participate in any British Land pensicn plan and instead receve cash allowances of
35% and 15% of basic salary respectively, in lieu of pension. For the year ended 31 March 2018, these payments amounted to £294,000 and
£66,938 respectively. Lucinda Bell’ and Tim Roberts are both members of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme. The table below
details the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2018 {or date of leaving the Board in the case of Lucinda Bell].

Defined benefit

pension accrued at Normal

31 March 2018 retirement

Executive Director €000 age
Tim Roberts N 60
Lucinda Bell' [to 19 January 2018} 107 60

" Lucindsg Bell remarned an active member of the British Land Defined Beneht Pension Scheme untl her departure from Lhe Comparny on 4 April 2018 fallowing which
she became a deferred rember of that scheme.
The acerued pension s based on service to the year end or, if earlier, the date of leaving the Board and final pensionabie salary at that date.

There are no additional benefits that will become receivable by a Directar i the event that a Director retires early.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

Variable pay

Annual Incentive FY18

The level of Annual Incentive award 1s determined by the Committee based on British Land's performance and each individual Executive
Director's performance against their individuat targets duning the year. For the year ended 31 March 2018 the Committee’'s assessment
and cutcomes are set cut betow.

Range of performance
between 25% and 100%

—
1

-

100% pay-vut
25% pay-out  50% pay-out  (noincreased

{no pay-out [performance pay-out above Gutcome
below this  in line with this maxmum as % of
Quantitative measures Weighting point) expectations]  pay-outpoint]  Outcome salary Performance achieved against target range
Total property 14.7% 22.1% - Target range of matchwing sector weighted index to
returns vs (PO 42% . outperforming it by 1%. TPR of 7.3%, exceeding the
lestimated] eshmaled inreshold of weighled IPD index by 20bps
15.1% 22 6% - Targetrange cf matching the budget to
Underlying 287 b outperforming it by 3.5%. Profit achievernent in tine
Profit 8% with expectation at E380m. [This targst is
commaercially sensitive so has not been disclosed)
- ]
Sub-total 70% Sub-total 29.8% 467%
Qualitative measures Performance achieved against measuves
- Progress on Broadgate campus vision — on site
Progress on developing 1 Im sq ft
Right key prejects . " - Canada Water development agreament with
Places inciuding 5% . 5.0% 7.5% Southwark Council
developments - Completed Meadowhall extensicn and resolution to
grant planning achieved for the leisure extension
- Completion of Clarges Mayfair
- Flexible workspace brand ‘Storey launched acrass
all three Office campuses
- Retal! footfall and Like-for-Uke sales continue to
Customer  =OMpany
P d reputation with 5% . 3.0% 45y  outperformthe benchrmarks by 340bps and 130bps
rientation a1l stakeholders respectively
- Continued recogrition of sustamnablity credentials
across five key indices {GRESE, MSCI, EPRA sBPR,
DJS! World tndex and FTSE4Good)
Execution - Ahead on Profitvs Budget
of targeted - Fitch upgraded credit rating to ‘A (from ‘A=) for
2?3“&?;};22:15 senior unsecured debt
Capital 5 5.0% 75% " Debutissue of Sterling bond for £300 mitlion
Efficiency E;%%re;iig:‘n b . ' 7% - WAIR at tustoric low of 2.8%
the dl?udend fnd - Completed £300 million share buyback prograrmrme
execution of at average share price of £6.30
dabt hinancing - Owidend growth maintained at 3%
- National Equality Standard achieved
Expert ipnm!z”?ﬁ!@ an - &chieved 2 Star Rating th Best Companies
Pei \e pecrfosrma.nce 5% 5.0% 7.5% - Board and senior management appointments ~
P driver culture three Non-Executive Direclors, Cheef Financial
Officer and other senior appontments
Sub-total 20% Sub-total 18.0% 27 0%
Quantitative and qualitative 47.8% 71.7%
Individual r es’ 10% 7.5-9 7% 11.2-14.5%

Total 53.3-575% 829-86 2%

! The Committee assesses 10% of the bonus oppartunity on the individual cantribution by each Executive Director towards a series of preset objectives which are closely
aligned to the qualitative measures set outin the above table

The Committee determined that the level of award would be 7.5% of basic salary for each Executive Director with Chris Grigg receiving an additional 2 17% refiecting

his strong individual performance, Tim Roberts receiving an additional 1 5% reflecting his personal performance and that of the Office business and Lucinda Bell
recening an additional 1.22% in line with her remuneration terms on leaving.
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@% Long term incentives

The mformation in the long term incentives column in the single total figure of remuneration table [see page 81) relates to vesting of awards
granted under the foflowing schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments on those awards and interest accrued on
those dividend equivalents.

Leng-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 June 2015, and which will vest on 22 June 2018, were subject to two equally weighted performance
conditions over the three-year period to 31 March 2018. The first measured British Land's TPR relative to the funds in the December iPD UK Annual
Property Index {the Index], while the second measured TAR relative to a comparator group of Briish Land and 16 or so other property companies.

The TPR element is expected to lapse. based on British Land's adjusted TPR of 7% when compared to the funds in the Index. The TAR
element is also expected to lapse based on British Land's TAR of 27%. The actual vesting rate of the TPR and TAR elements can only be
calculated once resuits have been published by IPD and all the companies within the comparator group respectively. The actual percentage
vesting will be confirmed by the Committee in due course and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report.

' Estimated value Estimated dividend

Performance Number of performance of award on vesting equivalent and interest

Executive Director shares or option shares/option awarded 000 £000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 154,949 0 0
Market value options 206,599 0 0

Lucinda Bell Performance shares 121,254 0 0
Charles Maudsley Performance shares 189,756 0 0
Tim Roberts Performance shares 109,756 0 0

2017 comparative: As set outin the 2017 Annual Report, the 2014 LTIP awards lapsed n full on 23 June 2017 as expected.

Matching Share Plan .

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2015 were (] TSR relative to a comparator group of British
Land and 16 other property companies and {il British Land’s gross income growth [GIG] relative to the {PO Quarterly Universe [the Universe).
These performance conditions are equally weighted. The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2018.

Korn Ferry Hay Group Limited (Korn Ferryl has confirmed that the TSR elemneant of the award will vest at 0% as Brinsh Land's TSR
performance over the period was -9.8% compared to a median of 40.6% for the comparator group. The GIG element s expected to vest at
100% as British Land’s annuatised GIG over the period of 4.7% 15 expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by more than the
upper hurdle. As a result, 50% of the MSP Matching awards granted in June 2015 are expected to vest. As disclosed for the 2015 LTIP above,
the actual percentage vesting will be confirmed by the Committee and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report.

Number of Estimated value Estimated dividend

Matching Shares of award on vesting equivalent

Executive Directar awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg 94,348 308 41
Lucinda Bell 40,950 134 18
Charles Maudsley 44,226 145 19
Tim Roberts 46,682 153 20

2017 comparative: In June 2017, the Committee confirmed that the 2014 MSP Matching awards woutd vest as te 50% on the vesting date
fbeing 30 June 2017). The long termincentives figures in the 2017 comparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have therefore
been updated g reflect the actual share price onvesting 601,10 pence] rather than the average for the $0-day period used in the 2017 Annual
Report of 608.078 pence.
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Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The total value of each Executive Directar’s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2018 was eguivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant.
At grant each Director 15 able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as either performance
shares or market value options. The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options,
and thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded, is the average over the three dealing days irnmediately prior to the
day of award. For the award granted in June 2017, no Executive Director elected to receive market value options and the share price for
deterrmiming the number of perfermance shares awarded was 617.167 pence. The performance conditions attached to these awards are
set gut in the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholdersin July 20146 and summarised on page 80.

Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of Face End of achievermnent of minimum

Grant  performance value performance Vesting performance threshold

Executive Directer date shares granted £000 period date %
Chris Grigg 28/06/17 340,264 2,100 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Charles Maudsley 28/06/17 180,765 1,116 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Tim Roberts 28/06/17 180,765 1,118 31/03/20 28/06/20 20
Lucinda Bell 28/06/17 199,702 1,232 31/03/20 28/06/20 20

Sharesave Scheme

The following options were granted to Executive Directors during the year under the all-employee Sharesave Scheme. The exercise price is
set at a 20% discount to the average market price of the Company’s shares over the three dealing days immediately preceding invitation to
the Scheme. The cost of exarcise ts met entirely by the Oirector and 1s accumulated by deductions from satary from grant to vesting.

Totalta be
deducted  Number of Earliest
from salary options Face value Exercise exercise
Executive Director Grant date £000 granted £600 price date Expiry date
Lucinda Bell 21/06/17 9 1,771 9 508 01/0%9/20  28/02/21

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2018

The following table shows the Executive Directors’ intarests in fully pawd ardinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan. All interests are beneficial.

Holding at 31 March 2018

[or date of departure from Holding at
Director the Beard, if earlier}] 31 March 2017
Chris Grigg 1,297,818 1,257,368
Charles Maudsley 251,194 230.383
Tim Roberts 245,748 244 714
Lucinda Bell (at 19 January 2018) 246,671 226,098

Shareholding guidelines

The minimum shareholding guidelines require Executive Directors to hold ordinary shares with a value equal to a set percentage of salary.
There is no set timescale for Executive Directors to reach the prescribed target but they are expected ta retain net shares received on

the vesting of long term mncentive awards until the target 1s achieved. Shares that count tawards the holding guideline are unfettered

and beneficially owned by the Executive Directors and their connected persons. Deferred annual incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares,
locked-in SIP shares and all unvested awards do not count towards the reguirement.

The guideline shareholdings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 are shown below:

Unfettered

Guideline as helding as Total holding as

percentage Unfetlered percentage of Total a percentage

of basic Guideline holding at basicsalaryat shareholdingat of basic salary at

Executive Director salary holding' 31 March2018 31 March2018 31 March 20182 31 March 2012
Chris Grigg 225% 294,393 1,232,206 942 1,297.818 992
Chartes Maudsley 150% 104,264 217,143 312 251,194 361
Tim Roberts 150% 104,264 230,230 33 265,748 382

' Calculated on ashare price of 642 pence on 29 March 2018,
* See Directors’ shareholdings table above which include MSP Bonus Shares and all shares held in the SIP.

The guideline sharehalding for Simen Carter has also been set at 150% of salary.
The shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors were last Increased with effect from 1 Aprit 2015 when the holding reguirement for

each Director was increased by 25% of basic salary. The Committee regularty reviews the guidelines together with the Executive Directors’
sharehcldings, but has not proposed any change for the year commencing 1 Apnl 2018,
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Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end

The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the following fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the
partrership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Incentive Plan:

Date of

purchase or Purchase Partnership Matching Dividend
Executive Director award price shares shares shares

Chris Grigg 16/04/18 650.79 23 46
04/05/18 675.77 109

14/05/18 696.464 21 42

Charles Maudsley 16/04/18 650.79 23 46
04/05/18 &675.77 87

14/05/18 696.464 21 47

Tim Roberts 16/04/18 450.79 23 46
04/05/18 67577 20

14/05/18 696,464 21 42

Unvested share awards
Number Subject to End of
outstanding at performance performance

Executive Director Date of grant 3% March 2018 measures period Vesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares' 22/06/15 154,949 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/16 229979 Yes 31/03/1% 22/66/19
LTIF performance shares 28/06/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/15 94 348 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 96,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/66/19
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares' 22/06/15 109,796 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP perforrnance shares 22/06/16 122176 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06{20
MSP Matching Shares’ 29/06/15 44,226 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 47,206 Yes 31/03/1% 29/06/19
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares' 22/06/15 109,754 Yes 31/03/18 22/04/18
LTIP perfermance shares 22/06/14 61,088 Yes 31/03/19 22/0611%
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180.765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares’ 29/06/15 46,482 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 46,056 Yes 31/03/19 29406119
lLucinda Beli LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/15 121.254 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares? 22/06/1& 134,976 Yes 31/03/19 22/06119
LTIP performance shares? 28/06/17 199,702 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/15 40,950 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares? 29/06/16 47206 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19

The LTIP and MSP awards granted in June 2015 are atso mcluded wittun the 2018 Long term incentives’ column of the single total figure of remuneration table

cn page 81. The.degree 1o which performance measures have been or are expected to be achieved, and the resultant proportions of the awards expected tovest,

are detailed on page 83
These awards witl vest on a pro-rata basis on the applicable normal vesting date if and to the extent that performance conditions are met at that time.

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised}

Number

outstanding at

Option

Subject to

price performance

performance

End of

Date

becomes

Exercisable

Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 pence measures period exercisable until
Chris Grigg LTIP options' 22/06/15 206,599 824.5 Yes  31/03/18  22/0/18  22/06/25
Tim Roberts Sharesave cptions 15/06/13 2,348 511.0 No nfa  01/09/18  28/02/1%
Sharesave oplions 23/06/14 3,135 574.0 No nfa  01/09/19  29/02/2C
LTIP options 22/06/16 244,353 730.5 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19  22/06/26
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options? 22/06/15 1,291 4970 No nfa  01/09/18  28/02/1%
Sharesave options® 21/06/17 1771 508.0 No n/a 01/09/20  28/02/21
' The LTIP options granted in June 2015 are also included within the 2018 Long termincentives’ column of the single total figure of remuneratien table on
page 81 The degree to which performance measures have been or are expected to be achieved, and the resultant preportions of the awards expecled to vest,
are detailed on page 83.
These Sharesave oplions lapsed on 4 April 2018, the date on which Lucinda Belt left British Land.
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Vested option awards (available to be exercised)

Number
outstanding Option

at 31 March price Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 2018 pence until
Chris Grigg LTIP options 29/04/09 775 387  29/0619
LTIP options 11/06/10 1,073,825 L47  11/06/20
LTIP options 28/06/11 695,602 575  28/06/21
LTIiP options ) 14/09/12 743,494 538  14/09/22
Lucinda Bell LTIP options 11/06/10 7952 447 11/06/20
fas at 19 January 2018) | Tip options . 14/12/10 11,764 510 14/12/20
LTIP options 14/09/12 138,289 538 14/09/22
LTIP options' 065/08/13 87119 401  05/08/23

' This award vested at the level of 56.3% under the performance conditions

Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2018

Market price
on date of
Number Optionprice  Date became Date exercise
Executive Director Date of grant exercised pence exercisable exercised pence
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options 23/06114 1567 574 0109117 26/02/18 650.20
LTIP options 11/06/10 60,000 447 11/06/13 20/11017 622

Payments to past Directors (audited)

During the period from 19 January 2018 1o 31 March 2018, | ucinda Bell rernatned an employee of British Land and receved salary of £94,808
and taxable benefits of £4,223. Lucinda remained a member of the SIP untither departure from British Land on 4 April 2018. Under the Rules
of the SIP, Lucinda received matching shares in February and March 2018 with a total value of £603. In addition, Lucinda will receive an
additional £8G,350 in retation to the Annual incentive awards for the year ended 31 March 2018 which related to the period aftar she had
stepped down from the Board. A contribubion of £10,000 plus VAT was alsc made to Lucinda’s legal fees.

Payments to Lucinda Bell on leaving British Land (audited)

After over 25 years at British Land, Lucinda Bell informed the Board in Getober 2017 of her mtention ta stand down from the Board and to
leave the Company. Following the completion of the search for a replacement Chief Financial Officer, Lucinda Bell stocd down from the
Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land as planned on 4 April 2018. Lucinda's remuneration terms on leaving were in line with the
Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

Lucinda receved her salary and emplayment benefits in full to the date of her departure and will recewe payments in lieu of notice for the
rematnder of her 12-month notice period to 4 October 2018. The maximum amount payable for this period cornprises base salary of £246,500,
car allowance of £8,350, pension contributions/aliowance of £52,500 and the value of other benefits of £2,546. These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid ernployment secured during this period. As mentioned in the Committee Chairman’s leiter on
page 76, Lucinda 15 eligible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year, subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and
personal objectives. In line with the Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid in cash and one-third will be used to
purchase British Land shares which must be held for a further period of threg years.

Lucinda ceased to participate in the Company’s all-employee emplayee share plans on departure and any unvested Sharesave awards
lapsed at that time. Lucinda’s vestad axecutive share awards remain exercisable until 4 Qctober 2018.

The Committee determined that Lucinda be treated as a ‘good leaver’ under the Company’s executive share plans. Consequently,
awards (including any dividend equivalents] will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the extent to which the applicable
performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time pro-rating reduction applied. The vesting levels of these awards will be
confirmed in the Annuat Reports for 2019 and 2020 respectively.

Other disclosures

Service contracts

All Executive Directors have [and in the case of Simon Carter, witl have] rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods
of 12 months on either side.

Normal notice Normal notice

Date of service period to be given period to be given

Director contract by Company by Director
Chris Grigy 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Charies Maudsley 03/11/2009 12 months 12 months
Tim Roberts 14/11/2006 12 months 17 months
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In accordance with the Code, all continuing Directors stand for election or re-election by the Company’s shareholders on an annual basis.
The Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting. The Company may terminate an Executive Director’s appointment with immediate effect without notice or payment
in lieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director’s service contract.

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approval.

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systems plc on 1 July 2013. Buring the year to 31 March 2018, Chris received
afee of £85,845 including £5,845 of overseas travel allowances and benefits deemed to be taxablel from BAE Systemns plc, which he
retained in full (2017: £84,000]. Lucinda Bell was appointed 2 non-executive directer of Rotork plc on 10 July 2014. During the peniod from
1 April 2017 16 19 January 2018, when she stoed down from the Board, Lucinda received a fee of £45,125 from Rotork plc, which she
retained in full (2017: C47.9101

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on remuneration of all employees (including Executive Directors] relative to the amount spent on
distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017. The remuneration of employees increased by 2.4% relative to
the prior year, while distributions to shareholders increased by 2%. Distributicns to shareholders include ordinary and, where cffered, scrip
dwvidends. Ng scrip alternative was offered during the year ended 31 March 2018. The graph also shows the split between property income
distributions [PID] and non-property income distributions [non-P1D).

Relative importance of spend on pay Remuneration of employees Distributicns to shareholders:
including Directors: B PiD cash dividends paid
I B Wages and salares to shareholders
2017/18
_ £302m B Annual Incentives B PID tax withholding
B Social security costs 5% Non-PID cash dividends
2016/17 I s B Pension costs paid to shareholders

B Cquity-settled share-based
payments

Total sharehotder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows British Land's total shareholder return for the nine years from 1 Aprit 2009 to 31 March 2018 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate investrnent Trusts [REIT] Total Return Index for the same period. The graph shows how the total return on a £100 investment in
the Company made on 1 April 20067 would have changed over the nine-year period measured, compared with the total return an a £100
investment n the FTSE REIT Total Return Index. The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selaected as a suitable comparator because it1s
the index In which British Land's shares are classified.

Total Shareholder Return
Rebased to 100, 1 April 2009

400 —— -~ - g — - = —- - ro
| |
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\Ev//
200 ———— - — —- : —
— ——— ;
100 / _ _ ] L. _ t -

1 N 3t 31 i : 3 31
Aprit March March March March March March March March March
2009 2010 201 2012 203 2014 205 2016 2n7 2ms

B The 8rnitish Land Company PLC B FTSE All Share REITs Sector
Source: Korn Ferry Hay Group Lirmited

The base paint required by the regulations governing Remnuneration Report disclesures was close to the bottom of the property cycle
at 1 April 2009, Since British Land's share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that tirme,
a hugher base point for subsegquent growth was set.
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The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chief Execulive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return graph.
The quanturn of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the maximum

opportunity available.

Chief Executive 200%/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013114 2014/1% 2015118 2016117 2017/18
Chief Executive’s single total figure

of remuneration [£000) 2,082 2,329 5353 4,810 5398 6,551 3,623 1938 2,244
Annual Incentive awards against

maximurm opportunity (%] 47 83 75 75 90 96 67 33 57
Long term incentive awards

vasting rate against maxmmum

opportunity (%! n/a n/a 99 63 98 33 54 15 16

Chief Executive’s remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive’s remuneration relative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes In those elements of remuneration for employees based at Briish Land’s head office aver the

same perfod. Head office employees have been chosen as an appropriate comparator group for this purpose as employees based at Bnitish
L and’s head office carry out work of the most similar nature to the Chief Executive,

Value of Chief Executive
remuneration 2018

Value of Chief Executive
remuneration 2017

Change in Chief Executive
remuneration
%

Average change

in remuneration of
British Land employees
%

Remuneration element £000 €000
Salary 840 840 g 618
Taxable benefits 22 23 -3.15 -7.41
Annual Incentive 724 418 70.81 21.85
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration (audited)
The table below shows the fees paid ta our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017:
Fees Taxable benefits* Totat

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors €000 £000 €003 £000 £000 £000
John Gildersleeve [Chairman) 359 389 43 49 412 48
Lynn Gladden &9 &9 1 1 70 70
Alastair Hughes (from 1 January 2018} 17 - - - 17 -
William Jackson 100 87 - - 100 87
Nicholas Macgherson [frarn 19 December 2014) 69 17 - - 69 17
Preben Prebensen {from 1 September 2017) 40 - - - 40 -
Tim Score 93 29 - - 93 89
Laura Wade-Gery 69 69 1 - 70 69
Rebecca Worthington {from 1 January 2018) 17 - - - 17 -
Aubrey Adams (to 31 December 2017} 52 69 ~ - 52 £9
Sirmon Borrows [to 18 July 2017) 21 69 ~ - 21 69
Lord Turnbull {te 18 July 2017} 25 89 ~ - 25 89

' Taxable benefits include the Chairman's chauffeur cost and expenses incurred by other Non-Executive Directors The Company provides the tax gross up on these

benehis and the hgures shown above are the grossed up values
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Shareholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land.

The Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Lynn Gladden, Willam Jacksen, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares in full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors’ fees.

The tabie below shows the Non-Executive Directors’ shareheldings as at year end or the date of retirement from the Board if earlier:

Holding at Holding at
Director 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
John Gidersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 13,950 7837
Alastair Hughes 7,274 -
William Jackson 128,123 123,858
Nicholas Macpherson 4,500 2,300
Preben Prebensen - -
Tim Score 34,134 22,415
Laura Wade-Gery 8,059 4,831
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 -
Aubrey Adams (as at 31 Decernber 2017) 30,000 30,000
Simon Borrows [as at 18 July 2017) 300,000 300,000
Lord Turnbutl [as at 18 July 2017} 21,258 21,258

In addition, on 11 April 2018, the following Non-Executive Directors were allotted shares at a price of 645.2675 pence per share in full or part
satisfaction of their fees:

Non-Executive Director Shares allotted
Lynn Gladden 1,550
Willam Jackson 1,017
Tim Score 281
Laura Wade-Gery 775
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Letters of appointment (audited)
All Non-Executive Directors have & letter of appointment with the Company. The effective dates of appointment are shown below

Director Effective date of appointment

John Gildersieeve (Chairman) 1 September 2008 (Non-Executive Director), 1 January 2013 [Chairman)
Lynn Gladden 20 March 2015

Alastair Hughes 1 January 2018

William Jackson 11 Aprit 2011

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2014

Praben Prebensen 1 Septemnber 2017

Tim Score 20 March 2014

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2015

Rebecca Worthington 1 January 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election on anannual basis. The letters of appaintrnent are available for
inspection during normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the AGM.

The appointment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Directors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company’'s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election. In addition, appointments may be terminated by either the mdividual or the Company giving three maonths’ written
notice of termination or, for the Chairman, six months' written notice of termination.

Nerther the Chairman nor the Non-Executive Directors are entitled to any compensation tor loss of office for any reason other than accrued
and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to the termination.

Remuneration Committee membership .
Membership of the Committee was changed during the year with the retirement of Lord Turnbull and appointment of Preben Prebensen.
As at 31 March 2018, and throughout the year under review, the Commitiee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Directors.
The members of the Commirttee, together with attendarce at Committee meetings, are set aut in the table betow:

Date of appointment

Director Position (to the Committee) Date of resignation Attendance
William Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 616
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 616
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 [3/A
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 616
Lord Turnbull Member 1 Aprit 2006 18 July 2017 212

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Comrrittee meetings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve [Company Chairmanl, Chris Grigg
(Chief Executive], Lucinda Bell (Chief Financiat Officer], Charles Maudsley [Executive Directar], Elaine Williams [Company Secretary and
General Counsel to 31 August 2017}, Bruce James [Intenim Company Secretary from 1 September 2017 to 15 January 2018), Brona McKeown
(General Counsel and Company Secretary from 15 January 2018] and Ann Henshaw (HR Director] other than for any item relating to their own
remuneration. A representative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Committee meetings.

The Committer Chairman holds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director fo discuss all aspects of remuneration

within British Land. He also meets the Committee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeting to
discuss matters of governance, remuneration policy and any concerns they may have.
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How the Commiittee discharged its responsibilities during the year

The Committee’s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are set out in full in its terms of reference which

can be found on the Company’s website: www.britishland.com/committees. The Committee’s key areas of responsibility are:

- Setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman; reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of executive management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
conditions across the Group ’

- Determining the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Committee member and other members
of ranagement

- Monitoring pertormance against conditions attached to all annual and long term incentive awards to Executive Directors. Executive
Committee and other members of management and appreving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- Selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants

Inaddibon to the Committee’s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee also considered the
following matters:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval
- Appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee; remuneration of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and individual
performance; and pay and Annual Incentive awards below Beard level

- Considering the extent to which performance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive

and long term incentive awards
- Granting discretionary share awards; reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual Incentive awards
- Considering the impact of the share buyback on incentive plans
- Reviewing the Commuttee’s terms of refarence
- Considering gender pay gap reporting requirements
- Departure terms for Lucinda Belt
- Recruitment terms for Simon Carter
- Receiving updates and training on corporate governance and remuneration matters from the independent remuneration consultant

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Committee on 21 March 2017 follewing a competitive tender process.
Korn Ferry 1s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group’s Code of Conduct. The Committee assesses the

advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that it is objective and independent. The advisers have private discussions with the Committee

Chairman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group. Fees, which are charged on

a tirme basis, were £129,246 (excluding VAT], Korn Ferry also provided general remuneration advice to the Cornpany during the year.

Voting at the Annual General Meeting

The table below shows the voting cutcomes of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report [at the AGM

in July 2017) and the Remuneration Policy [at the AGM in July 2016).

Votes Total votes Votes
Resolution Votes for % tor against % against cast withheld
Directors’ Rernuneration Report (2017) 722,118,468 98.24 12,935,360 1.76 735,053,828 7,872,061
Directors’ Remuneration Policy [2016} 727144.,638 97.13 21,494,166 287 748,638,804 7,869,489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018,

William Jackson
Chairman of the Rermnuneration Comrmittee
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DIRECTORS REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors present therr Report on the affars of the Group,
together with the audited financial staterments and the report of the
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2018, The Directors’ Report s
also the Management Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 tor
the purpose of Oisclosure and Transparency Rule 4.1.8R. infermation
that 1s relevant to this Report, and which 1s incorporated by referance
and including information required in accordance with the UK
Companies Act 2006 and Listing Rule 9.8 4R, can be located in the
following sections:

Information Section in Annual Report Page
Future developrments of the Strategic Report 81025
business of the Company

Risk factors and principal risks Strategic Report 481055
Financiat instruments - Strategic Report  45to 47
risk management objectives

and policies

Owidends Strategic Report 43
Sustainability governance Strategic Report 31
Greenhouse gas emissions Strateg:c Report 31
Viabitity and going concern Strategic Report 51 and 67
statements

Governance arrangements Governance 6210 91
Employment policies and Strategic Report 17 and 30
employee involvement

Capitalised interest Financial statements 119 to 120
Additional unaudited Other information 164 to 176

financialinformation unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2018 AGM will be held at 11.00am on 17 July 2018 at

The Montcalm Lendon Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place, London
WIH7TN,

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chairman of the
Beard, Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resolutions
being proposed, has been circulated to shareholders and 15 available
an ourwebsite at www.britishland.com/agm.

Articles of Association

The Company’s Articles of Association [Articles) may only be
armended by special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders.
Subject to applicable law and the Company’s Articles, the Directors
may exercise all powers of the Campany.

The Articles are available on the Company's website at
www.britishland.com/governance.
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Board of Directors

. The names and biographical details of the Directors and details

of the Board Commuttees of which they are members are set out
on pages 58 to 61 and incorporated into this Report by reference.
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this

i Reportare set out on page 61. The Company’s current Articles

require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment. The current Articles also require each
Cirector to stand for re-election at the third AGM following their

| election. However, in accordance with the Code and the Company's

current practice, all continuing Directors offer themsealves for
election or re-election, as required, at the AGM.

Details of the Directars’ interests in the shares of the Company and
any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of the
Company’s all-employee or executive share schemes are given in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91. The Service
Agreements of the Executive Directors and the Letters of Appointment
of the Non-Executive Directors are also summarised in the Directors’
Rernuneration Report and are available for inspection at the Company's
registered office.

The appointment and replacement of Diwrectars 1s governed by the
Company's Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2006 and any
related tegistation. The Board may appoint any person to be a
Director so long as the total number of Directors does not exceed
the Uit prescribed in the Articles. In addition ta any power of
removal conferred by the Companies Act 2006, the Company may
by ordinary resolution remove any Oirector before the expiry of their
period of office.

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed during the yearin relation to the Company’s
business inwhich any Director was materially interested.

The Company's procedures for managing conflicts of interest by the
Direclors are set out on page é4. Provisions are alsc contained 1n the
Company's Articles which allow the Directors to authorise potential
conflicts of interest.

Directors' liability insurance and indemnity

The Company mantains appropriate Directors’ & Officers’ Liability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legat action brought
against its Directors.

The Company has also indemnified each Director to the extent
permitted ty law against any liability incurred in relatran to acts or
omissions arising In the ordinary course of their duties. The indemnity
arrangements are quabifying indemnity provisions under the
Companies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year.



Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ardinary shares of

25 pence each, alt of which are fully paid. The rights and obligations
attached to the Company’s shares are set out in the Articles. There
are no restrictions on the transfer of shares except in relation to
Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions.

The Directors were granted autharity at the 2017 AGM to allot
relevant securities up to a nominat amount of £85,817,956 as well as
an additional authority to allot shares to the same value on a rights
issue. This autharity will apply until the conclusion of the 2018 AGM.
At this year's AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew the authority
to allot relevant securities.

At the 2017 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of its issued capital at that time, being
102,981,547 ordinary shares. This authority will also expire at the
2018 AGM and it 1s proposed that the renewal of that authority will
be scught.

In July 2017, the Board decided that the strength of the investment
market and the continuing discount in the Company’s share price
meant that the best use of capital would be to undertake a share
buyback. As a result, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company repurchased 47,607,139 ordinary shares of 25 pence each
for an aggregate consideration of £300 million. This represents
4.85% of the (ssued share capital [excluding shares held in Treasuryl
at that date. All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled.

The Company continued to hold 11,246,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2018 and
1o the date of this Report.

Further details relating to share capital, including rmovements during
the year, are set out in nate 20 to the financial statements.

Rights under an employee share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs] operate in connection with some of
the Company's employee share plans. The trustees of the EBTs may
exercise all rights attached to the Company's ordinary shares in
accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan.

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee [Trustee] of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust [EST). The EST holds and, from
time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in the market,
for the benefit of employees, including to satisfy outstanding awards
under the Company's various executive ernployee share plans.

A dividend waiver (s in place from the Trustee in respect of all
dwidends payable by the Company on shares which it holds in trust.

Substantial interests

All notifications made to British Land under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules [DTR 5 are published on a Regulatory
information Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had been notified of the
following interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5.
The information provided 1s correct at the date of notification:

Interestsin Percentage

ordinary holding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, inc. 98,113,953 2.98
Norges Bank 51,439,045 499
GIC Private Limited 41,121,137 3.99
APG Asset Management N.V. 39,851,884 4.00

Since year end, BlackRock, Inc. has submitted a number of
notifications to the Company, all ef which have been disclosed to the
market. The latest notification dated 23 April 2018 advises that they
indirectly hold 98,224,793 ordinary shares, representing 7.99% of the
Company’s issued share capital.

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements include provisions
that may enable each of the lenders or bondholders to request
repayment or have a put at par within a certain periad following &
change of control of the Company. In the case of the Sterling bond
this arises if the change of control also results in a rating dewngrade
to below investment grade. In the case of the canvertible bond there
may also be an adjustment ta the conversion price applicable fora
limited period following a change of control,

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors
ar employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs specitically because of a takeover, merger
or amalgamation with the exception of provisions in the Company’s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
becorning exercisable on a change of controt.

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to the
overall success of our business. We manage dealings with suppliers
in a fair, consistent and transparent manner.

Events after the balance sheet date
Detalls of subsequent events, if any, can be found in note 26 on page 146.

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year (2017: ).
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Community investment | Health and safety

Our financial donahions to good causes during the year totalled We have retained formal recegnmtion of our focus on health and

€1,687,000 (2017 £1,351,000]. Our Community Investment Committee | safety through a successful audit of cur OHSAS 18001 accreditation,

appraves all expenditure fram gur Community nvestment Fund and | We continue to imprave our appraach to health and safety

reports to the Executive Committee on an annual basis. | management to ensure that we consistently achieve best practice
across all activities in the business {construction, managed portfolio

| and head office) to delver Places People Prefer to our employees

and our customers,

In addition, the Company aiso supports fundraising and payroll giving
for causes that matter to staff. This support includes:

per person and £50,000 per annum for the whole arganisation|

- Astafi matched funding pledge, matching money raised for

- 50% uplift of staff payroll gving contributions (capped at £5,000 ) RIDDOR® for the year ended 31 March 2018
' Total RIDDOR

charity by staff up to £750 per person per year __ incidents Injury rate
2018 2017 2018 2017
We also support fundraising by the teams managing our retail and Construction 3 2 0.13 0.08  per 100,000
office properties around the UK by: hours worked
- Matching up to £1,080 for site fundraising initiatives per year, ‘ Retail 30 22 0.01 o per TfOG,‘C]ZDS
perlocation cotra
- Extending our staff matching funding pledge to on site employees | Offices 4 8 12.88 . 2351 per100,000
of Broadgate Estates Limited, sur whally-owned subsidiary workers
Head Office 0 0 0 0 per 100,000
Qur community investment 1s gurded by our Locat Charter, which full time
we updated in 2018 to increase focus on five priorities around equivalents

our places:
* Reporting of injurtes, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regutations 2013

Connecting with local communities

- Supporting educationat initiatives for local people
Supporting local training and jobs

Supperting local businesses

- Contributing to local people’s wellbeing and enjoyrent

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
canfirms that:

- Sofarasthe Director 15 aware, there 1s no relevant audit
information that has net been brought to the attention of the
auditor

- The Director has taken all steps that he/she should have taken
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company's auditor was aware of
that information

Through our communHy investment and Locat Charter activity, we
cannect with communities where we operate, make positive locat
contributions, help people fulfil their potential, help businesses grow,
and promote wellbeing and enjoyment. This all supports our strategy
to create Places People Prefer.

PwC has indicated its willingness to rernaim in affice and, on the
recommmendation of the Audit Comrmittes, a resolution to reappoint
PwC as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the 2018 AGM.

The Directors’ Repert was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018
and signed on its behalf by:

Brona McKeown
General Counsel and Company Secretary

Community i The British Land Company PLC
investment in Company Nurmber: 621920
action

Young people taking
partin one of the
educational initiatives
we support, linking

Lo career pathsin

our sector,

|
|
|
|
| |
i
|
|
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accordance with Internationat
Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs] as adepted by the European
Union and the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and applicable lawl.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the praofit
or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- Select surtable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

- State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Umon
have been followed for the Group financial statements and United
Kingdem Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been
followed for the parent Company financial statements, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements

- Make Judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- Prepare the financial staternents on the going concern basis
unless it 15 Inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company
witl continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
recards that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’'s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable
thern to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as

regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence fer taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company’s website. Legistation in the United Kingdom gaverming
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legsslation in ather junisdictions.

The Directors consider that the Annual Report ang accounts, taken
as awhole, 15 fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for sharehoiders to assess the Group and the
Company's performance, business model and strategy.

Fach of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors on pages 58 te 60 confirm that, te the best of
their knowledge:

- The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdemn Generzlly Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework', and applicable law], give
atrue and fair view of the assets$, liabilities, financial position
and profit of the Company

- The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the European Union, give
a true and fair view of the assets, Labilities, financial position
and profit of the Group

- The Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report include a farr
review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

By order of the Board.

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
16 May 2018
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ial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
Inour opimion:

- The British Land Company PLC's Group financial statements and
Company financial statements [the “financial statements”] give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company's
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group's profit and cash
flows for the year then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the European Union:

- the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 "Reduced Disclosure Framewcrk”, and applicable (aw]; and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018 [the "Annual Report”], which comprise:

- the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018;

- the Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended
31 March 2018;

- the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2018;

- the Consolidateq Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018;

- the Consolidated Staternent of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 March 2018;

- the Cernpany Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018;

- the Company Staterment of Changes in Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018; and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a description
of the significant accounting policies.

Qur opinion 1s consistent with our reporting ta the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing [UK) ["1SAs (UK)"] and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under 15As [UK) are further described in the Auditers’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial staterments section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis fer our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group In accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
appticable to listed public interest entities. and we have fulfilled our
other ethical respansibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audi
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company.

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Cormpany in
the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018,

Qur audit approach

Overview

- Our 2018 audit was planned and executed having regard to the fact
that the Group's operations were largely unchanged in nature
from the previous year Additionally, there have been no significant
changes to the valuation methadology and accounting standards
relevant to the Group. In lght of this, our approach to the audit in
terms of sceping and key audit matters was largely unchanged.
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- We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as awhole. The Group financial statements are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit team carries out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances i support of the
Group audit opinion. The following joint ventures are also audited
to Group materiality: Broadgate and Meadowhall.

Materiality

- Overall Group materiality: £131.8 million (2017 £135.0 million],
based on 1% of total assets.

~ Specific Group materiakity, applied to underlying profit; £19.6 million
(2017 £19.4m] which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit

- OQveratil company matenality: £287.0 rmullion (2017 £283.0 mutlionl,
based on 1% of total assets.

Key audit matters

- Valuation of investment and development properties.
- Revenue recognition.

- Accounting for transactions.

- Taxation.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accaunting estimates that invelved making assumptions and
censidering future events that are inherently uncertain.

We gained an understanding of the legal and reguiatory framework
applicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and
considered the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to
applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. We designed audit
procedures to respond to the risk, recogmising that the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud i1s higher than the
risk of not detecting one resulting frem errar, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentienal
misrepresentations, or through collusion. We focused on laws and
regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement in the
financial statements, including, but not imited to, the Companies Act
2006 and the UK tax legislation as applicable to a REIT.

Qur tests included, but were not limited to, review of the financial
statement disclosures to underiying supporting documentation, and
enguiries of management and review of minutes of those charged
with governance.

There are inherent liritations in the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations 1s from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

We did not 1dentify any key audit matters relating to irregularities,
including fraud. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of
management override of internal controls, including testing journals
and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors
that represented & risk of material misstaterment due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the maost
significant assessed risks of material misstatement [whether or not
due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the cantext of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opimion
therean, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.




Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committee], pages 109 to
111 [Accounting policies) and pages 119 to 123 [Notes to the Accounts].

The Group’s investment property portfolio 1s split between affice in
Central London, retail across the UK, the assets at the Canada Water
site In East London and other properties in Central London. The
valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet is £9,997 million.

The valuation of the Group's investrment property pertfolio s
inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property, its location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property. For developments, factors include
projected cosls to complete and timing of practical completion.

The valuations were carried oul by third party valuers, CB Richard
Ellis, Jones Lzng LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Knight Frank
[the "valuers™]. The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors ["RICS”) Valuation - Professional Standards.
The valuers used by the Group have considerable experience of the
markets in which the Group operates.

In determining a property’s valuation the valuers take into account
property-specific information such as the current tenancy
agreements and rental incorne. They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent, which are influenced by prevaiting
market yields and comparable market transactions, to arrive at

the final valuation. For developments, the residual appraisal method
15 used, by estimating the fair value of the completed project using

a capitalisation method less estimaled costs to completion and &
risk premium.

The significance of the estimates and judgements invoived, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individual
propertyvaluations, when aggregatad, could result In a material
musstaternent. warrants specific audit focus in this area.

There were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations in
the year: Properties under development, campleted developrments
that are now valued as standing investment properties and standing
Investment properties that have been reclassified to devetopment
properties continue to be a key audit matter.

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and suitable for use in determining the carrying value for
the purpose of the financial statements.

We assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected their cbjectivity or may
have imposed scope limitations upon their work. We also considered
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers.
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers

in their performance of the valuations was compromised..

We obtained details of every property held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value movement, determined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market. We compared the investment yrelds used by
the valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
capital movement to our expected range. We also considered the
reasonableness of other assumptions that are not so readily comparable
with published benchmarks, such as Estimated Rental Value.

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed.

Our work covered the valuation of every property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, properties under develoepmant or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capital
value movernent suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector.

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise
appeared unusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected
movements, we undertook further investigations and, when
necessary, held further discussions with the valuers and obtained
evidence to support explanations received. The valuation
commentaries previded by the valuers and supporting evidence,
enabled us to consider the property specific factors that may have
had an impact on value, including recent comparable transactions
where appropriate.

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, before determining
the final valuation. We concluded that the assumptions used in the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence.

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group's s1nformation
systems concerning the valuation process. We carried out
procedures, on a sample basis, to sahisfy ourselves of the accuracy
of the property informaticn supplied to the valuers by management.
For developments, capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample
basis to invoices, and budgeted costs to complete compared with
supperting evidence [for example construction contracts).

It was evident from our interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the vatuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property’'s individual characteristics
ata granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as considering the
overall guality, geographic location and destrability of the asset as
awhole. No Issues were identified in our testing.
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Finaneial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPGRT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committeel, page 109
to 111 [Accounting pelicies) and page 113 [Notes to the Accounts].

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income. Rental
income is based on tenancy agreements where there is a standard
process in place for recording revenue, which is system generated.
There are certain transactions within revenue that warrant additional
audit focus because of an increased inherent risk of error due ta thair
non-standard nature.

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
income to ensure revenue 1s recorded on a straight line basis over
the course of the lease.

Accounting for transactions — Group and Company

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts receivable
processes and the related (T systems to obtain evidence that postings
to these accounts were reliabie. For rental income balances, we then
used data-enabled audit techmigues to identify all standard revenue
journals posted using these systems and processes.

The remaiming journals reiated to nen-standard transactions.
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions. For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we understoad the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sample of these items.
There wera no exceptions arising from our testing over
non-standard revenue transactions.

For balances not included within rental income, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on a sample basis.
No 1ssues were identified in our testing.

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction

Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Committee), pages 109
to 111 [Accounting palicies] and pages 112 to 147 [Notes).

There have heen a number of transactions during the year.
These warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of
the transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms
that introduce judgement into how they were accounted for. Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus for the Group were:

- Investment property acquisitions of £250 milbion, including the
acguisition of The Woolwich Estate ["Woolwich”) for £103 multion

- Investment property disposals of £185 million

— Share buyback of £300 million

- Issue of 2.375% £30Cm unsecured bond

- Partial close out of interast rate derivative 103 ['IRD 103°} for
€141 million cash settlement

- Anamount of £15m [the Group’s share] receved from RBS in
relation to the surrender of their lease at 135 Bishopsgate,
within the Broadgate joint venture

Key transactions subject to additional audit focus for the
Company were:

- Share buyback of £360 midlion

and assessed the accounting treatment in relation to the Group's
accounting policies and relevant IFRSs.

For acquisitions and dispesals, we obtained and read the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements. Consideration received or paid was
agreed to bank statements.

For the sites acquired at Woolwich which have been accounted for
as an asset acquisition, we assessed the accounting treatment in
relation to IFRS 3 Business combinations and I1AS 40, acquisition of
investment property. We read the sale and purchase agreements
and agreed that the purchase met the criteria to be recoghised as
an asset acquisition. We audited the acquisition accounting and the
subsequent re-measurement to fair value at the balance sheet date.
We agreed the proceeds paid to bank statements and checked the
transfer of legal itle of the assels passed to British Land. No issues
were found as a result of these procedures.

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited

the accounting for the buyback in accordance with IAS 32, For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transaction were correctly recognised within reserves {retained
earnings). From our audit procedures performed, no exceptions
were noted in the accounting for the share buyback prograrmme.

A 2.375% Sterling Unsecured Bond, maturing September 2029, was
issued in September 2017. The new bond 1s held at amortised cost,
with a book value of £297.6 million. We examined the bond issue
documents and the accounting treatment applied in line with IAS 39
and are satishied that the treatment applied 1s appropriate.

The group partially clesed a long standing cash flow hedge derivative
during the year, breaking the hedge relationship. This resulted in the
recycling of £115.3m from the hedging and transtation reserve ang
£14.1m of closeout costs being recognised in the income statermnent.
We tested the accounting treatment applied in line with 1AS 39 and
have nc 1ssues to report.

For the £15m received from RBS, we read the surrender agreements
that detail the payment. We agreed receipt of the amount to bank
statements. We concur with the treatment adopted.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Taxation
Refer to pages 4% to 73 [Report of the Audit Committeel, page 111
[Accounting palicies] and pages 115 and 130 [Notes to the Accounts).

The Group's status as a REIT underpins its business model and
shareholder returns. For this reason, it warrants special audtt focus.
The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with batance of business, dividend and tncome cover tests. The
Broadgate joint venture is also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance is also of relevance for this joint venture 1 addition
to the overall Group.

Tax provisions are in place to account for the risk of challenge of
certain of the Group's tax provisions. Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit focus was placed on tax provisions,

We re-performed the Group's annual REIT compliance tests, as well

as those tests for the Broadgate RE{T. Based on our work performed,
we agreed with management’s assessment that all REIT compliance

tests had been met to ensure that the Group and Broadgate maintain
their REIT status.

We evaluated the tax provisions and movements made within the
year. We obtained sufficient supporting evidence for provisions
released during the year. We discussed provisions raised and
increased during the year with management and obtained evidence
to support the levels of provisions recorded. We read relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty’s Revenue and
Customs to obtain evidence over the completeness of provisions,
Based on our work performed, we are satisfied that the assumptions
and judgements used by the Group are reasonable.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate.

In establishing the overall approach to‘ﬁur audst, we assessed the risk of material misstatement, taking into acccunt the nature, likelihood
and potential magnitude of any misstatement. Following this assessment, we applied professional jJudgment to determine the extent of

testing required over each balance in the financial statements.

The Group and Company financial statements are produced using a single consolidation system that has a direct interface with the general
ledger. The Group audit team performed att audit procedures over the consolidation for the purposes of the Group audit, which included
testing over the general ledger system and i1ts interface with the consolidaticn system. The Group alse has investments in two joint ventures
[Broadgate and Meadowhalll, which were subject to audits of their complete financial infermation by the Group audit team.

This work gave us sufficient appropriate audit evidence for our opimon on the Group financial statements as a whole.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together
with gqualitative consideratiens, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual financial staterment line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on

the financial staternents as awhale.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matertality for the financial statements as a whele as follows:

Group financial statements

Company financial statements

Overall materiality E£131.8 milhign {2017: £135.0 miltionl.

£287.0 mithon [2017: £283.0 million).

How we determined it 1% of total assets.

1% of total assets

Rationale for henchmark
applied

Akey determinant of the Group's value is direct
property investrnents. Due to this, the key area
of foeus in the audit 1s the valuation of
mvestment properties. On this basis, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
Group materiality level based on total assets.

The parent company’s main activity 1s the hotding
of investments In subsidiaries. Given this, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
parent company materiality level based on total
assets. For purposes of the Group audit, we capped
the overall materiality for the company to be $0% of
the Group overall materiality.

In addition, for the Group we set a specific materiality level of £19.6m [2017: £19.4m] for items within underlying pre-tax profit. This equates to
5% of profit before tax adjusted for capial and other items. [n arriving at this judgement we had regard to the fact that the underlying pre-tax
profit1s a secondary financial mdicator of the Group [Refer ta Note 2 of the financial statements page 112 where the term is defied in full),

For the Group and Company, we agreed with the Audit Commuttee that we would report to therm misstatements identified during cur audit
of underlying pre-tax items above £1m [2017. £1m] as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons. We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them, any other misstatements identified during our audit
above £6.5rm [2017: £6.7m) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Fitttncial statcments

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Going concern
In accordance with 1ISAs [UK] we report as follows:

Reporting obligation

COutcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or
draw attention to In respect of the directors’ statement in the
financial statements about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements and tha directors’ identification
of any material uncertainties to the Group's and the Company's
ability to continue as a gomng cancern over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements.

We have nothing matenal to add or to draw attention to. As not
all future events or conditions can be predicted, this staterment
1S not a guarantee as to the Group's and Company’s abitity to
continue as a going concern,

We are reguired to report if the directors’ statement relating to
Gotng Concern wn accordance with Listing Rule 9.8 6R(3) is
materiatly inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We have nothing to report.

Reperting on other information )

The other information comprises all of the infermatian in the Annuat
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ repart
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.
Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
infermation and, accordingly, we do net express an audit opinon er,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in daing so,
censider whether the other information 1s materiatly inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an
apparent materal inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether thereis a
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there 1s 8 material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additionai Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statemnent,
we aiso considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the respansibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
[CA08). 1ISAs (UK and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority [FCA] require us also to repart certain opinions and
matters as described below [required by ISAs (UK} unless
otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
gudit, the information given In the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2018
15 consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements. [EAQ4]

In Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic
Reportand Directors’ Report and Additionat Disclosures. [CAQ4)
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Corporate Governance Statement

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
[on page 67 in the Governance Review section] about internal
controls and risk management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share camital structuras in
compliance with rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCA ("DTR") 1s consistent with
the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements. [CAQ4)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
and thair environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements i this infermation. [CAQS)

inour opinton, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the infermation given in the Corporate Governance Statement
[on pages 63 and 64 1n the Governance Review section] with respect
to the company’s corporate governance code and practices and
about its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their committees complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the
DTR. [CAQ¢)

We have nothing to repert arising from cur responsibility to report if
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
company. [CAD4]

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity
of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

- Thedirectors’ confirmation on page 50 of the Annual Report that
they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or Liquidity.

— The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks
and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

- The directors’ expianation on page 51 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
pericd they have done so and why they consider that pericd to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have 2
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liahilities as they fall due over the period
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.



We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the longer-term viability of the Group. Our review was substantially
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements;
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
prowisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code [the "Code”); and
considering whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Cempany and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit. [Listing Rulesi

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our respensibility to
report when:

- The statement giver: by the directors, on page 47, that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the infermation necessary for
the members to assess the Group's and Company’s posttion and
performance, business model and strategy is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtained in the course of performing our audit.

- The section of the Annual Report on page 6% describing the work
of the Audit Comrnittee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

- The directors’ statement relating to the company’'s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant pravision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration

In ur opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report tc be
audited has been property prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006. [CAQ4)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibitities Statement
set out on page 95, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financizl statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability to cantinue as
a gaing concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

! Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financiat statements as a whole are free from matenal
misstatement, whether due te fraud or error, and to 1ssué an
auditors report that includes our opinion. Reascnable assurance

1s & high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs [UK] will always detect & material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considerad material if, individually orin the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the econormic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements ts located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This repert, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.

We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report

1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent Inwriting.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,
in aur opINIoN:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the cormpany,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by la
are not made; or :

- the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report ta be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit cormmittee, we were
appontad by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements far the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial pertods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement 1s
4 years, cavering the years ended 31 March 2015 tc 31 March 2618.

E John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
¢ for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
i Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

16 May 2018
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
Capital Capital
Underlying'  and other Total Underlying'  and other Total
Note tm fm £m fm £m fm
Revenue 3 561 78 439 556 33 589
Costs 3 (138} (64) {200] (122} {26] {148]
3 425 14 439 434 7 441
Joint ventures and funds [see also below] n 15 36 151 132 {80) 52
Administrative expenses (82) - (82) [84] - (84)
Valuation movement 4 - 202 202 - [144) 144
Profit [loss) on disposal of investment properties
and investments - 18 18 - {5 (5l
Net financing costs
- hnancing income 6 1 - 1 2 42 44
- financing charges é {65) (163) {228) (80} [29] {109
164) {163) (227} (78] 13 (65}
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 394 107 501 404 (209 195
Taxation 7 - 6 [ 1 ]
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Attributable to nan-controlling interests 14 - 14 14 (1) 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 380 13 493 390 [197] 193
Earnings per share:
- basic 2 48.7p . 18.8p
- diluted 2 48.5p 14.7p
All results derive from cantinuing cperations.
2018 2017
Capital Capital
Underlying' and other Total Underlying' and other Total
Note £m £m £m Em €m £m
Results of jaint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 115 - 115 132 - 132
Valuation movement 4 - 52 52 - (93] (93]
Capital financing costs - 13) 13 - (6] (6]
[Loss) profit on disposal of investment properties,
trading properties and investments - 13) (3) - 18 8
Taxatien - ~ - - 1 1
11 115 38 151 132 80 52

' See defimtionin note 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Other comprehensive income {loss):
Itemns that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain {loss] on pension schemes 9 2}
Valuation movemnents on owner-occupied properties (3] -
6 112)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains (losses) an cash flow hedges
- Group 12 (21
- Jointventures and funds 8 1
20 (20)
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges]
- Interest rate derjvatives 120 16
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income (5) -
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 141 [15)
Total comprehensive income for the year 548 180
Attributable to non-controlling interests 16 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 632 177
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Financia] stements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2007
Nt €m i
ASSETS
Non-current assets
investment and development properties 10 2,507 9.073
Owner-occupied properties ’ 18 90 4
9,597 2,167
Other nen-current assets
Investrments in joint venturas and funds " 2,822 2.766
Qther investments 12 174 54
Deferred tax assets 16 4 4
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 115 217
12,712 12,308
Current assets
Joint venture held for sale 1 - 540
Trading properties 10 328 334
Debtors 13 35 171
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
468 1,159
Total assets 13,180 13,467
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 (27) 464}
Crediters 14 {324} |458)
Corporation tax (22} 1361
' 1373} 1952l
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans 17 13,101 {2,817
Cther non-current habilities 15 {62) 78}
Interast rate and currency derivative liabilities 17 (138} 144]
13,301) {3.039)
Total liabilities 13,674} {3,991
Net assets 9,504 9478
EQUITY
Share capital 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 33 1971
Retained earnings 7,458 7.547
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 9,252 9,221
Non-controlling interests . 254 255
Totat equity 9,506 0478
EPRA NAV per share’ Z §67p 15p

Ao gehimez -vnae ?

Gt K

John Gildersleeve Chris Grigg

Chairman Chuef Executive Dthicer

The financizl statements on pages 104 to 147 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalt on 16 May 2018
Campany number 621920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
Note £m fm
Rental income received from tenants 446 4b4
Fees and other income receved 78 b4
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees (173) [149]
Cash generated from operations 351 379
Interest paid (73) (92}
Interest received 4 8
Corperation taxation [payments] repayments (7} 9
Distributions and other recevables from joint ventures and funds " 78 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure (190) {225)
Purchase of investment properties 165 (87)
Sale of imvestment and trading properties 212 761
Payments receved in respect of future trading property sales 8 8
Disposal of joint venture held-for-sale " 5468 -
Disposal of Tesca joint venture 48 -
Purchase of investments 9] (19]
Indirect taxes paid 1n respect of investing activities 7 1)
Investment in and loans to joint ventures and funds (175) {50]
Capital distributions and loan repayments from joint venturas and funds ‘36 83
Net cash inflow from investing activities 346 470
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 2 3
Umit issues attributable to non-contretling interests 2 -
Purchase of own shares (301) (8]
Cwidends paid 19 1304) [295]
Dividends paid te non-contrelling interests (15) [14]
Acguisition of units in Hercules Unit Trust 4) 4]
Payments on closeout of interest rate derwative liabilities (18) {13)
Receipts on closeout of Interest rate derivative assets 27 -
Decrease in bank and other berrowings (6268) [524)
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowmgs 529 3
Net cash outflow from financing activities (708) (833)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 9 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Apnil 114 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Hedging
and Re- Non-
Share Share transtation  valuation Merger  Retained controlling Total
capial  premwum reserve! reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
£m £m £m €m £ £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 {1121 15 213 7,547 9,221 256 9,476
Praofit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of ewner-occupred property - - - (3) - - (3) - (3)
Gains on cash flow hedges - Group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the incorme statement
[cash flow hedges)

- Interest rate derivatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - ~ - ? 9 - ?
Reserves transfer - - 2 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - - (5] - - - (5] - (51
Qther comprehensive income - - 123 7 - 9 13% 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 648
Share i1ssues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Umit issues attributable to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares 12) - - - - {289) {301 - (301)
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (4 14
Dividends payable in year (29.64p per share! - - - - - {302] (302) - (302}
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 15) (15)
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 1" 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Balance at 1 April 2014 250 1,295 {107} 4 13 7667 9342 277 9,619
Profit for the year atter taxation -~ - - - - 193 193 3 196
Losses on cash flow hedges - - (21 - - - [21] - (21}
Exchange and hedging movements in joint ventures
and funds ~ - - 1 - - 1 - 1
Reclassification of gains on cash flow hedges

- Interest rate derivatives - - 16 - - - 16 - 16
Net actyarial loss on pension schemes - - - - - (12} (12) - {12)
Other comprehensive {loss) income - - (5} 1 - 2] (16) - f1él
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (5) ] - 181 177 3 180
Share issues - 3 - - - - 3 - 3
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - - {8l 18] - {8)
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - N Wl
Gain on purchase of units from non-controlling
Interests - - - - - 1 1 - 1
Dividends payable in year (28.78p per sharel - - - - - {296] [296] - {296}
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 14 (141
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 [112) 15 213 1547 922 255 5,476

! The balance at the beginming of the current year includes £15m ia relation to translation and (£127)min retation to hedging 2016/17: £9m and (£116mI1.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting
policies and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

have been prepared on the histerical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments held for trading and
derivatives. The financial statements have alsc been prepared

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
[IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and interpretations
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee [IFRS IC], and
therefore comply with article 4 of the EU IAS regulation, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006. In the current financiat
year the Group has adopted a number of minor amendments to
standards effective in the year issued by the IASB and endorsed
by the EU, none of which have had a material impact an the Group.
The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with those
contained in the Group's previous Annual Repert and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective for the
current accounting peried. None of these are expected to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Certain standards which could be expected to have animpact en the
consolidated financial statements are discussed in further detail
below. The Group conducted an impact assessment cf the new
standards which are effective next year based on the Group’s current
activities and have quantified the impact. The results of the impact
assessment confirm that the new standards will lead to hmited
changes to presentation and disctosure and will have an immaterial
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS ¢ - Financial instruments {effective year ending March 2019)

- The pew standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets.

- The alignment of the classificatien and measurement model
under IFRS 9 will result In changes in the classification of all
financial assets excluding derivatives. These changes will not
have a quantitative iImpact on the financial statements.

- IFRS 2introduces an expected credit loss model, reguiring an
expected credit loss to be recogrised on all financial assets held
at amortised cost. The guantitative impact based on balances as
at 31 March 2018 will result in the recognition of an expected
credit loss of £5m, with a corresponding reduction in financial
assets held at amortised cost of £5m. The Group has previously
provided for a materially simitar balance against trade and other
recewables and therefore the resulting reclassification of
existing provisions will not have & material impact on the net
assets of the Group.

- |FRS 9introduces changes to the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and nan-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy. The changes to hedge accounting under IFRS 9
will result in qualitative enhancements to the interest rate and
foreign currency risk management disclosures. The changes
introduced by tFRS 9 will not have a guantitative impact on the
consolidated financiat statements of the Group.

IFRS 15 ~ Revenue from contracts with customers [effective year

ending 31 March 2019)

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step model for the recognition of revenue and
establishing principles for reporting useful information to users
of financial statements about the nature, iming and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers. The new standard does not apply to rental income,
which 1s 1n the scope of |AS 17, but does apply to service charge
ncome, management and performance fees and trading property

disposals. The changes introduced by IFRS 15 will result in
minimal qualitative changes to the revenue disclosure and will
not have a quantitative impact on the consolidated financial
statermnents of the Group.

IFRS 16 - Leases {effective year ending 31 March 2020]

- Forlessees, IFRS 16 will result in almost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinctien between
operating and finance leases will be removed. The accounting
for lessars will however not significantly change. As a result,
on adoption of the new standard, these changes will have
an immaterial impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates [including funds)

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of The British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries [entities controlled by British
Land]. Contrel is assumed where British Land is exposed, or has
the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with investees
and has the ability to affect those returns through ts power over
those investees.

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or assoclates acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal. Accounting policies

i of subsidiaries, joint ventures or assoclates which differ from Group

accounting policies are adjusted on consclidation.

Business combinaticns are accounted for under the acquisition
method. Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent labilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwill. Any discount received is credited to the income statement
in the period of acquisition,

Allintra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses

are eliminated on consolidation. Joint ventures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method,
whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group's
share [investor’s share! of the net assets of its joint ventures and
associates. The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group’s share of joint venture and associate profits after tax. Their
profits include revaluation movements on vestment properties.

Distriputions and other recevables from joint ventures and
associates [including funds] are classed as cash flows from
operating activities, except where they relate to a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as a praperty or investment
disposal. In this case they are classed as cash flows from
investing activities.

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date. Investment and owner-cccupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing mvestment propertesis
recognised in the capitat and other column of the income statement.

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-occupled properties above
cost s recognised in other comprehensive income, and any deficit
arising 1 revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading
propertes 1s recognised in the capital and other column of the
Income staterment
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Financial statements

NOTES TGO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The cost of properties in the course of development includes
attributable interest and other associated outgaings including
attributable development personnel costs. Interest is calculated on
the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, and otherwise on the wetghted average interast rate
of British Land Cempany PLC borrowings. Interest is not capitalised
where no developrnent activity 15 taking place. A property ceases to
be treated as a development property on practical completion

Investment property disposals are recognised on campletion.
Profits and losses arising are recognised through the capital and
other column of the Income statement. The profit on disposal s
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset al the commencerment of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period.

Trading properties are intially recogrised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recognised in line with the
revenue policles outlingd below.

Where investment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value. If properties held for trading are
appropriated to investment properties, they are transferred at book
value. In determining whether leases and related properties represent
gperating or finance leases, consideration ts given ta whether the
tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets and liabilities

Trade debtors and creditors are initially recognised at fair vatue
and subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted
as appropriate.

Other investments include loans and recevabiles held at amortised
cost and nvestments held for trading classiied as fair value through
profit or loss. Amortised cost of loans and receivables 1s measured
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest 1s
recogmsed by applying the effective interest rate. Investments held
for trading are initialty recorded at fair value and are subsequentiy
externally valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date. Any
surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investrments hetd for trading 1s
recognised in the capital and other column of the income statement.

Where an investment property is held under a head lease, the head
lease s intially recognised as an asset, being the sum of the premium
pard on acquisition plus the present valde of minimum ground rent
payments. The correspanding rent Lability to the head leaseholder

1s included in the balance sheet as a finance lease cbligation.

Debt instruments are stated at their net praceeds on issue. Finance
charges including premia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct issue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method. Exceptional finance charges incurred
due to early redemption (including premiums) are recogrused in the
income staterment when they accur,

Convertible bonds are designated as farrvalue through profit or toss
and s¢ arenitially recognised at fair value with all subsequent gains
and losses, including the write-off of 1Issue costs, recognised in the
capital and other column of the income statement as a component of
net financing costs. The interest charge in respect of the coupen rate
on the bonds has been recognised within the underlying cormponent
of net financing costs on an accruals basis.
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As defined by |AS 39, cash flow and fair value hedges are iitially

| recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are

entered into, and subsequently remeasured at fair value. Changes

in the fair value of dervatives that are designated and qualify as
effective cash Hlow hedges are recogrised directly through other
comprehensive iIncome as a movement in the hedging and translation
reserve. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as effective fair value hedges are recorded in the capital
and other coturnn of the income statement, along with any changes
in the fair value of the hedged itern that s attributabie to the hedged
risk. Any ineffective portion of all derivatives 15 recognised in the
capital and other column of the income statement. Changes in

the fair value of derivatives that are not in a designated hedaing
relationship under |AS 3% are recorded directly in the capital and
other column of the income statement. These derivatives are carried
at fair value on the balance shest.

Cash equivalents are imited to instruments with a matunity of (ess
than three months.

Held for sale assets

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is
expected to be recovered or setiled principally through sale rather
than through continuing use. The asset must be available for
irnmediate sate and the sale must be highty prabable within one year
of the reporting date. Held for sale assets are rneasured at the lower
of carrying vatue and farr value less costs to sell. fmpairment losses
on initial classification as held for sale and gains or losses on
subsequent re-measurements are included in the capital and other
column of the income statement.

Revenue
Revenue comprises rental income and surrender premia, service

| charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds

from the sale of trading properties.

Rental incame, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
property leased out under an operating lease is recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions ta
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-Line basis being
an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the investment
property. Any rent adjustments based on open market estimated
rental values are recognised, based on management estimates, from
the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent reviews. Contingent
rents, being those lease payments that are not fixed at the inception
of the lease, including for example turnover rents, are recognised n
the period in which they are earned.

Surrender premia for the earty determination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease concerned.
Service charge income 15 recognised as revenue in the period to
which it refates.

Management and performance fess receivable are recognised as
revenue In the period to which they relate. Performance fees are
recognised at the end of the performance period when the fee
amount can be estimated reliably and it 1s virtually certain that the
fee will ba received.

Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are recognised when
the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
purchaser. This generally occurs en completion. Proceeds from the
sale of trading properties are recogrised as revenue in the capital
and other column of the Incame statement. All other revenue
described above is recognised in the undertying column of the
Income staterment.



Taxation

Current tax 15 based on taxable profit for the year and 1s calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date. Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are not taxable (or tax deductiblel.

Deferred tax s provided on items that may become taxable in the
future, orwhich may be used to offset against taxable profits in the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and hiabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis.

Cn business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments s incorporated in the consalidated balance sheet.

Employee costs .

The fair vatue of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
15 determined at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest. In the case of options
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes pricing model.

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
values. Pension scheme Liabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the scherme hiabilities.
The net surplus [where recoverable by the Group) or deficitis
recognised in full in the consclidated balance sheet. Any asset
resulting from the caiculation 1s limited to the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions te the plan.

The current service cost and gans and losses on settlement and
curtailments are charged to operating profit. Actuariat gains and
losses are recogrsed in tullin the period in which they accur and are
presented in the consolidated staternent of comprahensive income.

Contributions to the Group's defined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contribution.

Accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the Group’s acceunting policies, the Directers are
required to make judgements and estimates that affect the
financial statements.

Significant areas of estimation are:

Valuation of properties and investments held for trading:

The Group uses external professional valuers to determine the
relevant amounts. The primary source of evidence for property
valuations should be recent, comparable market transactions on
an arms-length basis. However, valuations of the Group's property
portfolio and ivestments held for trading are inherently subjective,
as they are made on the hasis of assumptions made by the valuers
which may not prove to be accurate.

Other less significant areas of estimation include the valuation of
fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives, the determination of
share-based payment expense, the actuarial assumptions used
in calculating the Group's retirerment benetit obligations and
taxation provisions.

The key areas of accounting judgerment are:

REIT status: British Land 1s 2 Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT]
and does not pay tax on its property INCOmMe or gains on property
sales, provided that at teast 90% of the Group's property income 1s
distributed as a dividend to shareholders, which becomes taxable

in their hands. In addition, the Group has to meet certain conditions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% of total profits and assets. Any potential or proposed changes

to the REIT legislation are monitored and discussed with HMRC.

It 15 management’s intention that the Group will continue as a REIT
for the foreseeable future.

Accounting for joint ventures and funds: In accordance with IFR5 10
‘Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11 Jaint arrangements’,
and IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’ an assessment
15 required to determine the degree of control or influence the Group
exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the financial
staternen! treatment is appropriate. The assessment undertaken by
management includes a consideration of the structure, legal form,
contractual terms and other facts and circumstances in relation to
the entity in question, prior to reaching a conclusion. This assessment
15 updated annually and there have been no changes in the judgement
reached in relation to the degree of control the Group exercises
within the current or prior year. Group shares in joint ventures and
funds resulting from this process are disclosed in note 11 to the
financial statements.

Interest in the Group's jeint ventures is commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that controlis
shared between the partners. All significant joint venture arrangements
of the Group are held in structures in which the Group has 50% of the
voting rights. Joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group’s share of the net assets of 1t Joint ventures and associates.
The consolidated incorme statement incorporates the Group's share
of joint venture and associate profits after tax.

Accounting for transactions: Property transactions are complexin
nature and can be material to the financial statements. judgements
made in relation to transactions include whether an acquisition s a
business combination or an asset; whether hetd for sale criteria have
been met for transactions not yet completed; and accounting for
iransaction costs and contingent consideration. Management
consider each transaction separately in order to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary,
seek Independent advice.
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2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earmings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRA)
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share. The relevant earnings and weighted average number of shares {including dilution adjustments)
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures [Table B).

EPRA earmings per share is calculated using EPRA earmings, which s the IFRS profit after taxation attributable to shareholders of the
Company excluding investment and development property revaluations, gams/lesses on investing and trading property disposals, changes
in the fair value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs and their related taxation. The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in
the current year. In the prior year diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the dilutive impact of the 2012 convertible bond, as the
Group's share price was below the exchange price of 493 pence. IFRS diluted earnings per share inctuded the dilutive impact as |1A5 33
)gnores this hurdle to conversion. In the current and prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015
convertible bond as the Company’s share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to
trigger conversiarn intc shares.

Underlying earnings per share is calcutated using Underlying Profit adjusted for undertying taxation [see note 7). Underlying Prafit 1s the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments. No Cempany adjustments were made in either the current or prior year.

2018 2617
Relevant Relevant

Relevant humber Earnings Relevant number Earnings

earnings of shares per share earnings of shares per share
Earnings per share £m million pence £m million pence
Underlying ’
Underlying basic 280 1,013 37.5 390 1.029 379
Underlying diluted 380 1,016 374 390 1,033 37.8
EPRA
EPRA basic 380 1,013 375 396 1.02¢ 379
EPRA diluted 380 1,016 37.4 390 1,033 37.8
IFRS
Basic 493 1,013 48.7 193 1,029 188
Diluted 493 1,016 48.5 160 1,091 14.7

Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value [NAV] per share and EPRA triple net asset value [NNNAV] per
share. The net asset value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below. A reconciliation between IFRS net assets
and EPRA net assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures
[Table B|. EPRA net assets is a proportionally consolidated measure that 1s based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-rmarket on
derivatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bends as well as deferred taxation on property and .
derivative valuations. They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share options.

The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in the current year. In the prior year EPRA NAV and EPRANNNAV did not include the dilutive smpact of
the 2012 convertible bond, as the Group's share price was below the exchange price of 623 pence. In the current and prior year, both EPRA and
IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company’s share price had not exceeded the level reguired for
the convertible conditions attached ta the bond to trigger conversion into shares.

2018 2017

Relevant Net asset Relevant Net asset

Relevant number value per Relevant number value per

net assets of shares share net assets of shares share

Net assetvalue per share £m million pence £m million pence
EPRA

EPRA NAV 9,560 989 967 2,498 1.038 915

EPRA NNNAV 7,044 989 914 8,938 1,038 861

1IFRS
Basic 9,506 983 967 9,476 1,029 921
Dhtuted 9,506 989 9461 9.876 1,094 701

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to total accounting return. This is calculated as the increase in EPRA net
asset value per share and dividend paid In the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year.

2018 2017
Increasein  Dividend per Total Oecrease in Ondend per Total
NAY per share share paid accounting NAY per share share paid accounting
petice pence return pence pence refurn
Total accounting return 52 29.64 8.9% 14) 28.78 27%

112 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018



3 Revenue and costs

2018 2017
Capital Capitat

Underlying and other Total Underlying and other Total

£m £m £m Em Em E£m

Rent receivable 441 - 441 449 - 449
Spreading of tenant iIncentives and guaranieed rent Increases () - (6 (9] - 1]
Surrender premia [ - [ 2 - 2
Gross rental income 441 - (1A 442 - 442
Trading property sales proceeds - 78 78 - 33 33
Service charge income 86 - 56 62 - &2
Management and performance fees (from joint ventures and funds] & - & 9 - 9
Other fees and commissions 48 - 48 43 - 43
Revenue 541 78 639 556 33 589
Trading property cost of sales - (64) (64) - [26) 126}
Service charge expenses 68} - (66) 162 - 162}
Praperty aperating expenses (29) - (29 (29] - {25]
Other fees and comrmissions expenses {41 - {41 35 - {35]
Costs 1134) 164) (2090) 122) [26) [148)
425 14 439 434 7 441

The cash element of net rental income recognised during the year ended 31 March 2018 from properties which were not subject to a security
Interest was £301m [2016/17: £276m]. Property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental mcome
were £2m [2016/17: £2m). Contingent rents of £4m [2016/17: £2m] were recogrised in the year.

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 2017
£m £m
Consotidated income statement
Revaluation of properties 202 [144]
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method 52 (931
254 (2371
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluatian of owner-cccupied properties (3) -
251 (237}
5 Auditors’ remuneration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 02
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Compary’s subsidiaries, pursuant ta legislation 0.4 0.4
Total audit fees 0.7 0.6
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 07
Other fees
Cther services 0.2 01
Total 1.0 0.8

In addition to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated for non-audit fees in PREF, an equity accounted property fund
[see note 11). The Group's share of fees totalled £0.1m [2014/17: £0.1m]. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the externat auditors to PREF.
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6 Net financing costs

2018 2017
£m £m
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdrafts (21 [2¢]
Derwvatives 28 23
Other loans 176} 83)
Obligations under head leases 12} i2]
{71 (88l
Development interest capitalised [] 8
165) (8]
Financing income
Deposits, securities and liguid imvestments 1 i
1 Z
Net financing charges — underlying {64] {781
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on transiation of foreign currency net assets m -
Hedging reserve recycling' {106) -
Valuation movements on far value derivatives (79 51
Valuation movements on fair value debt 80 148]
Recycling of fair value movement on close-out of dervatives (14) (10
Capital hnancing costs? (27) {15}
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted derivatives 118) i7}
(163) 129
Financing income
Fair value movernent on corvertible bonds ~ 42
- 42
Net financing (charges) income - capital {1631 13
Net financing costs
Total finaricing income 1 44
Total financing charges [228) {109}
Net financing costs 1227) {65}

Interest payable on unsecured bank loans and related interest rate derivatives was £9m {2016/17: £13ml. Interest on development expenditure
1s capitalised at the Group’s weighted average interest rate of 2.0% (2016/17. 2.4%]. The weighted average interest rate on a proportionately

consolidated basis at 31 March 2018 was 2.8% [2016/17: 3.1%).

! Represents a reclassificaton of cumulative lasses within the hedging and transtation reserve to capitat profit and loss, in relation to hedging instruments which have

been closed vut or are no longer hedge accounted
* Primarily debenture bonds redemptiion and tender offer and purchase costs
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7 Taxation

2018 2007
£m Emn
Taxatioh income [expense)
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation: 19% [2016/17: 20%] - (3]
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Total current taxationincome 1 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and dervatives 5 -
Group total taxation s 1
Attributable to joint ventures and funds = 1
Total taxation income & 2
Taxation reconciliation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Less: profit attributable to joint ventures and funds’ 1151 (52
Group profit on ordinary activities before taxation 350 143
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% (2016/17: 20%] 167) {29)
Effects of;
REIT exempt income and gains A 28
Taxation tosses (4) (2}
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5 -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Group total taxation income é !

' Acurrent taxation expense of £mil{2016/17 £nill and a deferred taxation credit of £nil [2016/17- £1m arose on profits attributable to Joint ventures and funds. The low tax

charge refiects the Groug's REIT status

Taxabion expense attributable to Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £mil {2016/17: Erill. Corporation taxation payable at
31 March 2018 was £22m {2016/17: £30m) as shown on the balance sheet. During the year to 31 March 2018 various tax provisions in respect
of histaric taxation matters and current points of uncertainty in the UK have been released and provisions made. The net movement, which s

included within the tax credit above, is not material.

8 Staff costs

2018 2017

Staff costs (including Directors) £m £m
Wages and salaries 70 b4
Social security costs ? 8
Pension costs 7 7
Equity-settied share-based payments - 4
86 83

The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 265 (2016/17: 261). The average monthly number of Group

employees, including those employed directly at the Group’s properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 835 [2016/17. 771).

The average monthly number of employees of the Company withir each category of persons employed was as follows: Retail: 58; Offices: 34,

Canada Water: 13; Developments: 33; Storey: é; Support Functions: 121.

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key management personnel. Their emoturments are summarised below and

further detail1s disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91,

2018 2017

Directors” emotuments £m £m
Short terrn employee benefits 5.5 5.0
Service costin relation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 0.2
Eguity-settled share-based payments 11 1.9
6.8 71
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8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs

The Group's equity-setiled share-pased payments comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP}, the Matching Share Plan IMSP) and
various savings related share option schemes.

The Company expenses an estirmate of how many shares are Likely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance agamst the retevant performance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detart in the
Rernuneration Report.

For all schemes except the Company’s Leng-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date. The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Scholes model granted under the Company’s Long-Term Incentwve Plan
are shown below.

Long-Term ncentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2018 ® JzLélrlls
Share price and exercise price at grant date §17p
Expected option lfe in years 5
Risk free rate 0.8%
Expected volatility 24%
Expected dividend yield 5%
Value per option 48p

Moverments in shares and options are given in note 20.

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme {the scheme’] 1s the principal defined benefit pension schemein the Group. The
assets of the scheme are held in a trustee-administered fund and kept separate from those of the Company. It 15 not contracted out of SERPS
[State Earnings-Reiated Pension Schemel and it 1s not planned to admit new employees to the scheme. The Group has three other small
defined benefit pension schemes. There is also a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme. Contribuhions to this scheme ore at a flat rate of
15% of salary for non-Directors and are paid by the Company.

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m (2016/17: £7m]. of which £5m [2016/17: £4mi relates to defined contributian ptans
and E2rn [2016/17: £3m) relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes.

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried eut at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates LLtd. The employer's
contributions will be paid in the future at the rate recommended by the actuary of 72.9% per annum of basic salaries. The best estimate of
employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 2019 is £5m. The major assumptions used for the actuanial valuation were:

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa

Discount rate 2.6 2.4 3.2 3.1 L4
Salarynflation 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 52
Pensions increase 33 3.2 3.2 3.2 35
Price inflation 3.4 3.4 3.3 33 3.7

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortabity tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The assumptions are
that a member currently aged 60 will Live on average for a further 28 8 years if they are male and for a further 30.5 years if they are female.
Fora rmember who retires i1 2038 at age 60, the assumptions are that they will live on average for g turther 30 4 years atter retirement 1
they are male and for a further 31.6 years after retirement if they are femnale.

Composition of scheme assets

2018 2017

£m £m

Equities 54 60
Diversified growth funds 85 84
Other assets 13 10
Total scheme assets 152 154

The vast majornity of the scheme assets are quoted inan active market.
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9 Pensions continued

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's abligations in respect of 1ts defined benefit scheme 1s as follows:

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

£m £m fm Em £m

Present value of defined scheme obligations (147) 1167) 143] 145 (125)
Fairvalue of scheme assets 152 154 137 139 131

Irrecoverable surplus 5) - - - 16
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - (13) {6} ) -

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation in relatian to the major actuarial assumptions used to measure scheme liabibties are as follows:

Increase/[decrease} in
defined scheme obhgations

Change in 2018 2017
Assumption assumption £m £m
Discount rate +0.59% 4] 8
Salary inflation +0.5% 1 1
/Pl inflation +0.5% 12 17
Assumed bfe expectancy +1 year 4 5
History of experience gains and losses
208 2017 2086 2015 2014
£m E£m £rn fm £m
Total actuarial gain (loss) recagnised in the consclidated statement
of comprehensive income!
Amount? g [12] {1 (5] (2}
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 6.1% 7.2% 0.7% 3.6% 1.6%
' Movements stated after adjusting forirrecoveramlity of any surplus.
- Cumutative loss recognised In the statement of comprehensive income s £40m (2016/17: £49m]
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9 Pensions continued
Movements in the present value of definad benefit cbligations were as follows:

2018 2017
£m tm
At April (167 (143)
Current service cost (2) {3]
Interest cost (4 (5]
Actuarial gain (Loss)
Gain [lossl from change in financial assumptions ' 7 (29]
Gain on scheme Liabilities arising from experience 7 [
Benehts paid 12 7
At 31 March 1147) 147
Movements in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows:
2018 2017
£m £m
At 1 April 154 137
Interest iIncorme on scheme assets 3
Contributions by employer 7
Actuarial [loss) gain - 1
Benefits paid n2) 15]
At 31 March 152 154

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed ta a number of risks, the most sigmificant of which are detailed belaw:

Asset volatility

The Labilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if assets underperform this yreld, this will

create a deficit. The scheme holds a significant portion of growth assets (eguities and diversified growth funds] which, although expected
to outperform corporate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk in the short term. The allecation to growth assets is monitored

to ensure it remains appropriate given the scheme’'s lang term objectives.

Changes in bond yields
Adecrease in corporate bond vields will increase the value placed on the scheme’s liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will
be partiatly offset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s bond hotdings.

inflation risk

The majority of the scheme's benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher Labilities (although, In most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The majonty of the assets are either
unaffacted by or anly loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflatron will also increase the detficit.

Life expectancy

The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increasas in life expectancy witl result
I an increase in the liabilities.
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10 Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Investment
Investment
and
Dffices & Canada development Dwner-
Retail  residential Water Developments  properties Trading occupled
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 {evel3 Level 3 properties Level 3 Total
£m Em £m £m £m fm £m £€m
Carrying value at 1 April 2017 5,021 3,616 286 150 9,073 334 94 9,501
Additions
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
- development expenditure 5 15 22 &4 86 46 - 132
- capitalised interest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management initiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
2N 16 33 46 366 56 - 422
Depreciation - - - - - - Y]] m
Disposals (134) 2) - - 138) {62) - (198)
Reclassifications (4l (137) - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in iIncome statement 40 165 21 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included in OCI - - - - - - (3 13)
Movement in tenant mcentives and contracted
rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 20 9,925
Head lease Liabilities [note 15) {62)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9997
Non-controlling interests (315}
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9,682
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2017

Inyestment
investment
and
Offices & Canada development Owner-
Retall residentiat Waler Developments properties Trading occupled
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 properties Level 3 Total
Em £m fm £m £m £m £m £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2014 5,617 3,435 256 334 9,643 325 95 10,063
Additions
- property purchases 80 - 8 - 88 - - 88
- development expenditure 12 4 10 55 81 56 - 137
- capitalised interest and staff costs - - 2 3 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management imtiatives 82 g 1 - 92 - - 92
174 13 21 58 266 61 - 327
Depreciation - - - - - - W M
Dispasats [624} 139) - 17) [670) [26) - [698)
Reclassifications - 273 27 271 27 (27) - -
Revaluations included in income statement 105} 57) {18] 36 [144] - - {144]
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances (41 (8) - - [49] 1 - 148]
Carrying value at 31 March 2017 5,021 3,616 286 150 9,073 334 94 9,501
Head lease liabiitres [note 15) [64)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 33
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 9,520
Non-contralling interasts {310)
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 attributable to shareholders 2210

Property vatuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or Liabilities.

Level2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level T that are ocbservable for the asset or Uability, either directly Le. as prices]
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data [unobservable inputs].

These levels are specified in accordance with IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement’. Property valuations are inherently subjective as they are
made on the basis of assumplions made by the valuer which may not prove o be accurate. For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA's
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13. The inputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in a table on the following page. There were no transfers between levels in the period.

The Group's total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

The informatien provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property
portfolio team, the Head of Offices, the Head of Retail and the Chief Financial Officer [Chief Executive Officer post January 2018]. The valuers
meet with the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit Commitiee at the interim and year end review of results. Further details
of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities in relation to valuations can be found in the Report of the Audit Committee jon pages 69 to 73],

Investment properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adepting the "investment method’ of valuation.

This approach involves applying capitalisation yietds to current and future rental streams net of incame voids arising from vacancres or
rent-free periods and associated running casts. These capitalisation ylelds and future rental values are based on comparable property
and leasing transactions in the market using the valuers’ professional judgement and market observation. Other factors taken into account
in the valuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy details and ground and structural conditions.
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10 Property continued

In the case of ongoing developments, the approach applied 15 the residual method’ of valuation, which is the snvestment method of valuation
as described above, with a deduction for all costs necessary to complete the developrment, including a notional finance cost, together with

a further allowance for remaining risk. Properties held for development are generally valued by adopting the higher of the residual method -
of valuation, allowing for all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset.

Copies of the valuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalie and Cushman & Wakefield can be found at
www.britishland.com/reports.

Abreakdown of valuations split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds 1s shown below:

2018 2007
Joint Joint
ventures ventures
Graup and funds Total Group and funds Tetat
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Knight Frank LLP 1,674 2,680 4,354 7.03 2,883 9914
CBRE 4,511 1,403 5,914 2,489 1,380 3,869
Jones Lang LaSalle 561 - 561 - 538 538
Cushman & Wakefield 3,251 19 3,270 - - -
Total property portfolio valuation 2,997 4,102 14,099 9,520 4,801 14,321
Nan-controlling interests 315) (58) 1383) (310] {71 [381)
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 9.682 4,034 13,716 9,210 4,730 13,940

Infoermation about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERV per sqft Equivalent yield Costs te complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Valuation Min Max Average Min Max  Average Min Max  Average
Investment £m . technique 3 £ £ % % % £ £ [3
Investment
Retail 5,210 methodology 2 84 24 3 9 5 - 51 2
Investment
Offices' 3,617 methodology 8 17 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
investrment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 a8 4 4 4 - 1 1
Investrment
Residential 70 methodslogy 15 29 22 2 6 4 - 2 (34)
Residual
Developments 355 methadology 18 (1] &1 2 5 5 - 614 b41
Total 9,535 :
Trading propertres
at fairvalue 4562
Group property
portfolio valuation 9,997

' |ncludes ewner-occupeed.
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10 Property continued
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2017

Fair value at ERV persgft Equivalent yietd Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2017 Valuation Min Max  Average Min Max  Average Min Max  Average
Investment Em technique £ £ t Yo % % £ £ £
Investrnent
Retail 4,987 methodology 2 7 22 4 1 5 - 48 4
Investment
Offices'? 3,695 methodology 7 ny 54 4 7 5 - 150 20
investment
Canada Water 271 methodology 15 25 22 2 5 3 - i8 10
Residual
Developments? 150 methodology 18 72 54 2 6 4 - 3 508
Total 9103
Trading properties
at fair value 417
Group property
portfolio valuation 9,520

' Includes owner-occupied
7 Includes Residential with an average capital vaiue per sq ft of £981 ncluding developments at end value and mixed use.

information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's property portfolio for the year
ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at Impact on valuations impact on valuations Impact on valuations

31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERV -25bps NEY  +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Retail 5,210 210 (1991 269 (278} n/a n/a
Cffices’ 4,079 167 [161) 244 [219) n/a nfa
Canada Water 283 4 {5 1 M 21 (201
Residentiat 70 1 1l 2 i2} - -
Developments 355 31 31 39 [35) 13 (13)
Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 [397) 555 (535) 34 [33)

T In¢ludes trading progerties at fair value.

Infarmation about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3} on the fair value of the Group’s property portfolio for the year
ended 31 March 2017

Fair value at lrnpact on valuations impact on valuations Impact on valuations

31 March 2017 +5% ERV -5% ERV -Z5bps NEY  +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs

£m Em £m Em £m Em Em

Retail 4,987 189 1176] 262 (238] nfa nfa
Otfices’ 4,018 176 1149] 231 {208) nila nfa
Canada Water 271 " (1 20 (17) n/a n/a
Residential 93 4 (4] b (6] n/a nfa
Oevelcpments 150 8 {12 (1 (23 3 (7}
Graup property portfolio valuation 9,520 388 {372 518 (471] 3 |7}

' Includes trading properties at fair value.

The valuation impact of changes in unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been restated.
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10 Property continued
All other factors being equal:

- Ahigher equivalent yield or discount rate would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset
- Anncrease in the current or estimated future rental stream would have the effect of Increasing the capital value
- Anincrease in the costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships between the uncbservabte inputs which are partially determined by market conditions, which would
impact on these changes.

Additional property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2018, the Group preperty portfolio valuation of £9,997m (2016/17: £9,520m) comprises freehelds of £5,711m [2016/17: £5,574m;
virtuat freehelds of £895m (2016/17: EBO9m); and long leaseholds of £3,391m (2016/17 £3,135m). The hustorical cost of properties was
£6,294m [2016/17: £6,024m).

The property valuation does not include any investment properties heid under operating leases (2016/17: £rull.
Cumulative interest capitalised against investment, development and trading properties amounts to £101m (2016/17: £95m).

Properties valued at £1,202m {2016/17: £1,882m] were subject to a security interest and other properties of non-recourse companies
amounted to £1,245m [2016/17: £1,158m)., totalling £2.447m [2016/17. £3.040m].

Included within the property valuation is £60m [2016/17: £62m)] in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift income. The balance arises
through the {FRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental iInceme on a straight-tine basis
over the {ease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which
revaluations are measured.

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

venlinolj:st Funds Total Equity Loans Total

Em Em £m £m £m €m

At 1 Aprit 2017 2,525 241 2,766 2,412 354 2,766

Additions 72 7 79 3 76 79

Share of profit on ordinary activities after taxation 149 2 151 151 - 191
Distributions and dividends:

- Capital (23] 13 (38) {38 - (38)

- Revenue {63 i15) (78] (78l - (78)

Hedging and exchange movements 8 - 8 8 - 8

Disposal of Tesco jomnt venture (68 (68] (68 - 68

At 31 March 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2,392 430 2,822

Additional investments in joint ventures and funds covenant information

At 31 March 2018 the investments in joint ventures included within the total investments in joint ventures and funds was £2,826m
(2016/17: £3,29m)], being the £2,822m total investment shown above, less the netinvestment of [£4m) [2016/17: €7m] in PREF, a property
fund in Continental Europe.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and tabilities
of jint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group’s accounting policies.

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgate MSC Property BL Sansbury
REIT Intermediate Superstores
Ltd' Holdings Ltd Ltd

Norges Bank

Eurc Bluebel! LLP Investment
Partners GIC} Management JSamsbury plc
City Offices Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m £m
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs 164) [23) -

141 79 39
Administrative expenses {1] - -
Net interest payable [82] (334 (14
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net valuation movement 105 21 (3]
Capital financing costs - - (26}
(Loss] profit on disposal of Investrment properties and investments 18] - 9
Profit {loss} on ordinary activities before taxation 195 67 3
Taxation - - -
Profit (loss] on ordinary activities after taxation 195 &7 3
Other comprehensive income (expenditurel 13 3 -
Total comprehensive income 208 70 3
British Land share of total comprehensive income [expense] 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 . 4 31
Summarised balance sheets £m £m £m
Investment and trading properties 4,668 1,895 523
Current assets 6 4 -
Cash and deposits 291 39 g0
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current Liabilities 107 (41] (24}
Bank and securitised debt (1,744 (641 {251
Loans fror joint venture partners [445) [364) -
Other non-current liabilities (a1] {20] -
Gross liabllities [2,357) (1,068) 1275)
Net assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net assets less shareholder leans 1,304 437 169

" Included within the Broadgate REIT revenue s a £29m [£15m British Land sharel payment received i June 2017 from the Royal Bank of Scotland in relation Lo their
surrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate )

* USS joint ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership.

' Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdate Co-Ownership Trust, Gibraltar Limited Partnership and Valentine
Co-Dwnership Trust and 41.25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust. The balance sheet shows 50% of the assels of these joint ventures and sub-funds.

¢ Included in the column headed ‘Other joint ventures and funds’ are contributions frem the follewing: BL Goodman Limited Partnerstup, The Aldgate Place Lirited
Partnership, Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retait Europark Fund (PREF). The Group’s ownership
share of PREF 1s 5%, however as the Group is not able to exercise control over sigrificant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for itswnterestin PREF

" Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £385m (2016/17: €437m.
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Uss Hercules Umit Trust Other Total
The ScuthGate Lirmiteq Joint Joint ventures Jeint ventures Totat Group share
Partnershiy ventures’ and sub-funds’ and funds 2018 2018
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investorg Scheme Group PLC
Shepping Shopping Retait
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
£m £Em Em £m £m £m
18 13 34 ) 469 235
(4] {4) (5i (2] (102] (51)
14 ? 31 4 347 184
(1) - - - (21 m
1} - 14) - (134) [68]
12 9 27 4 229 115
10 - {28] - 105 52
- - - - (26} (13}
i - - 2 (61 {31
23 ? Mm 6 302 151
23 9 (1l 6 302 151
- - - - 16 8
23 9 m [ 318 159
" 5 n 3 159
5 4 14 - 93
m £m £m £m £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 &0 3N
g 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 604 50 8,715 4,358
14) (5) (1] [15] (207) (105]
- - {140] - (2,776) [1,388]
- (28] - (6] (861) {430)
(28) - (4] 5 (88) (43)
(32) 31) (155) (16) (3,932) 1,964)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 13 226 16 2,392

The borrowings of joint ventures and funds and their subsidianes are non-recourse to the Group. All joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with the
exception of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust which are incorpoarated in Jersey Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust [HUT) joint
ventures and sub-funds areincorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These financial statements include the results and financial position of the Group's interest in the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership,

the BL Goodrman Limited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership. Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exemplions
provided by Regulation 7 of the Partnership [Accounts] Regulations 2008 not to attach the partnership accounts to these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and Labilities
of joint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated te the Group's accounting pelicies.

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

Broadgate MSC Property BL Samsbury

REIT Intermediate Superstores Tesco jont
Ltd Holdings Ltd Ltd ventures’

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investrment
Partners [GIC] Management J Sainshury ple Tesca PLC

City Gffices  Shepping Centres
Property sectar Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m £m £m
Revenue’ 245 99 49 19
Costs [62) (23) - -
193 76 49 19
Administrative expenses - - 2]
Net interest payable (82} (35) 21 (9]
Underlying Profit 1 4 28 8
Net valuation movement (185] i (46 (29]
Capital financing costs - (2] -
Profit on disposal of investment properties and investments - - 3 (3]
(Loss) prefit on ordinary activities before taxation {74} 40 (27) [24]
Taxation - - - 2
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation (74) 40 127) [22)
Other comprehensive income 1 - - 1
Total comprehensive income (73) 40 (27) 21)
British Land share of total comprehensive {expense) income 137) 20 (15) (10)
British Land share of distributions payable 32 17 55 4
Symmarised balance sheets £m £m £m £m
Investrnent and trading properties 4,478 1,842 769 325
Current assets 2 5 - -
Cash and deposits 290 37 17 2
Gross assets 4,770 1,884 786 327
Current liabtlities [88) 141 {22 {2
Bank and securitised debt [1,794) (668) [367) (185]

Loans from joint venture partners [357) (317)
Other non-current tizbilities {54) (23] - 14)
Gross liabilities {2,295] [1,049) (289} {191)
Net assets 2,475 835 397 136
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,237 {7 199 68

venlure was reclassified as a held for sale asset.

Included within the Broadygate REIT net valuation movement 1s a £20m payment receved in December 2016 from UBS A.G 1n relation to the developrnent and
occupation of 5 Broadgate, and subsequent vacahion of 100 Liverpool Street, including 8-10 Broadgate

Tesco joint ventures include BLT Holdings (2010) Limited as at 31 March 2017
USS joint ventures inctude the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Properly Partnership
The Leadenhall calumn shows the equity accounted profit and less for the period. Due to the transaction which exchanged in March 2017, the net investment in this

* Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-0Ownership Trust, Gibraltar Limited Partnership and Valentine

Co-Dwnership Trust and 41.25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust. The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds
Included in the column headed ‘Other joint ventures and funds’ are contributions from the following: BL Goodman Limited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited

Partnership, Bluebuttan Property Management UK Lirmited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retaill Europark Fund [FREF] The Group's ownership
share of PREF 1s 65%, however as the Group 1s not able to exercise contral over stigmificant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF,
" Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £437m [2015/16: £451m]
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uss

Leadenhall Hercules Unit Trust Other Total
The SouthGate Limited joint Holding Co joint ventures joint ventures Total Group share
Partnership ventures' [Jersey] Ltd and sub-funds® and funds® 2017 2017
Universities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Qxford
investors PLC Properues
Shopping Shopping City Offices Retall
Centres Centres | eadenhatl Parks
56% 50% 50% Various
Em £€m Em £m £m €m £m
17 14 43 35 1 522 260
15 5) (10] (4] {1) (100) [50)
12 9 33 3 - 422 210
(1 - - - 1] (4) 2
(1) - - 14} - (152) (76)
10 9 33 27 il 266 132
() A7 107 (16} - {183) (93)
- - - - - {12 (6)
- - - - 34 34 18
4 2 140 i 33 105 51
- - - - - 2 1
4 2 140 L 33 107 52
- - - - - 2 1
4 2 140 1 a3 109 53
2 1 70 5 17 53
1 - 5 14 4 132
£m Em Em £m Em £m Em
264 247 - 603 i 8,529 4,265
1 1 3 52 64 32
8 7 - 10 28 399 200
273 255 - &16 81 8,992 4,497
(4) ] - na [19] 1192) (96l
- - - (139 - [3,153) (1,577}
- (22 - - (12} {708) [354)
128) - - [4] - {115 (58)
[32) (28] - (153) 31 [4,168) [2,085)
241 227 - 463 50 4,824 2,2
121 114 - 21 25 2,412

The borrowings of joint ventures and funds and their subsidiaries are non-recourse to the Group. All joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with
the exception of Broadgate REIT Limited, the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and Leadenhall Holding Co Llersey] Lirmted which are incorparatedin Jersey

Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust [HUT) joint ventures and sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg.

These hnancial statements inciude the results and finanoiat position of the Group's interestin the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership,
the BL Goodman Lirmited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership. Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exemptions
provided by Regulation 7 of the Partnership [Accounts| Regulations 2008 not to attach the partnership accounts to these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
Joint venture held for sale

On 1 March 2017 the Group exchanged conditional contracts on an agreement to sell its interest in Leadenhall Holding Co [Jersey) Limited,

a joint venture with Oxford Properties. The net investment :n the joint venture was recognised as a held for sale asset from the date of

exchange in the prior period. On 24 May 2017 the transaction completed and the net investment was de-recognised.

Joint venture held for sale ~ summarised balance sheet for the year ended 31 March

Leadenhatl Holding Co
{Jersey] Limited

08 2017
£m £m

Investrnent property - 1.075
Current assets - 17
Current liabilities - 3]
Loans from joint venture partners - [371]
Net assets - 708
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans - 355
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds (Group share]

2018 2017

£m £m
Rental income received from tenants 199 207
Fees and other income received - -
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees {22 {201
Cash generated from operations 177 187
Interest paid (73) (84)
Interest received 1 1
UK corporatien tax paid 11) (2]
Cash inflow from operating activities 104 102
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retained within jeint ventures and funds 26 43
Revenue distributions per consclidated staterment of cash flows 78 59
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Attributable to non-controtling interests 2 4
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 76 55
12 Other investments
2018 2017
Investment Leans, Property, Investment Loans, Property,
held for receivables plantand Intangible held for recewables plant and Intangible
trading and other  equipment assets Total trading  and other  egquipment assets Total
£m £m £m £m £m Em Em Em £m £m

At 1 April 23 4 1" 9 154 101 26 12 3 142
Additions - - 15 4 19 - 14 1 7 22
Bisposals - (2) - - (2) - (2] - - 12
Revaluation 5 3 - - 8 5] 3 - - (5]
Depreciation/amortisation - - 2 (3} (5) - - 2] (] (3]
At 31 March 98 42 24 10 174 93 41 1 9 154

The investment held for trading comprises interests as a trust beneficiary. The trust's assets comprise freehold reversions in a pool of
commercigl properties, comprising Sainsbury’s superstores. The interestis categorised as Leve! 3.in the fairvalue hierarchy, 1s subject
to the sarme inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation.
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13 Debtors

2018 207

£m Em

Trade and other debtors 28 22
Deposits received relating to held for sale asset! - 144
Prepayments and accrued income 7 S
35 171

' Prior year balance relates to deposit received on held for sale joint venture transaction (see note 11] recogmsed as a financiat asset, the realisation of which was
conditionat and not guaranteed as at the prior year balance sheet date.

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £14m {2016/17: £14m). The charge to the income
statement in relation to bad and doubtful debts was £1m (2016/17: £1m).

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other debtors is approximate to their fairvalue. There is no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a large number of customers whe are paying their rent in advance.

As at 31 March, trade and ather debtars autside their payment terms yet not provided for are as fotlows:

Outside credit terms but not impaired

Within 0-1 1-2 Mare than

Total creditterms month months 2 months

£m £m £€m £m £m

2018 28 18 6 4 -

2017 22 7 b 4 2
14 Creditors

2018 2017

£m £m

Trade creditors 146 127

Deposits recewved relating to held for sale asset’ - 144

Other taxation and sccial securnity 30 32

Accruals ' 73 83

Deferred income 75 72

324 458

' Prior year balance relates to deposit received on held for sala joint venture transaction [see note 11] recegnised as a financial Labiuty, the realisation of which was
conditional and not guaranteed as al the prior year balance sheet date.

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates withun one year. The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and
other creditors s approximate to their fair value.

13 Other non-current liabilities

2018 2017

£m £rm

Other creditars - 1
Head leases 62 b4
Net pepsion Liabilities _ 13
&2 78
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16 Deferred tax
The movement on defarred tax 1s as shown below:

Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018

1 April Credited to Debited  Transferred to 31 March
2017 income to equity joint ventures 2018
€m £m £m £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 (5} - 4
Other timing differences 7 - - - 7
1 5 (51 - n
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
€m £m €m £m £m
Property and investment revaluations 17) - - - i7)
(7 - - - (7)
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 [5) - [A
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2017
1 Apnl Credited to Debuted Transterred to 31 March
2016 ncome to eguity Joint ventures 2017
£m £m £m Em £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 5 m - - 4
Other timing differences 6 1 - - 7
11 - - - 11
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2017
£m £m £m £m £m
Property and investment revaluaticns (7 - - - (7l
Other timing differences i - - 1 -
(8l - - 1 (7}
Net deferred tax assets 3 - - 1 b

The following corporation tax rates have been substantively enacted: 19% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% effective from 1 Aprit
2020, The deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax 1s expacted to crystallise.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2016/17: 17%) of €7m [2016/17: £5m) in respect of capital losses from
previous years available for offset against future capital profit. Further unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m (2014/17. £129m] exist at 31 March 2078,

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets on derwvative revaluations to the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected
to arise.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had an urirecognised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% {2016/17: 17%] of £43m {2016/17: £50m) in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years.

Under the REIT reqime, development properties which are sold within three years of completion do not benefit from tax exemption.

At 31 March 2018, the value of such properties is £176m [2016/17: £176m] and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was availlable, the tax arising would be £12m [2016/17: £13m).

130 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018



17 Net debt

2018 207
Footnote £m £m
Secured on the assets of the Group
9.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2020 11 - 34
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 349 377
5.0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
5.357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
Bank loans 1.2 512 475
Loan notes 2 2
1,233 1,335
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3.895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 27 32
4.635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 2 156 181
4.766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 2 97 113
5.003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2026 2 63 73
3.81% Senior Notes 2026 110 114
3.97% Senior Notes 2026 112 17
1.5% Convertible Bond 2017 - 406
0% Convertible Bond 2020 337 331
2.375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,895 1,944
Gross debt 3 3,128 3,281
Interest rate and currency dervative liabiities 138 144
Interest rate and currency derivative assets [115) [217)
Cash and short term depasits 4,5 {105) (114}
Total net debt 3,046 3,094
Net debt attributable to non-controlling interests (109) (103)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,937 2,991
' These are non-recourse borrowmgs with no recourse for repayment to other companies or assets in the Group:
2018 2017
£m Em
1.1 BLD Property Holdings Ltd - 34
1.2 Hercules Unit Trust 512 475
512 509
4 Principat and interest on these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate at the bme of 1ssue
* The principal amount of gross debt at 31 March 2018 was £3.007m [2016/17: £3.069ml Included n this 1s the principal amount of secured borrowings and other
borrowings of non-recourse comparies of £1,159m of which the borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary, Hercules Unit Trust, not beneficially owned by the
Group are £119m,
- Included within cash and short term deposits is the cash and short term deposits of Hercules Uit Trust, of which £10rm15 the proportion not beneficially owned
, Eyatsgeai;ﬂ;gﬁosns not subject to a security interest amount to £91m (2016/17: €£99m].
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17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 2017

£m £m

Repayable: within one year and on demand 27 Lbd
Between: one and two years 163 31
two and five years 1,194 1,283

five and ten years 803 783

ten and fifteen years 305 332

fifteen and twenty years 636 388

3,101 2,817

Gross debt 3,128 3,281
interest rate and currency derivatives 23 {73]
Cash and short term deposits [105) {114)
Net debt 3,045 3.094

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 [maturity 2017)
On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jerseyl Limited (the 2012 tssuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, issued £400 million 1.5%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 [the 2012 bonds) at par. On 10 September 2017, the convertible bonds were redeamed at par.

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020)

Un ¢ June 2015, British Land (White) 2015 Limited (the 2015 issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 1ssuad £350 million zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bonds] at par. The 2015 Issuer is fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of
the 2015 bends.

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to the
Comgany in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company’s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash.
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 2% June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion rightif the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified pericd. Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020
{the maturity date], a bondholder may convert at any time.

The initial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share. The exchange price 15 adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3.418 pence per ordinary sharel. As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036.52 pence
per ordinary share.

Frorm 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeern the 2015 bonds at par if the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any time once 85% by nomimal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 (the maturity datel if they have not already been converted,
redeerned or purchased and cancelled.
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value and book value of net debt

2018 2017

Fairvalue Eookvalue Difference Farvalue Bookvalue Difference

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Debentures and unsacured bonds 1,783 1,682 10 1,682 1,590 92
Convertible bonds 337 337 - 737 737 -
Bank debt and other flpating rate debt 1,116 1,109 7 963 954 9
Gross debt 3,236 3,128 108 3,382 3,281 101
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 138 138 - 144 144 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (1151 (115] - (217] (217] -
Cash and short term deposits 105} (105]) ~ {114] {114) -
Net debt 3,154 3,046 108 3.195 3,094 101
Net debt attriputable to non-controlling interests 110} (109) m (105) (103] i2)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 3,044 2,937 107 3,090 2,991 99

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obtaining quated market prices from
brokers. The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been valued assuming it could be renagotiated at contracted margins. The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent
treasury adviser.

Shoert term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value is equivalent
to the book value. The fair value hierarchy levei of debt held at amortised cost is level 2 (as defined in note 10}

Group loan to value [LTV)

2018 2017
£€m £m
Group loan to value [LTV] 221% 22.6%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less debt attributabte to non-controlling interests 119 12
Less cash and shart term deposits lbalance sheet] {105] [114)
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling interests 10 9
Total net debt for LTY calculation 2,793 2,852
Group property portfolio valuzation [note 10) 9,997 9,520
Investments in joint ventures and funds [note 11] 2,822 2,764
Joint venture held for sale [note 11) - 540
Other investments [note 12] 174 154
Less property and investments attributable to non-controlting interests (364) [364)
Total assets for LTV calculation 12,627 12,616
Proportionally consolidated loan to value {LTY)
2018 2017
£m £m
Proportionally consolidated loan to value [LTV] 28.4% 29.9%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,399 4,649
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests (135) (128)
Less cash and short term depoesits (331 (323
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling interests 10 9
Total net debt for proportional LTV calculation 3,943 4,207
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10) 9,997 8520
Share of property of joint ventures and funds [note 10) 4,102 4,801
Other investments [note 12] 174 154
Less other Investments attributable to joint ventures and funds (2 (3
Less praperty attributable to nen-controlling interests (383) [381)
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 13,888 14,091
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17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenants applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible bonds are shown below:

2018 2007

m £m

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amount of gress debt 3,007 3,089
Less the relevant prapartion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-contrelling interests 119) maz
Less cash and deposits [balance sheet) (105) (114}
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsitiary/non-controlling interests 10 9
Net Borrowings 2,793 2,852
Share capital and reserves [balance sheet} 9,506 9476
EPRA deferred tax adjustment [EPRA Table A) 5 3
Trading property surpluses [EPRA Table Al 134 83
Exceptional refinancing charges [see below} 233 274
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments (EPRA Table A] 137 155
Less reserves attributable to non-controlling interests [balance sheet) 254) (255
Adjusted Capital and Reserves 9,761 9,734

In calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £233m
(2016/17: £274m] to reflect the cumulative net amortised exceptional items relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,

2006 and 2007.

2018 2017
£m Em
Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 23% 26%
Principat amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest (being £91m less the relevant propartion of cash and {84) (98]
deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-contrelling interests of £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings (1,159) {1,238)
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,764 1,735
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10) 2,297 8,520
Investments In Joint ventures and funds [note 11} 2,822 2,766
Jointventure held for sale note 11) - 540
Other investments (note 12) 174 154
Less investments in joint ventures and joint venture held for sale [note 11] (2,822) {3.299]
|.ess encumbered assets [note 10) (2,447) [3,040)
Unencumbered Assets 7.724 6,641
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17 Net debt continued

Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018

Arrangement
Foreigh costs
2017  Cashflows Transfers® exchange Fairvalue amortisation 2018
Short term borrowings L&4 {458) 27 - 18] - 27
Long term borrowings 2,817 351 27 (40) 110) - 3,101
Derivatives' 173) 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total liabilities from financing activities? 3,208 168) - - 1" - 3,151
Cash and cash equivalents 1114) 9 - - - - (105}
Net debt 3,094 (59) - - 1" - 3,044
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2017
Arrangement
Foreign cosls
2018 Cash flows Transfers’ exchange Fair value  amortisation 2017
Short term borrowings 74 {74) 444 - - - hLbd
Long term borrowings 3.687 (423) [464] 49 (36 L 2,817
Dervatives? (30) 1 - l48} 4 - 173)
Total iabilities from financing activities 373 1496] - 1 (32) 4 3.208
Cash and cash equivalents [114) - - - B - (114}
Net debt 3,617 (426 - 1 (32) 4 3,094
! Cash flows on derivatives include £20m of net receipts on derivative interest.
* Cash flows on derivatives include £14m of net receipts on derivative interest
* Transfers comprises debt maturing from long term to short term borrowings
“ Cash flows of £48m shown above represents net cash flows on interest rate derivative closeouts of £9m, decrease in bank and ather borrowings of £626m and
drawdowns on bank and other borrowings of £529m shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, along with £20m of net receipts on derivative Interast.
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Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method. The fair value hierarchy levels are
defined in note 10.

2018 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em £m
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (115) - 115) - [217) - {217]
Other investments — available for sale (14) - - (14) {14) - - (14}
Other investments - held for trading - - 98 98 - - (33) (93}
Assets [14) [115) 98 (311 [14) [217) (93} (324)
Interest rate and currency derivative
Liabilities - 138 - 138 - 144 - 144
Convertible bonds 337 - - 337 737 - ~ 737
Liabilities 337 138 - 475 737 144 ~ 881
Total 323 23 98 (¥4 723 [73) {93) 557
Categories of financial instruments
2018 2017
£€m £m
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investments - held for trading 8 93
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships 110 215
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships 5 2
Loans and receivables
Trade and other debtors 28 166
Cash and short term depaosits 105 114
(ther investments - loans and receivables 42 41
‘ 388 651
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bonds (337) (737)
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships {5) 143}
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships {133) (1]
Amortised cost
Gross debt (2,791 [2.544)
Head leases payable 162) (64]
Creditors (237 (373}
13,565) (3,862)
Total (3,177 (3,211)

Gains and (osses on financial instruments, as classed above, are disciosed in note 6 (net financing costs], note 13 [debtors], the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated staternent of comprehensive income. The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investments and head leases payable are approximate to their fairvalue, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable.

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLC,
comprising 1ssued capital, reserves and retained earnings. Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in
delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51, The Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the Financial
policies and principles on pages 45 to 47.
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses Interest rate swaps and caps to hedge exposure to the variability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilities, caused by movemeants in market rates of interest. ’

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derwatives i1s a net Liability of £118m. Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £5m have been
designated as cash flow hedges under IAS 39.

The ineffectiveness recogmsed in the income statement on cash flow hedges :n the year ended 31 March 2018 was £nil [2016/17: £nil).

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and less until the maturity of the hedged debt. The lable below summarises variable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2018.

Variable rate debt hedged

2018 2017

£m £m

Outstanding: at one year 775 775
attwo years 600 775

at five years 250 250

at ten years 250 250

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge exposure on fixed rate financial liabilities caused by movements in market rates of interest.

At31 March 2018, the fairvalue of these dervatives is a net asset of £95m. Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £110m have been
designated as fair value hedges under IAS 39 [2016/17: asset of £215m).

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the forelgn exchange exposure at an average
floating rate of 146 basis points above LIBOR. These have been designated as fair value hedges of the US Private Placements.

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2018 2017

£m Emn

Fixed or capped rate 2,107 1,604
Variable rate [net of cash) 939 1,490

3,044 3,094

All the debt 15 effectively Sterling denominated except for £3m [2016/17: £11m) of Eurc debt of which £3m s at a variable rate (2016/17; €£11m).

At 31 March 2018 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt 1s 3.2% {2016/17: 3.3%). The weighted average period for
which the rate 1s fixed 1s 9.7 years (2014/17; 8.3 yearsi. The floating rate debt s set for periods of the Company's cheoosing at the relevant
LIBOR [or similar] rate.

The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest was 80% at 31 March 2018 on & spot basis. The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally consolidated basis, was 60% at 31 March
2018. Based on the Group's interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 574 bps Increase 1n interest rates would decrease annual profits
by £59m (2016/17: £87m decrease}. Similarly, a 72 bps reduction would increase profits by £10m [2016/17: £5m increase based on a 34 bps
reduction). The change in interest rates used for this sensitivity analysis is based on the largest annual change in three-month Sterling
LIBOR over the last 10 years. The impact assurnes LIBOR does not fall below 0%.

Upward movements in medium and long term interest rates, associated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group’s interest rate swaps and caps that provide protection against such moves. The converse is true for downward movements in the yield
curve. A 204 bps shift represents the largest annual change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last 10 years. At 31 March 2018

a 204 bps parallel upward shift in swap rates would Increase the value of cash flow hedges and dervatives that are not hedge accounted

by £48m [2016/17: £82ml. A 204 bps downward shift In swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by £81m [2016/17: £131m.
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives continued

The 0% 2015 Cenvertible Bond is designated as fair value through orofit or loss. Principal components of the market value of this band
include British Land's share price and 1ts volatility, and market interest rates.

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Bond at 31 March 2018 was a £337m Liability. At 31 March 2018 a 204 bps parallel upward shift
ininterest rates would reduce the fair value liability by £15m, and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair value
liability by €15m.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy I1s to have no material unhedged net assets or labilities denominated in foreign currencies. The currency risk on
overseas investments is hedged via foreign currency denominated borrowings and derivatives. The Group has adopted net investment
hedging in accordance with 1AS 39 and therefore the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. The ineffective portion of the gain or [oss on the hedging instrument 1s recagnised
immediately in the income statement.

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denorminated assets and Liabilities, Provided contingent tax
on overseas investments is not expected to occur it will be ignored for hedging purposes. Based on the 31 March 2018 position a 246%
appreciation (largest annual change over the tast ten years] in the Euro retative to Sterling woutd result in a £nit change (2016/17: £mil) in
reported profits.

Assels Liabibties
2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £&m £m £m

Euro denominated 3 11 3 il

Credit risk management

The Group’s approach to credit risk management of counterparties is referred to in the Financial policies and principles on pages 45 to 47 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51, The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Cash and short term deposits at 31 March 2018 amounted to £105m [2016/17: £114m)]. Deposits and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial institutions with 'BBB+ or better credit ratings.

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of all interest rate derivative assets was £115m [2016/17: £217ml.

At 31 March 2018, prior te taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit expasure to a single counterparty
arising frem rnoney market deposits, liquid investments and derivatives was £49m (2016/17: €£120m). This represents 0.4% (2014/17: 0.9%)
of gross assets.

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks.

The Group's exposure to credit risk in respect of its trade recevables is analysed in note 13. Provisions are made taking into account historic
credit losses and the creditworthiness of debtars.

Liquidity risk management
The Group's approach to liguidity risk management is discussed in the Financial policies and principles on pages 45 to 47, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51.

The following table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial Liabilities based on the earliest date
onwhich the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal flows. Where the interest payable s ot fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date.

For derivative financial instruments that settle on a net basis le.g. interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derivatives that require gross settlement (e.g. cross currency swaps| the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented. Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used. Trade creditors and amounts owed
ta jaint ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis.

The Group expects to meet its financal Uabiities through the various avatlable tgquidity sotirces, including & secure rental incarme profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings
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17 Net debt continued

Liguidity risk management continued

The Group leases out allits investment praperties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years. This secure
income profile 1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high cccupancy rates. The future aggregate minimum rentais
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are also shown in the table below. Income from jeint ventures and funds is not included
below. Additional liguidity will arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions receved from joint
ventures and funds.

2018
Three

Wwithin Following to five Over five
one year year years years Total
£&m £m £m £m £m
Debt' 30 166 1,173 1,680 3,049
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Derwative payments 34 16 182 259 91
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payrments 158 278 1,594 2,681 4,711
Derwvative receipts 152} (20) [209) (1961 [477]
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with tenants 424 399 968 1,490 3,281
Lrgquidity surplus [deficit) 318 141 1£17) {995) 9531

Cumulative liquidity surplus [deficit) 318 459 42 [953)

2017
Three

Within Following to five Over five
ane year year years years Total
£rn £m E€m £m £rn
Debt’ 459 33 1,240 1,420 3152
Interest on debt 89 86 235 468 878
Dervative payments 12 44 189 263 508
Head lease payments 2 2 7 254 265
Total payments 542 165 1,671 2,405 4,803
Derivative receipts 126) [61) [255) (2511 [593]
Net payment 536 104 1.416 2,154 4,210
Operating leases with tenants 405 382 984 1,750 3.521
Liguidity {deficit] surplus 131) 278 [432] (404] (689)

Cumulative liquidity [deficit) surplus {131] 147 [285) (489

' Gross debt of £3,128m {2016/17. £3,281m) represents the total of £3,049m [2016/17 £3.152m), tess unamartised 1ssue casts of E13m [2016/17: £15m], plus fair value
adjustments to debt of £92m [2016/17: €144m]

Any short term liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through other liquidity sources
avallable to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrawing facitives. The Group currently holds cash and short term deposits of £105m of
which £91m 1s not subject to a secunity interest [see footnote 5 to net debt table on page 131, Further liguidity can be achieved through sales
of property assets or investments and debt refinancings.

The Group's property partfolio is valued externally at £9,997m and the share of joint ventures and funds’ property 1s valued at £4,102m.
The committed undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are a further source of liquidity. The maturity profite of committed
undrawn borrowing facilities is shown below.

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2018 2017

€m £m

Maturity date: over five years 40 125
between four and five years 90 1110

between three and four years 1,010 58

Total facilities available for more than three years 1,160 1,293
Between two and three years 85 149
Between cne and two years 84 -
Within one year - 2
Total 1,3 1.444

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1,245m excluding the extension af the £735m facility, plus undrawn
faciities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m.
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18 Leasing
Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years
{2016/17: eight years). The future aggregate minimum rentals recenable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017
£m £
Less than ane year 424 405
Between one and two years 399 382
Between three and five years 948 984
Between six and ten years 905 980
Between eleven and fifteen years 393 460
Betwean sixteen and twenty years 145 181
After twenty years 46 129
Total 3,281 3.521
Operating lease commitments
The future aggregate mimmum rentals payable under non-canceilable operating leases are as follows:
2018 207
£m £m
Less than one year 3 3
Between one and two years 3 3
Between three and five years ’ 8 9
Between six and ten years 7 9
Total 21 24

The Group's leasehold investment properties are typically under nan-renewable leases without significant restrictions. Finance lease
liahilines are payable as follows; no contingent rents were payable in either period.

2018 2007

Minimum Minimum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments interest Principal
£m £m £m £m £m £m

British Land Group

Less tharn one year 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 2 2 - 2 ? -
Between twa and five years 7 7 - 7 7 -
Mare than five years 267 205 62 269 205 b4
Total 278 216 62 280 216 b4

Less future finance charges (216} {716]

Present value of lease obligations 62 64

More than five years 62 54

Present value of lease obligations 62 b4
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19 Dividend
The fourth quarter interim dividend of 7.52 pence per share, totaling £74m [2016/17: 7.30 pence per share, totalling £75m), was approved
by the Board on 16 May 2018 and is payable on 3 August 2018 ta shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29 June 2018.

The Board will announce the avaitability of the Scrip Dividend Alternative, if available, via the Regulatory News Service and on its website
(www.britishland.com/dividends), no later than four business days before the ex-dividend date of 28 June 2018. The Board expects to
announce the split between Property Income Distributions [PID) and nen-P1D income at that time. Any Scrip Dividend Alternative will not
be enhanced. PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legislation, after deduction of withholding tax at the basic rate {currentty 20%|,
where appropriate. Certain classes of shareholders may be able to elect to receve dividends gross. Please refer to our website
www.britishland.com/dividends for details.

Pence per 2018 2017
Payment date Dividend share £m £m
Currentyear dividends
03.08.2018 2018 4th interim 752
04.05.2018 2018 3rd interim 7.52
09.02.2018 2018 2nd interim 7.52 75
10.11.2017 2018 1stinterim 7.52 77
30.08
Prior year dividends
04.08.2017 2017 4thinterim 7.30 75
05.05.2017 2017 3rd interim 7.30 75
10.02.2017 2017 2nd interim 730 75
11.11.2016 : 2017 1stinterim 7.30 75
29.20
05.08.2016 2016 4th internim 7.09 73
06.05.2014 2016 3rd intarim 709 73
Dividends in consolidated statement
of changes in equity 302 296
Dividends settled in shares - -
Dividends settled in cash 302 296
Timing difference relating to payment
of withhalding tax 2 [1]
Dividends in cash flow statement 304 295
' Diadend split half PID. half non-PID.
2} Share capital and reserves
2018 20017
Number of ordinary shares inissue at 1 April 1,041,835,058 1,040,562,323
Share 1ssues 429,204 472,735
Repurchased and cancelled 147,607,139) -
At 31March 993,857,125 1,041,035058

Of the issued 25p ordinary shares, 7,376 shares were held n the ESOP trust (2016/17: 7,783, 11,264,245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2016/17: 11,266,245) and 982,583,504 shares were in free issue (2016/17: 1,029,761,030]. No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year All issued shares are fully paid. In the year ended 31 March 2018 the Company repurchased and cancelled 47,607.139 erdinary
shares at a weighted average price of 630 pence.

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign
currency hedging instruments, as well as all foreign exchange differences anising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
cperatichs, The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the babilities that hedge the Company’s net investment in a
foreign subsidiary.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-occupled properties and investments in joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve

This comprises the premium on the share placing in March 2013. No share premium 1s recorded in the Company's financial statements,
through the aperation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
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20 Share capital and reserves continued
At 31 March 2018, options over 7,517,263 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share option plans. The options had a weighted
average life of 6.4 years. Details of cutstanding share eptions and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directars are set out
below and on the following page:

’ Exercise dales

AL 1 April Vested but Exercised/ At 231 March Exercise
Date of grant 2017 Granted  not exercised Vested Lapsed 2018  price pence From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme
260612 42,698 - ~ [40,403) [2,295) - 392.00 01917 010328
190613 317 - - - 317} - 511.00 01916  28.0217
19.06.13 15,202 - - - (352] 14,850 511.00 01.918 01.0319
23.06.14 116,537 - - (112,776} 13,761] ~ 574.00 01917  01.03.18
23.06.14 98,450 - - - [15,928) 82,512 574.00 01919  01.03.20
22.06.15 39.205 - - - [11,305] 27,900 697.00 01918 01.03.19
22.04.15 20,382 - - - [6,374) 15,006 £97.00 01920  D1.03.21
200616 92,101 - - (559} {45,618) £5,926 408.00 01919 01.03.20
20.06 .14 59,300 - - - {37,297 22,003 408.00 01921  01.03.22
21.0617 - 265,883 - - (9,064) 256,819 508.00 01920 010321
21.06.17 ~ 98,960 - - [2,420) 96,540 508.00 01922 01.03.23

484,192 364,843 - (153,738] (1837411 561,556

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised

29.06.09 10,333 - - - - 10,333 387.00 29.0612 290619
2112.09 69,710 - - [11.157) - 58,553 446.00 211202 1249
11.06.10 1,207,153 - - (74,884] - 1,132,289 44700 N.0613  11.06.20
141210 59,933 - - {4,800 - 55,133 510.00 141213 141220
28.06.11 823,253 - - 110,434} - 812,81% 575.80 280604 280520
191211 76,826 - - (6,651) - 70,175 451.00 191234 190221
14.09.12 1,055,907 - - (85,254] (2,096 968,557 538.00 14.0915  14.09.22
201212 77,345 - - (6,532 (8,614) 62,197 563.00 201215 2012.22
05.0813 333,028 - - {27.280] (11,670] 294,078 601.00 25.08.16 05.08.23
05.12.13 268,015 - - 123,151 (12.955] 171909 400.00 051216 051223
3,921,503 - - 250,143]  [35,337] 3,636,023

Lang-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

23.6.14 763.854 - - - 1763,854) - 68433 23.0617  23.06.24

121214 26127 - - - 26,1271 - 75783 121217 12.12.24

22.6.15 1.021,853 - - - 132,731 889122 82450 220618 22.06.25

22.6.6 1,217,362 - - - {95,742) 1,221,620 730.50 220619 220626

28.6.17 - 1,258,685 - - (49.743]) 1,208,942 61717 28.06.20 28.06.27
3129196 1,258,685 - - [1,068,197) 3,319,684

Total 7.534,891 1,623,528 - 403,881 [1,237,275] 7,517,263

Weighted average exercise

price of options {pence) 621 593 - 522 690 609
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
At 1 Apnil Exercised/ At31 March at grant date
Date of grant 2017 - Granted Vested Lapsed 2018 pence Vesting date
Performance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
23.6.14 1,302,354 - - (1,302,354 - 484.00 23.6.17
1212.14 4,354 - - {4,354] - 757.83 121217
22.6.15 1,151,199 - - (82,741 1,068,458 824.50 22.6.18
22.6.16 1.273.754 - - [136.704] 1,137,050 730.50 22.619
28.6.17 - 194871 - (51,159 1,897,612 61717 78.6.20
3731661 1948771 - [1,577.312] 4,903,120
Matching Share Plan
30.6.14 289,560 - 44,7801 (144,780 - 702.40 36.6.17
29.6.15 282,170 - - - 282,170 806.00 729.6.18
29.6.16 318,932 - - 15,756] 313,176 807.00 29.6.19
890,662 - [144,780) [150536] 595,346
Total 4622323 1948771  (144,780) (1,727,848 4,698,466
Weighted average price of shares (pence} 749 617 702 895 716

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to Investment and asset management according to the sectors It expects to perform over the medium term.
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retail and Canada Water. The Retail sector includes leisure, as this is often incorporated inte Retail
schemes. Residential properties were included within Offices in the prior year, but have been reclassified within Other/unallocated in the
current year, with the prior year comparatives represented.

The relevant gross rental income, net rental income, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set out betow. Management reviews the performance of the
business principally on a proportionally consolidated basis, which includes the Group's share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line
basis and excludes non-controlling interests in the Group's subsidiaries. The chief operating decision maker for the purpose of segment
information 1s the Executive Committee.

Gross rental income is derived from the rental of bulldings. Operating result is the nat of net rental income, fee income and administrative
expenses. No customer exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues in either year.
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21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Offices Retall Canada Water Other/unallocated Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
€m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m Em
Gross rental income
British Land Group 139 139 273 276 8 9 4 3 424 427
Share of joint ventures and funds 102 1146 87 100 - - - - 189 216
Total 241 255 3460 376 8 9 4 3 613 643
Net rental income
British Land Group 131 131 254 262 7 8 1 2 IS 403
Share of joint ventures and funds 98 112 82 %5 - - - - 180 207
Total 229 243 336 357 7 8 &4 2 576 610
Operating result
British Land Group 126 127 248 252 4 5 142} {47) 335 337
Share of joint ventures and funds 95 - 109 79 96 - -~ (2) M 172 204
Tatal 221 236 327 348 4 5 144) 148) 508 541
2018 2017
Reconciliation to Underlying Profit £m £m
Operating result 508 541
Net financing costs (128) [151)
Underlying Profit 380 390
Reconciliation to profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Underlying Profit 380 390
Capital and other 107 [209)
Underlying Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 14 14
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Reconciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental income per gperating segment result 413 643
Less share of gross rental income of joint ventures and funds (189) (218)
Plus share of gross rental ncome attributable to non-controlling interests 17 15
Gross rentalincome {note 3) 441 442
Trading property sales proceeds 78 33
Service charge income 66 62
Management and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds) 6 9
Other fees and commissions 48 43
Revenue (Consclidated Income Statement) 639 589

A reconciliation between net financing costs in the consolidated income staternant and net financing costs af £128m [2016/17: £151miin the
segmental disclosures above can be found within Table A in the supplementary disclosures. Of the total revanues above, £nil (2016/17: £nil]

was derived from outside the UK.

Segment assets
Qffices Retail Canada Water Other/unallocated Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £m £m €m £m £m £m £€m £m £m
Property assets
British Land Group 4,371 4,069 4,915 4,716 283 271 13 1h4 9.682 9,210
Share of joint ventures and funds 2,334 2776 1,681 1,938 - - 19 16 4,034 4,730
Total 6,705 6845 6,596 6,654 283 271 132 170 13,716 13940
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21 Segment information continued
Recenciliation to net assets

2018 2017
British Land Group £m £m
Property assets 13,716 13,940
Other non-current assets 185 154
Non-current agsets 13,901 14.09%
Other net current Liabilities [358) [364)
Adjusted net debt (3,973) (4,223
Other non-current liabilities - (11}
EPRA net assets [diluted) 9,560 9.498
Non-centretling interests 254 255
EPRA adjustments (308) 277)
Net assets 9,505 9,476
22 Capital commitments
The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investment property, for repairs, mamtenance or enhancements,
or for the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below:

2018 2017

£m £m

British Land and subsidiaries 239 84
Share of joint ventures 193 19
Share of funds - ?

432 107

23 Related party transactions

Details of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in notes 3, 6 and 11. During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m {2016/17: £9m). Detaiis of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 ta 97,
Details of transactions with kay management personnel are prowided in note 8. Details of transactions with The Briush Land Group of

Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 9.

24 Contingent liabilities
Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent Liabddities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordmary
course of business, Itis not anticipated that any material labilities will arise frorn contingent liabilities.
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NOTESTO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below 1s summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has nen-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
The informaticn below 1s the amount before intercompany eliminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercules Unit
Trust group.

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March
Hercules Unit Trust

2018 2017

E£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 53 10
Attributable to non-controlling interests 14 3
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company 39 7

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March
Hercuies Unit Trust

2018 2017

£m Em

Total assets 1,548 1,509
Total liabilities (645) {531
Net assets 983 978
Non-controlling mterests (254) [255]
Equity attributable to sharehoiders of the Company 729 723

Summarised cash flows
Hercules Unit Trust

2018 2m7

£m £m

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 10
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 40 30
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 43 LD

The Hercules Unit Trust is a closed-ended property Unit Trust. The urut price at 31 March 2018 1s £684 (2016/17: £684). Non-controlling
interests collectively own 23.0% of units in issue. The British Land Company PLC owns 77.0% of umits inissue, each of which confar equal
voting rights, and therefore I1s deemed to exercise control over the trust.

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end.
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Campanies Act 2004 relating to the audit of indvidual accounts by virtue

of Section 479A of that Act.

Companies House Coempanies House
Name regnumber  Name reg number
20 Brock Street Limited 07401697 BL Holdings 2010 Ltd 07353966
39 Victoria Street Linmted 07037133  Boldswitch Lirmuted 02307096
Adamant investment Corporation Limited 00225149  British Land In Town Retail Limited 03325066
Apartpower Limited 0283205%  British Land Property Advisers Limited 02793828
Bayeast Property Co Limited 00635800 Cavendish Geared Limited 02779045
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Lirmted 09400407  Exchange House Holdings Limited 02037407
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 09400541  Hempel Holdings Limited 05341380
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Lirmited 09400411  Hilden Properties Limited NI062887
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 09400409  Hyfleet Limited 02835919
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Lirmited 09400413 Ilvoryhill Limited 02307407
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Lim:ted 09400414  Lancaster General Partner Limited 05452195
BL Clifton Moor Lirmted 07508019  Longford Street Residential Limited 08760158
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198  Moorage {Property Developments] Limited 01185513
BL CW Developments Plot At Ltd 10782150  Osnaburgh Street Limited 05884735
BL CW Developments Plot AZ Ltd 10782335 Paddington Central | [GP] Limited 03891376
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Ltd 10782458  Parwick investments Limited 00454239
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited 10663292  Piccadilly Residential Limited 10525984
BL CW Lower LF Company Limited 10663474 Pitlar Nugent Limited 02567031
BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited 10781493  Pillarman Limited 02713307
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited 10781503  PillarStore No.3 Limited 03589118
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781471 Shopping Centres Limited 02230056
BL Cwmbran Lirmited 07780251  Surrey Quays Limited 05294243
Bl Eden Walk Limited 10620935  TBL [Bursledon) Limited 03854557
BL HC Property Holdings Lirmited 06894046  TBL [Lisnagelvin] Limited 03853983
BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited 05643248  TBL [Madstone] Limited 03854615
BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited 05643261 TBL Holdings Limited 03837311
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072  Teesside Leisure Park Limited 02672136
BL Osnaburgh St Residentiat Lid 06874523  United Kingdom Property Company Limited 00266484
BL Residential No. 1 Limited 05291937  Vintners' Place Limited 02149495
BL Residential No. 2 Limited 05291956  Wates City of Lendon Properties Limited 01788525
BLD (Ebury Gatel Limited (03863852  Wates City Point Limited 02973114
BLO Properties Limited 00732787

The foliowing partnerships are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited individual accounts by virtue of regulation
7 of The Partnerships [Accounts] Regulations 2008. The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Group accounts.

Narne

Name

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership

BL Chess No. 1 Limited Partnership

Bl. CW Lower Limited Partnership

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership

BL Lancaster Limited Partnership

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership

Paddington Block A LP

Paddington Block B LP

Paddington Central | LP

Paddington Centralil LP

Paddington Kiosk Lp

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
PREPARED {N ACCORDANCE WITH FRS 101 AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

208 1
Nute £m 518

Fixed assets
Investments and toans Lo subsidiaries D 28,148 27518
investments in joipt ventures D 376 431
Other investments o 4 35
Interest rate derwvative assats E 115 217

Deferred tax assets 10 -
28,683 28,201

Current assets

Debtors G

Cash and short term deposits E

Current liabifities

Short term borrowings and overdrafts E [27) 163)

Creditors H fas} [10%)

Amounts due 10 substdiarias 120,645 119,410}
{20,750) 9.578]

Met current Liabitities {20,722] 119,522

Tatat assets less current liabilities 7,961 8.679

Mon-current labilities

Debentures and loans E {2,250) 11,978]

Interest rate dervative tiabilities E {133} 134)

Armounts due to subsidiaries - 1331]

Deferred tax and other non-current babilities - 13}

{2,383} [2.446)

Net assets 5,578 6,233

Equity

Catled up shara capital | 248 260

Share premium 1,200 1,298

Other reserves T f134)

Merger reserve 213 213

Retathed earnings 3,810 4,59

Total equity 5,578 6,233

The loss affer tazation for the year ending 31 March 2018 for the Company was £192m [year ending 31 March 2017. £121m profit]

Chris ﬁrigg

John Gildersleeve
Chairman Chiet Executive Officer

Approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

Company number 621921
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Profit and

Share Share Other Merger loss Total

capltal gremium reserves reserve account eqully

Em Em Em £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2017 2560 1,298 (134) 213 4,596 6,233
Share jssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares 12) - - - (289) (301)
Cwidend paid - - - - (302) 302)
Net actuaral gain on pension schemes - - - - 9 9
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - 1192) (192)
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedgesl - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 () 213 3,822 5578
Balance at 1 April 206 260 1,295 (120} 213 4,789 6,437
Share issues - 3 - - - 3
Dividend paid - - - - [294) (294}
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - {8 (8l
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - [12) n21
Profit for the year after taxation -~ - - - 121 121
Derivative valuation maoverment - - (4] - - (14}
Balante at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 (134] 213 4,596 4,233

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account is £2,074m (2016/17: £2,911m).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{A) Accounting policies

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of derivatives. These tinancial statermnents have also been prepared
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {'FRS 101']. The amendments to FRS 101
{2015/16 Cycle) 1ssued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the
recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the FU
UAdopted IFRSs], but makes amendments where necessary in order
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
adgvantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure
exemptians under FRS 101:

lal the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a balance sheet at the
beginning of the period in the event of a prior period adjustment;
the requirements of [AS 1 to provide a statement of cash flows
for the period;

the requirements of 1AS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
with IFRS;

the requirements of [AS 1 to disclose information on the
rmanagement of capital;

the reguirernents of paragraphs 30 and 31 of [AS 8 Accounting

lb]
(el

Pelicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to disclose

new [FRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective;

the requirements in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose
related party transactions entered into betweean two or more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which s a
party to the transaction is wholly-owned by such a member;

the requirements of paragraph 17 of 1AS 24 Related Party
Disclosures to disclose key management personnel
compensation;

the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial nstruments; and
the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclose information of fair value valuation
technigues and inputs.

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51.
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Investments and loans
Investments and loans In subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated
at cost less provision for impairment.

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the Company's
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. In estimating the
requirement for impairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgements on the value of these
investrnents using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations,
supported by independent valuers.

(B) Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed are included in note 19 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(C) Employee information

Employee costs include wages and salarres af £3%m [2016/17: £37m),
social security costs of £5m (2016/17: £5m] and pension costs of £5m
[2016/17. £5ml. Details of the Executive Diractors’ remuneration are
disclosed in the Remuneration Report.

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0.3m
(2016/17: £0.2m].



(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

{nvestmenls

Sharesin Loanste in jeint Other
subsidiaries subsidiaries ventures nvestments Tatat
£m £m £m £m £€m
On 1 April 2017 19.706 7.812 431 35 27,984
Additions - 1,852 32 5 1,889
Disposals - 11,071) (87} (2 11,1601
Depreciation/amortisation - - - 4 (FA]
Provision for impairment (3} (148) - - (151)
As at 31 March 2018 19,703 8,445 376 34 28,558
The historical cost of shares in subsidiaries 1s £20,025m [2016/17: £20,025m). Investments in joint ventures of £376m [2016/17: £431m)
includes £183m {2016/17: £245m)] of loans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set out in note 11 of the
consolidated financial statements. The historical cost of other investments ts £50m (2016/17: £48mi.
(E) Net debt
2018 207
£m £m
Secured on the assets of the Company
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 349 377
5.0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
09.357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
719 824
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3.895% Senior US Dollar Nates 2018’ 27 32
4.635% Senior US Bollar Notes 2027 156 181
4.766% Senor US DBollar Notes 2023 97 113
5.003% Senier US Dollar Notes 2026’ 43 73
3.81% Senior Notes 2026 110 114
3.97% Senior Notes 2026 112 17
Fairvalue of options to 1ssue under 1.5% convertible bond 2017 - 5
Fairvalue of options to issue under 0% convertible bond 2020 - 3
2.375% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2029 298 -
Bank leans and overdrafts 595 477
1,558 1,217
Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 133 134
Interest rate and currency derivative assets {115) (217)
Cash and short term deposits (32) 149)
Net debt 2,263 1909

' Principal and interest on these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate at the time of 1ssue.

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 (maturity 2017

On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jersey) Limited {the 2012 Issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued £400 mitlien 1.5%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 (the 2012 bonds) at par. On 10 September 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 (maturity 2020)

On 9 June 2015, British Land (White} 2015 Limited the 2015 Issuar), a whotly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £350 million zera
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 (the 2015 bonds) at par. The 2015 [ssuer s fully guaranteed by the Company in respect
of the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to
the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Campany or, at the Company’s election, any combenation of ordinary shares and cash,
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period. Thereatter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020
{the maturity date), a bondholder may convert at any time

The initial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share. The exchange price is adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3.418 pence per ardinary sharel. As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036.52 pence
per ordinary share.

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company’s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified perod, or at any time once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 {the maturity date] If they have not already been converted,
redeerned or purchased and cancelled.

The intercompany loan between the lssuer and the Company arising fram the transfer of the loan proceeds was initially recognised at fair
value, net of capitalised 1ssue costs, and is accountad for using the amortised cost method. In addition to the intercompany loan, the Company
has entered into a derivative contract relating toits guarantee of the obligations of the [ssuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provide shares or a combination of shares and cash on conversion of the bands. This derivative contract is included within the balance sheet
as a liability carried at fair value through profit and loss.

Maturity anatysis of net debt

018 2017

£Em £m

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 43
between: one and two years - 33
two and five years 506 442

five and ten years 804 782

ten and fifteen years 305 332

fifteen and twenty years 635 389

2,250 1,978

Gross debt 2.277 2,041
Interest rate derivatives 18 83}
Cash and short term deposits 132) (49
Net debt 2,263 1,909

(F) Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribunion Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes
of the Company and details are set out in note 9 of the consolidated financiat statements.
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(G) Debtors

2018 2017
£m fm
Trade and other debtors 6 3
Prepayments and accrued income - 4
[] 7

(H) Creditors
2018 2017
£m £m
Trade creditors 12 12
Corperation tax 21 29
Other taxation and scciat security 21 32
Accruals and deferred income 34 32
88 1056

(I) Share capital

Ordinary shares

fm of 25p each

Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2017 260 1,041,035,058
Share 1ssues - 429,206
Repurchased and cancelled 2] [47.607,139]
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125
Ordinary shares
£m of 25p each

Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2016 260 1,040,562,323
Share Issues - 472,735
At 31 March 2017 260 1.041,035,058

(I Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and related party transactions
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary course of business.
Itis not anticipated that any material Labilities will arise from the contingent tiabilitres.

At 31 March 2018, the Company has £nil of capital commitments [(2016/17: £1m)].

Related party transactions are the same far the Company as for the Group. For details refer to note Z3 of the consolidated financral statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Company’s subsidiaries and other related undertakings at
31 March 2018 are bsted below. Compames which have been
dissolved since 31 March 2018 are marked with an asterisk [*).

All Group entities are included in the consolidated financial results.

Untess actherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voling
rights and beneficial interests in the shares of the following
subsidiaries, partnerships, associates and joint ventures, Unless
otherwise stated, the subsidiaries and related undertakings are
registered 1n the United Kingdom.

The share capiial of each of the companies, where applicable,
camprises ordinary shares unless otherwise stated.

The Company holds the majonity of its assets in UK companies,
although same are held in overseas companies. In recent years
we have reduced the number of averseas companies in the Group.

Unless noted otherwise as per the foliowing key, the registered
address of each company is York House, 45 Seymour Street,
London W1TH 7LX.

' 8 5t George's Street, Douglas IM1 1AH, Isle of Man

47 Esplanade, 5t Helier lersey JE108D.

Barratt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hilt, Coalville,
Leicestershire LES7 1UF.

13-14 Espianade, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1EE..

PN

i
|

UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
Linestair Limirted UK Tax Resident
| ondon and Henley Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident

Meadowhall Pensions Scheme
Trustee Limited

UK Tax Resident

MSC Property Intermediate Holdings UK Tax Resident
Limited [50% mterest)
Plantation House Linuted UK Tax Resident
Priory Park Merton Limited UK Tax Resident
Regis Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Regident
The British Land Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident
Vitalcreate UK Tax Resident
Indirect holdings

UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
1 & 4 & 7 Triton Lirnited UK Tax Resident
10 Brock Street Limited UK Tax Resident

10 Portman Square Unit Trust Jersey)

{Units)?

Overseas Tax Resident

10 Triton Street Limited UK Tax Resident
17-19 Bedford Street Limited UK Tax Resident
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited UK Tax Resident

20 Brock Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

% 44 Esplanade, S Heler, Jersey JE4 TWG 338 Euston Road Limited UK Tax Resident
“ 14 Porte de France, 4340 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg, 350 Euston Road Limited UK Tax Resident
' 138 University Street, Belfast, BT7 1H) 39 Victoria Street Limited UK Tax Resident
~ The Corporation Trust Cornpany, 1207 Qrange Street, Wilimington, 810 Throgmorton Avenue Limited UK Tax Resident
DE 19801, USA. - > "

Adamant Investment Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident

Direct holdings Adshilta Limited UK Tax Resident
UK/Overseas Tax | Aldgate Place [GP] Limited (50% interest]® UK Tax Resident

Campany Name Residem Status | Apartpower Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Bluebutton 2014 Limited UK Tax Resident ) Ashband Limited UK Tax Resident

BL Davidson L irmited

UK Tax Resident

BL ESQP Limited [isle of Man]

Overseas Tax Resident

{in tiguidation)’

B L Unit Trust [Jersey] {Units]?
B.L. Holdings Limited

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

B.L.C.T. (12697} Limited [Jersey)?

UK Tax Resident

BL European Fund Management LLP UK Tax Resident | [ C.T, (215001 Limited (JerseyP UK Tax Resident
BL Exempt Insurance Services Limited UK Tax Resident | 57 ) (11193 Lirmited Uerseyl UK Tax Resident
BL Guaranteeco lelFEU ‘ UK Tax Resident | ‘g2lcenia Limited® UK Tax Resident
BL intermediate Hgldmg Company Limited UK Tax Resident | ‘52 helass Limited UK Tax Resident
BLSSP [Funding] Limited UK Tax Resident | G4 rndrill Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Bluebutton Froperly Management U UK Tax Resident | Bavesst Property Co Limited UK Tax Resident

i — Bexile Limited UK Tax Resident
Boldswitch [No 1) Limited UK Tax Resident -

- BF Propco (No 1] Limited UK Tax Resident
Boldswitch Limited UK Tax Resident -
——— e —— — —— — — — —— —~—— —"—— | AF Propco [No 13] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land [Jersey) Limited [Jersey) UK Tax Resident - ‘
{Founder Shares) BF Propea [No 19 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Britist Land (White] 2015 Limited [Jersey] UK Tax Resident | BEPropeo (No 3j Limited UK Tax Resident
[Founder Shares)’ BF Propco [Ne 4) Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land City UK Tax Resident | BF Propco [No 5} Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Britush Land City 2005 Limited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties [No 4] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Company Secretarial Limited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties [No 5] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Financing Limited UK Tax Resident | Birstall Co-Ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
British Land Properties Limrted UK Tax Resident [Membgr interest] [41.25% |nter§stl
Briosh Land Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident | Bl [Maidenheadi Company Limited UK Tax Resident
Briush Land Securities Limited UK Tax Resident | BLISPI Cannan Street anwted UK Tax Resident
British Land Securitisation 1999 UK Tax Resident | BL (SPlinvestment {1} Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate (Funding) PLC UK Tax Resident | BL (SPl investrnent (2] Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Estates insurance Mediation UK Tax Resident | BL(SP1investment {3} Limited UK Tax Resident
Services Limited BL [SP] Investment [4) Limited UK Tax Resident
Hyfleet Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Bradford Forster Limited UK Tax Resident
Kingsmere Productions Limited UK Tax Resident ! BL Brislingion Limited UK Tax Resident
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UK/Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status | Company Name Resident Status
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Health And Fitness Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Invic Leisure Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Lirmited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH CRG LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH No 1 LLP [Mamber interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment é Limited UK Tax Resident | BLHC PH No 2 LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadway Investment Limited UK Tax Resident { BLHC PH No 3 LLP {Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Chess Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Property Holdings Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL Chess Ne. 1 Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident | BL Health Clubs PH Ne 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
(Partnership interest| BL Health Clubs PH No 2 i imited UK Tax Resident
BL City Offices Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident | BL High Street and Shopping Centres UK Tax Resident
BL Clifton Meor Limited UK Tax Resident | Holding Company Lirmited
BL CW Developments Limited UK Tax Resident { BL Holdings 2010 Limited (50% interest] UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot At Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster Investments Limited UK Tax Reaident
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot D1/2 UK Tax Resident | [Partoership interest]
Company Limited BL Leadenhall [Jerseyl Ltd [Jersey)* Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Limitad UK Tax Resident | BL Leadenhall Holding Co (Jersey] Ltd Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot K1 UK Tax Resident | Lerseyl*
Company Limited BL Leisure and industrial Holding UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | Company Limited _ :
BL CW Holdings Plot Al Compary Limited UK Tax Resident BL Marbl_eArch House_Lmlteci UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Mayfair Offices Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Haldngs Plot D1/2 Company Limited UK Tax Resident | BLMeadowhall Holdings Limited UK Tax Resgdent
BL CW Holdings Plot 61 Company Limited UK Tax Residert | BLMeadowhall Limted UK Tax Resident
BL CW Haldings Flot K1 Cormpany Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Lower GP Campany Limited UK Tax Resident | BLNewportLimited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Lower Limited Partrership UK Tax Resigent | ELOffice [Non-City) Holding UK Tax Resident

{Partnership interest)

BL CW Lower LF Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper GP Campany Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper LP Company Limited UK Tax Resident
8L Cwmbran Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Debs Limited (Jersey)* Qverseas Tax Resident
BL Department Stores Holding UK Tax Resident
Company Limited

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited UK Tax Resident
Bl Ealing Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk J2017 Lirmuted [Jerseyl? Overseas Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk Limited UK Tax Resident
BL European Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplift Fund Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident

(Partnership interest]

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Norminee No.1 Limited
[Jersey)?

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No.2 Limited
(Jersey)r

QOverseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplft General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplift Norminee 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Goodman [General Partner] Limited UK Tax Resident

[50% interest)

Company Limited

BL Office Holding Campany Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Osnaburgh St Residential | td

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadilly Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadilly Residential Management
Co Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Piccadlly Residential Retail Limited

LUK Tax Resident

BL Residential No. 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Residential No. 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Residual Helding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Retail Holding Company Limited

LUK Tax Resident

BL Retail Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Retal Warehousing Holding
Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Sainsbury Superstores Limited
(50% interest}

UK Tax Resident

BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Shorediteh Lirmited Partnership
(Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

BL Shoreditch No. 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Shoreditch No. 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Superstores Holding Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Triton Building Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Tunbridge Wells Limited

UK Tax Resident

8l Unithotder No. 1 [J) Lirmued [Jersey)®

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Unithotder No. 2 {(J] Lirmited [Jersey)?

QOverseas Tax Resident

8L Goodman [LP] Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Universal Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bl GP Chess No. 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HB Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL West (Watling House] Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC [DSCH] Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Whiteley Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC {DSCLI) Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Bt Woolwich Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Dollview Limited

UK Tax Resident

B Woolwich Nominee 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Hampshire PH LLP IMember interest]

UK Tax Resident

B Woolwich Nominee 2 Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
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Finaneial statcments

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax !

Resident Status

i Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Blackglen Limited UK Tax Resident | Casegood Enterprises UK Tax Resident
Blackwall [1] UK Tax Resident | Caseplane Limited UK Tax Resigent
Blaxmill [Twemtyfninel Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared ! Limited UK Tax Resident
Blaxmill (Thirtyl Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared Limted UK Tax Resident
BLD (AJ Lirnited UK Tax Resident | Caymalt Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD [Ebury Gate) Limited UK Tax Resident | Chantway Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD [SJ) Investments Limited UK Tax Resident | Cheshine Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD [SJ] Limited UK Tax Resident | Chrisilu Nominees Limited UK Tax Resident

BLD Land Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Property Managerment Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Securities Limited
British Land (Joint Ventures) Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Brinsh Land Acquisitions Limited
British Land Agua Partnership (2] Limited

City of London Office Unit Trust {Jersey]
[Units! [35.94% interest)?

Overseas Tax Resident

Clarges Estate Property Management
Co Limited

UK Tax Resident

Comgenic Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cornish Residential Properties
Trading Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cormsh Residential Property UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident | Investments Limited
UK Tax Resident | Crescent West Properties UK Tax Resident

British Land Aqua Partnership Limited

UK Tax Resident

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust
[37.66% interest]

UK Tax Resident

British Land City Offices Limited UK Tax Resident ,
British l.and Construction Limited UK Tax Resident | Derby Investrnent Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Departrment Stores Limited UK Tax Resident | Dinwell Limited _ UK Jax Resident
British Land Developments Limited UK Tax Resident | Drake Circus Centre Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Fund Management Limited UK Tax Resdent : Drake Circus GP, L.L.C. iin Liquidation) Overseas Tax Resident
: [tUrited States)®
Briush Land Hercules Lirmited UK Tax Resident - -
— - Drake Circus Leisure Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land In Town Retail Lirnited UK Tax Resident — -

- - - Drake Circus Limited Partnership Qverseas Tax Resident
Britsh Land Industrial Limited UK Tax Resident {in Uiqurdation) (Partnership interast)
British Land Investment UK Tax Resident | [United States)®
Management Limited Drake Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Britsh Land investments N ¥ {Netherlands] UK Tax Resident | Drake Property Nominee [No. 1] Limited UK Tax Resdent
Briush Land Lejsure Limited UK Tax Resident | Drake Property Nominea [No. 2] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Lang Offices [NON’C\tyl Limited UK Tax Resident Eden Walk Shopping Centre General UK Tax Resident
British Land Offices [Nan-City] UK Tax Resident } Partner Limited [50% interest]
No. 2 Limited Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust® Gverseas Tax Resident
British Land Offices Limited UK Tax Resident | [50% interest] {Jerseyl [Units)
British Land Offices No.1 Limited UK Tax Resident | Elementvirtue Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Property Advisers Limited UK Tax Resident | Etk Mill Oldham Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Property Management Limited UK Tax Reswdent | Euston Tower Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Regeneration Limited UK Tax Resident | Exchange House Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Retail Warehouses Limited UK Tax Resident | Finsbury Avenue Estates Limited* UK Tax Resident

[in Liguidation]

British Land Superstores {Non Securitised)
Number 2 Limited

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Business Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Four Broadgate Limited

UK Tax Resident

FRP Group Limited

UK Tax Resident

Garamead Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident

Gibraltar Generai Partner Limnited
(38.48% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate City Lirited UK Tax Resident | Gipraltar Nominges Lirited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Court Investmenis Limited UK Tax Resident | [38.48% interest]

Broadgate Estates Limited UK Tax Resident | Giltbrook Retail Park Nattingham Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Estates People Management UK Tax Resident | Glenway Limited UK Tax Resident
Limited Hempel Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Exchange Square UK Tax Resident | Hemnpel Hotels Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate [nvestrment Hokdings Limited UK Tax Res?dent Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | Yereules Property UK Limited UK Tax Resident

Broadgate REIT Limited (50% interest)*

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Square Limited

Broughton Retall Park Limited [Jersey)
[Units] [76.96% interest)?

Broughton Unit Trust [76.96% interest/?

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Unit Trust [76 %6% interest]
lerseyl {unris)

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Hereford Old Market Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited UK Tax Resident
Brunswick Park Limited UK Tax Resident | Partnership
BVP Developments Linited UK Tax Resident | Hilden Propertias Limited® UK Tax Resident
Canada Water Otfices Limited UK Tax Resident | Horndrift Limnited UK Tax Resident
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Company Name

UX/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

HUT Investments Limited [Jersey)
[76.96% nterest]

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Unit Trust (Jersey]
{Units]-

Overseas Tax Resident

HUT Retail Investments GP Limited UK Tax Resident
HUT Retail Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
Partnership [Partnership interast)

HUT Retail Investments Nominee Limited UK Tax Resident
industriat Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident
Insistmetal 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Ivorydell Limited UK Tax Resident
Ivorydell Subsidiary Limited UK Tax Resident
Ivoryhitl Limited UK Tax Resident
Jetbloom Limited UK Tax Resident
L & H Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Lancaster General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
Liverpool One Management Company UK Tax Resident

Lirnited {50% interest]

Liverpool One Management
Services Limited

UK Tax Resident

Londen and Henley [UK) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Londen and Henley Limited

UK Tax Resident

Lonebridge UK Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Longford Street Residential Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Ludgate Investment Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Ludgate West Limited UK Tax Resident
Manbrig Properties UK Tax Resident

Marbte Arch House Unit Trust [Jersey]
(Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il [GP] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central I LP (Partnership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

Faddington Central li Unit Trust [Jerseyl
{Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust [Jerseyl
Uns)

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Kiosk [GP] Lid

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Kiosk L¥ [Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

PaddingtonCentral Management Company
Limited [87.5% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Pardev {Luton] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Parwick Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Parwick Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Baltic Wharf Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Canal Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Lease Nominee Ltd UK Tak Resident
PC Partnership Nominee Lid UK Tax Resident

Piccadilly Residential Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar {Beckion) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Cricklewood) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Dartford) Limited

UK Tax Rezident

Pillar {Fulham] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Auchinlea Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Broadway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar City Plc

UK Tax Resident

Mayfair Properties UK Tax Resident

Mayflower Retail Park Basildon Limited UK Tax Resident Pillar Dartford Nq.1 Limited UA Tax Resident
Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh Limited UK Tax Resident | fllar Denton Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre [1999] Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Developments Limited U Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Limited UK Tax Resident | Fillar Estates Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Pension Scheme UK Tax Resident | Pillar Estates Ne.2 Limited 7 UK Tax Resident
Trustees Limited Pillar Furope Management Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadawhall Estates (U] Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Farnborough Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Group [MLF! Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Fort Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | Piltar Fulham No.2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhail Opportumties UK Tax Resident | Pillar Gallions Reach Limited UK Tax Resident
Nomtnee 1 Limited Pillar Glasgow 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Nominee 2 Lirmnited Pillar Glasgow 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Training Limited UK Tax Resident | illar Hercules No.2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercari UK Tax Resident | pyliar Kinnaird Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercari Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | pyliar Nugent Limited UK Tax Resident
Minhill Investments | imited UK Tax Resident | pyjiar Projects Limited UK Tax Resident
Moorage (Properly Developments] Limited UK Tax Resident | py|(ar Property Group Lirmted UK Tax Resident

Nugent Shopping Park Limited

UK Tax Resident

One Hundred Ludgate Hill

UK Tax Resident

PillarCaisse Management Limited
[50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

One Sheldon Square Limited [Jerseyl QOverseas Tax Resident | Pillarman Limited [50% interest] UK Tax Resident
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon Limited UK Tax Resident | PillarStore Limited UK Tax Resident
Osnaburgh Street Limited UK Tax Resident | PiliarStore No.3 Limited UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block A[GF] Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Plymouth Retail Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Biocck A LP (Partrership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block B [GP) Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Power Court GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Luton Lirmited Partnership
(Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block B LP [Partnership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominees No. 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central 1 [GP] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddm%ton Centrall LP [Partrership
Interest

UK Tax Resident

PREF Management Company SA
(Luxembourg)~

Overseas Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | Norminee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Limited

UK Tax Resident
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Finaneizal statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

UK/Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name ResidentStatus | Company Name Resident Statys
Project Sunrise Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited UK Tax Resident

Reboling Limited

UK Tax Resident

TPP Investments Lirnited UK Tax Restdent

Regent's Place Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident

Regents Place Management Company
Limited

Regents Place Residential Limited

Renash*
Rigphone Limited

Ritesol*

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Rohawk Properties Limited

Salmax Preperties

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Seymour Street Homes Lirnited

Shopping Centres Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Six Broadgate Limited

Southgate General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident

(50% interest)

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Southgate Property Unit Trust [ Jersey]
(Units] [50% interest]

Speke Unit Trust [67.34% interest) [Jerseyl
{Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Sprint 1118 Limited UK Tax Resident
St James Parade {43 Limited UK Tax Resident
St James Retail Park Northampton Limited UK Tax Resident
St.Stephens Shapping Centre Limited UK Tax Resident
Stockton Retait Park Lirited UK Tax Resident
Storey Spaces Limited UK Tax Resident
Surrey Quays Limited UK Tax Resident
Sydale UK Tax Resident
T {Partnershipl Limited UK Tax Resident

Tallress Limited
TBL [Brent Park] Limited

Tweed Premier 1 Limited*
Tweed Pramier 2 Limited* UK Tax Resident
Tweed Premier 4 Limited UK Tax Resident

Union Property Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident

Union Property Holdings [London] Limited UK Tax Resident
United Kingdom Property Company Lirmited UK Tax Resident

Valentine Co-ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
(Member interest] (38.48% interest]

Valentine Unit Trust [ Jersey] [Units}
(76.96% intarest]

Vicinitee Limited UK Tax Resident
Vintners' Place Limited UK Tax Resident
Wardrobe Court Limited UK Tax Resident
Wardrobe Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Wardrobe Place Limited UK Tax Resident
Wates City of London Praperties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Wates City Point Limited UK Tax Resident
Wates City Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident

Westhourne Terrace Partnership
[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

Westside Leeds Limited UK Tax Resident
Whiteley Nominee 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Whiteley Nominge 2 Limited UK Tax Resident

Whitele Shopgling Centre Unit Trust Overseas Tax Resident

{Jersey! Units
WK Holdings Limited
York House W1 Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

TBL [Bromley] Limited UK Tax Resident
TBL {Bury] Limited UK Tax Resident

TBL [Ferndown) Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Lisnagelvin) Limited
TBL [Maidstonel Limited

TBL [Milton Keynes) Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

TBL [Peterborough) Limnited
TBL Holdings Limited

TBL Properties Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Teesside Leisure Park Limited
(51% interest)

The Aldgate Place Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest] (50% interest

The Dartford Partnership IMember interest)
{(50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

The Gibraltar Limited Partnership
IPartnership interest) [38.48% interest)

The Hercules Property Limited Partnership

[Partnerstup interest] (40.68% interest]

The Leadenhall Development Company
Limited [50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

The Liverpool Exchange Company Lirnited UK Tax Resident
The Mary Street Estate Limited UK Tax Resident
The Meadowhall Education Centre (Limited UK Tax Resident

by guarantee] [50% interest]
The Retail and Warehouse Company Limited

The TBL Property Partnership
[Partnership interest]

The Whiteley Co-Ownership
[Member interest) (50% interest)

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES
UNAUDITED UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Table A: Summary income statement and balance sheet (Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on proportional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information is unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto.
it presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds included on a Line-by-line basis and excluding

non-controlling interests.

Year ended 31 March 2018

Year ended 31 March 2017

Joint Less Jdont Less
ventures non-controlling Proportionally ventures non-controlling Preportionally
Group  andfunds interests  consolidated Greup  and funds interests  consolidated
£m £m £m £m £m £€m £m £m
Gross rentalincome 4451 193 21) 8613 442 220 (19} 643
Property operating expenses {29 9) 1 (37] [25] (10 2 (331
Net rental income 412 184 (20) 574 417 210 17) 810
Administrative expenses (82) (4)] - [83) (84) (2] - (86}
Net fees and cther income 13 - 2 15 17 - - 17
Ungeared income return 343 183 (18] 508 350 208 [17] 541
Net financing costs 164) (58) 4 (128} 178 (78} 3 [151]
Underlying Profit 279 115 (14) 380 272 132 (14 390
Underlying taxation - - - - - - - -
Underlying Profit after taxation 279 115 (14) 380 277 132 {14) 390
Valuation movement 254 [237]
Other capital and taxation [net]’ 3 1433]
Capital and other 285 [670)
Total return 665 i280]
' Includes other comprehensive income, movementin dilution of share optiens and the movemnent 10 items excluded for EPRA NAY
Summary balance sheet based on proportional consolidation as at 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information is unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto.
it presents the composition of the EPRA net assets of the Group, with its share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
lLiablities included on & Line-by-line basis, and excluding non-controlling interests, and assuming full dilution.
Mark-to-
market on
Share of Less derivatives Valuation EPRA Net EPRANet
Joint non- and related surplus on assets assets
ventures controlling Share  Deferred debt Head trading A1 March 31 March
Group & funds  interests  ophons tax adjustments leases  properties 2ms 2017
£m £m £m £m Em E£m fm m £m £m
Retail properties 5,262 1759 (383 - - - 42) - 6,596 6,654
Office properties 4,265 2,334 - - - - (15) 21 4,705 7,015
Canada Water properties 298 - - - - - [15) - 283 27
Qther properties 100 19 - - - - - 13 132 -
Total properties 9,925 4,112 (383) - - - {721 134 13,716 13,940
Investments in joint ventures
and funds 2,822 (2,822) - - - - - - - -
Other investments 174 (2) - - - - - - 172 151
Other net [Labilities] assets {369) 99 4 32 5 - 72 - [355) (3701
Net debt (3,046) [1,189) 125 - - 137 - - 13,973) (4,223
Net assets 9,506 - [254) 32 137 - 134 9,560 9,498
EPRA NAV per share [note 2} 967p 915p
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Financial stzatcments

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
UNAUDITED

Table A continued
EPRA Net assets movement
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2018 31 March 2017
Pence per Pence per
£€m share £m share
Opening EPRANAY 9,498 9215 10,074 919
Incame return 380 37 390 34
Capital return 285 29 [670) 13)
Dividend naid (302} {29 (294] 271
Purchase of own shares {301) 15 - -
Closing EPRA NAY 9,560 967 9,498 915
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary table
2018 2017
Pentce pet Pance per
£m share £m share
EPRA Earnings - basic 380 375 390 379
- diluted 380 37.4 390 378
EPRA Net initial Yield 4.3% 4.3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield 4.6% 4.5%
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4.8%
2016 207
Netasset Net asset
value per value per
Netassets share pence Net assets sharepence
EPRA NAV 9,560 967 9,498 915
EPRA NNNAV 9044 14 8,938 841
Calculation and reconciliation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
(Audited) o
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Exclude:
Group - currant taxation 1) ]
Group - deferred taxahion 5) -
Jointventures and funds - deferred taxation - 1
Group - valuation movement 1202} 144
Group - (profit) loss on disposal of investment properties and investments (18] 5
Group - profit on disposal of trading properties (14) (7]
Jointventures and funds - net valuation movement (including result on disposals) [49) 75
Joint ventures and funds - capital financing costs 13 6
Changes in fair value of inancial instruments and associated close-out costs 163 [13)
Non-controlling Interests in respect of the above - {11)
Underlying Profit 380 390
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings — basic 380 3%0
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - -
EPRA earnings - diluted 380 390
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 133
IFRS earnings - diluted 493 160
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Table B continued

2018 2017
Number Number
million million
Weighted average number of shares 1,024 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares 1k (1)
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares [basic) 1,013 1,029
Dilutive effect of share options 1 1
Dilutive effect of ESOP shares 2 3
Bilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS Weighted average number of shares [diluted) 1,016 1,091
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (58]
EPRA Weighted average number of shares [diluted) 1,016 1,033
Net assets per share {Audited)
2018 2017
Pence Pence
£m per share £m per share
_Balance sheetnet assets 9,506 9,476
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 5 3
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments 137 155
Dilution effect of share options 32 36
Surplus on trading properties 134 83
Less non-controlling interests (254} [259)
EPRA NAY 2,560 967 9,498 715
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements (319 (191
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments 1137 {155]
Mark-to-market on debt (348) (386
EPRA NNNAY 9,044 214 8.938 861

EPRANNNAVY is the EPRA NAY adjusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derivatives and to include the deferred taxatian on

revaluations and dervatives.

2018 2m7

Number Number

million million

Number of shares at year end 994 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares {11) 11
IFRS/EPRA number of shares (basicl 983 1,029
Ditutive effect of share options 1 3
Dilutive effect of ESDP shares 5 b
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS number of shares (diluted) 989 1,096
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (58]
EPRA number of shares (diluted) 989 1,038
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Financial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table B continued

EPRA Net Initial Yield and ‘tepped-up’ Net Initial Yield (Unaudited)

2018 2017

£m £m

Investment preperty - wholly-owned 9,682 9.210
Investment property — share of joint ventures and funds 4,034 4,730
Less developments, residential and land {1,315) [798)
Completed property portfolio 12,401 13,142
Allowance for estimated purchasers’ costs 799 897
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (A) 13,200 14,039
Annualised cash passing rental ncome 584 607
Property outgoings (11 9)
Annualised net rents (B) 573 598
Rent expiration of rent-iree periods and fixed uplifts' 28 30
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent (C] &01 628
EPRA Net Initial Yield (B/A) 4£.3% 4£.3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield IC/A) 4.6% 4.5%
Including fixed/minimum uplifts receved in lieu of rental growth 1 11
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents (D} 612 639
Overall ‘topped-up” Net Initial Yield [D/A) 4.6% 4.6%
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent 601 628
ERV vacant space 21 34
Reversions 32 38
Tetal ERV [E) 454 700
Net Reversionary Yield [E/A) 5.0% 5.0%

' The weighted average period over which renl-free periods exprrets 1year [2016/17: 1 year.

EPRA Net Enitial Yield [NIY] basis of calculation

EPRA NIY is calculated as the annualised net rent {on a cash flow basis), divided by the gross value of the completed property portfolio.

The valuation of our completed property portfolio 1s determined by our external valuers as at 31 March 2018, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser's costs. Fstimated purchaser's costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty liability, plus an estimate by our vatuers of agent
and legal fees on notional acquisition. The net rent deductian allowed for property outgoings ts based an our valuers’ assumptions on future
recurring non-recoverahle ravenue expenditure.

in calculating the EPRA ‘topped-up NIY, the annualised net rent 1s increased by the total cantracted rent from exprry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifts where defined as not in lieu of growth. Overall ‘topped-up’ NIY 1s calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the topped-up’ net annualised rent.

The net reversionary yield is calculated by dividing the total estimated rental value [ERV) for the completed property portfolio, as determined
by our external valuers, by the gross completad property pertfolio valuation.

The EPRAvacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the completed
property portfolio.

EPRA Vacancy Rate
z018 2017
Em £m
Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises 21 34
Annualised potential rental vatue for the completed property portfolio 664 710
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4.8%

The abave 1s stated for the UK portfolio only. A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates s included within the Strategic Report
[pages 32 to 34).
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Table B continued

EPRA Cost Ratios {Unaudited)

2018 2017
£m £m
Property operating expenses 28 23
Administrative expenses 82 84
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 10 12
Less: Performance and management fees [fram joint ventures and funds] (8) 1]
Net other fees and commissicns (7 (8)
Ground rent costs (2l 12)
EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs) [A) 103 100
Direct vacancy costs 12l (12
EPRA Costs [excluding direct vacancy costs} (B] M1 88
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs 422 412
Share of joint ventures and funds [GR| less ground rent costs) 189 229
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs [C) &1 641
EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs| [A/C) 16.9% 15.6%
EPRA Cost Ratio lexcluding direct vacancy costs) (B/C) 14.9% 13.7%
Overhead and operating expenses capitalised including share of joint ventures and funds] 5 5

In the current year, employee costs in relation to staff time on development projects have been capitalised into the base cost of relevant
development assets

Table : Gross rental income

2018 2017

£Em £m

Rent receivable . 604 633
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases 12 8
Surrender premia 21 2
Gross rentalincome 413 643

The current and prior year information s presented on a propartionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests.

Table Id: Property related capital expenditure

2018 2017

Joint Joint

ventures ventures
Group  andfunds Total Group and funds .Total
Acquisitions 250 - 250 88 - 88
Developrnent 132 52 184 131 14 145
Like-for-like portfolio 23 27 50 &7 47 14
Other 17 5 22 20 7 22
Total praperty related capex 422 84 506 306 63 369

The above 1s presented on a proportionaily consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests and business combinations. The ‘Other’
category contains amounts owing to tenant incentives of £10m (2016/17: £10m), capitalised staff costs of £5m (2016/17: £5m) and capitalised
interest of £7m [2016/17: £7m).
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Ochier infornation

Other information

Other information {unaudited)
Acquisitions and Disposals
Portfalic valuation by sectar
Gross rental income
Portfolio yield and ERY movements
Retaii portfolic valuation - previous classification basis
Portfolio pet yields
Total property return (as calculated by IPO]
Occupiers representing over 0.5% of total contracted rent
Major holdings
Lease length and occupancy
Portfolio weighting
Annualised rent and estimated rental value [ERV]
Rent subject to open market rent review
Rent subject to tease break or expiry
Recently completed and commitied developments
Near term development pipeline
Medium term development pipeline
Sustainability performance measures
Ten year record
Shareholder information
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A Nordic forest was created at Broadgate this winter,
with an artisan market, a tepee cinema and The Hideaway,
a specialist dining experfence.
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Other information

UNAUDITED
Acquisitions
Annual
Price Price Passing
[100%)  [BL Sharel Rent
Since 1 April 2017 Sector E£m Em £m-
Completed
Tesco, Brislington - Tesco exchange transaction’ Retait 46 23 2
Harlech, Newport - Tesco exchange transaction’ Retail 41 20 1
10 - 40 The Broadway, Eating Retail 49 49 z
Hercules Unit Trust umits® Retail 4 4 -
The Woolwich Estate Retail 103 103 4
Rotherhithe Palice Station Canada Water 7 7 -
Total 250 206 9
' Partof a Tesco JVswap transaction resulting In a net £73m disposal of superstore assets.
4 BL share of annuzlised rent topped up for rent frees,
' Units purchased representing £4m purchased GAY
Disposals
Annual
Price Price Passing
[100%]  [BL Share) Rent
Since 1 April 2017 Sector £m £€m £m*
Completed
The Leadenhall Butlding' Offices 1,150 575 17
Superstores? Retail 545 302 18
B&Q, Bury and Grimsby Retall 56 56 4
Virgin Active, Sundertand and Coventry Retall 8 8 1
Richmond Homebase® Retail 45 45 1
Other Retal/Offices 0 10 1
The Hempel Collection Residential 52 52 -
Clarges, Mayfairt Residential 193 193 -
Aldgate Place Residential 2 1 -~
Exchanged
Clarges. Mayfair Residential &6 b4 -
Total 2,127 1,308 42

txchanged during the year ended 31 March 2017,

Of which £116m [BL share] was part of a Tesco JV swap transaction resulting in a net £73m disposal of superstore assets
 Exchanged in year and completed post year end.
* Exchanged prior to FY18. Of which £168m completed post period end
Bl share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees

-
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Portfolio valuation by sector

Change %'
JV¥sand
Group Funds Total
At 3t March 2018 £m £m Em H1 H2 FY
Regional 1132 1,898 3,030 0.1 0.2 0.2
Local 1,840 458 2,298 (0.9 (0.6) (13)
Multi-let 2,972 2,356 5,328 (0.4) 0.2) (0.5)
Department stores and leisure 593 1 994 2.4 2.6 5.1
Superstores 29 261 360 0.8 (1.5] (0.3}
Solus and other 314 - 314 58 07 65
Retail 3,978 2,618 6,594 0.3 - 0.3
West End 4,255 - 4,255 3.2 2.6 58
City 116 2,334 2,450 1.7 1.3 28
Offices 4,31 2,334 6,705 2.6 2.1 45
Residential’ 113 19 132 3.6 12.6) 1.6
Canada Water 283 - 283 (4.5) (3.0 (7o
Total 8,745 497 13,716 1.4 0.9 2.2
Standing Investments 8,349 4,583 12,932 1.2 0.4 1.6
Developments 396 388 784 3.3 5.4 9.6

! Valuation movement during the year [after taking account of capital expenditure] of properties held at the balance sheet date, including developments [classified by

end use], purchases and sales.
? Stand-alone residential.

Gross rental income!

12 months to 31 March 2018

Annualised as at 31 March 2018

Vs and Nsand

Group Funds Total Group Funds Total
Accounting Basis £m £m Em £m £m Em
Regional 62 89 181 &1 88 149
Local 92 29 121 90 26 116
Mutti-let 154 118 272 151 M4 265
Department stores and leisure 43 - 43 40 - 40
Superstores 4 22 26 4 18 22
Solus and other 19 - 19 17 - 17
Retail 220 140 340 212 132 344
West End 133 - 133 134 - 134
City ) 102 108 5 80 85
Offices 139 102 241 139 80 219
Residential’ 4 - 4 5 - 5
Canada Water? 8 - 8 8 - 8
Totat N 242 413 364 212 576

' Gross rental incorme will differ [rom annuabsed rents due to accounting adjustments for fixed and minimum contracted rental uplifts and lease incentives

¢ Stand-alone residential.
' Reflects standing investrnent only
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Portfolio yield and ERV movements!

ERV Growth %" *

NEY Yield Moverment bps**

NEY
At 31 March 2018 % M1 H2 FY H1 H2 FY
Regional 5.0 12 11 23 4 3 7
Local 55 1.1 0.1 1.2 11 2 13
Multi-let 5.2 11 0.7 1.9 7 2 9
Department stores and teisure 5.7 5.9 0.3 6.2 1) 4 (7]
Superstores 54 (1.2 .1 (2.3] (7] (3) (9)
Solus and other 572 (5.8 [0.0 (5.8) 16 (9} 7
Retail 5.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 -]
West End 4.3 1.0 1.5 2.5 1 (2} (13)
City 4.5 1.3 0.2 1.5 1 1 2
Offices 4.4 1.2 1.0 21 (3] k)] 7]
Canada Water® 3.9 (1.1) 0.0 1.1) 1" 28 37
Total 4.8 1.0 0.7 1.8 (0 1 1

' Excluding developments under construction, assets held for development and residential assels

? As calculated by IPD.
* Including notional purchaser's costs.

“ Excludes Euston Tower, aswe move closer to tenant break in 2021, valuation now reflects refurbishment assumption which, if included, would distort these movements

" Reflects standing investment only.

Retail portfolio valuation — previous classification basis

Valuation' Change %’ ERV Growth %° NEY Yield Movement bps*
At 31 March 2018 £m H1 H2 Fy H1 H2 FY Hi H? FY
Shopping Parks 3,180 (0.1) 0.3 0.2 0.8 0.2 0¢ 1 (o]} 10
Shopping Centres 2,359 0.2 (0.5) (0.3) 0.7 1.4 24 3 4 7
Superstores 360 0.8 (1.5) 0.3) (1.2l .1 (2.3 (7) ie] (9
Department Stares 269 21 0.8) 0.5 (0.0] 1.4 1.4 (10l 8 2]
Leisure 428 2.5 35 6.2 77 (0.0 77 {15) 2 (9
Retail 6,596 0.3 - 0.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 ]

! Group's share of propertiesin joint ventures and funds including HUT at owner ship share

/ Valuation movement during the year (after taking account of capital expenditurel of properties held at the balance sheet date. including developments [classified by end

use), purchases and sales.
" As calculated by IPD.
* Including notional purchaser's costs.

168

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2018




Portfolio net yields'?

EPRAtapped Overall topped Net Net
EFRA net up netinitial up net imtial equlvalent reversionary
inftial yield yielg yield yield yield
At 31 March 2018 % %' %' % %
Regional 4.5 4.7 4.7 5.0 50
Local 5.0 5.1 5.2 55 55
Muiti-let 4.7 L9 49 5.2 5.3
Department stores and leisure 5.7 57 58 2.7 4.5
Superstores 57 5.7 57 5.4 5.2
Solus and other 5.1 5.1 5.1 52 4.2
Retail 4.9 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.1
West End 35 4.0 4.0 4.3 4.7
City 42 4.2 5.7 4.5 4.9
Offices 3.8 4.1 4.1 4.4 4.8
Canada Water® 31 3.2 3.2 39 39
Total 4.3 4.6 4.6 4.8 5.0
On a proporhionally consolidated basis including the Group’s share of joint ventures and funds.
U Including notional purchaser’s costs
< Excluding committed developments, assets held for development and residential assets
Including rent contracted from expiry of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts not in lieu of rental growth.
* Including fixed/minimum uplifts lexcluded from EPRA definition]
* Reflects standing investrment only
Total property return (as caleulated by IPD)
Retatl Offices Total
British Land IPG Brnitish Land IPD  Briush Land IPD
Full Year to 31 March 2018 % % % Y % %
Capital Return 0.4 11 5.2 4.2 2.9 5.3
- ERV Growth 1.6 0.9 2.1 1.3 1.8 20
-Yield Expansion! & bps -1 bps -7 bps -2% bps Tbps -26bps
Income Return 5.3 5.0 3.6 3.9 4.4 4.6
Total Property Return 5.7 6.2 9.0 8.3 7.0 1041
On a proporticnally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds.
' Net equivalent yreld movernent
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occupiers representing over (.5% of total contracted rent

At 31 March 2018 % of total rent % of total rent
Tesco' 4.3 Asda Group 1.0
J Sainsbury 38 Microsoft 1.0
Debenhams 35 JO Sports 1.0
UBSAG 33 Sports Direct 09
HM Government 28 Virgin Active 09
Next 25 Deutsche Bank 0.8
Kingfisher 25 Reed Smith 0.8
Facebook 1.9 Steinhoff 0.7
Dentsu Aegis? 18 Mayer Brown 0.7
Marks & Spencer 1.8 H&M . 0.7
Spirit Group 1.7 TGl Fridays 0.7
Wesfarmers [Homebase/Bunnings! 1.7 River Island 0.7
Visa Inc 1.6 Mothercare 0.6
Atliance Boots 16 NEX Group 0.6
{Oixons Carphone 1.5 Primark 0.6
Arcadia Group 1.4 Credit Agricote 0.6
Herbert Smith 1.3 Pets at Home 0.6
TK Maxx 1.2 Henderson 0.5
Gazprom 11 Hutchison 0.5
Vodafone 1.0 Aramco 0.5
David Lloyd 1.0 Misys 0.5
New Look® 1.0

Includes £3.7m at Surrey Quays Shopping Centre,

Represents current occupation of 10 Triten Street covering 118,000 sq ft of space. Taking into account their pre-let of 310,000 sq ft at 1 Triton Square, % of contracted
rent would rise 10 5.2% As part of this new letling, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return their existing space at 10 Triton Streetin 2021, If this eption 1s exercised, there
is an adjustment le the rent free period in respect of the letting at 1 Trnton Square to compensate British Land

' Taking inta account rent adjustments following CVA.

Major holdings
British Land Cccupancy Lease
share Sqgft Rent rate length
At 31 March Z2D18 % ‘000 £m pa' B’ yrs*
Broadgate 50 4,850 176 972 79
Regent’s Place 100 1,740 75 981 74
Paddington Central 100 958 4h 97.0 6.2
Meadowhall, Sheffield 50 1,500 89 979 6.3
Teesside, Stockton 100 569 17 95.4 5.1
Drake's Circus, Plymouth 100 1.082 21 78.5 91
Ealing Broadway 100 540 15 95.2 5.2
Glasgow Fort 77 510 21 991 6.0
Sainsbury's Superstores® 51 1,457 34 100.0 8.8
10 Portman Square 100 134 10 100.0 7.1

' Annualised EPRA contracted rentincluding 100% of joint ventures and funds
4 Including accommodation under otfer ar subject to asset management

* Weighted average to first break. :

¢ Excludes commmtted and near term developments

" Comprises stand-alone stores.
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Lease length and occupancy

Average lease length years

Occupancy rate %'

At31March2018 Ta expiry Tobreak EPRA Occupancy Occupancy?’
Regional 7.7 6.6 94.8 $71
Local 7.4 6.3 97.4 98.1
Multi-let 7.6 6.5 971 927.6
Department stores and lesure 16.4 16.4 99.8 99.8
Superstores 9.4 9.4 160.9 100.0
Solus and cther 1.6 1.6 1000 100.0
Retail 8.8 7.9 97.6 98.0
West End 8.6 7.0 96.2 9b.4
City 89 79 971 971
Offices 8.7 7.3 96.5 926.7
Canada Water? 6.1 6.0 97.4 98.0
Total 8.7 7.7 971 97.4

' Space allocated to Storey is shown as occupied where there s a Storey tenantin place otherwise it 1s shown as vacant. Offices eccupancy would rise from 96.7%
to 97.1% and total occupancy would rise from 97.4% to 97.7% if Storey space were assumed 1o be fully let.

? Includes accommodation under offer or subject to asset management

* Reflects standing investment only.

* If umits let 1o occupiers who have entered liquidation post 31 March 18 are treated as vacant, then the occupancy rate for Retail would reduce from 98 0% to $7.5%,

and totat occupancy would reduce from 97.4% to 97 2%,.

Portfolio weighting

2018 2018 2618
2017 lcurrent] fcurrent]  iproforma'l
At 31 March % E £m %
Regional 213 221 3.030 21.3
Local 15.4 167 2,298 15.9
Multi-let 38.7 38.8 5,328 37.2
Department stores and leisure 4.1 4.3 594 41
Superstores 4.5 2.6 360 25
Sotus and other 25 2.3 314 2.2
Retail 4£7.8 48.0 6,5%6 456.0
West End 28.4 31.0 4,235 31.6
City 207 179 2,450 19.5
Dffices [4A 48.9 4,705 51.1
Residential® 1.2 1.0 132 0%
Canada Water 19 21 283 20
Total 100.0 100.0 13,716 100.0
London weighting 58% 59% 8,037 60%
0On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds
' Pro forma for developments under construction at estimated end value {as determined by the Group’s external valuers)
 Stand-alone residential
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Ocher information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised rent and estimated rental value (ERV)

Annualised rent

Ivaluation basis) £Em' ERV £m Average rent £psf
JVsand
At 31 March 2018 Group Funds Total Total Contracted” ERV
Regional 43 88 151 168 32.2 34.2
Local 98 26 124 137 241 259
Multi-let 161 114 275 305 28.0 299
Department stores and teisure 36 - 36 29 16.4 13.0
Superstores 5 16 21 19 22.7 20.6
Solus and other 17 - 17 14 20.9 171
Retail 219 130 349 347 25.4 259
West End? 133 - 133 17¢ 58.2 67.1
Crty? 5 88 ?3 108 511 57.1
Offices® 138 88 226 287 55.2 62.9
Residential® 5 - 5 3 - -
[ da Water® 8 - 8 10 17.2 21.7
Total 370 218 588 668 3.4 339

0On a proportignally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds.

' Gross rents plus, where rent reviews are gutstanding, any increases to ERY las determined by the Group's external valuersl, less any ground rents payable under head
leases, excludes contracted rent subject to rent free and future uplift.

¢ Annualised rent, plus rent subject to rent free.

' Cpsf metrics shown for office space only.

* Stand-alene residential.

" Reflects standinginvestrment only.

Rent subject to open market rent review

For period to 31 March

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019-21 2019-23
At 31 March2018 €m £m E£m £m £m £m Em
Regionat 19 1 18 14 n 48 73
Local 18 1 12 & 18 41 65
Multi-let 37 22 30 20 29 8¢9 138
Department stores and leisure 7 - _ N - 7 7
Superstores 3 8 ) 1 1 17 19
Solus and other - - - - - - -
Retail 47 30 34 21 30 113 164
West End 27 15 10 9 13 52 74
City 15 4 ¢ - - 28 28
Offices 42 19 19 9 13 80 102
Canada Water’ 1 - - - - 1 1
Total 0 49 55 30 43 194 267

On a proportionally consclidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds.
! Reflects standing investment anly
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Rent subject to lease break or expiry

For period to 31 March

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019-21 2019-23
At 3t March 2018 £m £Em £m £rn Ern Em E£m
Regional 14 14 9 14 20 37 7
Local 12 10 10 12 13 32 57
Multi-tet 26 24 19 26 33 &9 128
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstores - - - - 2 - 2
Solus and other - - 1 - - 1 1
Retail 26 24 20 26 35 70 131
West End 5 4 18 21 25 27 73
City 10 10 8 2 3 28 33
Offices 15 14 26 23 28 55 106
Canada Water' 1 0 1 0 1 2 3
Total 42 38 &7 49 b4 127 240
% of contracted rent 6.3% £.2% 7.8% 8.0% 10.3% 20.9% 39.2%
Gn a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds.
! Reflects standing investment only
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Recently completed and committed developments

Let and
British Land 100% [ Current Costto under
share sq ft calendar value come ERV offer
At 31 March 2018 Sector % ‘000 year £m £m! £m’ Em
Clarges Maytair - retailand residential®>  Mixed Use 100 104 Q4 2017 473 14 0.7 -
Speke (Leisure) Retail 67 66 Q12018 15 3 1.1 0%
Total Completed in Year 170 488 17 1.8 0.9
100 Liverpool Street Office 50 522 Q12020 166 17 18.7 5.0
1 Triton Square* Office 100 366 Q42020 210 185 231 21.8
1 Finsbury Avenue Gifice 50 291 Q12019 105 26 8.1 2.4
135 Bishopsgate Office 50 328 Q22019 87 é1 25 4.2
Plymouth [Leisure) Retail 100 107 Q429 4 38 31 i.2
Total Committed ) 1,814 572 427 62.5 34.6
Retail Capex® 69

' From 1 Aprit 2018. Cost to come excludes notional interest as interest is capitalised individually on each development al our capitalisation rate

* Estimated headline rental value net of rent payable under head leases [excluding tenant incentives)

* Current value includes £319m [of total £344m] uruts exchanged and not completed as at 31 March 2018 Sales of £168m completed post period end.

* ERV let and under offer of £21.8m represents space taken by Dentsu Aegis. As part of this letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to Feturn their existing space at 10 Trilon
Street in 2021, If this option is exercised, there is an adjustment to the rent free period In respect of the letting at 1 Triton Square to compensate Briush Land,

* Capex committed and underway within our investment portfolio relating to leasing and asset management.

Near term development pipeline

British Land 100% Expected Current LCostto Let and
share sqft start value come ERV under offer Planning
At 31 March 2018 Sector Y ‘600 on site Em £m’ £m? Em status
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Q32018 7 123 6.0 - Consented
Blossom Street, Office 100 340 G2 2019 17 250 18.6 -
Shoreditch Consented
Bradford {Leisure) Retail 100 49 Q12019 1 14 0.9 - Pre-subrussicn
Teesside [Leisure] Retail 100 84 Q12019 30 47 47 - Res to Grant
Total near term 578 55 434 30.2 -
Retail capex? 101

' From 1 April 2018. Cest ta come excludes notional interest as interest 1s capitalised individually on each development at our capitalisation rate
’ Estimated headline rental value net of rent payatle under head leases [excluding tenant incentives)
' Ferecast capital commitments within our investment portfolio over the next 12 manths relating te leasing and asset enhancement.

Medium term development pipeline

British Land 100%

share sq ft
At 31 March 2018 Sector % 0oo Planning status
2-3 Finsbury Avenue ) Oftice 50 563 Consented
1-2 Broadgate Office 50 507 Pre-submission
5 Kingdom Street!' Office 100 332 Consented
Meadowhall (Leisurel Retail 50 330 Resolution to Grant
Peterborough [Leisure] Retail 100 208 Submitted
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retail 100 298 Pre-submission
Aldgate Pilace Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk retail and residential Mixed Use 50 533 Consented
Chester Masterplan Retail 77 45 Pre-submission
Plymouth, George Street Retail 100 31 Pre-submissicn

Total medium term excluding Canada Water 2,992
Canada Water - Phase 1° Mixed Use 100 1,848 Submitted outline

U Planning consent for previous 240,000 sq ft scheme.
* Canada Water site cavers 5m sq ft in total based on net area [gross area of 7m sq fi]
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Sustainability performance measures

We report on all assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence {our managed portfolia) and all developments over
£300,000 with pianning permission, on-site or completed in the year. The exception s EPC and flood risk data, where we report on atl assels
under management. As at 31 March 2018, our managed portfelic comprised 73% of our assets under management. Please see the scope

column for indicator specific reporting coverage.

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007. Selected data for 2018 has been independently assured by PwC in accordance with
ISAE 3000 (Revised] and ISAE 3410. For the 2018 PwC assurance statement and mere detailed data, please see cur Sustainability Accounts
2018: www.britishiand.com/data. British Land has been a signatory to the United Nations Global Compact since 2009. For our 2018

Communication on Progress, visit www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport.

Performance Scope’
lassets or
2018 2017 units]
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustamability indices: DJSI Europe, DISI Wartd, [¥/3 4f4 -
FTSE4AGood and GRESB
Progress implementing Sustainability Action Plans at strategic assets 72% nr 47147
Progress implementing Sustainakility Brief for Developments at all projects over £5m 100% nr 17/17
2020
@ Wellbeing [Customer Orientation) target’
Deliver a WELL certified commercial office to shell and core, and set corporate policy Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
for future developments
Develop and pilet retail wellbeing specification Deliver In progress On track -
Increase the sense of wellbeing for shoppers, retailers and occupiers at cur places Increase Ontrack Ontrack -
Define and trial a methodology for measuring productivity in offices Deliver Completed Ontrack -
Research and publish on how development design rmpacts public health cutcomes Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
Pilot interventions to improve local air quality’ 3 Target n/a -
established
Injury Incidence Rate [RIDDOR) Offices 12.88 235 43/43
Retail 0.01 0.01 58/58
Injury Frequency Rate [RIDDOR)] Developments 0.13 0.08 38/38
45> Community (Right Places)
Imglement our Local Charter at all key assets and major developments 100% Charter nr -
updated
British Land employee skills-based volunteering 20% 16% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 0% 79% 0% -
Community pragramme beneficiaries 39,798 35600 -
@) Futureproofing (Capital Efficiency)
Developments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excellent 100% 92% 100% 16/16.
or Very Good for retail
Carbon {Scope 1 and 2] intensity reduction versus 2009 [index scored] 95% 54% 44% 70/73
l.andlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 (index scored) 55% 40% 35% 70/73
Electricity purchased from renewable sources' 100% 7% 93% 94/105
Average reduction in embodied carbon emissions versus cancept design on major developments 15% nr nr -
Waste diverted from landfill: managed properties and developments 100% 9% 98% 105/125
Portfolio with green building ratings [% by floor areal 18% 16%  234/234
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G (% by floor area) 5% 4% 2558/2640
Portfotio at high risk of flood (% by value] 3% 3%  230/234
High flood risk assets with flood management plans (% by valuel 100% nr 15/1%
% Skills and opportunity (Expert Peoplal
People supparted inte employment’ (cumulativel 1,700 770 542 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% Code Launched n/a -
Prioritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 3% 1.2% nr® 209/232
Pilot a Living Wage Zone at a London campus' Deliver - - -
Workforce paid at least Living Wage Group employees 100% 100% -
Foundatian rate Supplier workforce at managed properties 70% 72% 92/101
Developments supply chain spend within 25 miles 71% 60% 1112

' Informed by a rigorous materiality review, we have introduced new 2020 targets for air quality, employment, fair wages and renewable electricity to increase focus
on priority 1ssues, For more information on changes to our targets and detail on performance, see www.britishland.com/sustainability/performance/targets

< 2018 reporting scope
2017 milot study data 15 not comparable and so 15 not reported
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Other infornution

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Sustainability performance measures continued

EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting
British Lang has received EPRA Gold Awards for sustainability reporting six years running. This year, EPRA expanded best
practice recommeandations for sustainability reporting to include social and governance performance measures, as well as
environmental. We are pleased to have reported on the majority of environmental and social measures in our summary below.
For information on governance measures, please see pages 56 to 75. For our full methodology and more detailed data on all
these indicators and additional indicators, please see our Sustainability Accounts 2018 www.britishland.com/data.

Scope
lassets or
2018 2017 2016 units)
Environmental performance’
Total electricity consumption [MWh] 162,833 172,127 172,238 $4/105
Total district heating and coaling censumption [MWh] 0 0 0 0/0
Total fuel consumption [MWh) 37,500 39,319 38,234 46452
Building energy intensity (kWhi Gffices [per m?) 145.71 158.70 155.64 28/29
Retail - enclosed (per m?] 156.48 161.89 156.97 6/7
Retail - open arr [per car parking space]  168.13 150.01 133.66 36437
Totaldirect [Scope 1] greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO,e] 6,267 7.609 7927 102/113
Total ndirect [Scope 2] greenhouse gas emissions Location hased 27,30 34,149 38,710 102/113
{tonnes COqel Market based 1,875 6,630 36,734 102/113
Greenhouse gas intensity fram building energy Offices [per m? 0.055 0.069 0.075 28/29
consumption ftonnes COe) Retail - enclosed [per m?] 0.056 0.067 0.073 6/7
Retail - open air
lper car parking spacei 0.062 0.064 0.063 36/37
Total water consumption [m?) 616,221 663,541 653,490 41470
Building water intensity [m3) Offices (per FTE] 15.56 14.59 15.08 26/28
Retail - enclosed [per 10,000 visitars) nr 9.47 10.29 -
Retail - open air [per 10,000 visitors] nr 2.86 1.7% -
Total non-hazardous waste by disposal route Re-used and recycled 11,207 12,166 12,899 &7/87
[tonnes and %) (56%] (57%I [61%]
Incinerated 8,887 9,236 8,132 67/87
(44%]) [43%) [38%I)
Landfilled [ 35 184 &1/87
10%]) (0%l (1%
Totzl hazardous waste [tonnes) 4 nr nr 28/87
Sustainably certified assets — At B 23% 25% nr_ 2558/2660
Energy Performance Certificates CtoE 72%, 71% nr 2558/2440
(% by floor areal FtoG 5% 4% nr_2558/2660
Social performance?
Employee diversity - gender Male 51% 53% 52% -
Female 4£9% 47T% 48% -
Employee gender pay ratio Executive Directors 18% 86% 105% -
[medhan remuneration, female to mate] Senior management 116% 92% nr -
Middle and non-management 87% 8%% nr -
Employee training - average hours 14.2 13.2 16.0 -
Employee annual performance review 100% - nr nr -
Employee new hires rate 20% 26% 36% -
Employee turnover - departures rate 15% 15% 17% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injury frequency rate 0 nr nr -
Lost day rate 0% nr nr -
Work-related fatalities 0 0 0 -
Asset heatth and safety Proportion subject to health and
safety review (%] 100% 100% 100% 113/113
Incidents of non-compliance 0 nr nr 113/113
Progress implementing our Local Charter at key Charter Target

assets and major developments

updated established

! As per EPRA best practice recommendations, total energy and water data covers energy and water procured by Briush Land Energy and carbon intensity data covers
common parts and shared services for Offices and common parts for Retail Water intensity data covers whole bulldings for Offices and commen parts for Retail
Per m‘ comprises net internal areas for Offices and commoen parts for Retait

* Social performance datas for British Land Group overail.

' 2018 reparting scope.
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years'

results, cash flows and balance sheets.

2018 2017 2016 2013 2014 2013 2012 261 2010 2009
£Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £€m
Income’
Gross rental income 613 643 654 418 597 567 572 541 561 650
Net rental income 576 610 620 585 562 541 546 518 545 598
Net fees and other income 15 17 17 17 15 i5 17 18 15 20
Interest expense [net] (128) (151 (180) (201) {202 (208] [218] 1212] {248) (292
Administrative expense (83) [84) (94) (88] (78] [76) (76) i68] {65] (58]
Underlying Profit 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249 268
Exceptional costs
inot included in Underlying Profit)* - - - - - - - - - (119}
Dividends declared 302 296 287 277 266 234 231 231 225 198
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation™? 13,716 13940 14,648 13,677 12,040 10,499 10,337 2,972 8,539 8,625
Net debt (3,973] (4,223) [4,765] [4918] (4,890) [(4,268) [4,690) {41731 (4,081] {4,941)
Other assets and liakilities (183} {219) 19 276 (123 (268] [266) [298] {511 {297
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 9,560 2,498 10,074 9.035 7,027 5,967 5,381 5,101 4,407 3,387
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 35 379 341 318 ‘243 197 21 182 248 406
Other cash fiows from operations 2 [16] [47]) (33) (24) (7) (5] 28 (112] [201])
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363 294 285 219 190 206 210 134 205
Cash inflow [outflow) from capital
expenditure, Investments, acquisitions
and disposals 346 470 230 (11 (660] 1202) (547} (240] (39] 418
Equity dividends paid 1304) (295] (235 [228) [159) (2031 (212} (139) [194] [188]
Cash (outflow] inflow from management
of liquid resources and financing 1404) (538] {283} 20 607 213 430 157 {485] [58)
[Decrease] increase in cash® 9 - b [34] 7 (2] 77 [12] (542) 377
Capital returns
Growth [reduction} in net assets? 07% (57% MNE%  2846% 178% 109% 55% 157%  307%  [51.1%]
Total return 8.9% 27%  14.2% 245% 200% 4.5% 2.5% 17.7%  33.5%  [61.6%]
Total return - pre-exceptional 8.9% 27%  14.2%  245%  20.0% 4.5% 9.5%  17.7%  33.5% [60.3%l
Per share information®
EPRA net asset value per share 967p ?15p 919p 829p 688p 5%946p 595p 567p 504p 398p
Memorandum
Dvidends declared in the year 30.1p 29.2p 28.4p ?7.7p 270p 26.4D 26.p 26.0p 26.0p 29.8p
Bividends paid in the year 29.6p 28.8p 28.0p 27.3p 26.7p 26.3p 26.0p 26.0p 27.3p 30.0p
Diluted earnings
Underlying EPRA earnings pér share 3%.4p 378p 34.0p 30.6p 29.4p 30.3p 29.7p 28.5p 28.4p 41.0p
IFRS earnings (loss] per shares 48.5p 147p  M197p  1673p  110.2p 31.5p  53.8p 95.2p  132.6p  [414.1p)
' Including share of joint ventures and funds
7 Represents movemnent in diluted EPRA NAY.
* Including surplus over book value of trading and development properties
* Including restatement in 2016 ang exceptional finance costs in 2009, £119 million
" Represents movement in cash and cash equivalents under IFRS and movements in cash under UK GAALP
» Adjusted for the rights 1ssue of 341 million shares in March 2009.
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Other informution

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2018/19

Fourth quarter ex-dividend date 28 June 2018
Fourth quarter dividend payment date 3 August 2018
First quarter ex-dividend date 4 October 2018
First quarter dividend payment date 9 November 2018
Half year resuits November 2018
Second guarter ex-dividend date January 2019
Second guarter dividend payment date February 2019
Third quarter ex-dividend date March 2019
Third guarter dividend payment date May 201%
Fullyear results May 2019
Fourth quarter ex-dividend date June 2019
Fourth quarter dividend payment date August 2019

If offered, the Board will announce the availability of a Scrip dividend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no later than four business
days before each ex-dividend date. Scrip dividend alternatives will not be enhanced. The split between PID and nen-PiD income for each

dividend will be announced at the sarme time.

Analysis of shareholders — 31 March 2018

Number Balance as at
Range of holdings % 31 March 2018 %
1-1,000 5,596 54.28 2,434,863 0.24
1,001-5,000 3,125 30.31 6,968,461 0.70
5,001-20,000 692 671 6,694,277 0.67
20,001-58,000 249 2.42 7.939.791 0.80
50,001-Highest 647 4.28 969,859,733 9759
Total 10,309 10000 993,857125 100.00

Number Balance as at
Holder type of holders % 31 March 2018 %
Individuals 6,134 59.50 10,999,208 mm
Nominee and institutional investors 4,175 4050  982,857917 9889
Total 10,309 160.00 993,857,125 100.00

' Excluding 11,266,245 shares held in treasury.
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Registrars
British Land has appointed Equimiti Limited [Equainiti] to admimister
its shareholder register. Equiniti can be contacted at:

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA

Tel: 0371 384 2143 [UK callers)

Tel: +44 (01121 415 7047 [Overseas callers)

Lines are open from 8.30am to 5.30pm Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays

Website: www.shareview.co.uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can:

- View your 8nitish {and shareholding online
- Update your details
- Flect to receive shareholder mailings electronically

Equiniti1s also the Registrar for the BLD Property H'oldmgs
Lirmited Stock.

Share dealing facilities

By reqistering with Shareview, Equimti also provides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for buying
and selling British Land shares enline or by phone.

For mare infarmation, contact Equiniti at www.shareview.co.uk/
dealing or call 0845 603 7037 (Monday to Friday excluding public
holidays from 8.30am to 4.30pml. Existing British Land shareholders
will need the reference number given on your share certificate

to register. Similar share dealing facilities are provided by other
brokers, banks and financial services.

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate website contains a wealth of material
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and information dividends. The website can be accessed at
www.britishland.com.

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive shareholder
communications electronically. This enables shareholders to
receive Information quickly and securely as well as ina more
environmentally friendly and cost-effective manner. Further
information can be obtained from Shareview ar the

Shareholder Helpline.

ShareGift

Shareholders with a small number of shares, the value of which
makes it uneconomic to sell them, may wish to consider donating
thelr shares to charity. ShareGift is a registered charity (No. 1052686)
which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the proceeds

to support a wide range of UK charities. A ShareGift donation form
can be obtained from Equiniti

Further information about ShareG:ft can be obtained from ther
website at www.sharegift.org.

Honorary President

in recognition of his work building British Land into the industry
leading company 1t 15 today, Sir John Ritblat was appointed as
Honorary President on his retirement from the Beard in
December 2006.

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

45 Seymour Street, London WiH 7LX
Telephone: +44 {020 7486 4466
Website: www.britishland.com

Dividends

As a REIT, Briush Land pays Property Income Distribution [FID)
and non-Praperty Income Distribution [non-PID) dividends, More
information on REITs and PIBs can be found in the Investors section

i of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends.

British Land dividends can be paid directly into your bank or building

society account instead of being despatched to you by cheque. More
infarmation about the benefits of having dividends paid directly into
your bank or building society account, and the mandate form to set
this up, can be found in the Investors section of our website at
www.britishland.com/investors/dividends/
dividends-direct-to-your-bank.

Scrip Dividend Scheme

British Land may offer shareholders the opportunity to participate

in the Scrip Dividend Scheme by offering a Scrip Alternative to a
particular dividend from time to time. The Scrip Dividend Scheme
allows participating shareholders to receive additional shares
instead of a cash dividend. For more information please visit the
Investors sectian of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends/
scrip-dividend-scheme.

Unsolicited mail

British Land is required by law to make s share register available
on request to other organisations. This may result in the receipt of
unsolicited mail. To linit this, shareholders may register with the
Mailing Preference Service. For more information, or to register,
visit: www.mpsonline.org.uk.

Shareholders are also advised to be vigitant of share fraud which
includes telephone calls offering free Investment advice or offers
to buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices.

If it sounds too good to be true, it often is. Further information
can be found on the Financial Conduct Authority's website
www.fca.org.uk/scams or by calling the FCA Consumer
Helpline orn 0800 111 4748.

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying a £308m
conversion charge ta HMRC in the same year. As a consequence of
the Group's REIT status, tax is not levied within the corporate group
on the qualifying property rental business but is instead deducted
from distributions of such income as Property Income Distributions
to shareholders. Any income which does not fall within the REIT
regime 1s subject to tax within the Group in the usual way. This
inctudes profits on property trading activity, property related fee

. income and Interest income. We continue te comfortably pass all
! REIT tests ensuring that our REIT status 1s maintained.

We work proactively and openly to maintain a constructive
relationship with HMRC. We discuss matters in real-time with HMRC
and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances, particularty where
there may be tax uncertainty or the law is unclear. HMRC assigns
risk ratings to all large companies. We have a low appetite for tax
nisk and HMRC considers us to be "Low Risk’ [a status we have held
since 2007 when the rating was first introduced by HMRC].

Further information can be found in our Tax Strategy at
www.britishland.com/governance.
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain ‘forward-looking” statements Such
statements reflect current views on, amang other things, our markets,
activities, projections, objectives and prospects Such forward-looking’
slatements can sometimes, but not always, be identified by their reference
to adate er point in the future or the use of “farward-looking” terminology,
including terms such as "believes', ‘estimates’, ‘anticipatas’, ‘expects’,
‘farecasts’, intends’, ‘due’. ‘plans’, projects’, ‘goal’, 'outlook’, 'schedule’,
‘target’, ‘aim’. ‘may’, ‘likely to, ‘will’, ‘would’, ‘could’, 'should’ or similar
expressions or in each case their negative or other variations or comparable
terminology. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent
risks, assumptions and uncertainties because they relate to future events
and depend on circumstances which may or may not occur and may be
beyand our ability to control or predict Forward-looking statements
should be regarded with caution as actual results may differ materially
from those expressed in or implied by such statements.

important factors that could cause actual results, performance or
achievements of British Land to differ materially from any oulcomes or
results expressed orimplied by such forward-looking statements include,
among other things. (al general business and political, social and
economic conditions globally, (b) the consequences of the referendum

on Britain leaving the EU, [¢] industry and market trends [including
demand i the property investment market and property price volatilityl,
(d} competition, [g] the behaviour of other market participants, (f) changes
in government policies or laws and regulation which affect Brtish Land,
ncluding inrelation to the environment, heatlth and safety and taxation

lin particular, in respect of British Land's status as a Real Estate
Investment Trust), {g] inflation and consumer confidence, [h] labour
relations and work stoppages, [} natural disasters and adverse weather
conditions, (] terrorism and acts of war, (k) British Land’s overall business
strategy. risk appetite and investment choices in its portfolio management,
[l tegal or other proceedings against or affecting British Land,

[m] deterioration of reliability and security of its IT infrastructure,

{n] changes in occupier demand and tenant default, [o] changes in financial
and equity markets including interest and exchange rate fluctuations,

[p] changes in accounting pracuices and the interpretation of accounting
standards and (g} the availability and cost of finance. The Company's
principal risks are described in greater detail in the section of this Annual
Report headed Managing risk in delivering our strategy and principal risks
Forward-locking statements in this Annual Report, or the British Land
website or made subsequently, which are attributable to Brtish Land or
persons acting on its behalf should therefore be construed in Light of all
such factors

Inforration contained in this Annual Report relating to British Land or its
share price or the yield on its shares are not guarantees of, and should not
be relied upon as an indicator of, future performance, and nothing in this
Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast or profit estimate.
Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of British Land
speak only as of the date they are made. Such forward-locking statements
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the factors referred to above and
no representation, assurance, guarantee or warranty is given in relation to
them {whether by British Land or any of 1ts associates, Directors, officers,
employees or advisers), including as to their compleleness, accuracy or
the basis on which they were prepared.

Other than in accordance with our {egal and regulatory obligations
[including under the UK Financral Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules,
Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the Market Abuse Regulations),
British Land does not intend or undertake to update or revise forward-
looking statements to reflect any changes in British Land’s expectations
with regard thereto or any changes in information, events, conditions or
circumstances on which any such statement 1s based This document shali
not, under any circumstances, create any implicaticn that there has been
no change in the business or affairs of British Land since the date of this
document or that the infermation cantained herein is correct as at any
time subseguent to this date
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